Public Document Pack
You can view the agenda
online by using a smart
phone
camera
and
scanning the code below:

AGENDA
for a
MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 3 August 2021 at 2.00 pm
Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ
Contact Officer:

Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:S. Ralphs MBE
M. Deaville
M. Bowen
T. Hall
J. Porter
S. Scalise
E. Wain
A. Hart

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader)
Communities
Customer Services
Climate Change and Biodiversity
Environment
Planning, Development and Property
Cabinet Support Member –
Climate Change and Biodiversity

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.
1.

Apologies

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 8)

3.

Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests
P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Tel: 0345 605 3010

A G E N D A (Continued)

5.

Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any

6.

Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any

7.

Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any

8.

Leader

9.

10.

8 .1

Forward Plan

8 .2

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2020/21
(Pages 9 - 56)

8 .3

Levelling Up - Acceptance of Capacity Support Funding - WITHDRAWN

Communities
9 .1

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme Update - WITHDRAWN

9 .2

Update on the Levels of Pollution and the Air Quality Action Plan (Pages 57 206)

Leisure and Sports
10 .1 Rural Sports Villages (Pages 207 - 214)

11.

Planning, Development and Property

12.

Consultation on Conservation Area Character Appraisals and Article 4 Directions
(Pages 215 - 382)

13.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Chair to Move:“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act,
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would
be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

14.

Leader
14 .1 Application for write off of non- recoverable debts (Pages 383 - 388)
(Paragraph 7 - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. )

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS
TUESDAY, 29 JUNE 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair) - via video link)
Councillors M Bowen,
S Scalise and E Wain

1

M A Deaville,

T Hall,

A Hart,

J Porter,

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED)
DECISION:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 30 March 2021 be approved
as a correct record.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations made.

3

FORWARD PLAN
DECISION:
That the Forward Plan be approved for publication.

4

LEEK MILLS MASTERPLAN APPRAISAL
The purpose of the report was to set out a revised approach to addressing the
longstanding issue of vacant and under-used mills in Leek.
Options considered:
The options were:
Do nothing – the Mills are in private ownership and their maintenance is the
responsibility of the owners and development could come forward with no Council
input other than planning support. However, if left to commercially led investors,
there was a risk that they might not recognise potential re-development options in
Leek and could also miss opportunities for gap funding which may help deliver
objectives. A do-nothing approach would therefore maintain status quo and could
result in missed opportunities to expedite re-development and/or dereliction of
buildings which form a key part of Leek’s built heritage. NOT RECOMMENDED
Do Stage 1 Demand analysis and options appraisal. This would help inform Council
members and investors on viable options and help re-commence a dialogue with
owners and other funding parties regarding the proposed next steps for these
buildings. It would be a discreet relatively low-cost piece of work which can be
managed alongside works to support Covid economic recovery plan.
RECOMMENDED

Page 3

Cabinet - 29 June 2021
DECISION:
1. That the approach identified in the report to help support regeneration of empty
or under-used buildings be approved.
2. That a financial contribution of £30,000 to appoint consultants to deliver a
commercial demand analysis and options appraisal to understand potential future
uses, viability of proposals and identify barriers to re-development be approved.
3. That the development of a Community Renewal funding bid as part of a Peak
District wide project to assess opportunities for redundant and underused
heritage buildings to be used for commercial uses to help provide workspaces
and stimulate the economy be noted. If successful, the grant would complement
and increase funding available to support Leek Mill demand assessment.
5

LEEK MARKET HALL UPDATE
The purpose of the report was to set out the findings of the Leek Market Hall
Options Appraisal progress, undertaken by Quarterbridge Market Consultants and
sought authority to commence the full business case for capital investments to
improve the facilities and establish permanent retail, food and beverage units in Leek
Market Hall.
Options considered:
Do Nothing - Under this scenario, the Council could acknowledge feasibility report’s
findings and note that no identified options are unlikely to cover the cost of
refurbishment and close project. Not recommended
Undertake Full Business case - Under this scenario, the Council would acknowledge
feasibility report’s findings to date and undertaken appropriate additional works to
build a full business case for works so that wider factors can be considered
alongside a more detailed understanding of refurbishment costs and longer term
management overheads. Recommended
DECISION:
1. That the findings on the public consultation exercise and preferred options for
future investment be noted.
2. Preparation of a full business case to inform the delivery of capital investment to
Leek Market Hall for the purposes of improving facilities to support the
establishment of permanent units for retail, food and beverage uses be
approved.
3. That a further report to Cabinet on the full business case and the proposals for
capital investment be required.

6

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES
The purpose of the report was to re-appoint a representative of the Council to the
Cheadle Arts Forum and the Cheadle and District Sports Council.
Options considered:

Page 4
2

Cabinet - 29 June 2021
The Cabinet could consider other councillors to be the Council’s representative for
this appointment.
DECISION:
That the appointment of Councillor Ellis to the Cheadle Arts Forum and the Cheadle
and District Sports Council be approved.
7

APPOINTMENT OF MEMBER DEVELOPMENT CHAMPION
The purpose of the report was to seek Cabinet’s approval for the appointment of an
elected member to the role of Member Development Champion to lead the Council’s
Member Development Working Group.
Options considered:
The Cabinet was recommended to select an elected member to the position of
Member Development Champion.
DECISION:
That Cabinet Cllr D. Shaw be appointed to the role of Member Development
Champion.

8

CLIMATE CHANGE PLAN (PART 1)
The report presented the Council’s 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) ‘Towards
Carbon Neutrality 2030’.The report was considered by the Community Overview and
Scrutiny Panel on 21 June 2021 which made suggestions for inclusion in the plan
together with feedback received from the UK 100 Countryside Climate Network and
a Senior Policy Advisor from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs (DEFRA).
A number a amendments were proposed that included reference to:







The need for adaption and resilience to climate change, specifically a 5 yearly
adaption programme and the importance of adapting and resilience to be
considered when managing and responding to climate change risks.
The latest Climate Change Committee report to Parliament issued 26 June 2021
The Council’s approach to offsetting with particular consideration to local
schemes.
Additional data to be added with regards to transport emissions for 2018
Promotion of use of bike racks for council staff
That the proposed measures have wide co-benefits such as improved health,
improved air quality, addressing fuel poverty and new economic development
opportunities.

Options considered:
1. To approve the Climate Change Plan (Part 1).
2. To amend or delay approval of the draft Climate Change Plan (Part1) pending
further development (Not recommended – by its nature the Plan needs to be

Page 5
3

Cabinet - 29 June 2021
dynamic with further actions to be developed and included as more analysis is
completed and in response to opportunities such as may arise from new
Government policy initiatives).
DECISION:
To approve the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) subject to the suggestions
made on the draft plan at the Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
21st June 2021 and feedback received from external expert agencies as referred to
above.
9

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY

REVIEW

AND

REFRESHED

The District Council was required by statute to work in partnership with other listed
organisations to tackle community safety problems in Staffordshire Moorlands. The
Council’s corporate plan committed the Council to ‘Review the Council’s community
safety arrangements in order to maintain strong partnerships with community
groups’. This report supports the delivery of that commitment. The report was
considered by the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 21 June 2021.
Options considered:
There were none identified.
DECISION:
That the Community Safety Partnership’s strategy and plan; and
the contributions that the Council makes towards community safety be noted.
10

CHEADLE TO CRESSWELL DISUSED RAILWAY – POTENTIAL ASSET
TRANSFER
The purpose of the report was to seek Cabinet authority to begin the process of
Asset Transfer of the Cheadle to Cresswell Disused Railway line from the
Department for Transport to the ownership of Staffordshire Moorland District
Council. The report set out the due diligence process that needed to be undertaken
which would identify the costs of the asset transfer, the liabilities and potential
revenue implication of ownership and maintenance, and the legal obligations the
Council would become responsible for, including managing existing leasehold
agreements.
Following the conclusion of the due diligence process a further Cabinet report would
be prepared setting out these conclusions for the Cabinet to decide whether or not
to proceed with the Asset Transfer.
Options considered:
Option 1 (Recommended) - To proceed with the government’s Protocol For Transfer
of Assets. This was required if the Council wanted to own the railway, however
undertaking the due diligence steps under the protocol do not commit the Council to
that decision but do guarantee that a fair price for the asset will have been identified
as well as the future costs and liabilities of ownership. However the due diligence
Page
6 of the process.
process would mean the Council incurs
costs
4

Cabinet - 29 June 2021
Option 2 (not recommended) – To not proceed with the government’s Protocol For
Transfer of Assets the Council would not be in position to decide whether to own the
railway or not. However, the due diligence costs associated with the Protocol would
be avoided.
DECISION:
1. That the Council engages with the Department for Transport to assess the
potential transfer of the Cheadle to Cresswell disused railway line to the
ownership of Staffordshire Moorland District Council, to undertake all necessary
legal, financial and technical assessments to understand the full costs, legal
liabilities and ongoing maintenance liabilities associated with any potential
Council ownership of the disused railway.
2. That a further Cabinet report be prepared on the results of the due diligence
process and recommendations on whether to proceed with the Asset Transfer.
11

BIDDULPH
NEIGHBOURHOOD
DEVELOPMENT ORDER

PLAN

AND

NEIGHBOURHOOD

To consider and approve the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and
Neighbourhood Development Order for consultation purposes.
Options considered:
Option 1 (recommended) – that the recommendations outlined in Section 2 of the
report are supported.
Option 2 (not recommended) - to find that the proposals do not comply with the
requirements for a Neighbourhood Plan or Neighbourhood Development Order and
thus to recommend that the plan is not taken forward for publication and
examination. If Councillors were minded to refuse the submitted Neighbourhood
Plan and/or Neighbourhood Development Order, the authority is required to notify
the Town Council of the reasons for the refusal and to publicise its decision. The
report concluded that the requirements have been met to enable the documents to
be published for consultation.
DECISION:
1. That the proposals set out in the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan,
Neighbourhood Development Order and supporting documents be noted.
2. That the publication of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood
Development Order for consultation purposes be approved.
3. That the Head of Development Services be approved to appoint an independent
examiner in consultation with Biddulph Town Council.
4. That the process and estimated timescales for taking the documents forward in
line with the regulations be noted.

Page 7
5

Cabinet - 29 June 2021

The meeting closed at 3.46 pm

_________________________________Chairman

Page 8
6

Agenda Item 8.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Cabinet
3 August 2021






TITLE:

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and
Performance Review 2020/21

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Keith Pointon – Head of Finance
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached
Appendix A (2020/21 – Fourth Quarter (Provisional Outturn (Financial Report)
Appendix B (2020/21 – Fourth Quarter (Procurement Report)
Appendix C (2020/21 – Fourth Quarter (Performance Report)
Appendix D (2020/21 – Fourth Quarter (Write Offs) - CONFIDENTIAL

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March (“Fourth
Quarter 2020/21”); and

2.

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:






Note the Fourth Quarter 2020/21 financial, procurement and performance
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this
covering report.
Approve the allocation of the surplus on the General Fund Revenue Account to
reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.10)
Approve the proposal to carry forward unspent revenue budget as described in
Appendix A (Paragraph 2.12)
Approve the proposals to carry forward unspent capital budget as set out in
Appendix A (paragraph 5.6)
Approve the write offs set out in Appendix D

Page 9

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

This report essentially summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and
performance position after considering service activity up to the end of the Fourth
Quarter (i.e. 31st March 2021).

3.2

Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B (Procurement)
and Appendix C (Performance).

3.3

The position can be summarised as follows:

Subject
Finance

Procurement

Performance

Headline

Reference

The Finance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
Performance against Budget
 At the Fourth Quarter stage the General Fund provisional outturn for
2019/20 is an underspend of £7,315,520. (including £4,521,710 of
s31 grants, in respect of Business Rates reliefs, received in advance
to be applied in 2021/22)
Efficiency Programme
 At Quarter 4 £137,000 in savings have been achieved against the
2020/21 revised efficiency target of £519,000 (General Fund).
Capital Programme
 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2020/21 is £3.08 million.
The outturn for the year is £3.1million; a variance of £0.02 million.
Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31 March 2021 totalled £18.4 million. The
Ascent loan currently stands at £14million and the debenture at
£5million.
 Council borrowing at 31 March 2021 totalled £15 million (£14million
relates to the Ascent loan)
 The Council’s net interest income receipts were £53,457 surplus
above budget.
Revenue Collection
 98.17% of Council Tax was collected by 31 March 2021 compared to
98.55% for the same period last year.
 97.35% of Business Rates was collected by 31 March 2021
compared with 99.3% for the same period last year.
 At the end of the Fourth Quarter debt that was over 60 days old was
£65,090 which compares with £70,729 at 31 March 2020
The Procurement headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
 9 procurement activities were completed
 The Procurement forward plan includes 74 procurement activities for
completion in 2021/22 (either SMDC only or joint)
 At the 31 March 2021, 62% of procurement activity undertaken was
on the forward plan and the Council paid 95% of its invoices within
30 days during the year.

Appendix A

The Performance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
 70% of the key performance indicators met target (43% of which
were better than the previous year)
 The Council received 52 complaints and 100 compliments in the
Fourth Quarter.
 12 Projects were rated Green,19 grey, 1 Red, 0 Amber, and 3 Blue.

Appendix C

Page 10

Appendix B

4.

How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the effective
management of performance and financial resources, which is the subject of this
report.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report.

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2

Workforce
None.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality
and Diversity policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the
report.

6.5

Legal
None.

16.6

6.7

Risk
6.8 A

Sustainability
None.
External Consultation
None.
Risk Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

JOHN BETTS
Interim Executive Director Finance and Revenues & Benefits
Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Report appendices A-C

Moorlands House

Keith Pointon
01538 395400 Ext. 4193
Vanessa Higgins
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

2020/21
Fourth Quarter
(Provisional Outturn)
Financial
Review

1

Page 13

1.

Background and Introduction

1.1.

In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to
members. This is the fourth and final report for 2020/21.

1.2.

The report summarises overall financial performance for 2020/21 with
particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council.
Specific considerations are as follows:


General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary
performance on the General Account by looking at variations in
income and expenditure and the funding received by the Council.



Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers
progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings
forecast for 2020/21.



Alliance Environmental Services (Section 4) – highlights the
performance of the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste
and Fleet services.



Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on
progress against the Council’s capital plan



Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in
terms of investments and borrowings;



Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in
collecting the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts.

2

Page 14

2. General Fund Revenue Account
2.1.

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the
General Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations
in income and expenditure and funding received by the Council.

Service (with staff*)

Alliance Leadership Team
Audit
ICT
Human Resources
Member Services
Property Services
Benefits
Planning Applications
Building Control
Customer Services
Legal Services
Electoral Services
Licensing and Land Charges
Regeneration
Communities and Cultural
Housing Strategy
Transformation
Community Safety and Enforcement
Finance Income & Procurement
Corporate Finance*
Waste Collection
Street Scene
Leisure Services
Horticulture
Environmental Health
Net Total of Services
Net Interest
Funding
- external
- reserves contribution to/(from)
general contingency
use of carry forward from 19/20
earmarked

Provisional
Outturn
2020/21

2020/21
Budget

£
357,864
94,970
752,000
52,440
259,609
1,280,655
184,009
228,801
(21,311)
505,322
210,101
53,864
(233,714)
268,755
402,120
(22,486)
177,441
105,922
495,710
140,131
1,986,246
382,747
743,652
539,996
334,347

£
(20,526)
(3,650)
57,240
80
(49,191)
512,733
20,439
39,931
(57,821)
(57,768)
(27,779)
(43,926)
(22,754)
36,415
(57,120)
(65,596)
(3,689)
(45,128)
138,400
(1,552,019)
(167,904)
7,894
562,442
(55,194)
(120,253)

10,253,790

9,279,047

(974,743)

(401,170)
9,852,620

(454,627)
8,824,420

(53,457)
(1,028,200)

219,862

(53,457)
(808,338)

(10,107,180)

(14,660,655)

(4,553,475)

4,521,710

(31,765)

276,010
(13,750)
(7,700)

276,010
(13,750)
219,862

227,562

(219,862)

7,700

(1,961,407)

(1,961,407)

(7,315,520)

(7,315,520)

-

£

Net
Variance

£
378,590
98,620
694,760
52,360
308,800
767,920
163,570
188,870
36,510
563,090
237,880
97,790
(210,960)
232,340
459,240
43,110
181,130
151,050
357,310
1,692,150
2,154,150
374,710
181,210
595,190
454,900

- covid19 support
Projected (Surplus)/Deficit

Variance

Contribution
to / (Use of)
Earmarked
Reserves

(25,000)
(20,897)
13,750
26,047
(40,000)
49,965
(2,500)
167,000
100,368
(41,776)
(7,096)
-

£
(20,526)
(3,650)
32,240
80
(49,191)
512,733
(458)
53,681
(57,821)
(57,768)
(27,779)
(17,878)
(22,754)
(3,585)
(57,120)
(15,630)
(3,689)
(47,628)
138,400
(1,385,019)
(67,536)
7,894
520,665
(62,290)
(120,253)
(754,881)

(1,961,407)
4,521,710

(2,793,810)

* In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement. They were considered a
corporate resource to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and Rationalisation
Programme, However to show the true use of resources by individual services it is necessary to include the actual
staff costs incurred. Therefore the Quarter Four provisional outturn position includes the actual staff costs (and
matching budgets) at the service level.

3

Page 15

2.2.

A revenue budget of £9,838,870 was set for 2020/21. In accordance with
Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £13,750 in unused budgets from
2019/20 has been authorised.
Horticulture (£13,750): in respect of the playground works to be completed in
2020/21
This brings the 2020/21 budget to £9,852,620

2.3.

The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services.

2.4.

The provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year is
£2,537,100. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £7,315,520.

2.5.

There are seven areas of significant underspend (>£50,000):












Building Control (£57,821 underspend); While there has been a shortfall
of some £30,000 in income generated this has been more than offset by a
£90,000 saving against the historic staffing budget.
Customer Services (£57,768 underspend); savings have been
generated across a number of budget heads owing to the change in
working practices brought on by Covid-19. The adoption of IT solutions
for communication within and without the council has reduced travel and
the demand for printing and postage.
Communities & Cultural (£57,120 underspend); Covid-19 has heavily
impacted the service with initiatives and projects having to be postponed
or cancelled.
Corporate Finance (£1,385,019 underspend): The most significant
contributor to the underspend was the receipt of £740,000 as the Council’s
share of undistributed balances when the Staffordshire Business Rates
Pooling arrangement was wound up. Corporate Finance has also been the
recipient of Government funding to support the administration costs
incurred by the District issuing Covid 19 grants on their behalf. The time
and effort involved was spread across the Authority’s workforce so the
credits have been taken at the Corporate level, with £355,000 received in
relation to Business Support Grants and £25,000 in regard to SelfIsolation. Performance against centrally held budgets for staff, inflation
and efficiencies generated the remaining underspend.
Waste (£67,536 underspend); Covid-19 while driving up costs of the
service, has disproportionately increased revenues generating this
surplus. Lockdowns with their increased reliance on home catering,
takeaways and internet shopping significantly increased the volume of
recyclables being collected and the income generated thereon.
Horticulture (£62,290 underspend); Higher income levels within the
service have contributed £17,000 to the underspend. The remainder is
seen as the realisation of savings generated across the service from the
adoption of a new delivery model in the year.
Environmental Health (£120,253 underspend); The response to Covid19 has significantly impacted the nature and volume of work carried out in
this service, as it was involved in both Track and Trace and Enforcement.
4

Page 16

It did receive third party funding in 2020/21 towards these costs leaving
the service with an in-year surplus.

2.6.

There are three areas of significant overspend (>£50,000):


Property (£512,733 overspend); Covid-19 has impacted this service
significantly. In particular Car Parking, where a significant reduction in
income produced a net £366,000 shortfall and Public Conveniences where
additional cleaning costs are primarily responsible for a £173,000
overspend.



Finance Income and Procurement (£138,400 overspend); Covid-19 has
significantly impacted the Recovery service with net income generated
from summons activity some £158,000 below original expectations due to
stalled recovery action. Spending on external services to support billing
processes has resulted in a £16,000 overspend in local taxation. This was
exacerbated to a degree by the heavy involvement of staff in administering
the Covid-19 business support grants. These cost pressures were offset
by savings across a number of budget headings including some £30,000
against insurance costs.



Leisure (£520,665 overspend); The pandemic saw the closure and
curtailment of leisure facilities and activities significantly impacting the
council’s leisure contractor. The additional in-year cost consequence to
the authority of providing financial support to the contractor was £542,000.

2.7.

The £53,460 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 6.

2.8.

The level of funding for the year is £6,287,320 above that budgeted due to the
following:
External Funding: (£4,553,475)


Business Rates Retention (£4,493,022 additional funding):
o The Council received £4,521,710 in additional S31 grants in the year
to compensate for the award of Extended Retail Relief of 100%
(33% relief was forecast in the budget based on the best knowledge
at the time; and Nursery Discount (not anticipated in the budget).
Both of these increases to relief were announced by the government
in response to the Covid-19 situation. Accounting practice dictates
that these grants are treated as general fund revenue in the year.
However, the extended reliefs impact the Collection Fund by
increasing the deficit in the year, which will need to be distributed in
future years, therefore this additional funding needs to be
earmarked to accommodate this and cannot be used to support
other services.
o This is offset in relatively small part by an increase in the net levy
payable on growth to the Staffordshire Business Rates Pool of
£28,688 compared to the budgeted amount owing to a reduction in
the provision of appeals from resolved national precedent cases and
5

Page 17

reduction in collectible rates on which appeals provision needs to be
made.


Rural Services Delivery Grant (£60,453 unbudgeted funding)

Use of Reserves (£227,562)





The original budget for 2020/21 assumed a contribution of £276,010 into
general fund contingency and a £7,700 use of earmarked reserves
The outturn reported in table 2.1 assumes that the £276,010 contribution
to contingency reserves included in the 2020/21 budget was made. In
practice however owing to the general fund surplus generated in the year
the actual contribution to reserves was £7,577,780
The £219,862 reserve usage reported in table 2.1 reflects that instead of
using the £7,700 in earmarked reserves the District was actually able to
contribute £227,562 into them.

Earmarked


ICT £25,000 use: monies drawn from reserve earmarked for IT
infrastructure to cover costs of homeworking IT equipment.



Benefits £20,897 use: monies previously earmarked to address service
budget pressures arising out of Housing Benefits reform are being used.



Planning Service £13,750 contribution: £6,250 used in year from the grant
received from Government in 2019/20, to support the Council in protecting
the Green Belt. £20,000 added to reserve earmarked to meet costs of
maintaining Local Plan arising out of underspent in year budget.



Electoral Services £26,047 contribution: this is the net contribution into the
Election Equalisation Reserve earmarked to meet costs of future elections.



Regeneration £40,000 use: An earmarked budget set up in 2019/20 in
anticipation of additional logistical costs being required has been applied
to support the District’s Markets.



Housing Strategy £49,965 contribution: Third party funds received in-year
are being set aside to support homelessness initiatives that will run into
future years.



Community Safety and Enforcement £2,500 use: A drawdown was made
from a reserve to support domestic violence initiatives.



Corporate Finance £167,000 contribution; During 202021 £167,000 in
Derelict Land Grants, held historically on the Balance Sheet, were taken
as an in-year credit. As the nature of this windfall was from previous
6

Page 18

infrastructure initiatives these monies have been set aside to support the
District’s capital programme..


Waste £100,368 contribution: The proceeds from selling a vehicle are
credited to the owning service if £10,000 or under, but if more are returned
to the capital pool to fund future acquisitions. During 2020/21 individual
sales below £10,000 generated £48,260 for the service. This amount was
considered significant enough to be returned to the capital pool by means
of an earmarked reserve.
The service also saw an in year reduction against budgeted vehicle
maintenance costs of some £52,000 as it benefitted from having a younger
fleet. In the knowledge that these costs would increase as the fleet aged
this money has been earmarked towards future year maintenance costs.



Leisure Services £41,776 use: £43,228 has been drawn down from the
Authority’s Future Leisure reserve to fund the cost of consultations carried
out in the year. A small contribution of £1,452 was made into the reserve
supporting the District’s involvement in the Together Active Staffordshire
and Stoke-on-Trent initiative.



Horticulture £7,096 use: Works on Recreation Grounds and Open Spaces
are part funded each year by drawing down on Section 106 monies
previously received from Developers as part of their planning obligations.
In 2020/21 £7,700 of these S106 monies were applied. Movement against
a number of small reserves set up to match longer term initiatives
produced a net £600 contribution by the service.

Covid 19 funding (£2,506,249)
In response to the financial strain placed on local authorities by the pandemic
the Government provided financial support in the form of grants towards
exceptional costs and compensation for loss of income. This support amounted
to £2,506,249 made up of the amounts below:
Service Specific Costs Support: (£544,842)
These grants were credited direct to Services and are included in their
outturns for 2020/21 as reported in Table 2.1







Enforcement Grant (£39,516 funding):
This funding, credited to Environmental Health, relates to the costs
incurred enforcing lock down requirements in the District.
Track and Trace (£125,190 funding):
This funding from the County Council, credited to Environmental
Health, was towards the Council’s responsibilities for local track and
trace.
Business Grants Administration (£355,300 funding):
This additional grant, credited to Corporate Finance, relates to the
costs incurred administering the allocation of grants to Covid
impacted businesses in the District.
Isolation Grants Administration (£24,836 funding):
7

Page 19

This funding, credited to Corporate Finance, relates to the costs
incurred administering the allocation of Self Isolation grants to Covid
impacted individuals in the District.

General Costs Support: (£1,961,407)
This represents funding provided to support all the Authorities activities and is
shown as Covid Funding in Table 2.1.


General Support (£1,279,832 funding):
The Council has received these monies to support its general
activities as impacted by the pandemic.
Loss of Income (£433,538 funding):
Councils were granted the facility to claim for up to 75% of net
losses against budget for income streams that satisfy set criteria.
Based on a prudent interpretation of the guidance.
Council Tax Losses Support (£15,879 funding):
Government made an in-year contribution against anticipated losses
in Council Tax receipts.
Business Rates Losses Support (£232,158 funding):
Government made an in-year contribution against anticipated losses
in Business Rates receipts.






General Fund Revenue Reserves
2.9 The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was a
£7,315,520 surplus.
2.10
The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £262,260 contribution
into general reserves budgeted for in 2020/21. Therefore, the Authority’s
contingency reserves have increased overall by £7,577,780.
Of this a new Business Rates earmarked reserve of £4,521,710 is to be created
to match S31 grant income received to the future needs of the Collection Fund in
2021/22; and as detailed in the MTFP, £545,000 of windfall receipts in respect of
the wind up of the original Staffordshire Business Rates Pool is to be placed in an
earmarked reserve to be used to ‘support future projects around economic
regeneration, business support and improving town centres as well as economic
recovery post Covid19’
2.11 The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,480,000.
A review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where
earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a
satisfactory level for contingency. As a result the following moves into earmarked
reserves are proposed;
-

£100,000 added to an earmarked reserve to fund future costs of the
Covid-19 recovery programme

-

£100,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with
the costs associated with the Future Leisure Provision project
8

Page 20

-

£100,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with
the delivery of Climate change related projects.

-

£75,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support partner
organisations in short term financial difficulty

-

£500,000 added to an earmarked reserve to cover impairment costs
associated with the review of the Ascent Housing LLP in partnership with
Your Housing.

-

£150,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support the digital
strategy.

-

£218,000 to create a new Business Rates Pool Contingency Fund –
earmarked reserve to fulfil a requirement under the establishment of the
new Staffordshire Business Rates Pool

-

£50,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support costs
associated with organisational development and the HR process.

-

£1,218,000 balance of the underspend has been added to Contingency

2.12 In addition a balance of £450,000 has been moved from the obsolete
Pensions
Reserve to Contingency in line with the 2021/22 Medium Term
Financial Plan.

2.13 The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as
at 31st March 2021 of £4.1million – which is £2.6million above new minimum
contingency level. The current Medium Term Financial Plan approved in
February 2021 assumed a General Fund contingency balance of £3.48m at the
end of 2020/21. The Council expects to use £756,410 of general contingency
reserves over the next four years 2021/22 – 2024/25 as a result of the pressures
being felt by the Council in the current Covid-19 situation.
Carry Forward Request:2.14

The following requests for carry forward have been received:



3.

Planning Policy - (£5,500): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of
the production costs of the Local Plan document to be completed in
2020/21
Communities – (£8,660): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of the
Councillors Initiative Fund to be used in 2021/22.

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme
9

Page 21

3.1.

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the
Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2020/21.

3.2.

The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2019)
included the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation
Strategy targeting savings of £3.14 million. This was required to balance the
forecast budget deficit position of £2.7m and also the carry forward of
unachieved efficiencies from 2016/17 of £0.4m.

3.3.

The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both
reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing.
The strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to
enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

3.4.

The 2020/21 budget was set in February 2020 with the assumption of
£702,000 of savings in the year. This figure comprised £1,175,000 from the
original strategy reduced by an expected £473,000 over-achievement of
savings against the 2019/20 target. In the event a further £183,000 of
savings were realised in quarter 4 of 2019/20, reducing the amount to be
achieved in 2020/21 to £519,000.
The major focus of the savings
programme in 2020/21 being on growth, income generation and major
procurements.

3.5.

At the end of 2020.21, £137,000 of savings have been taken against the
reduced 20/21 efficiency target.

3.6.

The current situation, regarding the on-going effect of the Covid-19
pandemic, places into doubt some of the savings taken out of the budget
during 2019/20; particularly those relating to the Leisure Services contract.
This is being kept under review as the impact of the pandemic become
clearer. This is being kept under review as the impact of the pandemic
become clearer. The £382,000 shortfall in current year savings is as forecast
in Quarter 3. In line with the current MTFP the unmet savings requirement
will be carried forward into 2021/22.

3.7.

The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the
Efficiency Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of
delivering the efficiency programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve
currently stands at £493,000. It has not been necessary to draw on this
reserve in previous years, so it remains intact to underwrite performance
against future savings targets in the Efficiency Programme.

10

Page 22

4.

Alliance Environmental Services

4.1.

Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street
cleansing and grounds maintenance services to both Staffordshire Moorlands
District and High Peak Borough Councils. The Councils are shareholders of
the company along with ANSA, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Cheshire East Council.

4.2.

AES’s financial performance and impact on this Council’s budget is
summarised below:
2020-21

£

AES Contract budget

4,473,920

Management fee
Allocation of AES efficiency
Additional fee
Covid-19 costs
Fleet maintenance fund
Total management fee payable
Allocation of Joint Operation profit
Net total

4,692,515
(246,988)
38,726
191,577
(52,109)
4,623,721
(138,467)
4,485,254

Variance to budget

11,334

4.3.

The AES business plan for all services delivered to the Council during
2020/21 included a budgeted management fee of £4,692,515. The Council’s
share of the total AES revised efficiency target for 2020/21 of £246,988 is then
repayable to the Council and is allocated against the management fee costs.

4.4.

The £38,726 additional fee relates to the increased pay award where 2.75%
was settled but only 2% budgeted at the time; and a pressure on the basket of
goods income rate on recycling. Additional costs of £191,577 were incurred as
a result of the Covid-19 outbreak; these relate to provision of cleaning
products, PPE and additional agency costs.

4.5.

It is acknowledged that new vehicles require less maintenance expenditure in
the early years, but these costs will increase with a vehicle’s age, therefore
AES has reimbursed the Council with the underspend on this budget of
£52,109 to be held specifically in an earmarked reserve to be drawn down in
future years when the burden becomes greater than the budgeted amount.

4.6.

Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is consolidated in to
the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to
separate group accounts being reported. The profit is therefore apportioned
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of
budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the profit
11

Page 23

based on the draft outturn is £138,467 and is offset against the management
fee costs.

5.

Capital Programme

5.1.

This section of the report provides an update to members on the Council’s
Capital Programme.

5.2.

The revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2020/21, as updated and
approved in February, was set at £3,077,230

5.3.

The 2020/21 provisional outturn at March 2021 is summarised in the table
below, with further detail provided at Annex A.

Service

5.4.

2020/21
Approved
Budget

Out- Turn
2020/21

Variance

T
h
£
£
£
e Housing Standards
790,000
944,143
154,143
C Property Services
775,640
727,796
(47,844)
o ICT
116,610
114,945
(1,665)
u Fleet Management
986,130
990,538
4,408
n CCTV
212,000
126,350
(85,650)
ci Regeneration
26,850
23,334
(3,516)
l
Horticulture
170,000
170,199
199
i
Total
3,077,230
3,097,305
20,075
n Funding:c External Contributions
795,000
949,143
154,143
u Capital Receipts
110,000
93,616
(16,384)
rr Capital Reserves
557,000
615,006
58,006
e Earmarked Reserves
220,850
126,350
(94,500)
d Borrowing
1,394,380
1,313,191
(81,189)
C Total
3,077,230
3,097,305
20,075
a
pital Expenditure of £3,097,305 during the year against the revised budget of
£3,077,230, representing an overspend of £20,075. This is made up of a
number of variances which reflects the impact of Capital Programme projects
which are either behind schedule or have progressed quicker than expected
with the most significant variance being:


Housing Standards (£154,143 overspend) Disabled Facilities grants
completed during the final quarter exceeded the revised forecast.
Overall delivery of the grant programme is however
below the
annual Government support of £1.7m received against expenditure of
£0.9m. The funding is ringfenced and therefore no adjustment of carry
forward is required. Offsetting the overspend was a small underspend
against the Home Repairs grants programme of £7,547.



CCTV (£85,650 under spend) Replacement and upgrade of CCTV
cameras has been delayed due to the supplier, prioritising emergency
12

Page 24

repairs only during the pandemic. It is anticipated that the works will
now go ahead during this year. The necessary carry forward of budget
will be made
5.5

Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2020/21 Capital programme
is higher than forecast in February, reflecting the incidence of timing of
capital spend.

5.6

As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to
increase the capital budgets for 2021/22 as shown in the table below:Capital Programme 'Carry Forwards' (2020/21 to 2021/22)

Service

Variance

Carry forward to
2021/22
Over/(Underspend)

Over/(Underspend)
Completed Projects

£

£

£

Housing Standards
Property Services
ICT
Fleet Management
CCTV
Regeneration
Horticulture
Total

154,143
(47,844)
(1,665)
4,408
(85,650)
(3,516)
199
20,075

(7,547)
(47,844)
(1,665)
4,408
(85,650)
(3,516)
199
(141,615)

161,690
161,690

6.

Treasury Management

6.1.

This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a
high level treasury management summary.
The Audit and Accounts
Committee receives detailed operational updates on treasury management.
Investments

6.2.

Cash Investments at the end of the year were £18.4million. Interest earned on
these investments totalled £43,800 and the average level of funds available
for investment was £19.7million.

6.3.

The Council budgeted to receive £88,510 in investment income in 2020/21.
After a small income on some local loans, there was an overall shortfall of
£40,922 against this budget is due to falling interest rates following the Bank
of England base rate reduction to 0.10% in March 2020.
Ascent Joint Venture

6.4.

The Council has a debenture of £5million paying 2% and loan of £14million
paying an average 3.60% with Ascent, the joint venture company established
to deliver affordable housing across the District.

6.5.

The investment income budget included £100,000 income from the debenture
and £545,390 from the loan. The debenture interest was on target, while there
was a small shortfall of £41,417 against the loan interest income budget due
13

Page 25

to lower PWLB rates on the tranche roll dates that expected at budget setting
stage.

Borrowing
6.6.

External debt was £15million at the end of the year, an increase of £5million
from the opening external debt balance of £10million. £14milion funds the
Ascent loan; and £1million other general fund capital expenditure. This
approach was taken to ensure an appropriate level of liquidity was available
during the uncertainty surrounding Covid expenditure and reduced revenue
income. The Council budgeted to incur £332,730 in interest charges in
2020/21. There was an underspend of £135,796 against the budget due to
falling interest rates.

7.

Revenue Collection

7.1.

This section of the report details the outturn in collecting the Council Tax,
Business Rates and Sundry Debt.\

7.2.

The collection rates for the year were as follows:

7.3



Council Tax – 98.17% of Council Tax was collected, compared to 98.55%
for the same period last year.
o By the end of quarter 1 of the following financial year 2021-22 the
collection rate for the year had improved to 98.69%.



Business Rates – 97.35% of Business Rates was collected, compared to
99.30% for the same period last year.
o By the end of quarter 1 of the following financial year 2021-22 the
collection rate for the year had improved to 98.14%.

At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old
was £65,090 which compares with £70,729 at 31st March 2020.

14

Page 26

ANNEX A
Capital Programme Update 31st March 2021

Capital Schemes

2020/21
Approved
Budget

Out- Turn
2020/21

£

£

Variance

Carry
Forward to
2021/22
Over/(Under
spend)

Over/(Under
spend)
Completed
Projects

£

£

£

Housing Standards

790,000
790,000

944,143
944,143

154,143
154,143

(7,547)
(7,547)

161,690
161,690

Total Property

775,640
775,640

727,796
727,796

(47,844)
(47,844)

(47,844)
(47,844)

-

Total ICT

116,610
116,610

114,945
114,945

(1,665)
(1,665)

(1,665)
(1,665)

-

986,130
986,130

990,538
990,538

4,408
4,408

4,408
4,408

-

212,000
212,000

126,350
126,350

(85,650)
(85,650)

(85,650)
(85,650)

-

26,850
26,850

23,334
23,334

(3,516)
(3,516)

(3,516)
(3,516)

-

Total Horticulture

170,000
170,000

170,199
170,199

199
199

199
199

-

Total Programme

3,077,230

3,097,305

20,075

(141,615)

161,690

Private Sector Grants
Total Environmental Health
Property Services
Asset Management Plan
ICT

Vehicle & Plant Purchase
Fleet Management
CCTV - Upgrade
CCTV
Regeneration
Moorlands Partnership Grants
Total Regeneration
Horticulture
Brough Park Improvements

15

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

2020/21
Fourth Quarter
Procurement
Review

Page 29

1.

Introduction

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency &
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was agreed
by Full Council in February 2017.
1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives
linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a
professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and
procurement systems.
1.3 The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for
presentation during 2021 initially as an Information Digest report to obtain Member
feedback prior to final approval (this was anticipated during 2020, but delayed due
to Covid-19 workload). The revised strategy will focus on the following key
objectives to support the aims of the Council’s Corporate plan:
 Delivering Value for Money
 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management
 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership
 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement
 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth
 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts
2.

Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function during the Fourth quarter
January – March 2021 is summarised below:
Third Quarter
SMDC Only
JOINT (SM/HP)
TOTAL

High Value
(> £181,000)
0
1

Low Value
(< £181,000)
3
5

Total
3
6
9

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 9 procurements exercises reviewed and completed
during Quarter four.
3.

2021/2022 Procurement Forward Plan

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion or starting in
2021/22.
2021/22
Activity
SMDC
JOINT (SM/HP)
TOTAL

High Value
(> £181,000k)
3
7

Low Value
(< £181,000k)
33
31

Page 30

Total
36
38
74

In addition to the above, there are 170 listed entries brought forward from previous
years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined). It should be
noted that the items listed are a combination of recurring contracts coming up to
expiry, one offs, new items off contract and aggregate spend opportunities.
3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for
delivery in 2020/21 includes:






4.

Facilities Management and Building Condition Surveys
Supporting delivery of the Fleet Replacement Strategy
Brough Park Tennis Courts
Cornhill West Industrial Units development
Gas and Electricity Supply renewal review
Cheadle Masterplan – Consultancy support

Procurement Performance

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity
and the payment of suppliers.
4.2 Performance for the third quarter is highlighted below:Performance Indicator

Target

Performance at
31st March 2021

65%

62%

89%

92%

96%

95%

% of Alliance Procurement
Activity on Forward Plan
Annual contract spend as %
of gross expenditure budget
% Of invoices paid within 30
days

4.3 Invoice payments made within 30 days for the third quarter did not achieve target,
the additional duties in relation to administering the business grant payments and
reduced resources in the team over the summer due to long term sick absence has
affected the performance on invoice payments. Although the position is recovered in
terms of backlog, the impact of quarter two has affected the cumulative position
over the year.
4.4 For 2020/2021 additional new performance indicators have been introduced, these
are currently being measured to establish targets to implement for 2021/2022.
Target TBC for 21/22
Performance Indicator
(baseline to be established 20/21)

Supplier (Creditor) spend within the local
area as a % of total spend
% of Contracts awarded to local suppliers
following submission of EOI* (over £5,000)
% of EOI* that come from businesses within
the local area (over £5,000)
*EOI – Expression of Interest

Page 31

In progress: baseline being
monitored
In progress: Method review of
source data extraction
In progress: Method review of
source data extraction

ANNEX A
Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC
Contract Title

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One Off

Service Area

Procedure

Award Detail

Term
(years)

Total
Contract
Value £

Track Repairs –
Biddulph Valley
Way

Resurfacing works –
Whitemore section

One Off

Service
Commissioning

RFQ

RGS

n/a

8,050

Replacement
Board walk at
Biddulph Grange
County Park

Replacement of Board
Walk

One Off

Service
Commissioning

RFQ

Faulkner
Fencing

n/a

2,800

Viability
Appraisal :
Planning
Application

Planning Application
independent Financial
Viability Assessment

One Off

Development
Control

RFQ

Keppie Masie

n/a

2,350

(Planning Ref
Redacted)

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC)
Procedure

Award Detail

Transformation

CCS
framework
call off
agreement

Recurring

Customer
Services

Recurring

Corporate
Contract

Provision of security
services at public
meetings / Elections – As
and when required

Recurring

Member
services

[not to be renewed as fixed term contract)

Provision for skip hires
across High Peak and
Staffordshire Moorlands
for Direct Services /
public buildings /
Grounds

Recurring

Direct Services

[not to be renewed as fixed term contract)

Contract Title

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One Off

IT Managed
Service Contract

Fully managed IT service
contract for the Alliance

Recurring

Rental on-site
print units

Central print and satellite
print units – rental

Personal
Protective
Equipment
(PPE) inc.
Cleaning
materials
Security
services

Supply contract for PPE
items and cleaning
materials

Waste Skip hire

Service Area

Term /
Duration

Total
Contract
Value £

Northgate Public
Services

3
(+1+1)
yrs

2,895,000

Call off
agreement
framework

Ricoh

5 yrs

Open
tender

Accommodation
Supplies

1
(1+1+1)
yrs

51,652

49,450
(variable
p/a)

(2 contracts combined)

Page 32

Page 33

Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: 2020/21 (Q4 Outturn)

Staffordshire Moorlands Q4 Summary
The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April 2020 to March 2021 in
relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of
the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and
compliments. The council revised a small proportion of its 2020/21 targets last year in response to the assessed impact of the pandemic on
operational performance.
Performance Overview

Page 34

There are 63 targeted measures against which the council reports on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis. The remaining measures in the
council’s performance framework are considered contextual in nature and feature in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for
both attainment and trend data in 2020/21; with 70% of all targets being met and 60% of all measures maintaining or improving on their
performance compared to last year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of this report.
The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the 2019-2023 Corporate
Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.
Results 2020/21

100%
80%

Trends 2020/21

Off Track

100%

In danger of going off Track

70%

80%

60%

60%

40%

40%

On Track
43%

24%
20%

6%

0%

40%
17%

20%

Complete / Closed

0%

Target Met

Off Track

N/A

Not yet started / Decision
awaited

Better

Weaker

No Change

Customer Feedback Overview
There has been a further 17% reduction in complaints during 2020/21 compared to last year. There have been no repeat complaints and
performance in handing complaints in 20 days has met its target. Further information about lessons learned is included in the report.

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
SM Aim 1: March Results 2020/21
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

SM Aim 1: March Trends 2020/21
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 35

Performance against the objectives under Aim One is relatively strong at year-end and has seen a significant improvement at Staffs Moorlands
with 82% of measures meeting target and only two measures (homelessness applications opened at prevent stage and implementation of the
community safety action plan) off track.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2020/21, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

settled accommodation outcomes from homelessness duties
processing benefit new claims and change of circs
benefits accuracy
external sports funding secured
housing register applicants waiting 6+ months

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights
Priority Actions
Develop a strategy for further
development of affordable and specialist
housing
Complete the review of the CCTV system
and implement the agreed
recommendations
Develop and implement an indoor leisure
facilities improvement plan focused on
improving the health and well- being of
residents

Page 36

Develop and implement an outdoor
leisure facilities improvement plan
focused around the 'sports village'
concept
Develop a Private Sector Housing
Strategy to improve conditions for
homeowners and private tenants

Refresh the Council’s Communication
Strategy in order to ensure that there is a
more effective dialogue with residents
Review the Council's community safety
arrangements in order to maintain
strong partnerships with community
groups
Influencing Action: Reducing crime, the
fear of crime and ASB

Status Commentary – March
A report has been scheduled for the next Committee cycle.

Camera replacement still in progress, this has been impacted by COVID restrictions.

Progress is good, and the project remains on track for completion by the expected time. The
energy audit contract has been awarded to Leisure Energy with usage data being gathered
over the next two weeks, ahead of site audits commencing after that. Facility Planning Model
runs have been completed and reports issued on 26/3 for review. Member working group
meetings have been confirmed for 7th April (HP) and 14th April (SM) respectively.
Reports to Members due in the next committee cycle (May/June ), discussions around
projects are ongoing.

Meeting held on 11th Feb. The first piece of work will be to update the evidence base to
identify the issues that will feed into the strategy. The Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy
will then be updated and added to the current suite of housing policies. Contents of the
existing policies were reviewed during the meeting and initial areas of focus identified; this
will evolve following review of the evidence base. Revision to DFG grants approved.
Information digest being prepared.

Review of Community Safety Strategy to be completed by April 2021 along with proposals for
the future. Reports are ready in draft format and will be presented at the next committee
cycle.

Influencing Action: Combating illegal
money lenders such as loan sharks
Review the Sport and Physical Activity
Strategy in order to integrate
communities and sports clubs into the
delivery of its objectives
Implement the Covid-19 Community
Recovery Plan

Further to initial stakeholder discussions, wider stakeholder and community consultation is
being planned as recommended in the recent SOPG reports produced by FMG. It is likely this
consultation will include reference/questions regarding leisure facilities in order to join the
strategy refresh and leisure transformation plan together.
We have issued press releases about the ‘Eat out to help out' scheme encouraging people to
support local businesses and continue to raise awareness via social media. Nearer the time,
we will be promoting the dates that our local leisure facilities (pools, racquet sports etc) are
due to re-open. A specific release about the work to the pool area in Brough Park Leisure
Centre is being drafted.

Influencing actions
Page 37

Ensuring effective health provision
particularly for the elderly

The SMDC Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel met on 3rd March 2021, at which Neil Carr, Chief
Executive and Jennie Collier, Managing Director, Midlands Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, were
present to update members on the temporary closure of Leek Minor Injuries Unit and the development
of the Integrated Care Hub. The Panel was given assurance that the Minor Injuries unit would re-open by
the end of June, as long as certain criteria was met. Should there be another surge in the number of
patients requiring treatment for Covid, then staff may need to re-deployed again.
Marcus Warnes, Accountable Officer and Tracey Shewan, Director of Communications and Corporate
Services, North Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group also attended the meeting. The Panel was
advised of the consultation for the Integrated Care Hub, decision making and the progress to date.
Following discussion around the criteria used locally to identify adult carers to receive Covid-19
vaccinations, it was agreed that a letter would be sent to the County Council as there were cases of
carers that did not claim carers allowance experiencing difficulties making appointments to be
vaccinated. A letter of thanks was also to be sent to all of the vaccination centres in the Moorlands.

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
SM Aim 2 : March Trends 2020/21

SM Aim 2 : March Results 2020/21
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Target Met

Off Track

N/A

Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 38

The council’s profile under Aim Two shows an improvement on last year’s figures. Issues that have been reported all year have contributed to
the off track measures at year end including; invoice payments and FOI responses.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2020/21, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

sundry debt levels, income collection
sickness absence
IT systems and network availability
complaint handling and repeat complaints, customer interactions and portal accounts
social media followers
procurement activity on the forward plan
business unit occupancy

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights
Priority Actions
Develop and implement a plan to
identify new and innovative ways of
generating income

Continue to embed good
information management practices
through the ASSURED framework

Page 39

Refresh and implement the Asset
Management Plan, including a
review of public estate, and ensure
adequate facilities management
arrangements are in place

Develop an Access to Services
Strategy to ensure that Council
services are accessible to all
Implement the Council’s Efficiency
and Rationalisation Programme
(This will focus on several projects
including procurement, income
generation, trading, advertising, and
sponsorship, etc.)

Status Commentary – March
Individual project updates within the action:
- Advertising/Sponsorship: On hold.
- Fees & Charges: This has gone through the MTFP- charges are frozen for next year
depending on activity levels during Covid recovery.
- Empty properties: We are setting up a member group to pick the action plan back up.
- Building Control: A report is going to cabinet 30/03.
- Trade Waste: project on-hold to be picked up in 21/22 in post-Covid landscape.
COMPLETED. Information Governance Update Report produced for both Corporate Select
and Resources Panel in November 2020. This completes this action as the report shows how
both councils continue to embed good information management practices through the
ASSURED framework.
Individual project updates within the plan:
- Asset Management Plan-Concertus will carry out some pilot stock condition surveys to
make sure they collect data in a way that will work with the system and provide what we
need in the way of reports. The new system can be configured but any changes take time to
be implemented. If the pilot is successful, they will be instructed to proceed with the full
programme. Surveys will commence in May/June starting with the large buildings, results
are expected back by August to be analysed .
- Norse Contract Options -We are setting up 3rd working group for members, this will then
go to Exec. No significant issues arose from the 2nd working group but there are some
issues around timescales with elections. We need to tie legal discussions together and
highlight the points that need shareholder agreement.
- Facilities Management Arrangements-Rolling arrangements with Vertas and DCC still in
place.
The strategy is in progress and is being developed in line with IT and Digital Strategies,
suggested timescale is July 2021. Update report to corporate select, Member workshop to
be set up which will feed into the strategy.
Progress monitored quarterly - efficiency position incorporated into revised MTFP. 2021/22
represents final year of current efficiency programme, plans are in place to address the
delivery of the savings over the next life of the MTFP. Individual project updates within the
action:
- Parish Grants- Built into revised MTFP -This has been presented to the Parish assembly: we
have agreed to carry out a consultation & issue letters on the proposal.

Priority Actions

Develop a new Organisational
Development Strategy to ensure
that our workforce is developed
effectively
Develop a new procurement
strategy with a focus on spending
money locally

Page 40

Develop a new ICT strategy to
enhance and support the delivery of
services

Status Commentary – March
- Refresh Efficiency & Rationalisation programme- No new Efficiency Programme built into
the revised MTFPs - we are focusing on delivery of outstanding efficiencies over the life of
the current plan. Requirement for future savings programmes will be kept under review as
part of future MTFP updates in the post-Covid landscape.
- Hybrid mail- A report identifying the savings will be provided at the end of financial year.
This project will then be complete.
Camburg have completed the work around the strategy- the results are currently being
reviewed .

Meeting to be held on Thursday to release the Information Digest report.

Information digest report is going to Members April 2021. The new IT contract has now
been signed for a duration of 5 years from 01/04. We are now working with Socitim to
produce the IT/Digital Strategy. Individual project updates within the strategy:
- Meetings AV equipment-no update. On hold due to Covid.
- ILAP/Assure- reached testing stage but the software is not ready, on hold until ILAP is fit
for purpose
- Civica Pay- Deliverables currently on track with the project plan dates to deliver ahead of
the national deadline
- Civica Open Revenues- Project back on track now the annual billing process is complete,
implementation planned for June
- Env Health/Licencing- no roadmap for flare implementation, collective needs to be
completed first.
- Collective- Still on track for June, awaiting Goss to finalise new web forms
- Committee Management- looking at production of the forward plan and the quality of
reports. Training to be implemented.
- ICT upgrade- All users are now migrated to RDS2016, Microsoft Teams from a personal
device has been successfully rolled out to all users . There are future opportunities &
benefits from a wider digital workspace yet to be fully realised & there will be outcomes
from the ICT / Digital Strategy that will rely on this platform.
- Procurement Workflow and intranet upgrade- Infreemation are currently in the process of
designing the workflow.

Priority Actions
Implement the Covid 19 Reinstating
Service Plan

Status Commentary – March
We are continuing with strong, clear messaging encouraging people to comply with the
guidelines around social distancing, hand hygiene and wearing face coverings – these
measures feature heavily in all our communications via all channels.

Implement the Covid-19 Financial
Recovery Plan

Back on recovery stage due to 2nd lockdown.

Implement the Covid-19 Positive
Legacy Plan

The Council has undertaken a review of the positive impact on all service areas to ensure
that we retain and build on the improved working practices. The retention of agile working
and access to flexible working arrangements, is currently being reviewed and new policies
are currently being developed, along with identifying the benefits of reduced mileage,
virtual access to meetings and training and the overall reduction in sickness.

Page 41

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and
villages
SM Aim 3 : March Trends 2020/21

SM Aim 3: March Results 2020/21
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Page 42

Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

The Council has again achieved a high proportion of the targets set under Aim Three. 100% of major applications have been determined on
time and the only off track areas are planning agent satisfaction rates and planning enforcement cases resolved within 13 weeks.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2020/21, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

major and minor planning applications processed on time
major and minor developments allowed on appeal
town centre vacancy rates
pre-application planning enquiries
priority 1 planning enforcement visits

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights
Priority Actions
Support the development of Cornhill
and improved rail links

Page 43

Influencing Action - Support the
Churnet Valley Railway with their
plans to bring trains back to Leek

Support the development of the
former Churnet Works site, Leek
Develop and implement plans to
extend the public market operations
Adopt a new Local Plan
Develop a master plan for bringing
redundant mills back into use

Implement the Council’s growth
strategy to bring about the
regeneration of towns and rural
communities

Status Commentary – March
-Cornhill development (East): There will be no project movement until after project East is in
delivery phrase. This will be at least 3 years.
- Cornhill development (West): The planning balance needs to be re-assessed following the
changes around the provision of the Marina. There may be misconception around the marina,
concept, a further meeting will be set up to consider alternative solutions.
- Rail projects Leek-Stoke line – application for Ideas fund (re-connecting railways) to be
submitted by 5th March. SMDC is accountable body. If successful will need to set up project
board (including network rail, stoke city council, MPs offices) to oversee appointment of
consultants. Meir station has model and specification which can be replicated.
- Leekbrook heritage railway extension – there is strong likelihood that £1.4m of EARFD
funding will be lost – as CVR are not in a financial position to co-fund remaining 20% unless
timescale for delivery can be extended. It is unlikely that this will be permitted as EU funding
but position unknown - clarification being sought from RPA. Two emergency applications to
Heritage Lottery fund have been submitted in January/Feb with SMDC help. The first for the
open scheme (which funds works to re-open April-June 21); and a second retrospective
application for works to re-open (August-December 20). Outcome of both still pending.
No update.
Leek Market Hall - Options appraisal received from Quarterbridge. Public consultation on
shortlisted market hall options on hold. Report to be presented to Cabinet May/June 21.
Moorlands Market Operations - draft report in progress - awaiting financial information.
Action Completed. The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan was adopted by full council in
September 2020.
Report being prepared for March/June cycle to include summary of previous studies with
recommendation that commercial demand assessment is undertaken to guide project
development. Report scheduled for next cycle with background for each Mill. We will
correspond with the Mill owners to understand their intentions.
Individual project updates within the strategy:
- Biddulph Wharf Rd masterplan- Enquiry has been received from the land agent on behalf of
landowner. A meeting will be organised to discuss bringing the parcel of land forward for
development - access would require agreement from the adjacent landowner. Further work
to be agreed to explore alternative access to wider site.

Influencing Action - Expand the
Growth Deal Partnership to provide
inward investment

Page 44

Develop a Tourism Strategy to
maximise the positive impact to our
communities
Implement the Covid-19 Economic
Recovery Plan

- Investment & Acquisition strategy- No update .
- Blythe Vale- Draft project specification to be revised to incorporate St Modwen phase 2
development proposals & possible levelling up submission . Pre app meeting held with St
Modwens re stage 2.
- Cheadle town centre masterplan - Stakeholder Panel meeting was held 26th February.
Workshop facilitated by the Consultation Institute held 17th March. Two alternative uses for
town centre sites emerged from the workshop: Tourism hub at Tape Street car park and
Health hub at Royal Walk. A meeting will be held with Cushman & Wakefield to consider
option appraisal to enable public consultation. The panel will meet again after the election. 4
have been shortlisted for public consultation, we await confirmation for the One Public Estate
bid. Taskforce have submitted a report but we have requested clarification around what they
are recommending and the products they are offering as this is unclear. Taskforce report to be
circulated.
In progress.

We have issued press releases about the ‘Eat out to help out' scheme encouraging people to
support local businesses and continue to raise awareness via social media. We promoted the
dates that our local leisure facilities (pools, racquet sports etc) re-opened. A specific release
about the work to the pool area in Brough Park Leisure Centre was issued.
Business newsletters complete, addition to a new newsletter to be developed considering new
funding.

Influencing Actions
Provide bus services which connect
our villages with our three market
towns for services, shopping, and
leisure

Staffordshire County Council have been successful in a bid to the Rural Mobility Fund to support demand
responsive transport projects in rural areas. The funding will be used to extend and enhance the
Moorlands Connect service over the next four years, linking in directly with the scheduled local bus
services at interchange points in the area to enable onward travel. There will be three buses with journeys
available from 7am to 7pm Monday to Friday and from 8am to 6pm Saturdays. A service on summer
Sundays will also be starting from next April. Full details of the funding bid can be found here Staffordshire Moorlands - Rural Mobility Fund - Staffordshire County Council
The new service will commence on the 2nd September 2021. A survey is currently running and has been
shared with the District Council, all the Parish Councils in the operating area, schools in the area, Leek and
Buxton College, the local bus service providers and the Peak District National Park.

Improve access and traffic flows to
our town centre

Continued liaison with Development Services and SCC regarding new development sites & key projects
including Cheadle Town Centre masterplan and Blythe Vale. Projects now being considered for possible
submission to the Levelling up fund - in discussion with SCC and MP. 'Long list' of projects identified as
part of Green Infrastructure plan. Bid submitted with support from Stoke-on-Trent City Council, to the
Department of Transport’s ‘Restoring Your Railway - Ideas Fund’ for a feasibility study for a Stoke-Leek
Railway.

Page 45

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment
SM Aim 4 : March Trends 2020/21

SM Aim 4: March Results 2020/21
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Page 46

Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

The council’s profile under Aim Four is the lowest across the Corporate Plan at year end but is against a smaller basket of indicators. The
performance indicator measuring the kg of residual waste is ‘off track’ at year end (linked to changing behaviours during the pandemic) and
the environmental health measures linked to inspections have also been negatively affected by the lockdown. Fly tipping is now a contextual
measure, but the 2020/21 data reveals significant increases compared to last year. This is believed to be a national issue and is being
addressed through a comms strategy in addition to ongoing enforcement activity.

Celebrating Success:
At the end of 2020/21, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
✓
✓
✓
✓

missed bins
paper consumption,
community clean-ups
street cleanliness

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights
Priority Actions
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the
transfer of services to Alliance
Environmental Services Ltd, to
deliver waste, streets, and ground
maintenance services on behalf of
the Council in order to achieve
improved performance and value for
money outcomes.
Identify and implement an approach
to reduce the cost of country parks

Page 47

Develop a plan to improve Brough
Park and John Hall Gardens

Develop a climate change strategy &
an action plan of response to a
declared climate emergency
Review the Council's waste and
recycling arrangements to increase
recycling and to respond to the
emerging national strategy

Status Commentary – March
COMPLETED
Phase 3 (streets and ground maintenance) transfer completed 1st April 2020.
Awaiting return of IT equipment. Closure/lessons learnt report has been provided.
Project completed.

We have made progress with Stoke Council- they have produced an enabling report
giving permission in principle for the transfer. We need to understand the liabilities, but
things are moving, there are still a lot of issues to sort out. Costs etc will have reviewed.
Individual project updates within the plan:
- Play Strategy- This will form part of the wider Parks Strategy; a review of existing play
areas will be undertaken.SM project yet to commence.
- Brough Park Improvement plan Play phase of the project is progressing with wetpour
being installed this week. There has been a short delay in the project due to the supply of
tarmac paint being delayed. Play/MUGA phase is currently being delivered with tender
for Tennis Court refurb currently in development. Final pieces/painting are going in and
we are hoping to complete this week, we may go a few days over. Next steps are the
tennis court refurbishment & path works/ lake/link with John Hall Gardens.
- Tean Road, Cheadle Improvement plan- Awaiting update from Cheadle Town Council as
to their aspirations. We have received no communication from CTC as was promised
after their December meeting.
A report will be going to the next round of meetings. Work is progressing in the
background for part 1 of the action plan.
On hold- Await consultation and communications from the Government. TEEP has not
started.

Priority Actions
Influencing Action- Provide waste
and recycling centres across the
district
Review the Environmental
Enforcement Policy in order to take
steps to further reduce
environmental crime
Develop a new Parking Strategy to
ensure that our car parks meet the
needs of residents and visitors
Influencing Action - The provision of
accessible on street parking

Status Commentary – March

Policies to be reviewed and updated in the next 12 months. Working group to be set up
to discuss to agree the approach.

Individual project updates within the strategy:
-Parking strategy - The findings will be reported by the consultants at the beginning of
April and a meeting will be arranged to discuss.
-Pay & Display machines - This is included in the capital programme for next year. We
need the bigger picture/full strategy to make the final decisions.

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Areas for improvement: 2020/2021
2020/21
Year End
Result
48%
prevention
52% relief

Page 51

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Target
2020/21

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

% of initial homelessness
applications opened at the
prevention and relief duty
stages

Aim 1: Increased supply of
good quality affordable
homes

Head of Housing
Services

60%
prevention

Delivery of the Community
Safety Partnership Plan: %
actions delivered to
timescale

Aim 1: Effective support
of community safety
arrangements including
CCTV

Head of Democratic
and Community
Services

100%

20%

Delivery of the plan has been affected by the
impact of Covid 19

% invoices paid in line with
terms of contract

Aim 2: Effective use of
financial and other
resources to ensure value
for money

Head of Finance

96%

95%

Operational output has been directly affected by
additional activities that have been absorbed by
the Creditors function to facilitate Covid-19
Business and Self Isolation support payments
from April 2020. This has been an increased
demand on capacity within the team which was
already working on reduced resources due to a
full-time member on long term sick leave
throughout quarter two. In addition there has
been a noticeable increase in supplier invoices
over recent weeks as front-line services step up
recovery of business operations which we are
currently working through to facilitate payments
under the 30 day target. We are making use of all
available options, including external and internal
communication channels to ensure that
payments are not delayed, to which we aim to
make a noticeable improvement on the current
position going forward.

Off track % is improving as lockdown restrictions
ease

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Target
2020/21

2020/21
Year End
Result
26%

% of corporate efficiency
savings met

50% of target

Income variance to budget

Net Budget
+/- 25%
variance

63%

Page 52

FOI requests: % responded
to within statutory time
frame (include numbers in
commentary)

Aim 2: Ensure our services
are easily available to all
our residents in the
appropriate channels and
provided 'right first time

Head of Legal and
Elections

95%

72%
(455/633)

Website Quality: Socitm
Better Connected
assessment

Aim 2: Ensure our services
are easily available to all
our residents in the
appropriate channels and
provided 'right first time

Head of OD and
Transformation

4 stars

3 stars

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)
The savings achieved in year were affected by the
Covid pandemic which reduced the scope. This
was recognised in the revised MTFP approved in
February 2021. The shortfall is carried forward
into 2021/22
The additional Government funding received in
support of the extended business rates relief
scheme put in place for 2021/22, gave rise to
significant s31 grants being received in 2020/21
to be used to offset the shortfall in BR income
which will be suffered in 2021/22. These
additional grants show as technical income in the
year but are earmarked for use in 2021/22
Response times have been affected due to the
impact of Covid 19 on staff resources

The Assessment process is subjective to the
individual assessors. An alternative measure will
be used next year

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Agent satisfaction with the
Planning Service

Aim 3: High quality
development and building
control with an open for
business approach

Head of
Development
Services

Target
2020/21
80%

2020/21
Year End
Result
56%

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Page 53

Staff shortage within the team has meant that
workloads have increased significantly this year
along with the backlog of applications. This has
also been exacerbated by the pandemic with site
visits not being undertaken during the initial
lockdown. This has led to a decrease in customer
satisfaction . Also, officers have been focusing on
delivering against Government performance
targets on planning application turn-around time
and as a result customer service has suffered. The
vacant posts have now been filled and new
officers will start in May and June. This will allow
us to focus on the backlog and improving
customer care

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

% of planning enforcement
cases resolved in 13 weeks

80%

2020/21
Year End
Result
46%

Target
2020/21

Page 54
KG's of residual waste per
household.

Aim 4: Effective recycling
and waste management

Head of Service
Commissioning

385kg

405kg

Number of pest control
contracts

Aim 4: Provision of highquality public amenities,
clean streets and

Head of
Environmental
Services

54

50

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)
The last 12 months have seen a big increase in
enforcement cases as a result of people spending
more time at home and submitting enforcement
complaints about work being carried out in their
area. Site visits were not undertaken in the initial
part of the lockdown, and internal visits are still
not being carried out unless absolutely essential
which also slowed resolution times. We have also
had a number of instances of staff sickness in the
team and another officer partially seconded to
the planning applications team to cover for
vacancies and bolster resources there to meet
Government targets. We have brought an
additional member of staff into the team in
January 2021, but he has taken time to train and
we are now only feeling the full benefit. Once the
planning applications team is up to full strength
more resources can be allocated to enforcement.
In addition, the easing of lockdown should result
in fewer complaints and more site visits being
undertaken.
Results are awaiting external verification. Waste
tonnages collected by AES in 2020-21 are
estimated to be 13% higher (2340 tonnes) than in
2019-20, we assume this is linked to the Covid
pandemic and changing behaviours.
We currently have 50 Contracts at SMDC, off
track due to COVID-19

Page 55

95%

2020/21
Year End
Result
76%

% of routine permitted
process premises inspected

75%

60%

Targets have not been achieved due to COVID-19
restrictions

Private water supplies - % of
sampling programme
completed

75%

60%

Targets have not been achieved due to COVID-19
restrictions

100%

90%

Targets have not been achieved due to COVID-19
restrictions

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

% of food premises
compliant with the Food
Standards Agency criteria (
plus numbers as context)

environmental health

Pollution measures - air
quality: % compliance
against national reporting
requirements in relation to
air quality

Aim 4: Meeting the
challenges of climate
change

Service Lead

Target
2020/21

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)
This is due to the number of premises that could
not be assessed . Premises that are not inspected
have to classified as non-compliant as they have
not been risk rated against the criteria and they
have not received an official physical inspection
this is needed to be able to rate them consistently
against the brand standard and the food safety
legislation

For a full list of all performance measures and the Q4 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Cabinet
3 August 2021

TITLE:

Update on the Levels of Pollution and the Air
Quality Action Plan

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Bowen - Portfolio Holder for
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER:

Alicia Patterson - Head of Environmental
Health

WARDS INVOLVED:

Leek and Cellarhead

Appendices Attached
Appendix 1: SMDC Air Quality Data and Action Plan Update 2020
Appendix 2: SMDC ARS 2020
Appendix 3: Consolidated Air Quality Action Plan

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To update the Cabinet on the latest Air Quality data across the Staffordshire
Moorlands and the measures being proposed or undertaken in relation to the
declared Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in Leek and Cellarhead, as
part of the Air Quality Action Plan for the Areas.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Cabinet notes the content of the report.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

In accordance with the Council’s statutory duty to manage air quality in the
District, monitoring of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) was completed across the
District during 2019. In general, the monitoring confirmed that NO2 annual
mean concentrations generally showed a slight downward trend, decreasing at
60% of the sites from the previous year.

3.2

Once adjusted to be representative of a location of relevant exposure, only
three exceedances of the Air Quality Objective (40μg/m³ ) were recorded

Page 57

and all three were located in the existing Air Quality Management Area in
Cellarhead, with the highest reading recorded to be 41.9μg/m³.
3.3

There were no exceedances of the Air Quality Objective in AQMA No1: Leek.
Full details of the air quality results can be found in the Annual Status Report
2020 (attached at Appendix 2).

3.4

Despite the difficulties presented by the Covid-19 pandemic, continued
monitoring of NO2 was completed across the District during 2020. No
exceedances of the Air Quality Objectives were seen at any location across
the District in 2020, including in the two declared Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) in Leek and Cellarhead.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report supports the following Corporate Aims of the Council:
•
•

Aim 1: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our
residents to live and work.
Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

There are no alternative options to consider.

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report.

6.2

Workforce
There are no workforce implications arising from this report.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.
There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. All
assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s routine work.
However, the Council may seek support from external bodies should

Page 58

any further modelling be required for the preparation of the action plan.
Typically the cost of this would be in the region of £5,000.
6.5

Legal
The Council has a statutory duty to manage air quality in its area and,
where nationally set criteria are exceeded, to declare an Air Quality
Management Area. Once declared, the Council is obliged to prepare,
following due consultation with interested parties, an Air Quality Action
Plan. The Plan must subsequently be implemented. Failure to do so
may result in legal action being taken against the Council.

6.6

Climate Change
The management of air quality in the District is an essential part of the
Council’s response to climate change and is the subject matter of this
report.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Public consultation cannot change the decision of whether or not to
declare an Air Quality Management Area (this is mandatory). However,
a public notification/informative exercise has been completed to inform
those affected by the 2 AQMAs which have been declared by the
Council, including:



6.8

Letters and information to all residents affected;
Web Promotion.

Risk Assessment
It is a statutory requirement that the Council assesses air quality and
takes action where appropriate. In appropriate cases there is an
obligation to declare an AQMA. The necessary process is underway
and there are no risks to the Council at this stage of the process.
The European Commission has formally launched infraction
proceedings against the UK for breach of nitrogen dioxide limit values
under the EU Air Quality Directive. Part 2 of the Localism Act allows
the Government to require responsible authorities to pay all or part of
an infraction fine. By undertaking its statutory duties and carrying out
all reasonable measures to address breaches of the nitrogen dioxide
limits, it is anticipated that such fines will not be derogated to this
Council.

Mark Trillo

Page 59

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning)
Contact details
Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental Health
alicia.patterson@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

7.

Detail

7.1

The report provides details of the monitoring of air quality which has been
undertaken in the District as part of the Council’s statutory duty to manage air
quality in its area. It is suggested that results from monitoring carried out in
2020 should be viewed with caution as they reflect a large reduction in traffic
across the district due to the Covid-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns,
notably during the first lockdown in April. However, they do provide valuable
data and confirm that road traffic sources are the primary source of NO2
pollution across the District, which supports the measures outlined in the Air
Quality Action Plan (AQAP)(attached at Appendix 3).

7.2

Full details of the air quality results for 2020 can be found in SMDC Air Quality
Data 2020 attached at Appendix 1.

7.3

A number of direct measures of the Air Quality Action Plan were implemented
during 2019 in pursuit of improving local air quality. The majority of these have
been as part of the Air Aware project and the innovative Transport
Management System (TMS) in Cellarhead.

7.4

The Air Aware project aims to provide school engagement, business
engagement, and a communications campaign to raise awareness of air
quality issues, focusing on Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). This has
proved to be very popular with Leek schools, with 7 now engaged in the
project. Further details are presented in Appendices 1 & 3.The project also
funded an EV feasibility study across Staffordshire, which will be used to
inform an EV action plan.

7.5

The TMS project at Cellarhead is being undertaken in conjunction with Amey,
Staffs County Council and Keele University, and aims to improve traffic flows
and thus air quality at this junction, by utilising fibre optics to sense traffic
queues and adjust traffic light settings accordingly. Further details of the
project are presented in the AQAP (Appendix 3)

7.6

Unfortunately, the implementation of action plan measures (outlined in the
AQAP) were hampered during 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic. However,
SMDC was successful in a joint bid with Staffordshire County Council, East
Staffordshire DC and Lichfield DC to continue and enhance the Air Aware
project (phase 2).

7.7

This second phase will include: the further enhancement of schools
engagement, targeting secondary schools in both Leek and Cellarhead;

Page 60

further support for business sites; a wider communications campaign on air
quality, including domestic fuel use; development of an EV action plan; and
the deployment of air sensors in Leek to monitor air quality in real-time. This
will potentially enable information to be made available to residents to inform
travel choices as well as provide an evidence as to the effectiveness of the
action plan measures. Further details of the full proposals are provided in
Appendix 1.
7.8

In addition to the successful bid for phase 2 of the Air Aware project, the first
stage of the new TMS trial at Cellarhead crossroads has completed the
installation of four (real time) air quality sensors at points around the
Cellarhead junction. These will be used to evaluate the success of the
proposed new TMS, with the trial commencing this year.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Air Quality Monitoring Results & Action Plan
Update 2020
1: Air Quality Monitoring Results 2020


The results for SMDC diffusion tubes for 2020 are shown in Table 1; details of
monitoring locations are presented in Appendix 1.



At the start of 2020, 3 additional locations were monitored, 2 in Biddulph at the
Knypersley cross roads and an additional site in Leek (Compton street traffic lights)..



No exceedances of AQ objectives were seen at any location 2020 across the district,
including the two declared AQMA’s in Leek and Cellarhead, and continued the recent
trend in a general improvement in AQ across the district



However, results from 2020 should be viewed with caution as they reflect a large
reduction in traffic across the district due to the Covid-19 pandemic and associated
lockdowns, notably the first lockdown in April. This can be seen in Figure 1, which
shows (raw) monitoring data from several locations along Broad Street (North Bound) .



Results though do provide valuable data and confirm that road traffic sources are the
primary source of Nitrogen Dioxide pollution across the district.

Figure 1; Monthly Trend in Nitrogen Dioxide data Broad Street (North Bound)

60.0
50.0

(NO2 ug/m3 )

40.0
2
5
3
7
4
1

30.0
20.0
10.0
0.0
Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Month

Page 63
1

Nov

Dec

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 1 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results
3

Site ID

X OS
Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid
Ref
(Northing)

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m )
Site
Type

Monitoring
Type
(3)

2018

Page 64
2

(3)

2019

2020

1

396535

349111

Roadside

Automatic

28.0

24.6

19.8

5

396353

340607

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

24.7

24.4

17.9

6

401095

339425

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

26.9

25.7

19.7

7

400967

343564

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

38.0

36.2

27.7

8

407237

342257

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

24.2

21.1

13.6

10

398486

356630

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

30.6

29.8

21.1

11

398295

356587

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

35.4

35.4

24.7

14

400990

343365

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

32.0

26.6

19.3

Diffusion Tube

12.1

10.6

9.6

12
17

397430
388030

356516
356757

Roadside
Roadside

Diffusion Tube

23.5

22.9

23.1

24

398691

356579

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

38.6

37.0

28.6

25

398354

356329

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

43.4

44.1

32

29

400968

343579

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

36.9

39.7

27.6

30

400967

343548

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

33.5

35.5

27.3

31

398688

356547

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

32.3

31.8

25.7

32

398693

356616

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

37.0

34.1

26.1

34

398172

356253

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

27.6

26.3

21.8

37

398333

356313

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

39.8

39.2

31.5

38

395702

347548

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

42.3

42.5

32

39

395702

347553

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

42.1

42.7

32.4

41

398323

356306

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

31.8

31.1

25.5

42

395704

347562

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

40.7

42.0

30.6

45

400937

343457

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

34.5

35.3

-

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
3

Site ID

X OS
Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid
Ref
(Northing)

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m )
Site
Type

Monitoring
Type
(3)

(3)

2018

2019

2020

Page 65

47

398245

356232

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

27.5

28.8

22.5

48

398397

356322

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

32.9

34.9

27

49

395811

347530

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

30.0

25.1

18.7

50

401043

342917

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

28.6

22.7

17.6

51

401062

343045

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

24.6

30.2

23

52

401049

343151

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

37.1

40.1

28.7

53

395727

347570

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

41.9

28.4

54

395732

347575

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

30.5

17.4

55

395754

347560

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

32.1

23.6

56

395699

347577

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

38.1

27.6
31

57

398107

356157

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

41.7

58

395980

341065

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

25.1

17.2

388054
387997
398379

356808
356756
356756

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

-

23.8

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

-

16

Roadside

Diffusion Tube

-

-

27.9

NEW

59

NEW

60

NEW

61

27.9☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected
☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75%
☒ 2018 data shows reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required),
☒ 2019 data shows reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required) and where
applicable, the result that have been distance corrected for relevant with distance adjustment
Notes:
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m 3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m 3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.

3

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2. Action Plan Updates
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has taken forward a number of direct measures,
identified in the AQAP, during the current reporting year of 2019 in pursuit of improving
local air quality. The majority of these have been as part of the Air Aware project and the
innovative transport management system in Cellarhead.
The Air Aware Project was a

joint project between SCC and SMDC and 7 other

Staffordshire districts, supported by a Defra grant, and aimed to provide school
engagement, business engagement, and a communications campaign to raise awareness
of air quality issues, focusing on AQMAs.
The project also funded an EV feasibility study across Staffordshire.
School Engagement
The school engagement has targeted areas where school traffic impacts on AQMA areas.
Engagement activity includes:
•

providing School assembles on air quality,

•

active travel campaigns through an academic annual calendar,

•

accreditation of schools through STARS travel planning,

•

anti-idling campaigns to get parents to “switch off when they drop off”

•

provision of walking bus co-ordinators

This has proved to be very popular with Leek schools. The schools currently engaged in
the full programme and have had travel plans approved are:


St Edwards Middle



Westwood First



Churnet View Middle



Beresford Memorial (First)

Page 66
4

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Some engagement with (but not travel plans) are:


All Saints First



Leek First



St Mary’s Catholic

A trial business / public engagement event also took place at SMDC in August 2019, where
the Environmental Health service and the Air Aware team members worked together to offer
employees of the Alliance and other staff based at Moorlands House:
•

information on Air Quality and funding for low emission vehicles

•

free Bike checks from “Dr Bike”

•

free cycling and walking maps

•

the chance to win prizes in their Air Pollution Game

EV Feasibility Study
The EV feasibility study across Staffordshire was published at the end of 2019 and is now
being used to draft an EV infrastructure action plan across Staffordshire

Further AQAP Actions & Funding
Unfortunately, the implementation of action plan measures (outlined in the AQAP) were
hampered during 2020 due to the covid Pandemic, and the impacts on school engagement.
Engagement did continue with schools digitally, by share campaigns and events with their
pupils, although some planned events were cancelled. This included a joint Anti-idling / Air
Aware campaign with pupils from St Edwards Academy (Middle) that was due to take place
last May (2020). It is hoped this will be rescheduled when restrictions allow.
The above noted the success of the first Air Aware project, which was used to inform and
shape the elements for a successful, second bid to Defra at the end of 2020 to continue and
expand the work done in phase 1
The bid was a joint bid between Staffordshire County Council, SMDC, East Staffordshire DC
and Lichfield DC. The elements within this project have been identified through evaluation of

Page 67

5

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
the first phase of the project, these include further schools engagement; support for business
sites; a wider campaign to provide electric vehicle ownership and charging information to
increase confidence; and the deployment of air sensors to monitor air quality real-time to
enable information to be pushed to citizens to inform travel choices as well as provide an
evidence as to the effectiveness of elements delivered.
School Engagement
The current project has shown that by working more intensively with a school, developing and
delivering campaigns directly related to air quality and not only active travel, results have far
exceeded expectations. The actively engaged schools wish to continue this work increasing
the number of initiatives and solutions in the form of walking buses and air aware champions,
which will be supported locally.
Phase 2 will look to:


To enhance continued School Travel Plan engagement in all Leek Schools



Campaigns including anti-idling specific to the issues facing the school, to enhance or
replace if restrictions continue, a digital anti-idling campaign as this issue continues to
be a problem in many locations.



Secondary and middle school PHSE lessons and project work including personal
monitors project, travel planning and links to independent travel trainers.



Energy awareness and support for funding applications for school buildings in AQMA’s.



Increased capacity to provide lessons, either digital or face to face in schools. Current
project evaluation has asked for continued expert support in this field.

Business Engagement
The aim of the business engagement is to build communities of business networks to support
targeted business sites that are either located in or have a direct impact on AQMAs. The sites
will have a combined voice to share concerns, ideas and potentially funding. Shared facilities,
staggered start timings, fleet transition and events to help a business move to being
environmentally aware and future ready. Transport and Sustainability teams will work with
these sites to target all areas of air pollution bringing in relevant experts in a variety of fields
e.g. Energy saving trust, Biomass boiler experts. There will be a targeted focus to support
landlords to raise awareness.

Page 68
6

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Anti-idling Campaigns:
Additional anti-idling campaign will target idling public transport at bus stations/stops following
feedback received during project phase 1. Materials and campaigns will be used for all
Staffordshire public transport operators, school transport, taxi etc.
This campaign will be produced and tested with Staffordshire Bus Operator Forum (SBOF).
Communications
The project will target local AQMAs with a range of bespoke campaigns that will benefit the
local communities to provide an improved “Place” and healthier residents through increases in
physical activity. For example, within Leek, residents will benefit from a combined school and
community (small businesses) engagement programme. This has been formed based on the
type of area and resident of Leek and will use the “Totally Locally” programme to encourage
all town centre businesses to be involved with the campaigns. This raising of awareness led
by the town will provide a longer-term future to encourage behaviour change. The
engagement programme will include:


New campaign material to raise awareness of all causes of air pollution.



Domestic air pollution awareness specific campaigns e.g. domestic, wood burning.



Additional business, community and school campaigns and partner focused toolkits
providing campaign material for local locations e.g. business site toolkit.



Links to all campaigns where air quality messages are significant e.g. Motorcycle
groups, Safer Roads Partnership messaging and Health challenges.



Electric vehicle campaigns planned to be implemented throughout the project and at
the installation of all charging infrastructure, linked to this and any other project.

Electric Vehicles
Based on evidence from the EV feasibility study undertaken as part of our first Air Aware
project, Staffordshire County Council will produce an Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure
12 month action plan. This will include measures to :

Page 69
7

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council


Set out how Staffordshire will increase take up and adoption rates of electric vehicles,
accelerate the commercial charging points and conduct a review of fleet vehicles with
a view to changing to electric and installing charging points at workplace locations.



Increase EV communication to businesses, communities, schools, partners.



Purchase a new electric travel van branded to raise awareness, encourage take up and
increase confidence in electric vehicles.



Improve information by use of a web platform, events to inspire confidence and
increase awareness, in particular the use of the Travel Van as its own “virtual team
member” to follow its journey, cost, savings, and educating on all benefits of using an
electric vehicle. The campaign will address concerns of charge and range anxiety in
particular.

Deployment of Air Quality Sensors
A network of air quality sensors will be deployed in Leek to complement existing methods of
air quality sampling, including diffusion tubes and hand-held kits. Data will be reported and
shared real time via a dashboard, and will be used to inform communication campaigns and
educational activities and events

Cellarhead Traffic Management System (TMS)
In addition to the successful bid for phase 2 of the Air Aware project the first stage of the new
TMS trial at Cellarhead crossroads, which is being undertaken with Amey, Staffordshire
County Council and Keele University, has completed the installation of four AQ sensors at
points around the Cellarhead junction.
These will be used to evaluate the success of the proposed new TMS. Further details of the
proposed TMS is available in the AQAP (appendix 3)

Page 70
8

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

 Appendix 1 : Details of AQ Monitoring Locations and AQMAs
Table 2 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites

Site ID

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

Page 71

1

Wetley Rocks

Roadside

396535

349111

NO2

NO

1.7

2.45

NO

3.1

5

Blythe Bridge
(Chestnut Crescent)

Roadside

396353

340607

NO2

NO

0

0

NO

2.5

Tean
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt_ Central) (*2)

Roadside

401095

339425

NO2

NO

0.5

2

NO

2.7

Roadside

400967

343564

NO2

NO

0.2

2

NO

2.8

Alton (Chapel)
Leek (Moorlands
House)

Roadside

407237

342257

NO2

NO

3

1

NO

3.3

Roadside

398486

356630

NO2

YES

3.5

0.2

NO

3.4

Leek (Swan Hotel)

Roadside

398295

356587

NO2

YES

7

0.7

NO

2.9

Roadside

400990

343365

NO2

NO

1

1

NO

2.8

Roadside

388030

356757

NO2

NO

3

2.5

NO

2.8

Roadside

398354

356329

NO2

YES

0.2

2.26

NO

2.7

Roadside

400968

343579

NO2

YES

0.2

2

NO

2.4

Roadside

400967

343548

NO2

YES

0.2

2

NO

2.9

6
7
8
10
11
14
17
25
29
30

9

Site Name

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Cheadle (Tape
Street)
Biddulph (Knypersly,
Cross Rds)
Leek (Broad Street
Jct North_1)
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt_ North)
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt _South)

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Site ID

31
32
34

Page 72

45

Leek (Ball Haye St _
South)
Leek (Ball Haye St_
North)
Leek (Broad Street
Vets_ South 2)
Cheadle Roundabout
Special

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

Roadside

398688

356547

NO2

YES

0.2

3

NO

2.7

Roadside

398693

356616

NO2

NO

0.2

3

NO

2.8

Roadside

398172

356253

NO2

NO

1.5

2.4

NO

2.9

Roadside

400937

343457

NO2

YES

6

1

NO

2.6

47

Broad Street South

Roadside

398245

356232

NO2

YES

1.4

2.8

NO

3.0

48

Broad Street Junction

Roadside

398397

356322

NO2

NO

2

2

NO

3.3

49

Cellar Head Juction 4
Cheadle Tape St
easb bound
Cheadle Tape St
west bound
Cheadle Tape St
west bound 2
Cellarhead
Junction_5
Cellarhead
Junction_6
Cellarhead
Junction_7
Cellarhead
Junction_8

Roadside

395811

347530

NO2

YES

40

2

NO

2.5

Roadside

401043

342917

NO2

YES

80

2

NO

2.6

Roadside

401062

343045

NO2

YES

1.2

1.8

NO

2.7

Roadside

401049

343151

NO2

YES

2.5

1.2

NO

2.6

Roadside

395727

347570

NO2

YES

0.5

1.5

NO

2.7

Roadside

395732

347575

NO2

YES

1

1.4

NO

2.7

Roadside

395754

347560

NO2

YES

8

1.6

NO

2.7

Roadside

395699

347577

NO2

YES

3.2

1

NO

2.6

Broad Street South

Roadside

398107

356157

NO2

YES

1

2.5

NO

2.9

50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57

10

Site Name

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Site ID

Site Name

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

58

Blythe Bridge

Roadside

395980

341065

NO2

YES

7

1.75

NO

2.6

24a

Leek (Ball Haye St _
Central) (*2)

Roadside

398691

356579

NO2

YES

0.2

3

NO

2.7

Leek (Broad Street
North_3) (*2)

Roadside

398333

356313

NO2

YES

0.2

3.5

NO

2.6

Cellarhead
Junction_2 (*2)

Roadside

395702

347548

NO2

YES

0.2

1.8

NO

2.6

Cellarhead
Junction_3 (*2)

Roadside

395702

347553

NO2

0.2

1.8

NO

2.6

Leek (Broad Street
Jct North_4) (*2)

Roadside

398323

356306

NO2

NO

0.1

3.5

NO

2.7

Cellar Head Junction
4 (*2)

Roadside

395704

347562

NO2

YES

0.2

1.8

NO

2.7

24b
37a
37b

Page 73

38a
38b
39a
39b
41a
41b
42a
42b

YES

Notes:
(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property).
(2) N/A if not applicable.

Locations are shown on the maps in Figures 1-9 below

11

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs
Figure 1 – Overview of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs

Page 74
12

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 2 – Monitoring Locations: Cellarhead

Page 75
13

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 3 – Monitoring Locations: Leek

Page 76
14

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 4 – Monitoring Location 1

Page 77

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 5 – Monitoring Location 17

Page 78
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

32

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 6 – Monitoring Location 6

Page 79
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

33

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 7 – Monitoring Locations 5 and 58

Page 80

Figure 8 – Monitoring Location 8

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Page 81

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 9 – Monitoring Locations: Cheadle

Page 82

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Annual Status Report 2020
Bureau Veritas

Page 85
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Document Control Sheet
Client
Document Title
Bureau Veritas Ref
No.

Identification

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
2020 Annual Status Report
9540759/UK/V1.0

Contact Details
Company Name

Bureau Veritas UK Limited

High Peak Borough Council

Contact Name
Position

Hannah Smith
Senior Consultant

Address

5th Floor
66 Prescot Street
London
E1 8HG

Daniel McCrory
Regulatory Services
Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council & High Peak Borough
Council,
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek
ST13 6HQ

Version

Date

Author

1.0
2.0

11/12/20
14/12/20

D Clampin
P Bentley

Configuration
Reason for Issue/Summary of
Changes
Draft for comment
Following client comments

Name

Job Title

Prepared By

D Clampin

Senior Consultant

Approved By

P Bentley

Senior Consultant

Status
Draft
Final

Signature

Commercial In Confidence
© Bureau Veritas UK Limited
The copyright in this work is vested in Bureau Veritas UK Limited, and the information contained herein is confidential. This
work, either in whole or in part, may not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for any purpose, other than for internal
client evaluation, without Bureau Veritas’ prior written approval.
Bureau Veritas UK Limited, Registered in England & Wales, Company Number: 01758622
Registered Office: Suite 206 Fort Dunlop, Fort Parkway, Birmingham B24 9FD
Disclaimer
This Report was completed by Bureau Veritas on the basis of a defined programme of work and terms and conditions agreed
with the Client. Bureau Veritas confirms that in preparing this Report it has exercised all reasonable skill and care taking into
account the project objectives, the agreed scope of works, prevailing site conditions and the degree of manpower and resources
allocated to the project.
Bureau Veritas accepts no responsibility to any parties whatsoever, following the issue of the Report, for any matters arising
outside the agreed scope of the works.
This Report is issued in confidence to the Client and Bureau Veritas has no responsibility to any third parties to whom this
Report may be circulated, in part or in full, and any such parties rely on the contents of the report solely at their own risk.
Unless specifically assigned or transferred within the terms of the agreement, the consultant asserts and retains all Copyright,
and other Intellectual Property Rights, in and over the Report and its contents.
Any questions or matters arising from this Report should be addressed in the first instance to the Project Manager.

Page 86
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report
(ASR)
In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management
December 2020

Page 87
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Local Authority
Officer

Daniel McCrory

Department

Regulatory Services

Address

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council &
High Peak Borough Council
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek
ST13 6HQ

Telephone

01538 395400

E-mail

Daniel.Mccrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Report Reference
number

Staffordshire Moorlands 2020 ASR

Date

December 2020

Page 88
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Annual Status Report (ASR) – Air Quality
Endorsement from the Director of Health and Care, Staffordshire County Council
Staffordshire County Council is committed to working with partners to ensure that
Staffordshire will be a place where improved health and wellbeing is experienced by
all. Poor air quality has a negative impact on public health, with potentially serious
consequences for individuals, families and communities. Identifying problem areas
and ensuring that actions are taken to improve air quality forms an important element
in protecting the health and wellbeing of Staffordshire residents. Improving air quality
is often a complex issue, presenting a multi-agency challenge – so it is essential that
all agencies work together effectively to deliver improvements where they are
needed. As Director of Health and Care across Staffordshire I endorse this Annual
Status Report which sets out the position in all the Local Authorities across
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent
As well as the ongoing work programme to address air quality issues in Staffordshire
and Stoke-on-Trent through the Defra Funded Air Quality Project.
Staffordshire County Council led the bid for the ADEPT Live Lab programme and
were successful in receiving £1.97 million to deliver the SIMULATE programme with
partners AMEY, Keele University, Catapult Connected Places and ADEPT Live
Labs. The programme is based on challenges in two areas: urban air quality and
mobility.
SIMULATE is a new kind of infrastructure partnership, designed to accelerate
innovative solutions in Air Quality and Intelligent Mobility within local
authorities. SIMULATE is funded by the DfT and is part of the ADEPT Smart Places
Research Programme.
In addition, Officers from Newcastle Borough Council, Stoke City Council and
Staffordshire County Council are jointly working under Ministerial Direction to
improve transport related air pollution in North Staffordshire.
Dr Richard Harling

Director of Health and Care
Staffordshire County Council
[26 May 2020]

Page 89

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area
Air Quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised
as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air
pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people,
and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with
equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent
areas1,2.
The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK
is estimated to be around £16 billion3.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) declared two Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs) in July 2019; Leek and Cellarhead which have been
declared as a result of traffic emissions resulting in exceedances of the Nitrogen
Dioxide (NO2) annual mean objective. Due to the AQMA declarations an Air Quality
Action Plan (AQAP) is currently being drafted. As soon as the AQAP has been
drafted it will be consulted upon (including Defra), and following any updates required
it will be adopted by SMDC in due course.
Full details of the declared AQMAs, including maps of AQMA boundaries are
available online https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=258.
Monitoring of NO2 was completed across the district during 2019, there was no
monitoring of Particulate Matter (PM10 or PM2.5). The highest monitored NO2
concentration recorded in 2019, once adjusted to be representative of a location of
relevant exposure, was 43.5µg/m³ at monitoring location 25 which is located within
the Leek AQAMA on Broad Street. NO2 annual mean concentrations have decreased
at 16 of 26 sites for which data was also available for 2018. Four sites monitored
above the annual mean objective in 2019, all of which were within the AQMAs. This
is compared to two sites in 2018, although it should be noted that the additional
exceedances occurred at newly deployed monitoring locations.

Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3
Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013
1
2

Page 90
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

i

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Actions to Improve Air Quality
SMDC are currently in the process of completing the AQAP that has been developed
in response to the AQAMA declarations in both Leek and Cellarhead. The actions to
be defined within this AQAP are designed to improve NO2 concentrations within the
AQMAs, and across the district as a whole, with a full updated to Table 2.2 to be
completed in the 2021 ASR once the AQAP has been completed.
The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2014 – 2033) was adopted in September
2020 which has updated a number of policies relating to air pollution and need for
protection of the wider environment including:
•

Policy SD2 – Renewable / Low-Carbon Energy;

•

Policy SD4 – Pollution and Water Quality;

•

Policy DC1 – Design Considerations;

•

Policy C1 – Creating Sustainable Communities; and

•

Policies T1 and T2 – Development and Sustainable Transport.

Conclusions and Priorities
During 2019, monitoring of air quality within SMDC showed that NO2 concentrations
reduced at 16 of 26 monitoring sites for which data was available for 2018 and 2019.
Monitoring within both the Leek and Cellarhead Air Quality Management Areas
remains above the Annual Mean Air Quality Objective of 40µg/m³ for NO2.
The main priorities for the Council in 2019 are to:
•

Continue to monitor NO2 concentrations throughout the borough, and consider
the relocation and/or deployment of additional monitors

•

Finalise Air Quality Action Plans

Local Engagement and How to get Involved
In collaboration with Staffordshire County Council, the Air Aware project provides a
high level of detail in terms of air quality information that is relevant to the
Staffordshire area. A website has been developed to allow access to resources
relating to both the effects of air pollution, and steps that can be taken on an
individual level to help improve air quality across the county.

Page 91
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

ii

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
The website can be accessed through the following link https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Airaware/Air-aware.aspx.
Members of the public can do their bit by choosing alternative means of transport,
particularly in the winter months. Further examples of modifying behaviour to
contribute positively to air quality are:
•

“Can I get into town without using the car?” Perhaps dig out that old bike?

•

“It’s a nice day, I think I’ll walk”. In fact at some times of the day your walk can
almost take the same time as it does to drive. You’ll get fitter and feel better
for it.

•

How about taking the bus and let somebody else do the driving whilst you
relax?

•

Do you have any work colleagues who live nearby and would like to share the
cost of taking the car? You’ll not only reduce your costs at least by half (the
more who share, the greater the savings), but save on wear and tear, and
mileage increases on your vehicles.

•

How about walking your child to school? Not only will the reduction in vehicles
bring improved air quality, but you and your child will have the added benefit
from the exercise.

•

Local schools can continue their work in persuading parents to encourage
their children to walk or cycle to school and leave the car at home.

•

Members of the public are encouraged to use greener and cleaner vehicles
(Electric Vehicles, Hybrid, LPG, etc.) and lead by example to champion better
air quality.

Page 92
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

iii

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Table of Contents
Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area ...........................................................i
Air Quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District Council ......................................................... i
Actions to Improve Air Quality ............................................................................................ ii
Conclusions and Priorities.................................................................................................. ii
Local Engagement and How to get Involved ...................................................................... ii

1

Local Air Quality Management ........................................................................ 1

2

Actions to Improve Air Quality........................................................................ 2
2.1

Air Quality Management Areas ...............................................................................2

2.2

Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Staffordshire

Moorlands District Council .................................................................................................4
2.3

PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions and/or

Concentrations ..................................................................................................................7

3

Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality

Objectives and National Compliance ...................................................................... 8
3.1

Summary of Monitoring Undertaken .......................................................................8

3.1.1

Automatic Monitoring Sites ............................................................................................ 8

3.1.2

Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites..................................................................................... 8

3.2
3.2.1

Individual Pollutants ...............................................................................................8
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) ................................................................................................... 8

Appendix A: Monitoring Results ............................................................................10
Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2019 .................................20
Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring
Data QA/QC ..............................................................................................................23
Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs.....................................28
Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in England ...............................37
Glossary of Terms ...................................................................................................38
References ...............................................................................................................39

Page 93
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

iv

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
List of Tables
Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas .................................................. 3
Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality ........................................... 6
Table A.1 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites ............................................. 10
Table A.2 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results .................................................... 13
Table B.1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results - 2019 ........................................... 20
Table C.1 – Previous Years Bias Adjustment Factors ............................................... 24
Table C.2 – NO2 Fall-Off With Distance Calculations ................................................ 24
Table C.3 – AURN Monitoring Stations used for Annualisation ................................. 25
Table C.4 – Annualisation of NO2 Data ..................................................................... 27
Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England ........................................................... 37
List of Figures
Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Cellarhead AQMA .......... 16
Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Leek AQMA .................... 17
Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Sites 1-32 ....................... 18
Figure A.4 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Sites 34-58 ..................... 19
Figure D.1 – Overview of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs ..................................... 28
Figure D.2 – Monitoring Locations: Cellarhead .......................................................... 29
Figure D.3 – Monitoring Locations: Leek ................................................................... 30
Figure D.4 – Monitoring Location 1 ............................................................................ 31
Figure D.5 – Monitoring Location 17 .......................................................................... 32
Figure D.6 – Monitoring Location 6 ............................................................................ 33
Figure D.7 – Monitoring Locations 5 and 58 .............................................................. 34
Figure D.8 – Monitoring Location 8 ............................................................................ 35
Figure D 9 – Monitoring Locations: Cheadle .............................................................. 36

Page 94
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

v

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

1

Local Air Quality Management

This report provides an overview of air quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council during 2019. It fulfils the requirements of Local Air Quality Management
(LAQM) as set out in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) and the relevant Policy
and Technical Guidance documents.
The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review
and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality
objectives are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is considered likely the
local authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare
an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends to put in place
in pursuit of the objectives. This Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual
requirement showing the strategies employed by Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council to improve air quality and any progress that has been made.
The statutory air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England can be found in
Table E.1 in Appendix E.

Page 95
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

1

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2

Actions to Improve Air Quality

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are declared when there is an exceedance
or likely exceedance of an air quality objective. After declaration, the authority must
prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) within 12-18 months setting out measures
it intends to put in place in pursuit of compliance with the objectives.
A summary of AQMAs declared by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council can be
found in Table 2.1. Further information related to the two declared AQMAs, including
maps of AQMA boundaries are available online https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/localauthorities?la_id=258. Alternatively, see Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations
and AQMAs, which provides for a map of air quality monitoring locations in relation to
the two designated AQMAs. The AQAP for the two delcared AQMAs is currently being
drafted therefore the relevant columns for details of the AQAP have been labelled as
ongoing.

Page 96
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

2

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas
AQMA
Name

Page 97
☒

Date of
Declaration

Pollutants
and Air
City / Town
Quality
Objectives

SMDC
AQMA
No.1 Leek

30/7/2019

NO2
Annual
Mean

Leek

SMDC
AQMA
No.2
Cellarhead

30/7/2019

NO2
Annual
Mean

Cellarhead

One Line Description

The area encompasses the
main travel routes through
leek and incorporates the
following sections of roads;
• A523; from the A523
Macclesfield Rd/ Grace Rd
Junction, through to A523
Ashbourne Road /
Springfield Rd Junction. •
A53; from the A53 Broad
Street / Junction Rd,
junction through to A53
Buxton Rd / Springfield
Road Junction. • Springfield
Road. • A520; from A520 St
Edward Street /A523
Stockwell Street junction
through to the A520 /
Condlyffe Road Junction
The area encompasses the
area known locally as the
Cellarhead crossroads,
which is a busy junction
between the A52 and the
A520. The AQMA extends
250m (A520)North, 230m
South (A520), 480m East
(A52)and 210m West (A52)
of the junction

Is air quality in
Level of Exceedance (maximum
the AQMA
monitored/modelled concentration
influenced by
at a location of relevant exposure)
roads
controlled by
Highways
At Declaration
Now
England?

Action Plan

Name

Date of
Publication

NO

45.3

µg/m³

43.5

µg/m³

Ongoing

NO

51.1

µg/m³

42.8

µg/m³

Ongoing

Link

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council confirm the information on UK-Air regarding their AQMA(s) is up to date

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

3

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air
Quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Defra’s appraisal of last year’s ASR included the following key comments. Responses
are provided in italics as appropriate:
1.

The council are reminded that an AQAP should be produced 12-18 months
after an AQMA has been declared.
An AQAP is currently in the process of being drafted and will be submitted to
Defra has part on the consultation required.

2.

Previous ASRs could not be found on the council’s website or in Defra’s log,
the council could improve this by linking their ASRs to their Air Quality website
page.
The 2018 and 2019 reports are now available on the Air Quality page of the
Council’s website, and subsequent reports will be updated following approval.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has taken forward a number of direct
measures during the current reporting year of 2019 in pursuit of improving local air
quality. The majority of these have been as part of the Air Aware project.
The Air Aware Project is a joint project between SCC and SMDC and other
Staffordshire districts supported by a Defra grant, and aimed to provided, school
engagement, business engagement, and a communications campaign to raise
awareness of air quality issues, focussing on AQMA’s. The project also funded an EV
feasibility study across Staffordshire.
The school engagement in has targeted areas where school traffic impacts

on

AQMA areas. Engagement includes:
•

Providing School assembles on air quality,

•

active travel campaigns through an academic annual calendar,

•

accreditation of schools through STARS travel planning,

•

anti-idling campaigns to get parents to “switch off when they drop off”

•

Provision of walking bus co-ordinators

The business engagement in has targeted areas where business l traffic impacts on
AQMA areas and offers businesses a variety of options for engagement with the Air
Aware team, based on their size, location and contribution to the local issue.
•

Air quality sustainable travel action
Pageplans
98 – Transition of travel plans to include

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

4

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
all forms of air quality actions that businesses can engage.
•

Active travel and air quality events – increase awareness and confidence in
cycling and walking, short trip journey options, PTP, electric vehicles, local
public transport and information on all forms of air quality issues and solutions.

•

Car share – procurement of improved car share database March 2020
planned, following customer feedback.

•

Energy saving Trust – bring in external agencies to complement active travel
to increase businesses “green” transformation.

The Air Aware behaviour change communications campaigns, which is linked to both
the business and the schools projects has been designed to raise awareness of
active travel, anti-idling, electric vehicles and air quality benefits. It has run a series of
promotional campaigns to highlight air quality projects across Staffordshire in
newspapers articles e.g.
“Pupils target parents who leave their cars running outside North Staffordshire
school”

regional tv and providing free focused toolkits and campaign material, the Air Aware
website:
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Airaware/Air-aware.aspx

Page 99
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

5

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Details of all measures completed, in progress or planned are set out in Table 2.2.
Works to draft an AQAP have continued throughout 2019, and upon completion of the
AQAP Table 2.2 will be updated in the 2021 ASR to reflect all of the measures that are
to be taken forward. As presented within the 2019 ASR the revised AQAP measures
are to be designed based upon five target categories:
1. Transport;
2. Leading by example;
3. Education, community and partnership;
4. Statutory measures, the use of legislation and targeted enforcement to control
air pollution; and
5. Air quality monitoring.
SMDC’s priority for the coming year is to finalise the draft AQAP, complete the required
level of consultation, and following any amends required adopt the plan. The measures
stated within Table 2.2 continue to help improve air quality conditions across the
district, but the additional measures to be added upon the completion of the AQAP will
be required to achieve compliance with the NO2 annual mean objective within the two
declared AQMAs.

Page 100
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

6

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality
Date
Measure
Introduced

EU
Category

EU
Classification

Vehicle Fleet
Efficiency

Fleet efficiency
and recognition
schemes

Development
Electric
Vehicle
strategy

Promoting Low
Emission
Transport

Procuring
alternative
Refuelling
infrastructure
to promote
Low Emission
Vehicles, EV
recharging,
Gas fuel
recharging

3

School Travel
Planning

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives

School Travel
Plans

2018/ 2019

4

Business Travel;
Planning

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives

Workplace
Travel
Planning

Alternatives to
private vehicle
use

Car and lift
sharing
schemes

Measure No.

1

2

Measure

EcoStars Fleet
Recognition
Programme

2015

Organisations
involved
SMDC and
Transport & Travel
Research Ltd

Funding
Source

Key
Performance
Indicator

Reduction in
Pollutant /
Emission from
Measure

SMDC/ Defra
Grant

Reduced fuel
consumption

Reduced fuel
consumption

Progress to Date

Estimated /
Actual
Completion
Date

Comments /
Barriers to
implementation

Quantitative appraisal
is on-going

Operational

www.ecostars-uk.com

Operational

https://www.staffordshire.
gov.uk/Transport/Sustaina
ble-travel/Electricvehicles/Electricvehicles.aspx

Page 101

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

TBC

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

No of Schools Travel
Plans approved &
adopted

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

No of Business Travel
Plans approved &
adopted

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
No of users registered
Defra Grant

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

2019/2020

SMDC/ SCC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Implementation is ongoing

https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx

5

Car share
scheme

6

Anti-idling
initiatives in
educational
settings

Traffic
Management

Anti-idling
enforcement

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

N/A

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

7

School based
educational
activities

Other

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

No of schools
engaged

Through public
awareness

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

8

Education
initiatives, e.g.
website
information
updates

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives /
Public
Information
Public
Information

Other

2017/18

SCC / SMDC

SCC / SMDC
Defra Grant

New website

Through public
awareness

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

9

SMDC Local
Plan Policy SD4

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

2020

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

Local Plan adopted in
September 2020

10

SMDC Local
Plan Policy T1

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

2020

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

Local Plan adopted in
September 2020

11

SMDC Local
Plan Policy DC1

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

2020

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

Local Plan adopted in
September 2020

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

6

https://share-a-lift.co.uk/
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

12

13

14

15

Staffordshire Air
Quality Forum

Use of the
planning regime
to minimise
impact of new
developments
on AQMAs
Inspect under
the
Environmental
Permit regime
and enforce
legislation to
reduce
combustion
processes
Air quality
monitoring

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Regional Groups
Co-ordinating
programmes to
develop Area
wide Strategies
to reduce
emissions and
improve air
quality

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Air Quality
Planning and
Policy Guidance

Environmental
Permits

Introduction/incre
ase of
environment
charges through
permit systems
and economic
instruments

Public
Information

Other

On-going

County-wide

On-going

SMDC /
Staffordshire AQ
Forum

Completed

On-going

SMDC

SMDC

Full engagement
across the group /
regular meetings

N/A

On-going

On-going

-

SMDC

SPG implemented

Reducing emissions
contribution and
restricting impact
upon AQMAs

On-going

2019

-

SMDC

Installations
adhering to permits
and enforcement /
penalties for
breaches

Restricting
emissions from
industrial processes

Continual

This is standard work
completed by the
Environmental
Protection team

Reviewed annually

Monitoring network is
reviewed each year,
consideration for
funding through AQ
grant

-

SMDC

Monitoring locations
and LAQM reporting

Through EHO /
public awareness

Page 102

Note:
The measures presented in this table are to be updated once the AQAP has been finalised and consulted upon.

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

6

On-going

On-going

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing
Emissions and/or Concentrations
As detailed in Policy Guidance LAQM.PG16 (Chapter 7), local authorities are expected
to work towards reducing emissions and/or concentrations of PM2.5 (particulate matter
with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm or less). There is clear evidence that PM2.5
has a significant impact on human health, including premature mortality, allergic
reactions, and cardiovascular diseases.
In the absence of monitoring, the current Defra background maps4 for Staffordshire
Moorlands (2018 based) show that all background concentrations of PM2.5 are
significantly below the 2020 annual mean AQS objective for PM2.5 of 25µg/m³. The
highest concentration is predicted to be 7.9μg/m3 within the 1 x 1km grid square with
the centroid grid reference of 399500, 342500. This grid square is located west of
Cheadle adjacent and includes the Hillside Industrial Estate where the PM secondary
fraction (formed from gaseous pollutants), constitutes as the key contributor to PM2.5.
The Public Health Outcomes Framework5 data tool complied by Public Health England
quantifies the mortality burden of PM2.5 within England on a county and local authority
scale. The 2018 fraction of mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution in Staffordshire
Moorlands is 3.8%, which is below the national average of 5.2%, and below the
regional average (West Midlands) of 5.0%.
Within the drafted AQAP, measures to reduce NO2 concentrations are predicted to also
improve PM2.5 concentrations as a result of traffic management and mitigation
measures.

4
5

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-maps?year=2018

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/air%20pollution#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000005/ati/301/are/E07000198/cid/4/tbm/1/pageoptions/ovw-do-0

Page 103
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

7

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison
with Air Quality Objectives and National Compliance
3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken
3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites
No automatic monitoring was completed during 2019.
3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council undertook non- automatic (passive)
monitoring of NO2 at 34 sites during 2019, four more than the previous year. The new
monitoring sites commenced in March 2019 with Table A.1 in Appendix A presenting
the details of the sites.
Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix D. Further
details on Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) for the diffusion tubes, including
bias adjustments and any other adjustments applied (e.g. “annualisation” and/or
distance correction), are included in Appendix C.

3.2 Individual Pollutants
The air quality monitoring results presented in this section are, where relevant,
adjusted for bias6, “annualisation” (where the data capture falls below 75%), and
distance correction7. Further details on adjustments are provided in Appendix C.
3.2.1

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)

Table A.2 in Appendix A compares the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 annual
mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 40µg/m3.
Note that the concentration data presented in Table A.2 represents the concentration
at the location of the monitoring site, following the application of bias adjustment and
annualisation, as required (i.e. the values are exclusive of any consideration to fall-off
with distance adjustment).
For diffusion tubes, the full 2019 dataset of monthly mean values is provided in
Appendix B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.1 includes distance
corrected values, only where relevant.
6
7

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/bias-adjustment.html
Fall-off with distance correction criteria is provided in paragraph 7.77, LAQM.TG(16)

Page 104
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

8

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
The highest monitored concentration is 44.1µg/m³ at monitoring location 25 at Broad
Street in Leek. This is consistently the site with the highest monitoring results over
the last five years, but is not located at a point of relevant exposure in relation to the
annual mean NO2 objective. The maximum concentration at a point of relevant
exposure is 41.9µg/m³ at monitoring location 39 within the Cellarhead AQMA. Of the
26 monitoring locations for which data was available in 2018 and 2019, 16 locations
recorded lower NO2 concentrations.
All three monitored concentrations reported to be above 40µg/m³, following
adjustment to be representative of relevant exposure, were within existing AQMAs.
There were no NO2 annual mean concentrations recorded above 60µg/m³ indicating
that there were no exceedances of the 1-hour mean objective at any of the diffusion
tube monitoring sites.

Page 105
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

9

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix A: Monitoring Results
Table A.1 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites

Site ID

1

Page 106

5
6
7
8
10
11
14
17
25
29
30

Site Name

Wetley Rocks
Blythe Bridge
(Chestnut Crescent)
Tean
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt_ Central) (*2)
Alton (Chapel)
Leek (Moorlands
House)
Leek (Swan Hotel)
Cheadle (Tape
Street)
Biddulph (Knypersly,
Cross Rds)
Leek (Broad Street
Jct North_1)
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt_ North)
Cheadle (Leek Road
Rbt _South)

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

Roadside

396535

349111

NO2

NO

1.7

2.45

NO

3.1

Roadside

396353

340607

NO2

NO

0

0

NO

2.5

Roadside

401095

339425

NO2

NO

0.5

2

NO

2.7

Roadside

400967

343564

NO2

NO

0.2

2

NO

2.8

Roadside

407237

342257

NO2

NO

3

1

NO

3.3

Roadside

398486

356630

NO2

YES

3.5

0.2

NO

3.4

Roadside

398295

356587

NO2

YES

7

0.7

NO

2.9

Roadside

400990

343365

NO2

NO

1

1

NO

2.8

Roadside

388030

356757

NO2

NO

3

2.5

NO

2.8

Roadside

398354

356329

NO2

YES

N/A

2.26

NO

2.7

Roadside

400968

343579

NO2

YES

0.2

2

NO

2.4

Roadside

400967

343548

NO2

YES

0.2

2

NO

2.9

10

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Site ID

Site Name

47

Leek (Ball Haye St _
South)
Leek (Ball Haye St_
North)
Leek (Broad Street
Vets_ South 2)
Cheadle Roundabout
Special
Broad Street South

48
49

31
32
34
45

Page 107

50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

Roadside

398688

356547

NO2

YES

0.2

3

NO

2.7

Roadside

398693

356616

NO2

NO

0.2

3

NO

2.8

Roadside

398172

356253

NO2

NO

1.5

2.4

NO

2.9

Roadside

400937

343457

NO2

YES

6

1

NO

2.6

Roadside

398245

356232

NO2

YES

1.4

2.8

NO

3.0

Broad Street Junction

Roadside

398397

356322

NO2

NO

2

2

NO

3.3

Cellar Head Juction 4

Roadside

395811

347530

NO2

YES

40

2

NO

2.5

Roadside

401043

342917

NO2

YES

80

2

NO

2.6

Roadside

401062

343045

NO2

YES

1.2

1.8

NO

2.7

Roadside

401049

343151

NO2

YES

2.5

1.2

NO

2.6

Roadside

395727

347570

NO2

YES

0.5

1.5

NO

2.7

Roadside

395732

347575

NO2

YES

1

1.4

NO

2.7

Roadside

395754

347560

NO2

YES

8

1.6

NO

2.7

Roadside

395699

347577

NO2

YES

3.2

1

NO

2.6

Roadside

398107

356157

NO2

YES

1

2.5

NO

2.9

Cheadle Tape St
easb bound
Cheadle Tape St
west bound
Cheadle Tape St
west bound 2
Cellarhead
Junction_5
Cellarhead
Junction_6
Cellarhead
Junction_7
Cellarhead
Junction_8
Broad Street South

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

11

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Site ID

Site Name

Site Type

X OS Grid Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid Ref
(Northing)

Pollutants
Monitored

In
AQMA?

Distance
to
Relevant
Exposure
(m) (1)

Distance
to kerb
of
nearest
road (m)

Height
(m)

(2)

Tube
collocated
with a
Continuous
Analyser?

58

Blythe Bridge

Roadside

395980

341065

NO2

YES

7

1.75

NO

2.6

24a

Leek (Ball Haye St _
Central) (*2)

Roadside

398691

356579

NO2

YES

0.2

3

NO

2.7

Leek (Broad Street
North_3) (*2)

Roadside

398333

356313

NO2

YES

0.2

3.5

NO

2.6

Cellarhead
Junction_2 (*2)

Roadside

395702

347548

NO2

YES

0.2

1.8

NO

2.6

Cellarhead
Junction_3 (*2)

Roadside

395702

347553

NO2

0.2

1.8

NO

2.6

Leek (Broad Street
Jct North_4) (*2)

Roadside

398323

356306

NO2

NO

0.1

3.5

NO

2.7

Cellar Head Junction
4 (*2)

Roadside

395704

347562

NO2

YES

0.2

1.8

NO

2.7

24b
37a

Page 108

37b
38a
38b
39a
39b
41a
41b
42a
42b

YES

Notes:
(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property).
(2) N/A if not applicable.

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

12

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table A.2 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results

Page 109

Site
ID

X OS Grid
Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid
Ref
(Northing)

Site Type

1

396535

349111

Roadside

5

396353

340607

Roadside

6

401095

339425

Roadside

7

400967

343564

Roadside

8

407237

342257

Roadside

10

398486

356630

Roadside

11

398295

356587

Roadside

14

400990

343365

Roadside

17

388030

356757

Roadside

25

398354

356329

Roadside

29

400968

343579

Roadside

30

400967

343548

Roadside

31

398688

356547

Roadside

32

398693

356616

Roadside

34

398172

356253

Roadside

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Monitoring
Type
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube

Valid Data
Capture for
Monitoring
Period (%) (1)

Valid Data
Capture
2019 (%) (2)

100.0%

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3) (4)
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

100.0%

31.7

32.1

27.6

28.0

24.6

100.0%

100.0%

27.1

25.9

25.3

24.7

24.4

100.0%

91.7%

29.2

29.7

28.9

26.9

25.7

100.0%

100.0%

37.5

39.1

35.2

38.0

36.2

100.0%

100.0%

20.5

22.4

20.4

24.2

21.1

100.0%

100.0%

30.1

31.1

31.3

30.6

29.8

100.0%

100.0%

37.5

38.1

35.2

35.4

35.4

100.0%

100.0%

27.2

30.0

30.6

32.0

26.6

100.0%

75.0%

27.2

26.8

28.3

23.5

22.9

100.0%

91.7%

41.3

47.4

41.6

43.4

44.1

100.0%

100.0%

30.8

34.6

33.1

36.9

39.7

100.0%

91.7%

36.2

38.7

33.8

33.5

35.5

100.0%

100.0%

33.8

34.6

33.9

32.3

31.8

100.0%

100.0%

40.2

39.5

36.0

37.0

34.1

100.0%

100.0%

28.8

33.5

28.8

27.6

26.3

13

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Page 110

Site
ID

X OS Grid
Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid
Ref
(Northing)

Site Type

45

400937

343457

Roadside

47

398245

356232

Roadside

48

398397

356322

Roadside

49

395811

347530

Roadside

50

401043

342917

Roadside

51

401062

343045

Roadside

52

401049

343151

Roadside

53

395727

347570

Roadside

54

395732

347575

Roadside

55

395754

347560

Roadside

56

395699

347577

Roadside

57

398107

356157

Roadside

58

395980

341065

Roadside

24

398691

356579

Roadside

37

398333

356313

Roadside

38

395702

347548

Roadside

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Monitoring
Type
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube

Valid Data
Capture for
Monitoring
Period (%) (1)

Valid Data
Capture
2019 (%) (2)

83.3%

83.3%

83.3%

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3) (4)
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

30.3

37.0

33.2

34.5

35.3

83.3%

22.6

27.5

28.8

100.0%

100.0%

33.2

32.9

34.9

100.0%

100.0%

27.8

30.0

25.1

91.7%

91.7%

28.6

22.7

100.0%

100.0%

24.6

30.2

83.3%

83.3%

37.1

40.1

100.0%

66.7%

41.9

100.0%

66.7%

30.5

100.0%

66.7%

32.1

100.0%

66.7%

38.1

100.0%

58.3%

41.7

100.0%

25.0%

25.1

0.0%

91.7%

41.9

43.2

42.1

38.6

37.0

100.0%

100.0%

40.8

45.3

41.8

39.8

39.2

83.3%

83.3%

47.6

50.8

47.9

42.3

42.5

14

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Site
ID

X OS Grid
Ref
(Easting)

Y OS Grid
Ref
(Northing)

Site Type

39

395702

347553

Roadside

41

398323

356306

Roadside

42

395704

347562

Roadside

Monitoring
Type
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube
Diffusion
Tube

Valid Data
Capture for
Monitoring
Period (%) (1)

Valid Data
Capture
2019 (%) (2)

100.0%

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3) (4)
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

100.0%

49.2

51.1

48.2

42.1

42.7

91.7%

91.7%

34.6

37.7

32.3

31.8

31.1

100.0%

100.0%

47.6

48.9

41.2

40.7

42.0

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected
☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75%

Page 111

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required), i.e. prior to any fall-off with
distance adjustment
Notes:
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year.
(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%).
(3) Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per Boxes 7.9 and 7.10 in LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details.
(4) Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment.

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

15

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Cellarhead AQMA

Page 112
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

16

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Leek AQMA

Page 113
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

17

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Sites 1-32

Page 114
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

18

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure A.4 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Sites 34-58

Page 115
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

19

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2019
Table B.1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results - 2019
NO2 Mean Concentrations (µg/m3)
Annual Mean

Page 116

Site ID

X OS
Grid Ref
(Easting
)

Y OS
Grid Ref
(Northin
g)

1

396535

5

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Raw
Data

Bias
Adjuste
d (0.93)
and
Annuali
sed (1)

349111

36.6

31.6

24.5

26.1

24.5

23.5

26.3

17.6

24.7

26.8

39.0

16.7

26.5

24.6

396353

340607

29.1

38.5

21.4

28.4

21.2

20.2

25.1

28.1

25.7

27.4

23.4

26.4

26.2

24.4

6

401095

339425

IS

36.4

29.6

19.0

26.2

25.0

26.5

24.1

27.2

31.6

28.9

28.9

27.6

25.7

7

400967

343564

41.9

44.8

34.2

45.9

36.5

39.7

36.1

37.7

21.0

45.8

43.7

39.8

38.9

36.2

8

407237

342257

22.8

24.9

16.3

25.2

19.4

20.6

24.7

25.1

20.2

29.0

26.7

17.8

22.7

21.1

10

398486

356630

36.1

32.5

30.9

24.4

24.2

35.8

28.6

26.6

29.8

48.6

35.2

32.1

32.1

29.8

11

398295

356587

48.6

46.8

36.2

26.4

30.9

30.2

35.0

37.2

33.7

43.4

46.4

42.1

38.1

35.4

14

400990

343365

34.8

36.4

24.3

22.6

23.4

25.3

26.8

23.7

28.2

30.5

35.3

32.5

28.7

26.6

17

388030

356757

32.0

29.0

26.9

27.6

ER

TM

TM

18.0

24.3

21.6

21.1

21.1

24.6

22.9

25

398354

356329

59.0

50.8

46.5

33.1

44.3

38.7

42.5

35.1

44.6

49.2

ER

78.1

47.4

44.1

29

400968

343579

42.4

48.8

34.5

48.0

29.5

56.7

31.6

72.4

30.7

42.0

37.7

37.4

42.6

39.7

30

400967

343548

ER

49.1

30.7

36.7

36.0

38.0

33.3

34.5

36.4

42.8

42.8

39.1

38.1

35.5

31

398688

356547

38.4

41.7

32.1

22.0

28.3

29.6

31.3

28.1

29.8

43.7

39.0

46.1

34.2

31.8

32

398693

356616

45.7

54.2

41.6

26.8

34.9

35.3

36.3

33.5

34.4

29.3

36.9

31.7

36.7

34.1

34

398172

356253

40.5

42.3

24.0

18.8

24.0

24.0

24.0

24.4

27.3

26.1

30.3

33.7

28.3

26.3

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

Distanc
e
Correct
ed to
Neares
t
Exposu
re (2)

35.6

39.0

20

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
NO2 Mean Concentrations (µg/m3)
Annual Mean
Site ID

X OS
Grid Ref
(Easting
)

Y OS
Grid Ref
(Northin
g)

45

400937

47

Distanc
e
Correct
ed to
Neares
t
Exposu
re (2)

Page 117

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Raw
Data

Bias
Adjuste
d (0.93)
and
Annuali
sed (1)

343457

45.6

40.6

33.9

TM

TM

35.1

33.9

31.7

36.5

39.9

48.9

33.8

38.0

35.3

398245

356232

34.6

36.0

27.2

21.5

21.1

23.8

25.4

TM

TM

37.9

42.2

40.5

31.0

28.8

48

398397

356322

47.0

47.8

31.1

38.3

33.7

33.7

36.3

28.4

33.2

39.3

44.1

37.5

37.5

34.9

49

395811

347530

40.9

33.0

28.3

20.5

21.3

26.3

27.5

24.4

22.6

23.1

28.7

26.7

26.9

25.1

50

401043

342917

34.7

34.6

18.0

19.3

20.1

20.7

21.0

18.9

24.6

30.0

27.1

TM

24.5

22.7

51

401062

343045

44.4

39.8

30.3

24.2

25.5

27.4

26.3

27.0

31.6

37.3

39.2

37.1

32.5

30.2

52

401049

343151

54.3

59.2

45.3

TM

TM

35.3

37.9

38.8

35.4

42.0

36.8

45.9

43.1

40.1

32.8

53

395727

347570

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

34.9

35.2

35.9

38.1

36.2

46.9

42.7

42.5

39.1

41.9

39.8

54

395732

347575

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

35.7

37.2

25.4

22.0

24.7

27.0

32.7

22.8

28.4

30.5

55

395754

347560

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

23.4

22.6

35.9

29.7

19.1

30.8

44.7

32.8

29.9

32.1

56

395699

347577

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

35.6

32.3

41.0

36.4

35.9

41.4

38.9

22.1

35.5

38.1

30.5

57

398107

356157

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

34.3

38.4

TM

37.7

38.9

45.5

48.3

43.1

40.9

41.7

39.2

58

395980

341065

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

28.7

37.8

27.7

31.4

25.1

398691

356579

48.2

48.5

44.0

23.7

37.7

36.8

39.5

38.2

38.7

40.8

43.2

TM

39.9

48.4

49.5

42.8

25.0

36.1

38.1

40.2

38.7

37.7

38.1

42.5

39.9

39.7

398333

356313

53.9

50.8

46.3

32.0

40.2

40.2

39.3

30.9

38.6

41.0

48.9

41.4

42.0

55.0

49.1

46.0

30.3

37.8

39.0

41.4

33.1

40.3

44.3

49.1

41.9

42.3

395702

347548

59.3

TM

48.8

31.1

42.0

45.3

48.9

39.8

41.0

46.0

42.6

PP

44.5

60.2

47.9

48.0

29.8

TM

44.0

49.0

44.1

47.6

49.3

51.2

PP

47.1

24a
24b
37a
37b
38a
38b

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

37.0

36.5

39.2

38.8

42.5

41.7

21

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
NO2 Mean Concentrations (µg/m3)
Annual Mean
Site ID

39a
39b
41a

Page 118

41b
42a
42b

X OS
Grid Ref
(Easting
)

Y OS
Grid Ref
(Northin
g)

395702

347553

398323

356306

395704

347562

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Raw
Data

58.6

51.5

49.5

28.9

44.0

44.9

47.8

41.1

49.1

45.1

43.0

43.9

45.6

62.8

49.8

52.2

31.6

TM

40.8

47.6

44.2

48.1

40.0

49.8

43.9

46.4

IS

46.1

30.3

27.1

30.3

28.9

29.6

24.9

28.4

34.5

44.3

33.1

32.5

43.6

TM

TM

TM

29.4

29.8

27.2

26.5

31.1

34.3

43.8

33.2

33.2

52.4

57.2

48.6

30.3

42.2

41.7

43.7

44.4

47.2

34.3

45.9

39.3

43.9

57.0

55.1

48.9

31.2

TM

39.6

41.2

43.0

37.1

44.0

ER

70.6

46.8

Bias
Adjuste
d (0.93)
and
Annuali
sed (1)

Distanc
e
Correct
ed to
Neares
t
Exposu
re (2)

42.7

41.9

31.1
42.0

41.2

☒ National bias adjustment factor used

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75%
☒ Where applicable, data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure in the final column
Notes:
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation.
(2) Distance corrected to nearest relevant public exposure.
IS – Invalid Sample, TM – Tube Missing, ER – Erroneous Result, PP – Poor Precision, N/A – Tube not Deployed

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

22

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air
Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC
Diffusion Tube National Bias Adjustment Factors
The diffusion tubes for the year 2019 were supplied and analysed by Staffordshire
Scientific Services, the tubes were prepared using the 20% Triethanolamine (TEA) in
water preparation method. The national bias adjustment factor for is 0.93 (based on
17 studies, version 09/20) as derived from the national bias adjustment calculator8.

Discussion of Choice of Factor to Use
The diffusion tube data has been corrected using a bias adjustment factor, which is an
estimate of the difference between diffusion tube concentration and continuous
monitoring, the latter assumed to be a more accurate method of monitoring.
LAQM.TG(16) provides guidance with regard to the application of a bias adjustment
factor to correct diffusion tube monitoring. Triplicate co-location studies can be used to
determine a local bias factor based on the comparison of diffusion tube results with
data taken from NOx/NO2 continuous analysers. Alternatively, the national database of

National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet version 03/19 available at https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/biasadjustment-factors/national-bias.html
8

Page 119
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

23

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
diffusion tube co-location surveys provides bias factors for the relevant laboratory and
preparation method.
With regard to the application of a bias adjustment factor for diffusion tubes, the Defra
Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16) and the LAQM Helpdesk9 recommend the use of a
local bias adjustment factor where available and relevant to diffusion tube sites. There
is no co-location study locally; therefore, the national bias adjustment of 0.93 is used
to correct diffusion tube monitoring.
Previous year’s bias adjustment are shown below.
Table C.1 – Previous Years Bias Adjustment Factors
Year

Factor Used

Local or National

2017

0.88

National

2018

0.89

National

2019

0.93

National

Distance from Road Correction
In line with LAQM.TG(16) distance correction has been applied to NO2 monitoring sites
that have recorded an annual mean concentration above, or within 10% of the annual
mean objective. There are no exceedances of annual mean NO2 AQS objective, and
there are only two diffusion tube sites Birmingham Road 3 and Studley 4 within the
NO2 monitoring network that was within 10% of the NO2 annual mean objective in 2019,
Studley 4 is located at the relevant exposure but Birmingham Road 3 is not at a location
representative of relevant exposure.
The NO2 Fall-Off with Distance Calculator (v4.2) has been used to derive the NO2
concentration at a location of relevant exposure for the identified diffusion tubes; the
results of the calculations are presented in Table C.2.
Table C.2 – NO2 Fall-Off With Distance Calculations
NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3)

Distance (m)
Site ID

9

Monitoring
Site to Kerb

Receptor to
Kerb

Background 10

Monitoring at Site

Predicted at
Receptor

7

2.0

2.2

9.5

36.2

35.6

24

3.0

3.2

11.7

36.9

36.5

29

2.0

2.2

9.5

39.7

39.0

Laqm.defra.gov.uk
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home

10

Page 120
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

24

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Distance (m)
Site ID

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3)

Monitoring
Site to Kerb

Receptor to
Kerb

Background 10

Monitoring at Site

Predicted at
Receptor

37

3.5

3.7

11.7

39.2

38.8

38

1.8

2.0

9.4

42.5

41.7

39

1.8

2.0

9.4

42.7

41.9

42

1.8

2.0

9.4

42.0

41.2

52

1.2

3.7

9.4

40.1

32.8

53

1.5

2.0

9.4

41.9

39.8

56

1.0

4.2

11.7

40.9

32.5

57

2.5

3.5

11.7

41.7

39.2

Annualisation
In regards to the 2019 diffusion tube data set, annualisation was required at one
diffusion tube location due to data capture being below 75%. Annualisation has been
completed in line with Box 7.9 and Box 7.10 within LAQM.TG(16) using the LAQM
annualisation tool.
In completing the annualisation process, data has been taken from a number of
automatic monitoring sites that are part of the AURN. In line with LAQM.TG(16) the
monitoring sites that have been used lie within a radius of approximately 50 miles of
the sites to be annualised and have a data capture of 85% or above. The monitoring
sites that were used are listed in Table C.3 and the calculations shown in Table C.4.
Table C.3 – AURN Monitoring Stations used for Annualisation
Pollutant

NO2

Background AURN Sites used for Annualisation
1.

Ladybower – Urban Background

2.

Chesterfield Loundsley– Urban Background

3.

Burton on Trent – Suburban Background

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring
The diffusion tubes for 2019 were supplied and analysed by Staffordshire Scientific
Services using the 20% TEA in water preparation method. All results have been bias
adjusted before being presented in Table A.2.
Staffordshire Scientific Services participate in the AIR-PT Scheme (a continuation of
the Workplace Analysis Scheme for Proficiency (WASP)) for NO2 tube analysis and
the Annual Field Inter-Comparison Exercise. These provide strict performance

Page 121
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

25

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
criteria for participating laboratories to meet, thereby ensuring NO2 concentrations
reported are of a high caliber. In the latest available AIR-PT results, AIR-PT AR 0030
(January to February 2019), AIR-PT AR031 (April to May 2019), AIR-PT AR033 (July
to August 2019), AIR-PT AR034 (September to November 2019). Gradko has scored
between 75% and 100%. The percentage score reflects the results deemed to be
satisfactory based upon the z-score of < ± 2.
Additionally, the precision of the NO2 diffusion tubes supplied by Staffordshire
Scientific Services have been classified as ‘good’ for all but one observations during
2019. This precision reflects the laboratory’s performance and consistency in
preparing and analysing the tubes, as well as the subsequent handling of the tubes in
the field. Precision summary results are available from the LAQM website, at:
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/precision.html.

Page 122
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

26

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table C.4 – Annualisation of NO2 Data
Average
Annualisation
Factor

Raw
Data
Simple
Annual
Mean
(µg/m3)

Annualised
Data
Simple
Annual
Mean
(µg/m3)

Diffusion
Tube ID

Annualisation
Factor
Ladybower

Annualisation
Factor
Chesterfield
Loundsley

53

1.1407

1.1937

1.1291

1.1545

39.1

45.1

54

1.1407

1.1937

1.1291

1.1545

28.4

32.8

55

1.1407

1.1937

1.1291

1.1545

29.9

34.5

56

1.1407

1.1937

1.1291

1.1545

35.5

40.9

57

1.1014

1.1262

1.0654

1.0977

40.9

44.9

58

0.9049

0.8566

0.8180

0.8599

31.4

27.0

Annualisation
Factor Burton
on Trent

Page 123
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

27

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs
Figure D.1 – Overview of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs

Page 124
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

28

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.2 – Monitoring Locations: Cellarhead

Page 125
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

29

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Page 126
Figure D.3 – Monitoring Locations: Leek

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

30

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.4 – Monitoring Location 1

Page 127
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

31

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.5 – Monitoring Location 17

Page 128
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

32

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.6 – Monitoring Location 6

Page 129
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

33

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.7 – Monitoring Locations 5 and 58

Page 130
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

34

Figure D.8 – Monitoring Location 8

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Page 131
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

35

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D 9 – Monitoring Locations: Cheadle

Page 132
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

36

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in
England
Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England
Pollutant
Nitrogen Dioxide
(NO2)
Particulate Matter
(PM10)

Sulphur Dioxide
(SO2)

11

Air Quality Objective11
Concentration
200
to be exceeded more
than 18 times a year
40 µg/m3
50 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more
than 35 times a year
40 µg/m3
350 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more
than 24 times a year
125 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more
than 3 times a year
266 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more
than 35 times a year
µg/m3 not

Measured as
1-hour mean
Annual mean
24-hour mean
Annual mean
1-hour mean
24-hour mean
15-minute mean

The units are in microgrammes of pollutant per cubic metre of air (µg/m3).

Page 133
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

37

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Glossary of Terms
Abbreviation

Description

AQAP

Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures,
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods,
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit
values’

AQMA

Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and
objectives

ASR

Air quality Annual Status Report

Defra

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

DMRB

Design Manual for Roads and Bridges – Air quality screening tool
produced by Highways England

EU

European Union

FDMS

Filter Dynamics Measurement System

LAQM

Local Air Quality Management

NO2

Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx

Nitrogen Oxides

PM10

Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5

Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm
or less

QA/QC

Quality Assurance and Quality Control

SO2

Sulphur Dioxide

SMDC

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Page 134
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

38

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

References
•

Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16). February
2018. Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh
Assembly Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland;

•

Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance LAQM.PG(16). May 2016.
Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh
Assembly Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland;

•

National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet, version 03/19
published in March 2019;

•

Staffordshire Moorlands ASR 2017 & 2018

Page 135
LAQM Annual Status Report 2020

39

This page is intentionally left blank

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Air Quality Action Plan
In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

Page 137
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019 -2024

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Local Authority
Officers

Dr Daniel McCrory (Senior Pollution
Specialist)
Alicia E Patterson (Head of Regulatory)
Mark Trillo (Executive Director)

Department

Environmental Health

Address

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek
ST13 6HQ

Telephone

01538 395400 ext 4413

E-mail

Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Report Reference
number

SMDC AP1/AP2

Date

2019 - 2024

Page 138
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019 -2024

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Executive Summary
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council‘s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been
produced as part of our statutory duties required by the Local Air Quality
Management framework. It outlines the action the Authority will take to improve air
quality in Staffordshire Moorlands between June 2019 -2024.
It is recognised that Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health
impacts and as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer.
Research would suggest that air pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in
our society. Often these are children and older people, and those with heart and lung
conditions. Research would further suggest that there is also often a strong
correlation with issues of equality, because areas with poor air quality are also often
the less affluent areas1,2.
The cost to society annually from the impacts of particulate matter in the UK is
estimated to be around £16 billion.
3

.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is committed to reducing the exposure limits
to poor air quality for its residents in order to improve their health.

Following the source apportionment exercise carried out for the two AQMAs, the
results indicated that the major contributors to NO2 in all the AQMAs are Cars, LDVs
and HDVs.

AQMA No1; Leek, the Authority’s priorities should be focused on:
 The reduction of emissions from Cars and Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV);
 Improving traffic flow through Leek and reducing congestion, notably along
Broad Street and Ball Haye Road;
 Reduction in local Background emissions

1

Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3
Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013
2

Page 139
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

i

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
AQMA No2; Cellarhead the Authority’s priorities should be focused on:


The reduction of emissions from cars (diesel), vans and HDV’s;



Junction improvements are required where traffic form queues that are close
to residential properties, particularly Northbound along the A520.

The Authority has developed actions to improve air quality in the District and
specifically within the AQMAs. These improvements can be considered against the
following five broad topic areas:


Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation; formulation of
traffic plans with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of
transport and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions;



Leading by example measures – measures that SMDC will implement to
encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect to
their travel choices;



Education, community and partnership measures – provision of information to
increase community awareness of the challenges faced on air quality within
the local area, and to facilitate behavioural change;



Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to control air
pollution; and



Air quality monitoring – Implement satisfactory air quality monitoring, ensuring
data is available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan
measures and allow effective management of air quality.

The Authority’s priorities are focussed on the reduction of emissions from road traffic
throughout the District. Regulation of emissions from industry have shown to be
sufficient such that these sources of emissions are not the significant contributor to
the problems identified by the Authority in respect of the AQMAs.
In this AQAP the Authority outlines how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues
within our control. However, the Authority recognises that there are a large number
of air quality policy areas that are outside of our influence, (such as vehicle emissions
standards agreed in Europe) but for which the Authority may have useful evidence,
and so we will continue to work with regional and central government on policies and
issues beyond Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s direct influence.

Page 140
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

ii

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Responsibilities and Commitment
This AQAP was prepared by the Environmental Health Department of Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council with the support and agreement of the following officers
and departments:
Dr Daniel McCrory (Senior Pollution Specialist)
Alicia Patterson (Head of Regulatory Services)
Mark Trillo (Executive Director)
The Authority’s AQAP will be subject to an annual review, appraisal of progress and
reporting to the Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel. Progress each year will be
reported in the Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council as part of our statutory Local Air Quality Management duties.
If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to Regulatory Services
at:
Address:

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek
ST13 6HQ

Telephone: 01538 395400 ext 4413
Email: Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 141
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

iii

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Table of Contents
Executive Summary .................................................................................................. i
Responsibilities and Commitment ..................................................................................... iii
1

Introduction ............................................................................................................ 1

2

Summary of Current Air Quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District

Council ................................................................................................................................. 2
2.1

AQMA No.1; Leek ................................................................................................. 2

2.1.1

AQMA No1; Description ................................................................................................. 2

Figure 2.1

2.2

AQMA No.1; Cellarhead ........................................................................................ 5

2.2.1

2.3

AQMA No 1; Leek and Monitoring Locations ........................................................... 4

AQMA No.1; Cellarhead ................................................................................................. 5

Monitoring Results................................................................................................. 7

2.3.1

AQMA No.1; Leek .......................................................................................................... 7

2.3.2

AQMA No.2; Cellarhead ................................................................................................. 7

3

Summary of Current Air Quality in Staffordshire Moorlands District

Council ................................................................................................................................. 9
3.1

Public Health Context ............................................................................................ 9

3.2

Planning and Policy Context .................................................................................10

3.2.1

Local Plan (2016 -2031) ............................................................................................... 10

3.2.2

Local Transport Plan (2016 -2031) ............................................................................. 11

3.2.3

Peak District National Park Core Strategy ................................................................... 12

3.3

Source Apportionment ..........................................................................................12

3.3.1

Source Apportionment: AQMA No1 Leek ................................................................... 13

3.3.2

Source Apportionment: Cellarhead .............................................................................. 16

3.4

Required Reduction in Emissions .........................................................................17

3.4.1

Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No1 ............................................................. 17

3.4.2

Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No2 ............................................................. 18

3.5

Key Priorities ........................................................................................................19

Page 142
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

iv

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
3.5.1

Transport Measures ..................................................................................................... 20

3.5.1.1

Transport Measures: AQMA No1 Leek ........................................................................ 20

3.5.1.2

Transport Measures: AQMA No 2 Cellarhead ............................................................. 20

3.5.1.3

Transport Measures; Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy ............................................ 21

3.5.1.4

Transport Measures; Green Infrastructure ................................................................... 22

3.5.2

Leading By Example Measures ................................................................................... 23

3.5.3

Education, community and partnership measures ....................................................... 24

4

Development and Implementation of Staffordshire Moorlands District

Council AQAP .....................................................................................................................25

5

4.1

Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement..........................................................26

4.2

Steering Group .....................................................................................................26
AQAP Measures ......................................................................................................27

Appendix A: Current ARS ..................................................................................... 33
Appendix B: Leek Town Centre Detailed Dispersion Modelling ...................... 34
Introduction ......................................................................................................................34
Background .....................................................................................................................34
The Air Quality Objectives ...............................................................................................35
Modelling .........................................................................................................................36
Results ............................................................................................................................37
Air Quality Improvements Required .................................................................................38
Source Apportionment .....................................................................................................39
Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................................42

Appendix C:

Cellarhead Detailed Dispersion Modelling .................................. 44

Introduction ......................................................................................................................44
Background .....................................................................................................................44
The Air Quality Objectives ...............................................................................................45
Modelling .........................................................................................................................46
Results ............................................................................................................................47
Air Quality Improvements Required .................................................................................48
Source Apportionment .....................................................................................................49
Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................................51

Appendix D:

Proposal for the Air Quality Challenge at the Cellarhead

crossroad

52

Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................. 11

Page 143
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

v

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

1

Introduction

The Authority’s consolidated Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been prepared
following the declaration of two Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) for nitrogen
dioxide (NO2) in the Staffordshire Moorlands. The first, AQMA No1 is located in Leek
and the second AQMA No 2 at Cellarhead Cross-roads.
This report outlines the actions that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC
– the Council) will deliver between 2019-2024 in order to reduce concentrations of air
pollutants and exposure to air pollution, thereby positively impacting on the health
and quality of the life of residents and visitors to the Staffordshire Moorlands .
It has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement placed on the local
authority to work towards Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives that fall under Part IV
of the Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that part, to
ensure the Authority meets the requirements of the Local Air Quality Management
(LAQM) statutory process. The Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an
AQAP. However, the Government expect them to be completed within 18 months
following the designation of any AQMAs. The prime responsibility for preparing and
submitting the AQAP rests with SMDC, however, there is a requirement on other
relevant stakeholders to collaborate with SMDC to identify proposals in pursuit of the
AQS objectives within their respective responsibilities and functions
This Plan will be reviewed every five years, progress on measures set out within this
Plan will be reported annually within SMDC’s air quality ASR.

Page 144
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

1

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2

Summary of Current Air Quality in
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

The latest ASR report from Staffordshire Moorlands District Council detailing air
quality and pollution levels across the Staffordshire Moorlands in 2019 can be found
in Appendix 1:

2.1 AQMA No.1; Leek
2.1.1

AQMA No1; Description

Leek (pop. 20,768) is the principal town within Staffordshire Moorlands District. It is a
traditional market town with a large range of facilities that serves a wide rural area.
Leek is situated at the foot of the Peak District National Park, 10 miles east of the
North Staffordshire conurbation.
The A53 is a primary link road from Stoke on Trent to Leek, which rises on a steady
incline from the southern gateway through the centre of the town and is prone to
queuing traffic. This is most apparent, south / down-gradient of the busy A53 Brook
Street / Broad Street; A520 St Edward Street / Compton junction on the North bound
side, and A53 Ball Haye Street / Ball Haye Road; A523 Stockwell Street / Buxton
Road Junction.
Air Quality Monitoring along A53 (Broad Street) in Leek and the A53 (Ball Haye
Street) identified exceedances of the annual mean NO2 objective at relevant
locations immediately adjacent to the road and necessitated that an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA) be declared.
A further detailed assessment was undertaken in 2018 and delineated the extent of
the potential exceedances and the area to be included in AQMA. The results of the
detailed assessment indicate that the majority of predicted AQ exceedances are
“within the roads” but also at around 74 properties. It should be noted that this is a
conservative/ worse case scenario and is likely to have resulted in the over-prediction
of pollutant concentrations so may suggest a larger area of exceedance than is
actually occurring. However it provides the basis for a conservative AQMA to be
declared that ensures that all potential areas of exceedance are included.

Page 145
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

2

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
SMDC Air Quality Management Area No1; Leek was declared in 2019. It covers the
whole of the area shown in Figure 2.1 and is available online - https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local- authorities?la_id=258.

Page 146
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

3

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 2.1

AQMA No 1; Leek and Monitoring Locations

Page 147
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

4

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2.2 AQMA No.1; Cellarhead
2.2.1

AQMA No.1; Cellarhead

The Cellarhead Crossroads Junction is a busy junction between the A52 and A520,
connecting Stoke -on-Trent, Leek and Cheadle. The site is monitored due to the
location of a small row of houses adjacent to the south west side of the junction on
the A520. Air Quality Monitoring identified exceedances of the annual mean NO2
objective at relevant locations immediately adjacent to the road and necessitated that
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared.
A further detailed assessment was undertaken in 2018 and delineated the extent of
the potential exceedances and the area to be included in AQMA. The results of the
detailed assessment indicate that the majority of predicted AQ exceedances are
“within the roads” but also at around 15 properties. It should be noted that this is a
conservative/ worse case scenario and is likely to have resulted in the over-prediction
of pollutant concentrations so may suggest a larger area of exceedance than is
actually occurring using a contour plot to aid visualisation of this area.
SMDC Air Quality Management Area No2; Cellarhead was declared in 2019. This is
shown in Figure 2.2 and is available online - https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/localauthorities?la_id=258.

Page 148
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

5

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure 2.2 – Monitoring Locations: Cellarhead

Page 149
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

6

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

2.3 Monitoring Results
2.3.1

AQMA No.1; Leek

The results from recent monitoring around Leek (2016 -2019) are shown in Table 2.1
below
Table 2.1

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results in AQMA No1, Leek
3 (3)

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m )
Site ID
2016

2017

2018

2019

**10

31.1

31.3

30.6

29.8

**11

38.1

35.2

35.4

35.4

**12

11.2

11.4

12.3

10.6

24

43.2

42.1

38.6

36.5

31

34.6

33.9

32.3

31.8

32

39.5

36

37

34.1

**25

47.4

41.6

43.4

44.1

34

33.5

28.8

27.6

26.3

37

45.3

41.8

39.8

38.9

41

37.7

32.3

31.8

31.1

**47

-

22.6

27.5

28.8

48

-

33.2

32.9

34.9

-

39.2

57
3
*Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m AQS
** Does not represent relevant exposure

No exceedances of above the annual mean NO2 objective were recorded, in AQMA
No1; Leek in 2019 at locations representing relevant exposure.

2.3.2

AQMA No.2; Cellarhead

The results from recent monitoring around Cellarhead (2016-2019) are shown in
Table 2.2 below

Page 150
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

7

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 2.2
Cellarhead

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results in AQMA No2,
3 (3)

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m )
Site ID
2016

2017

2018

2019

38

50.8

47.9

42.3

41.7

39

51.1

48.2

42.1

41.9

42

48.9

41.2

40.7

41.2

C49

-

27.8

30

25.1

53

-

-

-

39.8

54

-

-

-

26.4

55

-

-

-

27.8

56
3
*Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m AQS
** Does not represent relevant exposure

-

30.5

The three monitored concentrations reported to be above 40µg/m³, were in the
AQMA No2 Cellarhead. The highest value recorded at a point of relevant exposure is
41.9µg/m³ at monitoring location 39 within the Cellarhead AQMA. The results are
consistent with previous years showing a slight general downward trend.

Page 151
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

8

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

3

Summary of Current Air Quality in
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

3.1 Public Health Context
The Air Quality Indicator in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (England)
provides further impetus to join up action between the various local authority
departments which impact on the delivery of air quality improvements.
To help facilitate this, Defra commissioned research to develop a toolkit to help
local authorities and public health professionals tackle air pollution in their
area7. The toolkit provides a one-stop guide to the latest evidence on air
pollution, guiding local authorities to use existing tools to appraise the scale
of the air pollution issue in its area. It also advises local authorities how to
appropriately prioritise air quality alongside other public health priorities to
ensure it is on the local agenda.
Integral to a successful process is the development of communication
methods for localised air quality and health impact information. Communication
guides were developed through a series of workshops and interviews.
Participants included Directors of Public Health, public health professionals,
local authority air quality managers and members of the public.
The toolkit comprises the following key guides:


Getting to grips with air pollution – the latest evidence and techniques;



Understanding air pollution in your area;



Engaging local decision-makers about air pollution;



Communicating with the public on air pollution; and



Air Pollution: an emerging public health issue: Briefing for elected
members.

For SMDC, Staffordshire Moorlands is 3.8%, which is below the national
average of 5.2%, and below the regional average (West Midlands) of 5.0%.

Page 152
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

9

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

3.2 Planning and Policy Context
There are a number of related policies and strategies at the local and regional level
that can be tied in directly with the aims of the AQAP. The majority of these policies
and strategies are focused on transportation issues and therefore are likely to help
contribute to overall improvements in air quality across the Staffordshire Moorlands
District. The review of these strategies and policies also assists in not duplicating the
work within this AQAP, but instead focus on measures outside those considered
within these strategies and policies, but that still contribute towards their overall aims.
Local policies contained within the Local Transport Plan for Staffordshire, the Peak
District National Park Core Strategy and the Local Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council all aim to reduce pollution and traffic across the Staffordshire
Moorlands. These policies are currently being implemented through the inclusion of
planning conditions. Environmental Health are a consultee on planning applications
and routinely monitor all applications for potential contribution to air quality to ensure
that any potentially unacceptable increases in pollutants are identified and mitigated.
3.2.1

Local Plan (2016 -2031)

The emerging Local Plan (2016-2031) is at an advanced stage of production, with the
post-hearing main modifications consultation due to take place shortly. The Local
Plan is a District-wide development plan which replaces the Staffordshire Moorlands
Core Strategy (2014), and previous Local Plan to provide a framework for delivering
development for the period 2016 to 2031, by setting out the development strategy,
strategic and development management policies and land designations for the
District. Several of the previous policies have been updated to reflect a need to
improve the environment including air quality: The key policies are:


Policy SD2: Renewable/Low-Carbon Energy: The Council will strive to meet
part of the District's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon
energy sources (which could be through a variety of technologies in line with
current evidence which identifies the feasibility of these forms of energy
across the District);



Policy SD4: Pollution and Water Quality: updated SD4 of the Core Strategy
(Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, 2014), and aims to avoid or mitigate
the effects of pollution by “only permitting proposals that are deemed

Page 153
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

10

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
(individually or cumulatively) to result in pollution (including air/ water/ noise/
vibration/ light/ ground contamination). If after mitigation, adverse effects are
deemed acceptable. This may be achieved by the imposition of planning
conditions or through a planning obligation”;


Policy DC1: Design considerations have been updated to including “creation
of healthy environments” specifically to address potential impacts of air
pollution (as raised in the Sustainability Appraisal);



Policy C1: Sustainability has been updated to include “support development
proposals which encourage electrical battery powered vehicles”;



Policy C3: Green Infrastructure: Mitigate the negative effects of climate
change and maximise potential climate benefits;



Policy T1: Development and Sustainable Transport seeks to reduce reliance
on the private car for travel journeys, reduces the need to travel generally and
accommodates residual development traffic in line with the Integrated
Transport Strategy (ITS). Development which generates significant demand
for travel or is likely to have significant transport implications (as identified
within a Transport Assessment) will, where appropriate, contribute to improved
public transport provision; contribute to junction improvements; traffic
management and highway infrastructure; provide proactive facilities and
measures to support sustainable transport modes including on-site features to
encourage sustainable travel methods e.g. cycle path links, cycle storage
facilities, bus stops, electric vehicle charging points etc.; and provide and
actively promote travel plans;



Policy T2: Other Sustainable Transport Measures seek to minimise the
environmental impact of freight road transport and to work with Staffordshire
County Council and other partner organisations to agree designated lorry
routes, freight handling facilities and greater rail use.

3.2.2

Local Transport Plan (2016 -2031)

Staffordshire County Council (SCC) is responsible for producing a statutory Local
Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out the Council's strategy for transport. SMDC also
benefits from having an Integrated Transport Strategy (ITS) specific to the District
(Staffordshire County Council, 2018). The measures in the ITS/LTP are aimed at

Page 154
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

11

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
transport measures under the County Council’s jurisdiction and in the context of
regional air quality improvements sets out the following policies:
o Policy 5.1: Promote alternatives to private motor vehicles;
o Policy 5.2: Promote the use of low-emitting vehicles and vehicle
efficiency;
o Policy 5.3: Leading by example to reduce Staffordshire Road
Transport Emissions.
The two declared AQMAs along with the Cheadle area are currently included in ITS
and it is hoped that measures outlined will provide some benefit in easing
congestion.
3.2.3

Peak District National Park Core Strategy

The Peak District National Park Core Strategy includes several policies that will
impact on air quality:


Policy T1 of the Peak District National Park Core Strategy aims to reduce the
need to travel and encourages sustainable transport by making the National
Park’s characteristics the primary criterion in planning and design decisions,
by deterring cross-park traffic, and by encouraging sustainable transport (Peak
District National Park Authority, 2011);



Policy LC21 of the Peak District Local Plan (Peak District National Park
Authority, 2001) on pollution and disturbance has been retained. It is designed
to prevent development that presents a risk of pollution.

3.3 Source Apportionment
The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the
predominant sources of emissions within the two AQMAs, with specific focus on
those emissions sources which potentially contribute to the exceedances of the
annual mean AQS objective for NO2 within the AQMAs.
Source apportioned nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been calculated taking
account of the different proportions of nitrogen oxides emitted by different vehicle

Page 155
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

12

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
types. The different proportions have been calculated in line with guidance provided
in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016) for both AQMAs.
The following categories have been included in the source apportionment:
•

Regional background; which the Council is unable to influence;

•

Local background; which the Council may have some influence over;

•

Road Traffic;

and

3.3.1



Cars;



Lights Good Vehicles (LGV);



Buses;



Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs); and



Other vehicles (e.g. Motorcycles).

Source Apportionment: AQMA No1 Leek

In order to develop appropriate measures to improve air quality in Leek town centre
and inform the action plan, it is necessary to identify the sources contributing to the
objective exceedances within the study area.
Table 3.1 and Figure 3.1 show the contribution from each of the different categories
to total predicted annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at each of the “worst
case” receptors assessed (Clerk Bank, Ball Haye Street and at the junction of the
A53 and A520). The percentage contributions at all sites are shown in Table 3.2 and
Figure 3.2.
In all cases, the contribution from cars to the total nitrogen dioxide concentration is
greatest (33-36%), followed by emissions from LGVs which average 18% across all
three sites. The contribution from local background and HGVs both contribute
significantly to the annual mean, with increments ranging from 10-20% and 14-19%,
respectively.

Page 156
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

13

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 3.1: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3)
3

Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m )
Receptor

Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Clerk Bank

3.3

7.2

0.0

12.6

6.5

5.8

2.3

Ball Haye
Street

3.2

7.2

0.0

12.2

5.6

5.3

3.5

A53/A520
Junction

2.9

6.5

0.1

23.8

13.9

12.5

5.9

Figure 3.1: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3)

Page 157
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

14

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Table 3.2: Percentage Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted
Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations
Annual Mean Contribution (%)
Receptor

Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Clerk Bank

5.1

7.4

0.2

35.1

21.5

23.8

7.0

Ball Haye
Street

8.6

19.2

0.1

33.4

17.2

15.4

6.1

A53/A520
Junction

8.8

19.5

0.1

32.9

15.0

14.2

9.5

Figure 3.2: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3)

A reduction in traffic emissions from Leek’s busiest roads and junctions, especially
those within ‘street-canyons’, would result in a decrease in concentrations of nitrogen
dioxide.

Page 158
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

15

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
3.3.2

Source Apportionment: Cellarhead

In order to develop appropriate measures to improve air quality in Leek town centre
and inform the action plan, it is necessary to identify the sources contributing to the
objective exceedances within the study area.
Table 3.3 and Figure 3.3 show the contribution from each of the different categories
to total predicted annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at the modelled “worst
case” receptor.
Table 3.3: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations at worst case receptor
Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Annual Mean
Contribution
3
(µg/m )

3.8

5.5

0.1

26.2

16.0

17.7

5.2

% of Total
Concentration

5.1

7.4

0.2

35.1

21.5

23.8

7.0

Figure 3.3: Percentage Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted
Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3) at worst case receptor

Page 159
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

16

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
The contribution from cars to the total nitrogen dioxide concentration is greatest
(35%), followed by emissions from HGVs (23%) and LGVs (22%). Owing to the rural
setting, the contribution from the local background is relatively small (7%). A
conservative modelling methodology has been used in the prediction of road traffic
derived pollutant concentrations, thus the calculated contributions from road traffic
are likely to represent worst-case estimates.

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions
In line with the methodology presented in Box 7.6 of LAQM.TG(16)16, the necessary
reduction in Road NOx emissions required to bring each AQMA into compliance is
calculated below. This is done at each worst-case exposure location, where values
exceeded the objective.
3.4.1

Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No1

Table 3.4 sets out the required reduction in local emissions of NOx that would be
required at the A53/A520 junction, the only one of the three selected receptor
locations where an exceedance is predicted, in order for the annual mean objective
to be achieved.
The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration predicted at the A53/A520 junction
in Leek town centre is 65.5 μg/m3 for 2016. This requires a reduction of 25.5 μg/m3
in order for the objective to be achieved. Table 3.4 shows that at this location a
reduction of 73.6 µg/m3 in NOx emissions would be required in order to achieve the
objective. This equates to a reduction of 54.4 % in local road traffic NOx emissions
at this receptor location. As has already been described, a conservative modelling
methodology has been used in the prediction of road traffic derived pollutant
concentrations, thus the concentrations presented here are likely to represent very
conservative estimates; it is likely that the reduction required is actually smaller than
calculated.

Page 160
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

17

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table 3.4: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations and
Nitrogen Oxides Concentrations Required in 2016 to Meet the Objective
Unit
Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
dioxide (NO2)
Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
oxides (NOx)

3.4.2

µg/m

A53/A520 Junction

3

25.5

% of total predicted
NO2
µg/m

38.9

3

73.6

Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No2

The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration predicted at the worst case receptor
was 74.6 μg/m3 for 2016. This requires a reduction of 34.6 μg/m3 in order for the
objective to be achieved. Table 3.4 shows that at this location a reduction of
109.3 µg/m3 in NOx emissions would be required in order to achieve the objective.
This equates to a reduction of 64.2% in local road traffic NOx emissions at this
location. A conservative modelling methodology has been used in the prediction of
road traffic derived pollutant concentrations, thus the concentrations presented here
are likely to represent very conservative estimates; it is likely that the reduction
required is actually smaller than calculated.
Table 3.4: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations and
Nitrogen Oxides Concentrations Required in 2016 to Meet the Objective
Unit
Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
dioxide (NO2)

Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
oxides (NOx)

µg/m

A53/A520 Junction

3

34.6

% of total predicted
NO2
µg/m

46.4

3

109.3

% of total predicted
NOx

64.2

Page 161
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

18

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

3.5 Key Priorities
The source apportionment exercise for the two AQMAs indicated that the major
contributors to NO2 in all the AQMAs are Cars, LDVs and HDVs.
AQMA No1 Leek, our priorities should be focused on:
 The reduction of emissions from Cars and Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV);
 Improve traffic flow through Leek and reduce congestion, notably along Broad
Street and Ball Haye Road;
 Reduction in local Background emissions.

AQMA No2 our priorities should be focused on:


The reduction of emissions from cars (diesel) and vans and HDVs;



Junction improvements to traffic flow at the junction, particularly Northbound
along the A520, where queuing traffic is very close to residential properties.

The proposed AQAP measures to achieve these goals can be divided into five
targeted categories, although there is often considerable overlap between some of
the categories:


Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation; formulation of
traffic plans with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of
transport and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions;



Leading by example measures – measures that SMDC will implement to
encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect to
their travel choices;



Education, community and partnership measures – provision of information to
increase community awareness of the challenges faced on air quality within
the local area, to facilitate behavioural change;



Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to control air
pollution; and

Page 162
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

19

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council


Air quality monitoring – ensure satisfactory air quality monitoring data is
available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan measures
and allow effective management of air quality.

With the exception of specific transport measures, most of the proposed measures
within these categories are applicable to both AQMAs.
3.5.1

Transport Measures

Transport measures have been identified as a strong priority, for each of the AQMAs.
As all the roads through affecting both AQMAs are managed by Staffordshire County
Council Highways Authority there is little the Council itself can affect by way of
intervention measures.
The two declared AQMAs along with the Cheadle area are currently included in
Staffordshire Moorlands’ Integrated Transport Plan and it is hoped that measures
outlined will provide some benefit in easing congestion. The 2020/21 capital
highways programme already includes a range of interventions across AQMA areas
that will support and improve air quality. Plans include roundabout, junction and
signals improvements to reduce congestion, enhancing walking and cycling routes to
encourage more sustainable forms of travel, and improved signage and road
markings to keep traffic moving.
In addition discussions with the Highways Authority identified the following additional
actions for each of the two AQMAs
3.5.1.1 Transport Measures: AQMA No1 Leek
Potential highway options:
•

Review junction layout at Compton/Newcastle Road – including signing
and markings;

•

Review junction layout at Ball Haye Street/Stockwell Street – including
signing and markings;

•

Review signal timings at Compton/Newcastle Road and Ball Haye
Street/Stockwell Street.

3.5.1.2 Transport Measures: AQMA No 2 Cellarhead
Potential highway options:

Page 163
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

20

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
•

Review road markings including lane markings – move stopped
vehicles away from terraced properties, reduce issues of vehicles
stopping beyond the STOP line - Consider moving the STOP line,
consider whether a yellow box type marking may be suitable and useful;

•

Modify traffic signal settings – consider time of day.

Staffordshire Live Labs Programme
The Simulated Live Labs programme is being led by Staffordshire County Council
and its highways delivery partner Amey and funded by Department for Transport
through ADEPT (Association of Directors for Economy, Environment, Planning and
Transport). A challenge has been issued to the private sector to identify innovative
technology solutions to improve air quality across three air quality management
areas within Staffordshire, including AQMA No2 Cellarhead.
AQMA No2 Cellarhead was put forward in 2019 to be part of the study and was
chosen to test traffic management solutions proposed by the company Fotech.
Fotech proposed to use fibre cables that run across Cellarhead junction and
numerous areas of Staffordshire to detect vibrations from vehicles and pedestrians,
Using this data to monitor and detect traffic queues developing at the Cellarhead
crossroad.
In order to assess the impacts on Air Quality a series of programmes has deployed a
network of real time air quality sensors, in addition to the existing diffusion tubes, at
each of the crossroads . Further details of the proposal can be found in appendix D.
3.5.1.3 Transport Measures; Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy
The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the district is considered a
key component in helping both commercial and residential road users switch from
high emission diesel vehicles to less polluting alternatives at both AQMAs (and
across the district as a whole)
The UK government has pledged to make all new cars and vans effectively zero
emission by 2040 (The Road to Zero – 2018). By 2050 it plans for almost every car
on the road to be zero emission. The transition to zero emission vehicles will be

Page 164
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

21

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
mainly consumer and industry led but local authorities have an important role to play
in facilitating this change.
No networks operated any charge points on public operated car parks in the
Staffordshire Moorlands, therefore the public have very limited options for charging
EVs.
It is proposed to work with Staffordshire County Council to develop an Electric
Vehicle Charging Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands.
The goals of the strategy will include:


County Wide Feasibility Study and development of an EV Action Plan;



Integration Work with partners on the provision and delivery of low
emission vehicles;



Adopt a partnership approach to trial new LEV technologies and explore
opportunities to innovate;



Work through the planning system and with private developers and
landowners to provide LEV;



Adopt a partnership approach to review current parking management
policies;



Work with partners to raise awareness of low emission travel;



Facilitate take up of LEV for employees;



Deploy LEVs within its pool fleet;



Work with partners to support private industry and public sector
organisations to deploy LEVs within fleets.

3.5.1.4 Transport Measures; Green Infrastructure
These include:
 Sustainable Travel Town Initiatives including a full package of measures to
promote and encourage more sustainable transport;
 Business Travel Planning to include encouraging lower carbon HGV
technologies;

Page 165
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

22

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
 Encouraging walking and cycling, creation of viable cycle networks which link
to the wider Greenway network throughout Staffordshire, and promotion and
marketing of networks, including production of maps;
 Provision of cycle training for adults if required. Smarter driving campaign,
potential for provision of discounted smarter driving training;
 Vehicle type and fuel choice campaign – awareness raising campaign,
including providing up-to-date information regarding outlets selling alternative
fuels;
 Transport Choices education campaign;
 Anti Idling.

3.5.2

Leading By Example Measures

The measures that we will seek to adopt will be delivered through Policy (Section
3.3)
These include:
 Review of Environmental Policies in the local plan and develop specific
policies around Air quality;
 Develop Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) in conjunction with the
Staffordshire Air Quality Forum that include the details of the types of
assessments and appropriate pollution prevention or mitigation measures that
may be adopted to facilitate development;
 Taxi Licensing Review; Review of the current emission standards allowed for
taxis cabs in the district;


Green Fleet Review; the Council will engage with the with the Energy Saving
Trust who run the Local Government Support Programme to undertake a fleet
review to identify opportunities to reduce emissions, decarbonise, improve air
quality and increase electric vehicle adoption of our existing fleet;

 Adopting an anti-idling policy / eco-driver training for some essential car users;
 Securing EV charging points at appropriate places of work;
 Continuing to develop initiatives, such as flexible working, that reduces the
need for employees to use their cars to get to work.

Page 166
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

23

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
3.5.3

Education, community and partnership measures

Influencing behavioural change forms a key action plan measure to drive localised
improvements in air quality. This is particularly important, as improvements through
infrastructural changes alone are considered unlikely to achieve significant
improvements in air quality. Behavioural change will also make travel fit for purpose
in the future by encouraging reductions in the need to travel, more sustainable
modes of travel and employment of new technology.
It is proposed that this will be delivered through three areas

Business Engagement
The approach will look to offer businesses a variety of options;
Air quality sustainable travel action plans – Transition of travel plans to
include all forms of air quality actions that businesses can engage;
Active travel and air quality events – increase awareness and
confidence in cycling and walking, short trip journey options, PTP, electric
vehicles, local public transport and information on all forms of air quality issues
and solutions;
Car share – procurement of improved car share database March 2020
planned following customer feedback;
Energy saving Trust – bring in external agencies to complement active
travel to increase businesses’ “green” transformation.



School Engagement
Travel Planning, Curriculum, Campaigns, Initiatives, Walking Bus, targeted
areas where school traffic impacts on AQMA areas. Engagement includes
active travel campaigns through an academic annual calendar, STARS travel
planning, anti-idling campaigns.
 Local communications campaigns – Local engagement events to reach all
users of local networks within AQMAs to highlight the short trip opportunities.
Use communications through local bespoke campaigns to support domestic
air pollution awareness specific campaigns e.g. domestic, wood burning Anti
idling Campaigns.

Page 167
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

24

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
This will be delivered in part with the support of the Air Aware Staffordshire project.
The Air Aware campaign is a joint collaboration with Staffordshire County Council
and other Staffordshire authorities funded by Defra, to deliver the above targets, as
well as support Staffordshire wide EV feasibility study.

4

Development and Implementation of
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
AQAP

Page 168
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

25

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
Local authorities are required to consult on their AQAP. To facilitate this process, an
Action Planning Steering Group was formed to provide an appropriate forum for
developing the AQAP. The composition of the Steering Group was carefully
considered to ensure the efficacy of the AQAP.
It is also important for the success of the AQAP to seek involvement from all local
stakeholders including local residents, community groups and local businesses in the
drawing up of the AQAP, in addition to their active participation in achieving the
AQAP measures.
The following is a list of statutory and non-statutory consultees to which the final draft
Plan is to be sent:


Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs;



Air Aware Project Board;



Staffordshire County Council Public Health;



Staffordshire County Council Highways;



Neighbouring local authorities;



Local residents within AQMAs;



Other relevant local stakeholders.

4.2 Steering Group
The draft AQAP has been led principally by the Environmental Health Department,
with support from the Air Aware Project Board and other senior officers within the
Council. Other parties have been drawn upon as necessary, including local Cllrs and
business representatives.

Page 169
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

26

5

AQAP Measures

Table 0.1 shows the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council AQAP measures. It
contains:


a list of the actions that form part of the plan;



the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this
action;



estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local
authority);



expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction;



the timescale for implementation;



how progress will be monitored.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has taken forward a number of direct
measures during the current reporting year of 2019 in pursuit of improving local air
quality. The majority of these have been as part of the Air Aware project.
The Air Aware Project is a joint project between SCC and SMDC and other
Staffordshire districts supported by a Defra grant, and aims to provide school
engagement, business engagement, and a communications campaign to raise
awareness of air quality issues, focussing on AQMAs. The project also funded an
EV feasibility study across Staffordshire.
The school engagement has targeted areas where school traffic impacts on AQMA
areas. Engagement includes:


Providing School assemblies on air quality;



active travel campaigns through an academic annual calendar;



accreditation of schools through STARS travel planning;



anti-idling campaigns to get parents to “switch off when they drop off”;



Provision of walking bus co-ordinators.

There are currently 7 Leek Schools engaged in the air aware Campaign:

Page 170
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

27









St Edwards Middle;
Westwood First;
Churnet View Middle;
Beresford Memorial (First);
All Saints First;
Leek First;
St Mary’s Catholic.

The business engagement has targeted areas where business traffic impacts on
AQMA areas and offers businesses a variety of options for engagement with the
Air Aware team, based on their size, location and contribution to the local issue:


Air quality sustainable travel action plans – Transition of travel plans to
include all forms of air quality actions that businesses can engage in;



Active travel and air quality events – increase awareness and confidence in
cycling and walking, short trip journey options, PTP, electric vehicles, local
public transport and information on all forms of air quality issues and
solutions;



Car share – procurement of improved car share database March 2020
planned, following customer feedback;



Energy saving Trust – bring in external agencies to complement active
travel to increase businesses’ “green” transformation.

The Air Aware behaviour change communications campaigns, which are linked to
both the business and the schools projects, have been designed to raise
awareness of active travel, anti-idling, electric vehicles and air quality benefits. It
has run a series of promotional campaigns to highlight air quality projects across
Staffordshire in newspapers articles e.g.

Page 171
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

28

“Pupils target parents who leave their cars running outside North Staffordshire
school”

regional tv and providing free focused toolkits and campaign material, the Air Aware
website:
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air- aware/Air-aware.aspx

Page 172
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

29

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Table 0.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures

Measure No.

1

2

Measure

EcoStars Fleet
Recognition
Programme

Development
of an
Electric
Vehicle
strategy

EU
Category

EU
Classification

Date
Measure
Introduced

Organisations
involved

Vehicle Fleet
Efficiency

Fleet efficiency
and recognition
schemes

2015

SMDC and
Transport & Travel
Research Ltd

Promoting Low
Emission
Transport

Procuring
alternative
Refuelling
infrastructure
to promote
Low Emission
Vehicles, EV
recharging,
Gas fuel
recharging

Installation of EV Promoting Low
Emission
charge points at
Transport
Council owned Car
Parks

Procuring
alternative
Refuelling
infrastructure
to promote
Low Emission
Vehicles, EV
recharging,
Gas fuel
recharging

4

Incentivise parking Promoting Low
Emission
for low emission
Transport
vehicles

Emission based
parking or permit
charges

Promoting Low
Continue to
Emission
promote and
Transport
increase the
installation of EV
charging points
through
development
control processes

Page 173

3

5

6

Deployment of
Fotec Traffic
Management
Solutions at
Cellarhead
Crossroads

Traffic
Management

2019/2020

SMDC/ SCC

Funding
Source

Key
Performance
Indicator

Reduction in
Pollutant /
Emission from
Measure

Estimated /
Actual
Completion
Date

Progress to Date

SMDC/ Defra
Grant

Reduced fuel
consumption

Reduced fuel
consumption

Quantitative appraisal
is on-going

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

Operational

2021

SMDC

SMDC/
Defra Grant

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Parking review being
undertaken for the
borough

2021 /2022

2021

SMDC

None

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Parking review being
undertaken for the
district

2021 /2022

Procuring
alternative
Refuelling
infrastructure
to promote
Low Emission
Vehicles, EV
recharging,
Gas fuel
recharging

2015

SMDC

I
increased installation
of EV charging points

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

EV charging points are
conditioned through the
planning process, this is
to be strengthened by
the implementation of
Air Quality
supplementary planning
document

Operational

Control systems,
Congestion
management,
traffic reduction
Urban Traffic

2020

Amey/SCC/Keele
University/ SMDC

Reduction in traffic
congestion

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

None

Department for
Transport
through ADEPT
(Association of
Directors for
Economy,
Environment,
Planning and
Transport).

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

Comments /
Barriers to
implementation

www.ecostars-uk.com

https://www.staffordshire.
gov.uk/Transport/Sustaina
ble-travel/Electricvehicles/Electricvehicles.aspx

https://www.amey.co.uk/a
mey-consulting/news-andcasestudies/2021/march/staffo
rdshire-county-counciland-amey-monitor-airquality-ahead-ofinnovative-trials/

30

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
UTC,
Congestion
management,
traffic reduction

Not yet
commenced

SCC

Not yet commenced

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Not yet commenced

SCC/ SMDC/ No of Business Travel
Plans approved &
Defra Grant
adopted

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant No of users registered

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

https://share-a-lift.co.uk/

SCC/ SMDC/ No of Schools Travel
Plans approved &
Defra Grant
adopted

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

7

8

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives

Workplace
Travel
Planning

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

Car share
scheme

Alternatives to
private vehicle
use

Car and lift
sharing
schemes

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

School Travel
Planning

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives

School Travel
Plans

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

Promoting
Travel
Alternatives /
Public
Information

Other

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

No of schools
engaged

Through public
awareness

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

Anti-idling
enforcement

2018/ 2019

SMDC/ SCC

SCC/ SMDC/
Defra Grant

N/A

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Quantitative appraisal is
on-going

Operational

SCC / SMDC

SCC / SMDC
Defra Grant

New website

Through public
awareness

Implementation is ongoing

Operational

9

10

Business Travel;
Planning

11
School based
educational
activities

SCC Capital
Highways
Programme

Reduction in traffic
congestion

Review of junctions
Traffic
in Leek and
Management
Cellarhead

12
Anti-idling
initiatives in
educational
settings

Page 174

13

14

15

Communicati
on initiatives,
e.g. website
information
updates

Encourage taxis
licensed by the
Council to comply
with vehicle
emission limits

Traffic
Management

Public
Information

Promoting
Low Emission
Transport

Other

2017/18

Other

Not yet
commenced

SMDC

SMDC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles

Number of LEV in the
fleet

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

This has been on hold Not yet commenced
whilst we awaited the
outcome of National
Guidance. Consultation
with taxi drivers planned
for 2021
Green Fleet Review is
on going

Not known

Support the
procurement of
greener fleet

Fleet efficiency and
Vehicle Fleet
recognition
Efficiency
schemes

16

Review
SMDC Local
Plan Policy SD4

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

2020

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

2023

17

Review
SMDC Local
Plan Policy T1

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

2020

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

2023

18

Review
SMDC Local
Plan Policy DC1

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Other policy

SMDC

SMDC

TBC

Reduced emissions
from vehicles and
buildings

Implementation is ongoing

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

2019

Number of LEV Taxis
in the fleet. All
licensed taxis should
meet minimum
emission standard

SMDC

2020

SMDC

https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.g
ov.uk/DoingOurBit/GetInspired/Clean-green-andsafe/Air-aware/Airaware.aspx

2023

31

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

19

20

21

22

Page 175

23

Staffordshire Air
Quality Forum

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Regional Groups
Co-ordinating
programmes to
develop Area
wide Strategies
to reduce
emissions and
improve air
quality

Use of the
planning regime
to minimise
impact of new
developments
on AQMAs

Policy
Guidance and
Development
Control

Integration of air
quality into all
relevant council
policies and
documents
Inspect under
the
Environmental
Permit regime
and enforce
legislation to
reduce
combustion
processes

Policy
Guidance and Air Quality Planning
and Policy
Development
Guidance
Control

Air quality
monitoring

Environmental
Permits

Public
Information

Air Quality
Planning and
Policy Guidance

Introduction/
increase of
environment
charges through
permit systems
and economic
instruments

Other

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan – 2019-2024

Full engagement
across the group /
regular meetings

On-going

County-wide

On-going

SMDC /
Staffordshire AQ
Forum

SMDC

SPD implemented

2020

SMDC

SMDC

Reference to Air
Quality in all relevant
Council Policies

N/A

SMDC

Installations
adhering to permits
and enforcement /
penalties for
breaches

Restricting
emissions from
industrial processes

Monitoring locations
and LAQM reporting

Through EHO /
public awareness

Completed

On-going

SMDC

SMDC

-

SMDC

N/A

Published
Supplementary
Planning Document
(SPD)

On-going

Draft SPD
produced
currently being
reviewed by
Staffs Air
Quality Forum

On-going

On-going

On-going

On-going

-

2022
-

On-going

Continual

Reviewed annually

This is standard work
completed by the
Environmental
Protection team

Monitoring network is
reviewed each year,
consideration for
funding through AQ
grant

32

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix A: Current ARS

Page 176
Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix B:
Modelling

Leek Town Centre Detailed Dispersion

Introduction
Measurements indicate that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective has been exceeded at
locations with relevant exposure in Leek town centre. This appendix therefore represents a
Detailed Assessment of air quality within the Leek town centre area.
The purpose of this Detailed Assessment is to determine whether an exceedance of an air quality
objective is likely and the geographical extent of that exceedance, which will determine the extent of
the AQMA that has to be declared. Subsequent to the declaration of an AQMA, an Air Quality
Action Plan (AQAP) should be prepared within one year and approved by Defra. The AQAP will
identify measures to improve local air quality and to achieve the air quality objectives. In order to
inform the Action Plan process, source apportionment has been undertaken to ascertain the
sources contributing to the exceedances and the magnitude of reduction in emissions required to
achieve the objective has also to be calculated.
This report represents a Detailed Assessment, following the findings of SMDC’s pollutant monitoring
which is described in Section Error! Reference source not found..

Background
The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) published by the Department for Environment, Food, and
Rural Affairs (Defra) and Devolved Administrations provides the policy framework for air quality
management and assessment in the UK. It provides air quality standards and objectives for key air
pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and the environment. It also sets out how
the different sectors: industry, transport and local government, can contribute to achieving the air
quality objectives. Local authorities are seen to play a particularly important role. The strategy
describes the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime that has been established, whereby
every authority has to carry out regular reviews and assessments of air quality in its area to identify
whether the objectives have been, or will be, achieved at relevant locations, by the applicable date.
If this is not the case, the authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and
prepare an action plan which identifies appropriate measures that will be introduced in pursuit of the
objectives.
Technical Guidance for LAQM (LAQM.TG16) (Defra, 2016) sets out a streamlined approach to the
Review and Assessment process. This prescribes the submission of a single Annual Status Report

Page 177

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

34

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
(ASR) which all local authorities in England must submit each year by the 30th June. It should
identify new non-compliant areas and report progress made within existing AQMAs. When an
exceedance has been identified, the local authority can either use the “Fast Track Option” and
immediately declare an AQMA, or obtain further information and/or data before deciding on the
declaration of an AQMA. The latter approach is being treated as a ‘Detailed Assessment’ for the
purposes of this report4.

The Air Quality Objectives
The Government’s Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) provides air quality standards and objectives
for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and the environment. The
‘standards’ are set as concentrations below which health effects are unlikely even in sensitive
population groups, or below which risks to public health would be exceedingly small. They are
based purely upon the scientific and medical evidence of the effects of a particular pollutant. The
‘objectives’ set out the extent to which the Government expects the standards to be achieved by a
certain date. They take account of the costs, benefits, feasibility and practicality of achieving the
standards. It also sets out how the different sectors: industry, transport and local government, can
contribute to achieving the air quality objectives. The objectives are prescribed within The Air
Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (2000) and The Air Quality (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2002 (2002). Table D.1 summarises the objectives which are relevant to this report.
Studies have shown associations of nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects;
respiratory and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Evidence associating nitrogen dioxide with
health effects has strengthened substantially in recently years.
Table D.1:

Air Quality Objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide

Pollutant

Time Period

Objective

1-hour mean

200 g/m not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year

Annual mean

40 g/m

3

Nitrogen Dioxide
3

The air quality objectives only apply where members of the public are likely to be regularly present
for the averaging time of the objective (i.e. where people will be exposed to pollutants). For annual
mean objectives, relevant exposure is limited to residential properties, schools and hospitals. The 1hour objective applies at these locations as well as at any outdoor location where a member of the

4

Detailed Assessments were part of the previous approach to LAQM, but they are no longer required in current TG16 guidance.

Page 178

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

35

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
public might reasonably be expected to stay for 1 hour or more, such as shopping streets, parks
and sports grounds, as well as bus stations and railway stations that are not fully enclosed.
Measurements across the UK have shown that the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective is unlikely to
be exceeded unless the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration is greater than 60 µg/m3
(Defra, 2016). Thus exceedances of 60 µg/m3 as an annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration
are used as an indicator of potential exceedances of the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective.

Modelling
Annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been predicted using detailed dispersion
modelling (ADMS-Roads v4.1). Details of the model inputs, assumptions and the verification are
provided in Error! Reference source not found., together with the method used to derive
background concentrations. Where assumptions have been made, a realistic worst-case approach
has been adopted.
The modelling has sought to determine the area within which the annual mean nitrogen dioxide
objective is likely to have been exceeded, using a contour plot to aid visualisation of this area. It
has already been established that the measured objective exceedances in Leek generally occur in
canyon-like settings, where dispersion is inhibited. While the dispersion model used can account
for canyon-like settings, the use of this canyon module limits the ability for contour plots to be
produced, and therefore affects the visualisation of the area of exceedance. To enable contour
plots to be produced, the model has been run without the canyon module, which has resulted in the
application of a high model verification factor. This is likely to have resulted in the over-prediction of
pollutant concentrations away from canyon-like areas and may, therefore, suggest a larger area of
exceedance than will occur in reality. However, it will allow for a conservative AQMA to be declared
that ensures that all potential areas of exceedance are included.
The model outputs have been verified against 2016 data from the diffusion tube monitoring sites 11,
24, 25, 26, 31, 32, 33, 34, 37 and 41; further details of model verification are supplied in Error!
Reference source not found..
Concentrations have been predicted across a source-oriented gridded area at ground-floor (1.5 m)
level, as well as at three specific receptors. These receptors represent the façades of residential
properties on Clerk Bank, Ball Haye Street and at the junction of the A53 and A520 (Figure D.1).
Receptors have been chosen to represent worst-case locations, in particular locations close to
junctions and congested areas.

Page 179

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

36

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.1: Receptor Location

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2017. Ordnance Survey licence number 100046099.

Results
Predicted concentrations exceed the annual mean objective at locations within the study area, as
shown in Figure D.2. The contour plot shows the areas exceeding 36 µg/m3 (blue) and 40 µg/m3
(red).

Page 180

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

37

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.2: Contour of Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) in 2016 at
Ground-Floor Level

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2017. Ordnance Survey licence number 100046099.

There are relevant receptors within the shaded areas, thus an AQMA should be declared. Given
the worst-case nature of the modelling applied, it is likely most appropriate to declare the AQMA
based on the extent of the 40 µg/m3 contour.

Air Quality Improvements Required
The degree of improvement needed in order for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective to be
achieved is defined by the difference between the predicted concentration at a worst-case location
with relevant exposure and the objective level (40 μg/m3).
In terms of describing the reduction in emissions required, it is more useful to consider nitrogen
oxides (NOx). The required reduction in local nitrogen oxides emission has been calculated in line
with guidance presented in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016). Table D.2 sets out the required reduction in
local emissions of NOx that would be required at the A53/A520 junction, the only one of the three
selected receptor locations where an exceedance is predicted, in order for the annual mean
objective to be achieved.

Page 181

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

38

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration predicted at the A53/A520 junction in Leek town
centre is 65.5 μg/m3 for 2016. This requires a reduction of 25.5 μg/m3 in order for the objective to
be achieved. Table D.2 shows that at this location a reduction of 73.6 µg/m3 in NOx emissions
would be required in order to achieve the objective. This equates to a reduction of 54.4% in local
road traffic NOx emissions at this receptor location. As has already been described, a conservative
modelling methodology has been used in the prediction of road traffic derived pollutant
concentrations, thus the concentrations presented here are likely to represent very conservative
estimates; it is likely that the reduction required is actually smaller than calculated.
Table D.2: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations and Nitrogen
Oxides Concentrations Required in 2016 to Meet the Objective
Unit
Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
dioxide (NO2)

Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
oxides (NOx)

µg/m

A53/A520 Junction

3

25.5

% of total predicted
NO2
µg/m

38.9

3

73.6

% of total predicted
NOx

54.4

Source Apportionment
In order to develop appropriate measures to improve air quality in Leek town centre and inform the
action plan, it is necessary to identify the sources contributing to the objective exceedances within
the study area. Source apportioned nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been calculated taking
account of the different proportions of nitrogen dioxide emitted by different vehicle types. The
different proportions have been calculated in line with guidance provided in LAQM.TG16 (Defra,
2016).
The following categories have been included in the source apportionment:


Regional background;



Local background;



Cars;



Lights Good Vehicles (LGV);



Buses;



Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs); and



Motorcycles.

Page 182

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

39

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table D.3 and Figure D.3 show the contribution from each of the different categories to total
predicted annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at each of the receptors assessed (Clerk
Bank, Ball Haye Street and at the junction of the A53 and A520, shown in Figure D.1). The
percentage contributions at all sites are shown in Table D.4 and Figure D.4.
In all cases, the contribution from cars to the total nitrogen dioxide concentration is greatest (3336%), followed by emissions from LGVs which average 18% across all three sites. The contribution
from local background and HGVs both contribute significantly to the annual mean, with increments
ranging from 10-20% and 14-19% respectively.
A conservative modelling methodology has been used in the prediction of road traffic derived
pollutant concentrations, thus the calculated contributions from road traffic are likely to represent
worst-case estimates.
Table D.3: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen
Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) in 2016
3

Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m )
Receptor

Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Clerk Bank

3.3

7.2

0.0

12.6

6.5

5.8

2.3

Ball Haye
Street

3.2

7.2

0.0

12.2

5.6

5.3

3.5

A53/A520
Junction

2.9

6.5

0.1

23.8

13.9

12.5

5.9

Page 183

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

40

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure D.3: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen
Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3) at Each Receptor in 2016

Table D.4: Percentage Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations in 2016
Annual Mean Contribution (%)
Receptor

Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Clerk Bank

5.1

7.4

0.2

35.1

21.5

23.8

7.0

Ball Haye
Street

8.6

19.2

0.1

33.4

17.2

15.4

6.1

A53/A520
Junction

8.8

19.5

0.1

32.9

15.0

14.2

9.5

Page 184

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

41

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Figure D.4: Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen
Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3) at Each Receptor in 2016

Conclusions and Recommendations
A Detailed Assessment has been carried out for nitrogen dioxide in Leek Town Centre. This area
was identified as being at risk of exceeding the annual mean air quality objective for nitrogen
dioxide through passive diffusion tube monitoring carried out by SMDC.
The Detailed Assessment has been carried out using a combination of the monitoring data and
modelled concentrations. Concentrations of nitrogen dioxide have been modelled for 2016 using the
ADMS-Roads dispersion model. The model has been verified against measurements made at ten
nitrogen dioxide diffusion tube monitoring locations which lie adjacent to the road network included
in the model. A conservative approach has been taken that is likely to have over-predicted
concentrations away from canyon-like settings.
The assessment has identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective is being exceeded at
relevant locations within Leek Town Centre. It is recommended that an AQMA is declared to
include, as a minimum, those residential properties that lie within the 40 µg/m3 contour (see Figure

Page 185

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

42

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
D.2), noting that this is likely to represent a conservative estimate of the area of exceedance, given
the approach applied with regard to canyon-like settings.
It is also recommended that SMDC continues monitoring nitrogen dioxide at the existing locations.
Source apportionment of the local traffic emissions has been undertaken. This shows that, in the
majority of cases, emissions from cars contribute the largest proportion to the overall annual mean
nitrogen dioxide concentration, followed by emissions from LGVs and HGVs, and that from the local
background.
A reduction in traffic emissions from Leek’s busiest roads and junctions, especially those within
‘street-canyons’, would result in a decrease in concentrations of nitrogen dioxide.

Page 186

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

43

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix C:
Modelling

Cellarhead Detailed Dispersion

Introduction
Measurements indicate that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective has been exceeded in the
vicinity of the junction of the A520 and A52 at Cellarhead. SMDC has therefore decided to
undertake a Detailed Assessment of air quality within the Cellarhead Junction area.
The purpose of this Detailed Assessment is to determine whether an exceedance of an air quality
objective is likely and the geographical extent of that exceedance, which will determine the extent of
the AQMA that has to be declared. Subsequent to the declaration of an AQMA, an Air Quality
Action Plan (AQAP) should be prepared within one year and approved by Defra. The AQAP will
identify measures to improve local air quality and to achieve the air quality objectives. In order to
inform the Action Plan process, source apportionment has been undertaken to ascertain the
sources contributing to the exceedances, and the magnitude of reduction in emissions required to
achieve the objective has also to be calculated.
This report represents a Detailed Assessment, following the findings of SMDC’s pollutant monitoring
which is described in Section Error! Reference source not found..

Background
The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) published by the Department for Environment, Food, and
Rural Affairs (Defra) and Devolved Administrations, provides the policy framework for air quality
management and assessment in the UK. It provides air quality standards and objectives for key air
pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and the environment. It also sets out how
the different sectors: industry, transport and local government, can contribute to achieving the air
quality objectives. Local authorities are seen to play a particularly important role. The strategy
describes the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime that has been established, whereby
every authority has to carry out regular reviews and assessments of air quality in its area to identify
whether the objectives have been, or will be, achieved at relevant locations by the applicable date.
If this is not the case, the authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), and
prepare an action plan which identifies appropriate measures that will be introduced in pursuit of the
objectives.
Technical Guidance for LAQM (LAQM.TG16) (Defra, 2016) sets out a streamlined approach to the
Review and Assessment process. This prescribes the submission of a single Annual Status Report

Page 187

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

44

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
(ASR) which all local authorities in England must submit each year by the 30th June. It should
identify new non-compliant areas and report progress made within existing AQMAs. When an
exceedance has been identified, the local authority can either use the “Fast Track Option” and
immediately declare an AQMA, or obtain further information and/or data before deciding on the
declaration of an AQMA. The latter approach is being treated as a ‘Detailed Assessment’ for the
purposes of this report5.

The Air Quality Objectives
The Government’s Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) provides air quality standards and objectives
for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and the environment. The
‘standards’ are set as concentrations below which health effects are unlikely even in sensitive
population groups, or below which risks to public health would be exceedingly small. They are
based purely upon the scientific and medical evidence of the effects of a particular pollutant. The
‘objectives’ set out the extent to which the Government expects the standards to be achieved by a
certain date. They take account of the costs, benefits, feasibility and practicality of achieving the
standards. It also sets out how the different sectors: industry, transport and local government, can
contribute to achieving the air quality objectives. The objectives are prescribed within The Air
Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (2000) and The Air Quality (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2002 (2002). Table E.1 summarises the objectives which are relevant to this report.
Studies have shown associations of nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects;
respiratory and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Evidence associating nitrogen dioxide with
health effects has strengthened substantially in recent years.
Table E.1:

Air Quality Objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide

Pollutant

Time Period

Objective

1-hour mean

200 g/m not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year

Annual mean

40 g/m

3

Nitrogen Dioxide
3

The air quality objectives only apply where members of the public are likely to be regularly present
for the averaging time of the objective (i.e. where people will be exposed to pollutants). For annual
mean objectives, relevant exposure is limited to residential properties, schools and hospitals. The 1hour objective applies at these locations as well as at any outdoor location where a member of the

5

Detailed Assessments were part of the previous approach to LAQM, but they are no longer required in current TG16 guidance.

Page 188

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

45

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
public might reasonably be expected to stay for 1 hour or more, such as shopping streets, parks
and sports grounds, as well as bus stations and railway stations that are not fully enclosed.
Measurements across the UK have shown that the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective is unlikely to
be exceeded unless the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration is greater than 60 µg/m3
(Defra, 2016). Thus exceedances of 60 µg/m3 as an annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration
are used as an indicator of potential exceedances of the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective.

Modelling
Annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been predicted using detailed dispersion
modelling (ADMS-Roads v4.1). Details of the model inputs, assumptions and the verification are
provided in Error! Reference source not found., together with the method used to derive
background concentrations. Where assumptions have been made, a realistic worst-case approach
has been adopted.
The modelling has sought to determine the area within which the annual mean nitrogen dioxide
objective is likely to have been exceeded, using a contour plot to aid visualisation of this area. It
has already been established that the measured objective exceedances at Cellarhead occur in a
canyon-like setting, where dispersion is inhibited. While the dispersion model used can account for
canyon-like settings, the use of this canyon module limits the ability for contour plots to be
produced, and therefore affects the visualisation of the area of exceedance. To enable contour
plots to be produced, the model has been run without the canyon module, which has resulted in the
application of a high model verification factor. This is likely to have resulted in the over-prediction of
pollutant concentrations away from canyon-like areas and may, therefore, suggest a larger area of
exceedance than will occur in reality. However, it will allow for a conservative AQMA to be declared
that ensures that all potential areas of exceedance are included.
The model outputs have been verified against 2016 data from the diffusion tube monitoring sites 38,
39 and 42; further details of model verification are supplied in Error! Reference source not found..
Concentrations have been predicted across a gridded area at ground-floor (1.5 m) levels, as well as
at the façade of Royal Oak Cottage on the south west corner of Cellarhead junction (Figure E.1).
This receptor is considered to represent a worst-case location at the junction, in terms of likely total
nitrogen dioxide concentrations. However, it is not in as canyon-like a setting as the three diffusion
tubes, thus the modelling methodology applied is likely to have over-predicted the total
concentration here.

Page 189

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

46

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure E.1: Receptor and Monitor Locations

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2017. Ordnance Survey licence number 100046099.

Results
Predicted concentrations exceed the annual mean objective at locations within the study area, as
shown in Error! Reference source not found.. The contour plot shows the areas exceeding
36 µg/m3 (blue) and 40 µg/m3 (red).

Page 190

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

47

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Figure E.2: Contour of Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) in 2016 at
Ground-Floor Level

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2017. Ordnance Survey licence number 100046099.

There are relevant receptors within the shaded areas, thus an AQMA should be declared. Given
the worst-case nature of the modelling applied, it is likely most appropriate to declare the AQMA
based on the extent of the 40 µg/m3 contour.

Air Quality Improvements Required
The degree of improvement needed in order for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective to be
achieved is defined by the difference between the predicted concentration at a worst-case relevant
exposure location and the objective level (40 μg/m3).
In terms of describing the reduction in emissions required, it is more useful to consider nitrogen
oxides (NOx). The required reduction in local nitrogen oxides emission has been calculated in line
with guidance presented in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016). Table E.2 sets out the required reduction in
local emissions of NOx that would be required at each of the receptor locations where an
exceedance is predicted in order for the annual mean objective to be achieved.
The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration predicted at Royal Oak Cottage is 74.6 μg/m3 for
2016. This requires a reduction of 34.6 μg/m3 in order for the objective to be achieved. Table E.2

Page 191

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

48

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
shows that at this location a reduction of 109.3 µg/m3 in NOx emissions would be required in order
to achieve the objective. This equates to a reduction of 64.2 % in local road traffic NOx emissions
at this location. As has already been described, a conservative modelling methodology has been
used in the prediction of road traffic derived pollutant concentrations, thus the concentrations
presented here are likely to represent very conservative estimates; it is likely that the reduction
required is actually smaller than calculated.
Table E.2:Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations and Nitrogen
Oxides Concentrations Required in 2016 to Meet the Objective
Unit
Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
dioxide (NO2)

Required Reduction in
annual mean nitrogen
oxides (NOx)

µg/m

A53/A520 Junction

3

34.6

% of total predicted
NO2
µg/m

46.4

3

109.3

% of total predicted
NOx

64.2

Source Apportionment
In order to develop appropriate measures to improve air quality at the Cellarhead Junction and
inform the action plan, it is necessary to identify the sources contributing to the objective
exceedances within the study area. Source apportioned nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been
calculated taking account of the different proportions of nitrogen dioxide emitted by different vehicle
types. The different proportions have been calculated in line with guidance provided in LAQM.TG16
(Defra, 2016).
The following categories have been included in the source apportionment:


Regional background;



Local background;



Cars;



Lights Good Vehicles (LGV);



Buses;



Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs); and



Motorcycles.

Page 192

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

49

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Table E.3 and Figure E.3 show the contribution from each of the different categories to total
predicted annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at Royal Oak Cottage (Shown in Figure
E.1). The contribution from cars to the total nitrogen dioxide concentration is greatest (35%),
followed by emissions from HGVs (23%) and LGVs (22%). Owing to the rural setting, the
contribution from the local background is relatively small (7%).
A conservative modelling methodology has been used in the prediction of road traffic derived
pollutant concentrations, thus the calculated contributions from road traffic are likely to represent
worst-case estimates.
Table E.3:Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen
Dioxide Concentrations at Royal Oak Cottage in 2016
Regional
Background

Local
Background

MC

Car

LGV

HGV

Bus

Annual Mean
Contribution
3
(µg/m )

3.8

5.5

0.1

26.2

16.0

17.7

5.2

% of Total
Concentration

5.1

7.4

0.2

35.1

21.5

23.8

7.0

Figure E.3: Percentage Contributions of Different Sources to Total Predicted Annual Mean
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration (µg/m3) at Royal Oak Cottage in 2016

Page 193

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

50

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Conclusions and Recommendations
A detailed assessment has been carried out for nitrogen dioxide at Cellarhead Junction in
Staffordshire Moorlands District. This area was identified as being at risk of exceeding the annual
mean air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide through passive diffusion tube monitoring carried out
by SMDC.
The detailed assessment has been carried out using a combination of the monitoring data and
modelled concentrations. Concentrations of nitrogen dioxide have been modelled for 2016 using the
ADMS-Roads dispersion model. The model has been verified against measurements made at three
nitrogen dioxide diffusion tube monitoring locations which lie adjacent to the road network included
in the model.
The assessment has identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective is being exceeded at
relevant locations alongside A520 and A52 at Cellarhead. It is recommended that an AQMA is
declared to include, as a minimum, those residential properties that lie within the 40 µg/m3 contour
(see Error! Reference source not found.).
It is also recommended that SMDC continues monitoring nitrogen dioxide at the existing locations.
Source apportionment of the local traffic emissions has been undertaken. This shows that road
sources are the single most important source at Cellarhead. Cars contribute the largest proportion
to the overall concentration, followed by emissions from HGVs and LGVs.

Page 194

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

51

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Appendix D: Proposal for the Air Quality Challenge at
the Cellarhead crossroad

Page 195

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

52

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Urban Air Quality Challenge
Proposal for the Air Quality Challenge at the
Cellarhead crossroad

Page 196

Staffordshire Moorlands Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

53

Organisation Name: Fotech Group Ltd.
Name of Product/Solution: Distributed Acoustic Sensor (DAS) Fibre Optic Sensing Solution.
Location(s): (Please state which challenge location or locations this proposal refers to):
Air Quality Challenge at the Cellarhead crossroad, where the A52 and A520 meet.

1. ORGANISATION OVERVIEW
Please provide a brief summary of your business and why you are interested in SIMULATE.
Including an overview of the key members of your team, background and skills, qualifications and
experience. How many employees does the business have?
Founded in 2008, Fotech employs nearly 50 people, the majority of whom are located at our
headquarters in Church Crookham, Hampshire.
More than half of our team are in R&D or Engineering and several have Ph.Ds.
Dr. Vince Handerek is a leader in the field of photonics.
Dr. Peter Hayward is an expert in acoustics and the applications of our technology.
Matt McDonald MSc. is deeply involved in AI and Machine Learning.
Dr. Vladimir Bondarenko has been leading our software development for roads.
Stuart Large MEng, is Product Line Director, leading Fotech’s Smart City and Intelligent Transport
initiatives.
We have applied more than 200 Person-Years of effort to our software development,
accumulated millions of hours of operation time and our systems are monitoring more than
7,000km of pipelines, borders and perimeters around the world.
Funding from SIMULATE will allow us to accelerate the development of software required for this
application.

2. SUMMARY OF PROPOSAL
Please provide an overall summary and description of your proposal and what traction you may
have had so far?
Fotech’s Distributed Acoustic Sensing (DAS) technology turns the standard optical fibre which
brings the internet to homes and businesses into sensors. So rather than just using fibres for
communication, they can now serve another purpose which is to sense sounds, vibrations and
strains in the surrounding environment that act on the fibre cable.
It’s highly sensitive, so where a fibre optic cable, such as those laid by BT Openreach throughout
the UK, is laid beside a road, it will be able to detect the vibrations generated by passing vehicles.
The vibrations will be “felt” by the fibre and will be detected as a change in signal by our DAS
interrogator. The DAS interrogator can monitor a fibre up to 50km long and can tell where each
vehicle is to within just a few meters. Software algorithms run on the data to automatically follow
the movement of vehicles along the fibre and therefore along the road and by analysis of this data
it is possible to determine flow rate and velocities at hundreds of locations along the fibre and
also to detect the presence of traffic queues and their length.
You might think of this as turning your fibre into thousands of microphones. The system can
therefore detect many things:
 Vehicle movements – cars, trains, trams
 People walking
 Manual digging / mechanical excavation / pneumatic drilling
 Threats to pipelines and cables

Page 197

2|

Fotech has contacted two telecom providers who have verified there is fibre in the location of this
road junction. Fotech proposes connecting to this fibre and using it for two functions:
1. To monitor and detect traffic queues developing at the Cellarhead crossroad. We would
intend to provide a live stream of data which could be used by a traffic management
system to change the traffic light sequencing and reduce these queues.
2. To monitor traffic approaching the junction from much further back down the road,
perhaps up to 1 or 2 km. With this data we would be able to recognise larger vehicles, by
the stronger vibrations they cause, or clusters of multiple cars. By recognising these larger
vehicles or clusters we could provide the traffic management system with an estimated
time of arrival, with one or two minutes warning, so that the traffic light sequence could
be adjusted and the lights could be turned green in time for their arrival, thus minimising
their waiting time or even allowing them to pass straight through.
In both cases, the intention is to optimise flow through the junction and minimise the waiting
times at the junction and thereby minimise congestion and resulting emissions, particularly from
the heavy polluters. This will ultimately provide an improvement in air quality in the local area.
On this YouTube link we have created a 4 1/2 minute video that explains our overall proposal for
Smart Cities: https://youtu.be/212l1u3pVBM
Fotech gave a Webinar to the FOSA group in USA about how DAS technology can be used, which
included some real examples of our work. You can view a recording on YouTube:
https://youtu.be/2jCO1F9b6cY
Have you trialled your solution before, if yes, can you provide more details; where, when, results?
To date Fotech has operated the DAS system on various fibres, running beside a variety of roads.
Results have been very encouraging, and we have been able to acquire data which suggests our
proposed solution is feasible. We are now working to develop software which can take the
acquired data, process it and deliver it as a usable stream to a traffic management system.
Have you been involved in an accelerator before? If yes, please provide more details.
No, we have not been involved in an accelerator before.
Are you generating revenue? (This is not essential)
Yes, Fotech is generating revenue and has been doing so for approximately ten years. The
company has a well-established business in Oil & Gas Pipeline Monitoring, Perimeter & Border
Security, Cable Protection and monitoring Downhole in Oil & Gas wells.

3. WHAT DIFFERENTIATES YOUR APPROACH/ SOLUTION TO OTHER PROPOSALS?
How innovative is your proposal? What is special about it? How does it differ to your competitors?
Why should we choose you over others?
This technology is at the cutting edge of photonics and Artificial Intelligence (AI). It’s an area of
science in which the British lead the world.
Competition for traffic monitoring solutions typically relies on either point sensors, such as
cameras, inductive loops, or radar, or on floating point data. Both have significant weaknesses;
which DAS can overcome.
Point sensors can only detect what is in their field of view, so they will tell you there is a traffic
jam at one location, but they can’t determine whether it’s 20m, 200m, or 2,000m long. DAS
technology monitors the entire length of the road where it’s deployed and can therefore locate
the back of the queue, and determine it’s length, wherever it is.

Page 198

3|

Floating point data relies on positioning of mobile phones in cars. It suffers from long lags in
updating and is affected by only monitoring a fraction of the vehicles, as well as dead-spots in the
coverage. DAS can detect most, if not all of the vehicles.
We have tested this at a road junction where DAS could detect the change in traffic queue length
in just a few seconds, but throughout a period of 20 minutes of monitoring, the traffic shown on
Google Maps (from floating point data) did not change at all.

4. TECHNICAL INFORMATION REGARDING YOUR SOLUTION INCLUDING READINESS
Please provide technical details of how your solution tackles poor air quality, how effective is it,
how does it work, how would it be deployed? Which category does it address (Air Scrubbing,
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) technologies, Behavioural change, Other innovative
solutions?) You may use pictures and diagrams. How mature is your product / service?
This technology should be considered as at TRL5 or 6. It has been deployed in tests in the realworld environment, operating on fibres already in place. It is clear that vehicles can be followed
along their journey. In most cases they can be counted, velocities can be determined, and queues
can be detected, located and measured in length with an adequate degree of accuracy.
Fotech has acquired data from a selection of locations and has taken the data away for processing
and further software development. We are currently working to develop the software further to
provide a data stream in real-time to a traffic management system which is capable of making
intelligent decisions to change traffic lights at the right time.
We consider this an Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) technology.
In this image we see
several vehicles
passing along a 500m
length of road in a 1minute period.
We also see a
pedestrian, a heavier
lorry and vibrations
on a bridge as the
vehicles pass over it.

In this image the
volume of vehicles
has increased.
Several were held in
a queue at traffic
lights, before it
turned green and
allowed them to
move on.
Once again, a
pedestrian is also
visible.

Page 199

4|

Detection of traffic
queues with optical
fibre buried beside a
road.
Data is acquired,
processed and
delivered as a stream
in real-time. Software
to deliver this is
under development.

In the image above we see the difference in acoustic signatures between heavy vehicles, such as a
lorry or bus, compared with cars.

Here we have a situation where a slow-moving lorry has a long queue of traffic following behind.
Every car is visible in the DAS data.

Page 200

5|

5. SOLUTION DEPLOYMENT
How would you plan to deploy the solutions in one of the challenges? Is your solution a physical
deployment (I.e. requiring access to infrastructure or a soft deployment (i.e. needing little or no
physical infrastructure?)
Fotech will need to gain access to a fibre in a cable running parallel to one, or preferably both of
the A52 and A520. Preliminary discussions with contacts at BT Openreach and Virgin Media
suggest that one or both of them have such assets and would be willing to cooperate on this
project.
A location will need to be identified for the installation of the Fotech Distributed Acoustic Sensor
(DAS) and processing computer. This could be in a
suitable building, or we could consider a temporary
enclosure, or possibly a van, operating with a
generator for short-term installation.
Left: Helios Theta, DAS Interrogator, designed to fit
in a 19” rack (5U rack height), in a cabinet, or on a
tabletop. This will be connected to one end of the
optical fibre.

The image on
the right shows
the preferred
fibre route.
Fibre would be
accessed
through
manholes that
exist along the
route:

6. SOLUTON MONITORING
Once the solution is in place how do you plan to monitor its impact? How do you plan to use the
data provided by the AQ granular sensors? How will you demonstrate its impact to Staffordshire
and Amey? Do you plan to use a project dashboard to update the programme on the solution?
If the Cellarhead, A52/A520 crossroad has traffic lights which can be changed in real time using an
input from a third-party system, then Fotech would like to provide such an input and observe the
improvement in congestion after the installation. This could be measured on a daily basis by
collecting baseline data on queue lengths and waiting times from before installation and then
post installation, during the testing period.

Page 201

6|

Corroborative data could be acquired by people on site and with video recordings allowing replay
or further analysis of the passing traffic. It would also be interesting to receive data from the
inductive loop that appears to be present from the photos on Google Earth.
The area surrounding the crossroad has six Air-Quality sensors. We will take observations from
each of these before and after the installation to confirm if there are improvements as we expect.
We’ll also record how many of the larger vehicles are able to pass through the crossroads without
stopping and measure average waiting times. This will allow us to confirm if the software
responsible for this function is working.
If the traffic lights cannot be changed by a third party system, then the alternative will be to
acquire data, process it, and run simulations to show how congestion could be improved at the
crossroads IF the traffic lights could be altered with the input of DAS data.
A project dashboard will be created and kept up to date to provide information about the status of
the project and show the performance of the system during the stages of testing.
Fotech operates an Agile Management system with 2-week sprints and therefore we would
propose dividing our work in this way and encourage a review of progress every two weeks.

7. POST PROJECT UNINSTALLATION
Does your solution need to be uninstalled, if so, how?
When the testing is complete, the system is easily uninstalled. The fibre optic cable remains in
place and is unaffected. The telecom provider will restore it to a state ready for communication,
as below. The Fotech equipment will be simply disconnected and removed from site, a processing
taking less than an hour if required.

8. POST PROJECT SCALE UP
How could your solution be deployed at scale? How would you do this? What support would be
required?
One DAS interrogator can monitor up to 50km of fibre (100km if we use a 2-channel version). We
can therefore monitor over very long distances and have the potential to monitor many
kilometres of road and several junctions along that route with one system. This allows us to
provide significant economic benefits.
Fotech has the capacity to build at scale, as demonstrated by our pipeline monitoring business
and is also working on the development of a new type of DAS interrogator which would be more
suited to deployment in a pit or on a pole, removing the need for an instrument room.
Support is required from the telecom company to gain access to their fibres. Therefore, we are
speaking with a number of the UK telecom providers, who have expressed strong interest.
What is the business model and commercial and market opportunity?
The business model is still flexible and will be defined as we speak further with our potential
clients. For other sectors such as pipeline monitoring, the systems have traditionally been sold as
a complete package, but for the Smart City and Intelligent Transport sectors we are considering a
SaaS (Subscription) model, paid monthly or annually. The data acquired by one system could be of
interest to multiple clients and hence it seems fair that each client should simply pay for what
they use; for example, traffic information for the traffic operator, information about where
motorists are speeding could be provided to the police, and information about the health of the
road could be provided to the highways agency.
For the telecom providers, this technology provides another opportunity to further monetise their
fibre assets.

Page 202

7|

9. POST PROJECT EVALUATION
How would you measure the impact and evaluate success of the trial?
If the Cellarhead, A52/A520 crossroad has traffic lights which can be changed in real time, using
an input from a third-party system, then Fotech would like to provide such an input and observe
the improvement in congestion after the installation. This could be measured on a daily basis by
collecting baseline data on queue lengths and waiting times from before installation and then
post installation, during the testing period.
The area surrounding the crossroad has six air-quality sensors. We will take observations from
each of these before and after the installation to confirm if there are improvements as we expect.
We’ll also record how many of the larger vehicles are able to pass through the crossroads without
stopping. This will allow us to confirm if the software responsible for this function is working.
If the traffic lights cannot be changed by a third party system, then the alternative will be to
acquire data, process it and run simulations to show how congestion could be improved at the
crossroads IF the traffic lights could be altered with the input of DAS data.

10. PROJECT TIMELINE AND KEY MILESTONES
Please provide an estimate of your timeline, demonstrating planning, installation, monitoring,
uninstallation (if relevant) and evaluation. You may provide this in Gantt format on a separate
sheet of paper.
A Gantt Chart created by our Head of Engineering for the development project is provided in a
separate document. This takes us through to the completion of system testing. Once this is
complete to the satisfaction of all stakeholders, we shall be ready to install the system on site. The
timeline for this stage will be as follows:
1. Preparation of fibre route: This will be carried out with the telecom provide in parallel
with the development tasks, so it will be ready by the time the system testing is
completed.
2. Install Fotech system, make a spatial calibration and set the optical parameters (1 week)
3. Experimental phase, where Fotech tests and improves performance of the system, testing
a selection of parameters and making software revisions if required (3 weeks)
4. Demo day.
5. Decommission, or make the installation permanent / long-term, depending upon what is
agreed with the stakeholders.
It is anticipated that Air Quality and Traffic Flow data will be acquired for a couple of weeks before
the Fotech system is installed and then for a suitable period of time after installation to measure
the difference with reasonable statistical accuracy and confidence.

Page 203

8|

11. RISKS
Please provide a summary of the likely risks regarding your proposal.
Please find our risk register below. This is a document which will be kept live and will evolve
through the course of the project.

12. COSTS
Please provide a summary of the overall costs of your proposal and a breakdown of this costs over
the duration of the project. Please give us a rough estimate of your perceived costs at this stage.
The following table shows the resources required for the development project:

We have a total of 265 days of development work, valued at £174,250.
The lease of equipment required from Fotech for the 1-month period before and during the test
day will cost £22,100. This is the DAS system, processor, RAID Array and Hard Drives. There may
be additional costs for the housing of the system as at this time we don’t know if there is a
suitable building nearby or if a cabinet or vehicle will be required.

Page 204

9|

Labour to prepare the site, commission the system, test and optimise the system and
decommission it is as follows:
Fibre Work: 2 days
Installation: 10 days (2 people for 5 days)
Testing and Optimisation: 10 days
Decommissioning: 1 day
Total labour costs: £17,550

The site survey and discussion with the telecom company will determine if there will be other costs
involved in setting up the fibre to be ready for the installation and if payment must be made for
access to the fibre. This will be negotiated.

We are also waiting for Amey to help us determine what system controls the traffic lights and
whether the lights can be controlled in real-time by our system. There could be some costs for any
additional requirements to integrate with that system, such as some hardware.

We have identified total costs so far of £213,900, with some potential for additional costs. Fotech
therefore proposes to bid for the maximum allowable amount from SIMULATE (Figures of £100k
and £120k are both quoted at different places in the online documentation) Fotech would self- fund
(match) the remainder.

The costs of keeping the system running for a longer duration after the testing day will also need
to be discussed.

13. OTHER (OPTIONAL)
Please use this space to record any other relevant information in relation to your proposal.
N/A. Everything is covered in the earlier sections.

Page 205

10 |

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Glossary of Terms
Abbreviation

Description

AQAP

Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures,
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods,
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit
values’

AQMA

Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and
objectives

AQS

Air Quality Strategy

ASR

Air quality Annual Status Report

Defra

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EU

European Union

LAQM

Local Air Quality Management

NO2

Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx

Nitrogen Oxides

PM10

Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5

Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm
or less

…

…

Page 206
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024

Agenda Item 10.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Cabinet
3 August 2021

TITLE:

Rural Sports Villages

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Mark Deaville - Deputy Leader &
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports

CONTACT OFFICER:

Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and
Recreation)

WARDS INVOLVED:

Churnet & Waterhouses

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To update the Cabinet on the progress of the work undertaken to date to
identify and support projects with a view to allocating outdoor sports capital
funding towards local projects.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Cabinet notes the progress made towards identifying and supporting
the development of outdoor sport and recreation capital projects across the
District.

2.2

That the Cabinet approves the allocation of £6,500 to Waterhouses Parish
Council and £5,000 to Kingsley Parish Council from the outdoor sports capital
fund as detailed in the report.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands is the Council’s Physical Activity
and Sport Strategy which identifies key priorities and actions that the Council
will take, supported by its partners, to enable residents to become more active.

3.2

The Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds in the current MTFP, to
be used to towards supporting the delivery of local projects, with a focus on a
‘sports village’ concept and particularly projects that are located in more rural
areas of the District.

3.3

During the last 18 months, officers have been supporting the development of a
wide range of capital projects in Blythe Bridge, Forsbrook, Upper Tean,

Page 207

Waterhouses and Werrington which has included building relationships with
Parish Councils, community organisations, sports clubs, schools and national
governing bodies of sport, in order to help them develop ideas and potential
projects.
3.4

Waterhouses Parish Council has clear aspirations to enhance and improve the
lives of their local community and have worked closely with residents to
establish where financial investment can be best focussed. Improvements to
the recreation ground have been identified and the Parish Council wishes to
purchase a suite of specialist maintenance equipment including a tractor, roller
mower and quadraplay to enable them to undertake enhanced maintenance to
their sports pitches on an ongoing basis.

3.5

The cost to purchase the equipment is £26,000 and £19,500 (75%) of this
amount can be secured from the Football Foundation. In order to do so, the
remaining £6,500 (25%) match funding must have been secured first and this
therefore forms the basis of the request to allocate £6,500 towards this project
from the outdoor sports capital fund.

3.6

Should this be approved, officers will continue to support the Parish Council
with their funding application to the Football Foundation and once all funding
has been secured, help implement the project in partnership with the local
football club over the coming months.

3.7

Kingsley Parish Council has aspirations to improve their local recreation area
and are developing a project to install new football goals, activity frame,
disabled friendly swings and other sport/play equipment at the site which
would benefit children and young people of different ages and abilities. It is
requested that £5,000 is allocated from the outdoor sports capital budget
towards this project.

3.8

It is anticipated that a greater range of projects will start to come forwards as,
in January 2021, the Council appointed a new Service Development Officer
within the Service Commissioning Team. This role has a clear focus on
identifying and supporting local projects of this nature and is already
supporting a potential future project in Forsbrook alongside Forsbrook Parish
Council to make improvements to recreational facilities at Jubilee Gardens.
The initial plan is to help develop a process of community consultation which
aims to confirm what improvements residents would like to see, and then,
where appropriate, develop a costed delivery plan which could lead to a
request for funds from this budget in the future.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report links to Aim 1 of the Council’s Corporate Plan “To help create a
safter and healthier environment for our communities to live and work”.
To deliver Aim 1 of the objective “Provision of sports facilities and leisure
opportunities focused upon improving health”.

Page 208

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

Recommend Cabinet approve the allocation of £6,500 to Waterhouses Parish
Council and £5,000 to Kingsley Parish Council from the outdoor sports capital
fund as detailed in the report. (recommended)

5.2

Recommend Cabinet do not award funding to the projects as proposed,
meaning that funding will need to be secured by the two Parish Councils from
other sources. (not recommended)

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
Creating improved sports facilities in local communities, particularly
rural communities where opportunities and travel are generally
more limited helps engage people, especially young people, in
positive activities.

6.2

Workforce
Supporting the development of community projects is delivered by
Council officers as part of their role. The delivery of capital projects
will primarily be the responsibility of the partner organisation
receiving funds and would not require any direct involvement from
the Council.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed for this
project.

6.4

Financial Considerations
Should Cabinet approve this request, £11,500 from a total budget
of £100,000 will be allocated from provisions within the latest
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) towards projects in
Waterhouses and Whiston.

6.5

Legal
Waterhouses Parish Council and Kingsley Parish Council will both
be responsible for purchasing the equipment outlined in the report
and for the equipment and facilities ongoing
operation/maintenance.

6.6

Climate Change
The provision of locally owned equipment will reduce the
requirement to purchase maintenance services from external
contractors who would transport their own equipment to site on a

Page 209

regular basis using vehicles, thus reducing the overall carbon
footprint for the project.
6.7

Consultation
The project to improve the main pitch and create a second new
pitch at the site in Waterhouses was identified in consultation with
the local community.

6.8

Risk Assessment
None. The two Parish Councils will be responsible for the
purchase, storage, operations and maintenance of the equipment
they are wishing to purchase to undertake the works outlined in the
report.
Mark Trillo
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, Towards an Active
Staffordshire Moorlands

Robert Wilks
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation)
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk

7.

Detail

7.1

Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands is the Council’s Physical Activity
and Sport Strategy which identifies key priorities and actions that the Council
will take, supported by its partners, to enable residents become more active.
The strategy highlights 5 strategic objectives which are set out below;
1) Supporting the inactive to become active through a universal physical activity
offer
2) Addressing inequalities in physical activity and sport engagement (with a focus
on)
a: Women and Girls
b: People with limiting illness or disability
c: People aged 55 years and over
d: People in lower socioeconomic groups
e: Children and young people (aged 5-18)
3) Establish a place based approach with strategic partners
a: Leek North
b: Biddulph East
c: Cheadle
d: Forsbrook
e: Cellarhead
d: Endon

Page 210

4) Maximise physical activity and sport opportunities using the natural
environment
5) Supporting our existing club and volunteer base to build capacity
7.2

Developing or improving community sports facilities is an important aspect of
delivering the aspirations of the strategy, particularly objectives 1,4 and 5.

7.3

The Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds in the current MTFP to be
used towards supporting the delivery of local projects, with a focus on a ‘sports
village’ concept and particularly projects that are located in more rural areas of
the District.

7.4

‘Sports villages’ are often groups of facilities that provide a range of
opportunities for local people to play sport or be physically active. In rural
areas these often include facilities such as pavilion buildings, sports pitches,
bowling greens, play areas and tennis courts. In many cases these are owned
and maintained by community organisations or parish councils.

7.5

It is important to recognise that delivering any capital project takes time to
develop and that appropriate levels of due diligence should be undertaken by
officers in order to protect the Council’s investment and assess whether a
project is deliverable, meets strategic objectives, there is a robust business
case and that the ongoing operation and maintenance of the asset is
sustainable in the future.

8.

Supported projects

8.1

During the last 18 months officers have been supporting the development of a
wide range of projects which has included building relationships with parish
councils, community organisations, sports clubs, schools and national
governing bodies of sport, in order to help them develop ideas and proposals.
A list of these projects is included below;








8.2

Cellarhead – Conversion of AstroTurf pitch at Moorside High School
Draycott in the Moors – Possible development of new junior tennis and
padel tennis facility
Forsbrook – Possible improvements to recreational facilities at Jubilee
Gardens
Upper Tean – Possible improvements to playing pitches at the Wentlows
Waterhouses – Improvements to playing pitches at Waterhouses Sports
Field (request for funds outlined at section 8.5- 8.9)
Werrington – Development of pump track facility at Meigh Road
Whiston – Enhancement to recreational and play facilities (request for
funds outlined in section 8.10-8.11)

In a number of these cases the projects which we are supporting have not yet
reached the point whereby they are ready to be brought forward for funding
requests, but it is our intention to continue to support these projects to a
position where, if viable, they could be brought forward in a future report for
consideration.

Page 211

8.3

There are also examples where officers have been supporting the
development of a particular project but an opportunity emerged for them to be
delivered without financial support from SMDC. An example of this is the
project to refurbish the AstroTurf court at Moorside High School in Werrington
which officers were involved with for a number of months. It was anticipated
that this project may require a contribution from this capital fund, however, the
school identified an excellent opportunity to fully fund the project from another
source which they chose to pursue instead.

8.4

We understand the refurbishment works to this facility have now been
completed and that it is open for a range of uses meaning that the desired
outcome was delivered but without the need to use SMDC funding.

Waterhouses
8.5

Waterhouses Parish Council has aspirations to enhance and improve the lives
of their local community and work closely with residents to establish where
financial investment can be best focussed in order to provide maximum
impact. The Parish Council has worked alongside the local Football Club,
Council Officers, Staffordshire Football Association and Football Foundation to
explore how to get the best from their existing sports pitches and also to add a
second pitch at their site to expand the offer for junior football.

8.6

The sports pitches are located together with a community pavilion and bowling
green and are owned and maintained by Waterhouses Parish Council. The
facilities are used by the local community and sports clubs for a range of
activities and events. The main football pitch requires improvement and,
during 2019/20, the Club working together with the Parish Council secured a
six year grant towards a pitch improvement plan from the Football
Foundation’s national ‘Grass Pitch Maintenance Fund’.

8.7

Funding secured from the Football Foundation will help provide enhanced
maintenance regimes on both the main pitch and new second pitch, however,
as the funding award reduces each year, there becomes greater reliance on
the Club or Parish Council increasing their levels of maintenance in order to
sustain the overall quality. To assist with this, the Parish Council and club
intend to carry out some maintenance themselves and wish to purchase their
own specialist machinery that is capable of undertaking these levels using a
mixture of paid contractors and/or locally trained volunteers.

8.8

The Parish Council wishes to purchase a suite of specialist maintenance
equipment including a tractor, roller mower and quadraplay to enable them to
undertake this work on an ongoing basis at a cost of £26,000. £19,500 (75%)
of this amount can be secured from the Football Foundation but in order to do
so, the remaining £6,500 (25%) match funding must have been secured,
therefore, this forms the basis of the request to allocate £6,500 towards this
project from the outdoor sports capital fund.

8.9

Should this request be approved, Waterhouses Parish Council will be in a
position to deliver enhanced maintenance to their sports pitch facilities in a

Page 212

more sustainable manner and allow funds previously spent on maintenance to
be redirected into other projects which engage the community (particularly
young people) and encourage them to be more physically active and play an
positive role in community life.
Whiston
8.10 Kingsley Parish Council has aspirations to improve their local recreation area
and are developing a project to install a new activity frame, disabled friendly
swings and other play equipment at the site which would benefit children of
different ages and abilities. The overall project is costed at c£25,000 and the
Parish Council are fundraising to secure the amount required from a range of
sources.
8.11 It is requested that a £5,000 funding contribution from the outdoor sports
capital budget be made towards this project to be used as match funding
against further funding applications to local and national pots that are closely
aligned to the aims of the project.
8.12 It is anticipated that in the coming year a greater range of projects will begin to
develop as, in January 2021, the Council appointed a new Service
Development Officer within the Service Commissioning Team. This role has a
clear focus on identifying and supporting local projects of this nature and is
already supporting a potential project in Forsbrook alongside Forsbrook Parish
Council to make improvements to recreational facilities at Jubilee Gardens.
The initial plan is to help develop a process of community consultation which
aims to confirm what improvements residents would like to see, and then,
where appropriate, develop a costed delivery plan which could lead to a
request for funds from this budget in the future.

Page 213

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Cabinet
3 August 2021

TITLE:

Consultation on Conservation Area
Character Appraisals and Article 4 Directions

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Edwin Wain - Portfolio Holder for
Planning, Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mark James - Principal Planning Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

Cheddleton, Caverswall, Checkley, Bagnall
and Stanley

Appendices Attached –
Appendix 1 - Draft Conservation Area Appraisals: Caverswall
Appendix 2 - Draft Conservation Area Appraisals: Cheddleton
Appendix 3 - Draft Conservation Area Appraisals: Upper Tean
Appendix 4 - Draft Conservation Area Appraisals: Stanley
Appendix 5 – Article 4 Directions

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

It is proposed to publish Conservation Area Appraisals and a boundary review
for Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and Upper Tean. These documents
require Member approval in order to engage in public consultation. It is also
proposed to consult on the introduction of an Article 4 Direction to dwellings
within these proposed Conservation Areas to control certain categories of
permitted development which are harming the special character and
appearance of the Conservation Area.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Cabinet:
a)

Approves the publication of the draft Conservation Area Character
Appraisals and boundary review for Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley
and Upper Tean for the purposes of consultation with the public

b)

Authorises a consultation exercise on the introduction of an Article 4
Direction affecting dwellings in Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and

Page 215

Upper Tean so as to remove the classes of permitted development as
set out in Appendix 5 of this report.
c)

Delegates authority to the Head of Development Services to make
minor amendments to the draft Character Appraisals ahead of public
consultation to update some images.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Best practice dictates that all Conservation Areas should have adopted
Character Appraisals to consider what features make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an area, thereby identifying opportunities for
beneficial change or the need for planning protection. The Conservation
Areas in Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and Upper Tean do not currently
have an adopted character appraisal and these have now been prepared and
must be the subject of a public consultation exercise. A review of the
boundaries has also been undertaken.

3.2

The draft appraisals have identified that the special interest of these areas is
being eroded by external changes to dwellings which are currently permitted
development. It is also of note that there is an inconsistency in planning
controls between dwellings and commercial properties meaning that dwellings
benefit from much more relaxed planning controls and therefore able to make
numerous, unregulated external changes. It is therefore proposed that an
Article 4 Direction is also introduced alongside the adoption of Conservation
Areas Character Appraisals at Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and Upper
Tean to restrict harmful changes to properties. An Article 4 Direction was
served on domestic properties within the Leek Conservation Area in 2014, and
Oakamoor and Rudyard in 2016, and these have been operating effectively.
Public consultation will also be undertaken on the proposed introduction of an
Article 4 Direction in these areas.

3.3

The draft appraisals are included in the Appendices. Appendix 5 provides
further details on the proposed Article 4 Direction.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The issues raised in this report relate to the priority outcomes relating to:
 Help create a strong economy by supporting future regeneration of
towns and villages
 Protect and improving the environment

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

The measures covered by the recommendations of this report are all linked
and the options for the Council are:

Page 216

(a)
To adopt the character appraisals and introduce an Article 4 Direction.
This option would offer the greatest protection to the character and
appearance of these historic settlements and is in line with best conservation
practice.
(b)
To adopt the accompanying character appraisals (but leave the
planning controls as they are). This will allow the significance of the
settlements’ heritage to be recognised and for planning applications to have
regard to the character and appearance of the areas but it will leave the
Council limited as to what it can protect. It will also allow the inconsistent
planning controls to continue.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2

Workforce
No implications

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
No adverse impact identified for protected groups.

6.4

Financial Considerations
See para. 7.10-7.12 below

6.5

Legal
Local authorities have a duty to review the overall extent of
conservation area designations in their area regularly.
Designations such as this remain the principal means by which
conservation policies can be applied to particular areas. Detailed
guidance on the appraisal of conservation areas has been
produced and is published in the background papers. This report
requests authority to commence a consultation exercise as an
early step in the process.

6.6

Climate Change
A tailored approach may be required to retro-fitting properties to
address climate change. Sustainability is at the heart of the
Council’s design/conservation policies. The conservation of the

Page 217

historic environment is a key objective of the Government’s
National Planning Policy Framework. Subsequent planning
applications will be considered in this context.

6.7

Consultation
Consultation will be carried out as set out in para.7.13 below.

6.8

Risk Assessment
No significant issues have been identified.
Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancingthe-historic-environment

Mark James
Principal Planning Officer
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk

https://historicengland.org.uk/imagesbooks/publications/conservation-area-appraisaldesignation-management-advice-note-1/heag-268conservation-area-appraisal-designation-management/

7.

Detail

7.1

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
Local Planning Authorities to formulate and publish proposals for Conservation
Areas, and to give special attention to preserving or enhancing their character
or appearance.

7.2

Policies covering Conservation Areas are found in the National Panning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Guidance on
the designation and management of Conservation Areas is published in the
Government’s Planning Practice Guide ‘Conservation and Enhancement of the
Historic Environment’ and by Historic England: ‘Understanding Place:
Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management’. The Planning
Practice Guide advises that appraisals can be used to help planning
authorities develop management plans and planning policies. The appraisals
will help property owners understand what is significant about these areas and
to put forward development proposals that respect their character. They can
identify opportunities for beneficial change or the need for planning protection.

7.3

The Staffordshire Moorlands currently has 17 Conservation Areas but only 10
have adopted appraisals. This report is seeking approval to undertake public
consultation on draft appraisals for Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and
Upper Tean, leaving only Biddulph Grange, Cauldon Canal and Checkley to
complete. The documents have been prepared following a review of these
areas, examining the historic development of the settlements and identifies

Page 218

features which make a positive or negative contribution to their character and
appearance.
Conservation Area Boundary Review and Proposed Extension in Cheddleton
7.4

The boundaries of each of the four Conservation Areas have also been
reviewed. All are proposed to remain the same apart from Cheddleton where it
is proposed to extend the boundary to the west to include the former National
School and Hanfield Farm. The former school is an important part of the social
history of the village, a building of historic interest and closely relates to the
historic core. Hanfield Farm is a fine 19th century farmstead which has
survived as an outlying farm and not been encroached upon by village
expansion. This grouping of buildings, boundaries and open fields contribute
greatly to the rural setting of the village.
Erosion of Historic Character: Article 4 Direction

7.5

An important issue raised in the appraisals is the loss of historic features
which is eroding historic character and appearance of these areas. This
includes the replacement of historic windows and doors with modern designs,
loss of architectural detailing, demolition of chimneys, introduction of concrete
roof-tiles in place of Staffordshire Blue Clay tiles, loss of front boundary walls
often to create vehicle hardstandings in front gardens, and the construction of
front porches. These are being undertaken as a result of Permitted
Development Rights (PD Rights). PD Rights are a national grant of planning
permission which allow certain minor building works to be carried out
unchecked. Whilst ordinarily these minor changes have no detrimental impact
on wider amenity, within sensitive historic areas these minor changes can
cumulatively be very harmful to the overall appearance and character of an
area.

7.6

It is also of note that there is an inconsistency in planning controls between
dwellings and commercial properties, meaning that dwellings benefit from
much more relaxed planning controls and therefore owners are able to make
numerous, unregulated external changes.

7.7

There is recognition by the Government and Historic England (its advisors)
that these incremental changes can cumulatively cause great harm to the
historic character and appearance of these areas. An Article 4 Direction gives
local planning authorities the power to restrict PD Rights where they have the
potential to undermine the protection of the historic environment. This
Direction brings certain types of development back under planning control so
that potentially harmful proposals can be considered case-by-case through a
planning application.

7.8

Historic England guidance
(Understanding Place; Conservation Area
Designation, Appraisal and Management) states that it is appropriate to serve
an Article 4 Direction where there is a real and specific threat. They are most
commonly used to control changes to elevations of buildings fronting a
highway, waterway or open space. Further information on Article 4 Directions,
their operation and the proposed categories of development to be affected are
listed in Appendix 5.

Page 219

7.9

It should be noted that the Secretary of State for MHCLG made a statement
on 1st July 2021 announcing that changes will be made to the NPPF to ensure
that the use of Article 4 Directions is highly targeted to protect historic high
streets but not to unnecessarily restrict housing delivery. Although the
changes to the NPPF have not yet been made, the change to policy in this
Ministerial Statement takes immediate effect. It is considered that this policy
change will not impact on the intention to introduce Article 4 Directions in the
four Conservation Areas as they will not impact on housing delivery. On the
contrary, they will protect the historic character of these areas, be in line with
the Council’s duty to protect the character and appearance of these areas, be
limited in their extent to just the conservation area and prevent the adverse
effect of unrestricted householder alterations.
Financial Implications

7.10 The service of an Article 4 Direction will have a number of financial
implications relating to a potential increase in planning applications (although
these are no longer fee-exempt1) and (in the short term) potential for
compensation. There will also be an increase in the number of planning
applications that need to be considered by the Council due to the removal of
permitted development rights. However, this increase is expected to be
relatively modest. An assessment of the number of additional planning
applications determined by the Council in light of the introduction of Article 4
areas in 2016 has been undertaken. Eight additional applications were
identified in Oakamoor with a further five in Rudyard over a five year period.
7.11 The service of an Article 4 Direction can lead to compensation claims, within
12 months of the confirmation of an Article 4 Direction, if property owners have
been refused planning permission or permission granted subject to conditions
solely as a result of the Article 4 Direction. Compensation may be claimed for
abortive expenditure or for other loss or damage attributed to the withdrawal of
permitted development rights. In the case of the proposals for Caverswall,
Cheddleton, Stanley and Upper Tean, compensation may be claimed if it can
be successfully argued that their property has been adversely affected by the
Direction – for example if an order for replacement windows had already been
placed before the Article 4 Direction came into force.
7.12 A study commissioned for Historic England in 2008 examined the impact on
resources arising from the serving of an Article 4 Direction. It concluded that
the increase in planning applications is likely to be minimal as clear, concise
controls, backed up by appropriate guidance, tend to encourage like-for-like
repair or replacement in matching materials which do not require planning
permission. It also concluded that compensation claims arising from abortive
expenditure or for other loss or damage attributed to the withdrawal of
permitted development rights was extremely rare with no evidence of any
compensation payments actually being made. The Article 4 Directions served
on all properties in Leek, Rudyard and Oakamoor have resulted in no
compensation claims and very few applications.

1

As per The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and
Site Visits) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017

Page 220

Consultation
7.13 In accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement it is
proposed to consult the following individuals/groups:





Residents and local businesses in these areas (leaflet drop)
Relevant Parish Councils and Ward Councillors
Staffordshire County Council and other relevant public sector
organisations/ amenity groups
Key Council Officers

7.14 The documents listed in the appendices will be available to view on the
Council’s web site and copies will be available to view at Moorlands House.
It is recommended to delegate authority to the Head of Development
Services to make minor amendments to the Character Appraisals prior to the
public consultation. This will enable more up to date photographs to be used
in some cases than those currently incorporated into the versions appended
to this report.
7.15 It is proposed to consult on these proposals during September and October
and a further report outlining the findings of the consultation will be prepared
at the end of this period. The Council will also need to carefully consider the
potential resource implications as per above before any final decision is made
in relation to the introduction of Article 4 Directions.
7.16 It is anticipated that consultation on the remaining character appraisals for
Biddulph Grange, Cauldon Canal and Checkley will be undertaken next year,
and will be the subject of a future report.

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Form - PUBLIC
NAME OF COUNCIL

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

This assessment will be public and published on the council website. Please ensure that
any group who has been consulted to provide the information within this form has been
given sufficient feedback. Information within this assessment should provide the equality
implications in any relevant report and be available for members prior to any decisions in
relation to the content of this assessment.

SECTION 1: Initial Screening
Name of policy1 or function2 being assessed

Policy / Function Status

Conservation Area Character Appraisals and Article 4 Directions

New

Responsible Service Area

Date Form Completed

Development Services

12/07/2021

Lead Officer for this Assessment

Contact Number

Mark James

Ext. 3643

Is there likely to be an impact on:
Yes
the availability, eligibility, quality or cost
of a service to individuals, households,
communities or specific groups of
people
the quality of life of individuals,
households, communities or specific
groups of people
the opportunities for individuals,
X
households, communities or specific
groups of people to improve their lives in
some specific way

No
X

Possibly

X

If yes/possibly to any of the above questions then please complete section 2.
If No to all the above questions, please provide a brief explanation of why no further
consideration is required with regard to the Council’s equality duties.

1

Definition of policy = This can include policies, procedures, guidance, strategies and/or plans

Definition of function = Broad areas of activity, duties or powers – usually a service or set of services, including
services which are provided internally
1
2

Page 223

SECTION 2:
2.1: Identifying the aims of the policy or function
Summarise: the main aims, objectives and/or purpose and scope of the policy, practice,
service or function.
An Article 4 Direction gives local planning authorities the power to restrict permitted
development rights where they have the potential to undermine the protection of the historic
environment. This Direction brings certain types of development back under planning control so
that potentially harmful proposals can be considered case-by-case through a planning
application.

Who is/are the intended customer or beneficiary of this policy or function?
The local community will be the main beneficiary as the historic character of conservation areas
will be more strictly managed and protected by the Council

2

Page 224

2.2: Evidence of Impact
What evidence or data is being used to inform the Council’s understanding of the impact
of the decision about this policy or function on equality target groups? (Please list and
note where the evidence/data is held.)
Note: Evidence from consultation/engagement is particularly powerful. Please refer to the
guidance available on the intranet.
Consultation on the proposals is to be undertaken. An updated assessment of equalities
impacts can be undertaken following the consultation and prior to the Council making any final
decisions.
Are there gaps/weaknesses in the available evidence/data which limit our understanding
of the impact?
Yes
Detail: The proposals have not yet been subject to public consultation.
However, development that will require planning consent as a result of the Article 4
Directions will be determined in accordance with the Local Plan. The Local Plan was
subject to a detailed Equalities Impact Assessment.
If yes: How significant are these gaps?
Not Significant – can proceed to
X Justification: Approval is sought for public
decision
consultation at this stage. The Council will need to
review feedback and equalities impacts again prior to
making a decision about whether to implement Article
4 Directions.
Furthermore, it is not envisaged that there will be any
adverse impacts on protected groups.
Local Plan policies have already been subject to a
EqIA.

Significant but can proceed to
decision

Justification & action to be taken:

Significant and requires further
investigation prior to a decision
being made.

Summarise the plan of action:

3

Page 225

2.3: Assessment of impact
Taking into account all the evidence available to you indicate where you think that the
policy/function could have an intended or unintended negative impact on a particular group: i.e. it
could cause some disadvantage. Potential discrimination may be direct - i.e. treating someone
less favourably because of certain attributes of who they are or indirect i.e. when the proposed
practice, policy or procedure may have the effect of disadvantaging people who share certain
protected characteristics. Indicate where you think the policy/function could have an intended or
unintended positive impact on any of the groups to promoting diversity and equality. Where the
policy/function is not relevant to a particular group or has no potential impact indicate as neutral.
Please give reasons for each outcome:
Protected Groups

Negative
Impact

Positive
Impact

Neutral
Impact

Explain impact & state what
action can be taken (either to mitigate
negative impacts or enhance positive impacts) .

People of a
particular age such
as children, young
people, older people

X

People with
disabilities
including physical
disabilities, sensory
impairments, limiting
long-term illnesses,
learning disabilities
or mental health
difficulties
Racial / minority
ethnic groups?

X

Neutral impacts expected. Article 4
Directions will result in additional
works requiring planning consent
from the Council. However, the
Local Plan has already been subject
to an EqIA.
As above

X

As above

Women or men
including those living
in particular
communities
Pregnant women
or people on
maternity or
paternity leave or
breastfeeding
mothers.
A person’s marital
status including
civil partnership

X

As above

X

As above

X

As above

People with a
particular sexual
orientation

X

As above

People with
particular religion or
belief

X

As above

4

Page 226

Trans people or
people planning to
or going through
gender
reassignment

X

5

Page 227

As above

If there is potential for significant negative impacts on groups with protected characteristics which
either cannot be mitigated or where there is uncertainty about the efficacy of measures,
consideration should be given to consultation/engagement (or specific consultation and
engagement) with those groups of people who may/will be impacted. Please refer to the separate
guidance. If further consultation takes place then the Assessment of Impact above (2.3) should be
revised taking into account any additional evidence.
Is further information or consultation required to complete this assessment? Yes
If an adverse negative impact has been identified that cannot be fully mitigated, can it be
justified on grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for one group or for any other
reason? i.e. is it a proportionate response to achieve a legitimate and justified aim.
Please explain.
A further report will be provided after the public consultation when the Council will make a final
decision on the introduction of Article 4 Directions.

6

Page 228

2.4 Conclusion
It is currently considered that the proposals will have a neutral impact on protected groups but this
can be confirmed after the public consultation.

Signed (lead officer):
Date:

__Mark James________________________________________
12/07/2021

7

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Modern Gov – Consultation Implications Form
Do any of the following apply to this issue/report?
Consultation has already been completed.
The Council is
A new plan, service or policy
considering
Changing a current plan, service or policy.
Implementation of a current plan, service or policy.
The Council needs evidence about the impact of
changing external factors (demographic, economic,
public policy) on community needs, perceptions and
priorities.
The Council has sufficient evidence about
Evidence
community needs, perceptions and priorities on this
issue/ policy/ plan/service. (including those of people
with protected characteristics)
There is an indication that the public or sections of
the community are requesting changes to be made
to Council plans, services or policies. (Complaints,
petitions, Councillors ward information, MPs etc)
Changes
The Council has no or very little choice about
proposed are
implementation.
prescribed by
The Council has some/significant choice about
statute (the
implementation.
Council has a
Are there external agencies who could be impacted
duty to
significantly?
implement
Are there internal stakeholders (services) who could
change).
be impacted?
There is a statutory duty to consult on this issue/plan/policy/service.
And the type of consultation is prescribed.
Council
to undertake consultation on this issue.
policy is:
not to undertake consultation on this issue
It has been determined that a full equality impact assessment is required.

YES

NO
X

N/A

X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

What is the scale and impact changes being considered could have?
(mark with an X)
Little change
Significant changes
Individuals/groups
with protected
characteristics

X

Few individuals

Most Households

Is consultation required? If no please summarise the reason below:
Public consultation will be undertaken with: residents and local businesses in these
areas (leaflet drop), relevant Parish Councils and Ward Councillors, Staffordshire
County Council and other relevant public sector organisations/ amenity groups, key
Council Officers
If yes please refer to the Council’s consultation toolkit available on the intranet.

Page 231

This page is intentionally left blank

CO2/Sustainability Impact Assessment
Name of policy1 or function2 being assessed

Policy / Function
Status

Conservation Area Character Appraisals and Article 4
Directions
Responsible Service Area

Date Form Completed

Development Services
Lead Officer for this Assessment
Mark James

12/07/2021
Contact Number
Ext. 3643

CO2 levels
TRAVEL
Staff – work
Staff – home to
work
Agents
Suppliers
Customers
Community
BALANCE

New

MILES -/+

MODE -/+

MATERIALS
Materials -quantity
Materials - type
Source
Waste
Supplier standards

-ve

+ve

ENERGY
Use (Buildings)
Source
Use
(Tools/processes)

-ve

+ve

RESILIENCE to
impact of climate
change

-ve

+ve

Summary

BIODIVERSITY

-ve

+ve

Summary

1

CO2 Impact

Definition of policy = This can include policies, procedures, guidance, strategies and/or plans

Definition of function = Broad areas of activity, duties or powers – usually a service or set of
services, including services which are provided internally
2

Page 233

Summary of
impact
Justification
Measures
proposed

Risk
Mitigation

Page 234

Caverswall

Conservation Area

Consultation Edition

Appraisal

Page 235

Contents
1

Introduction .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1

2

Location and Setting .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 3

3

Historic Development and Archaeology .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6

4

Character Analysis  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9

5

Community Involvement .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 28

APPENDICES
Appendix 1
List of buildings of special architectural or historic interest
MAPS
Map 1 Caverswall Conservation Area
Map 2 Villagescape analysis
Map 3 Yates’ Map of 1795
Map 4 1st Edition OS Map 1890-91
PRINTED SOURCES
Pitt W. (1817) A Topographical History of Staffordshire
Rogers, M.J.W. (2000) The Spirit of the Place: A ‘Factional’ Account of the
Parish of Caverswall
Note: This character appraisal is not intended to be comprehensive and
omission of any particular building, feature or space should not be taken
to imply that it is of no special interest.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Yates’ Map of Staffordshire reproduced by kind permission of Staffordshire
County Record Society.
Figure 2: Drawing reproduced with kind permission of the William Salt
Library.

Page 236

Caverswall

Conservation Area

1 Introduction
Summary of Interest

The Conservation Area Boundary

1.1

The Conservation Area was designated on 25th
July 1970. It seeks to preserve and enhance this
small but distinctive historic settlement which
retains its remote rural feel despite its proximity
to the suburbs of Stoke-on-Trent. The area is
characterised by its central feature, The Square,
with its tree-shaded village stocks, and the
Caverswall Castle Estate. The village has not
grown substantially beyond its medieval extent and
retains a cohesive identity in terms of its historic
plan form, buildings and materials.

1.3

1.2

Map 1 identifies the Conservation Area boundary.
This appraisal should be read in conjunction with
the Villagescape Analysis (Map 2). Both are at the
rear of the document.

Fig. 1

The boundary focuses on the village centre where
the buildings and property boundaries have
changed very little in the last 250 years. The village
is essentially linear running north south but with
The Square midway along its length, from which
roads radiate in four directions (Fig. 1). The
boundary includes properties fronting the High
Street, as far north as Bank House, and south
along Blythe Bridge Road, as far as Dove House
Farm. To the west the Castle Estate as far as West
Lodge is included along with properties fronting
The Hollow to the east.

Purpose of the Document
1.3

This document is an analysis of the characteristics
that make the Caverswall Conservation Area
worthy of preserving. It aims to:
•

Evaluate and record the historical significance
of the area.

•

Identify features of villagescape and landscape
importance.

•

Communicate what requires to be protected,
and to

•

Serve as a basis for schemes of preservation
and enhancement.

The Square, Caverswall

Page
1 237

Caverswall
1.4

1.5

Conservation Area

It is intended that the document will enable
those living and working in the area to appreciate
and value its special qualities, and to prepare
development proposals which complement
the surrounding built heritage. It will also be
used by the Local Authority to assess planning
applications, and to prepare the management
plan for the area, which may include proposals
for enhancement schemes. Other local authority
departments and statutory undertakers are
required to have regard to the need to preserve
and enhance conservation areas and this document
should assist in formulating proposals for
Caverswall.
The appraisal documents will be periodically
reviewed and updated.

The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020)
contains policies relating to Conservation Areas
and other heritage assets as well as policies
on design and landscape character. Allowing
only suitable development which would secure
the future conservation of a heritage asset in
accordance with Policy DC2. .

1.7

Implications of Designation
1.8

Planning Background
1.6

The Staffordshire Moorlands currently has 17
Conservation Areas, excluding the area covered
by the Peak District National Park. Government
guidance now requires each Conservation Area to
have a character appraisal and management plan to
provide a basis for making sustainable decisions.

Conservation Areas are protected under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. This primary legislation requires
proposals that need planning permission to
preserve or enhance the special architectural or
historic interest of the area.
National planning policy for the historic
environment is all contained within one overarching document, the National Planning Policy
Framework (2018). This embodies a holistic view
of the historic environment and is designed to
ensure that decisions are not made in isolation
without first considering the significance of the
particular aspects of the historic environment
and then addressing economic, social and
environmental sustainability issues. The NPPF
should be read alongside the Planning Practice
Guide ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic
Environment’ which gives more detailed advice on
Conservation Area designation and management.
Historic England also provides further detailed
guidance.

Page 2238

Designation seeks to preserve and enhance the
character and appearance of Conservation Areas
by imposing additional controls over:
•

The location and design of new development

•

The size of extensions for which Planning
Permission is needed

•

Certain minor works (e.g. roof alterations,
cladding, satellite dishes)

•

Demolition of buildings, gates, walls, fences
and railings

•

Work to trees

•

Advertisements

1.9

Planning Permission will only be granted for
development which preserves or enhances the
character or appearance of the Conservation Area
in accordance with planning policies. The Council
offers a application advice service for guidance
on development proposals to ensure that the
special character of the area is considered at an
early stage in the planning process and to assist in
achieving the best outcome for applicants and the
heritage. More detailed design guidance notes and
technical publications are also available to assist in
specifying work affecting historic buildings.

1.10

Where the Council considers that the appearance
of an area is being harmed by unsympathetic
alterations to houses in Conservation Areas it
may serve an Article 4(2) Direction on selected
properties. This requires that certain external
alterations to a building will need Planning
Permission, such as new doors, windows, painting
or rendering of the exterior and the demolition of
boundaries.

1.11

Conservation Area status also means that the
Council can offer grant aid for the repair and
enhancement of buildings or areas. If funds
become available it will prepare enhancement
schemes for those areas where this is considered
necessary.

1.12

Public consultation will be undertaken for any
proposals to enhance an area or to introduce
additional controls.

2 Location and Setting
2.1

Caverswall lies in the south of the Staffordshire
Moorlands District, about 4 miles southwest of
Cheadle and 1 mile north of Blythe Bridge. No
main roads pass through the village.

General Character and Plan Form
2.2

Caverswall lies within an undulating pastoral
landscape near to the source of the River Blythe,
which flows about 300m to the west. The village
follows gently rising ground just above the river
floodplain. It is a small farming community
retaining several farm complexes and has a
close association with the surrounding land. The
character and plan form of the village have been
substantially influenced by the 13th century castle,
and its medieval plan form has altered little due
to its remoteness from main transportation routes.
The plan form is distinctive with its north south
linear street interrupted at The Square from where
roads exiting each corner are staggered limiting
through views.

Page
3 239

Landscape Setting
2.3

The village is surrounded by open fields subdivided
by hedgerows, mature isolated trees and small
woodland copses (see Fig. 2-5). There are dispersed
farm groupings around the village linked by a
network of narrow lanes. To the east of the village
the land rises, and buildings generally stand above
the road with views of fields and trees behind. To
the west the land levels out with open fields
leading towards the river, and beyond the urban
conurbation of Stoke on Trent is clearly seen. This
low-lying area of land is historically associated
with the medieval castle estate and was laid out
with a series of fishponds and dams. The exact
extent of these is not known and requires further
investigation. This area is also an important visual
open break to preserve the rural character of the
village.

Fig. 3: View from West Lodge across
fishponds towards High Street

Fig. 4: Distant view of Caverswall from the west

Fig. 2: View from the cemetery across Church Terrace
towards Caverswall Castle

Fig.5: High Street from the playing fields

Page 4240

Key Views
2.4

The staggering of roads leaving The Square
prevents through views which are instead closed by
buildings at the opposite corners. Views outward
are similarly confined to short lengths arising from
curves or staggers in the roads.

2.5

Views into the village are also distinctive, showing
the abrupt transition between the countryside and
built area. At the far end of High Street the
entrance to the village is marked at the brow of the
hill where the sunken tree-lined lane quickly
transforms into a linear view of buildings along the
street. The abrupt start to the village is also seen at
Hollow Lane, where the view opens out into The
Square from an enclosed green corridor. On the
approach along Blythe Bridge Road the Dove
House Farm complex features prominently in this
view (Fig.6 and need updated photo}.

Fig. 6: Southern approach to the village with Dove House
Farm in the foreground

2.6

The Castle is not readily seen from within the
village but its dramatic silhouette framed by
mature trees can be seen in distant views from
Blythe Bridge Road to the south of the
Conservation Area, and from School Lane to the
west (Fig. 7). The Castle buildings buttressed by
the lower garden walls and corner towers are
complimented by the silhouette of St Peter’s
Church and surrounding mature trees. The closest
views of the Castle are from Church Terrace across
St Peter’s Churchyard or through the East Lodge
entrance towards the gatehouse, and are best seen
in winter.

Fig.7: The Castle entrance from Church Terrace

Page
5 241

3 Historic Development and Archaeology
Settlement History
3.1

The Domesday Book of 1086 identifies the manors
of Caverswall, and Weston Coyney and Hulme,
which lay within the Parish of Caverswall. The
Manor House, later the Castle, primarily served as
the administrative centre of the agricultural estate
that comprised Caverswall Manor.

3.2

Robert Plot’s map of Staffordshire in 1686 shows
Caverswall Castle and St Peter’s Church. In the
medieval period the inhabitants of the village
worked the land around Caverswall which was
arranged into three large open fields, divided into
strips, which were worked in rotation. These fields
were enclosed by agreement some time before the
18th century but the remains of one open field can
still be seen on the east side of Blythe Bridge Road
opposite Dove House Farm. Here the land is still
divided into long narrow strips. To the north of the
village lay Wetley Moor, a huge area of common
land (waste) encompassing 5000 acres.

3.3

Yates’ map (Map 3) shows a substantial linear
settlement running north from St Peter’s Church
and Caverswall Castle. Whilst The Square cannot
be identified, a minor lane runs southwest to
Cooks Hill and an offset road to the southwest
runs up to the common. During the 17th century
the Staffordshire Hearth Tax (1666) provides
useful information about the size of the village.
Caverswall Castle is listed as having 20 hearths,
and 5 other buildings had 5 hearths, representing
the houses of lesser gentry. Eight houses had 2-3
hearths (yeoman farmers) and 14 had just 1 hearth
(husbandmen). The poor were excused payment
and not included on the list. The Stone House and
rendered stone houses facing Church Terrace with
the remains of mullioned windows date from this
period.

Map 3: Caverswall as mapped by Yates in 1775. Moorland is shown stippled

Page 6242

3.4

The 1896 Ordnance Survey Map (Map 4)
indicates that little had changed since Yates’ Map
in terms of the siting and number of buildings.
It is assumed, however, that many of the older
properties will have been rebuilt/refaced with
timber framing replaced by brick and tile. Of note,
The Square had been formed with the realignment
of the road leading from the common. Several of
the red brick Victorian villas had been constructed
to the east side of Church Terrace, along with a
school and cemetery.

3.5

The map clearly shows the castle grounds with its
moat, corner towers, and lodges marking the access
points.

Map 4: 1st Edition OS Map 1890-91

Page
7 243

Caverswall Castle
3.6

The Castle has been in existence since about 1275
when William de Caverswall was granted a licence
to crenellate his manor house. It is thought that
only the square mound and lower part of the
curtain wall remain of this original structure as it
was rebuilt c.1620 by Matthew Craddock, a wool
merchant and mayor of Stafford. He built a
splendid three-storey symmetrical building facing
south over a terraced ornamental garden. It is
thought that the architect was Robert Smythson
(c.1535-1614) whose works include Wollaton Hall
(Nottingham) and Hardwick Hall (Derbyshire).
Mark Giroud in his book ‘Robert Smythson and
the Elizabethan Country House’ (1983) suggests
that unused plans for Slingsby Castle in Malton
(Yorkshire) were reused in modified form at
Caverswall. It has many elements of the Slingsby
plan including a basement kitchen, moated walls
and towers enclosing a garden, a small gatehouse, a
bridge across the moat, and an entrance porch
between the two bays. The idea was to mimic a
mediaeval castle with its keep but there is no show
of medieval detail. The chimney shafts and porch
are of classical design and the corner towers and
house are (or were) capped with classical
balustrading, of the same form as that at
Hardwick.

Matthew Craddock was also responsible for
rebuilding St Peter’s Church, stripping the
building of its medieval features.
3.7

Matthew Craddock, a staunch Parliamentarian,
died in 1641. His widow was still in occupation
when the building was fortified and garrisoned
during the civil war but fortunately it witnessed no
fighting and avoided damage.

3.8

Between 1811 and 1853 the Castle was occupied
by a Convent. The nuns, who had emigrated from
France, are listed in the 1851 census returns.
This time saw a period of intense religious rivalry
between the Catholics and Anglicans and the
nuns were accompanied by a priest who was soon
conducting local services. This led to the building
of St Filumena’s Chapel (1863-64) on a prominent
site in front of the Castle alongside the Anglican
Church.

3.9

Caverswall Castle was put up for sale in 1853 and
the contents auctioned. It changed hands several
times but in 1890 it was bought by WE Bowers
Esq., who made substantial alterations. A new east
wing was added of two floors, a billiards room with
a bedroom suite above, all designed by Charley
Lynam, architect of Stoke on Trent, in keeping
with the Jacobean house. He also built the lodges
at the two entrance gates, a new stable block, and
improved the gardens.

Fig. 8: Drawing of Caverswall Castle

Page 8244

3.10

3.11

After Bowers died in 1932 the Castle was again
occupied by a religious order. They left in the
1970’s and the building was subsequently divided,
with the wing built in the 1890’s occupied as a
separate house.
Caverswall Castle is a Grade I Listed Building and
is the only non-ecclesiastical building of this grade
in the District.

Archaeological significance and
potential of the area
3.12

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments in
the Conservation Area. However, the Castle and
associated earthwork is of considerable importance.

3.13

Up to date information on Archaeology can
be found at the Historic Environment Record
maintained by Staffordshire County Council.

Fig. 9: View north towards The Red House

4 Character Analysis
4.1

4.2

The Conservation Area includes several areas with
a distinctive character:
•

The Square

•

High Street

•

Church Terrace & Blythe Bridge Road

• The Castle Estate
The description of each area should be read in
conjunction with the Villagescape Analysis Map
(Map 2). This identifies key historic buildings and
features that help define the special interest of
the area. Listed buildings are underlined in the
text and statutory descriptions are included in the
appendix.

The Square
4.2

The Square is the most distinctive feature of the
centre of the village, enclosed by buildings of great
variety in terms of their appearance, scale and
materials (Fig. 9 & 10).

Fig. 10: View south towards Church Terrace

Page
9 245

4.3

The south side is enclosed by cottages set
behind small front gardens. Despite more recent
alterations the stone porch and remains of an
earlier stone gable on Green Man Cottage indicate
a much earlier historic core.

4.4

To the west a continuous range of elegant terraced
cottages of various heights stand hard against the
road, limiting views through to the former castle
outbuildings at the rear. These buildings are of
great historic interest with a wealth of period
detailing. No.4 The Square (Fig.11) is an attractive
rendered brick building with sash windows,
painted wedged heads and low pitched pediment
over the central door. No.5 alongside, and the
Wesleyan Chapel are an important part of the
setting of this building. Early photographs show
an elegant shopfront inserted into this range and
several buildings are seen without render.

Fig.12: The Stone House
4.6

Fig.11: No. 4 The Square
4.5

The Red House pub, enclosing the north side of
The Square, is a grand red brick and tile house
with porch, ornate projecting windows, and
prominent brick outbuildings to the rear and
turning the corner into High Street. Commanding
a more elevated position at the junction of The
Square and The Hollow is Stone House, a tall and
narrow 17th century building of ashlar stone.

Page10246

The Stone House (Fig.12) commands a fine
setting and its rear garden bounded by a high
hedge above a bank forms the remaining side to
The Square. Stone House may well be one of the
oldest structures remaining in the village. Its style
is that of the late Tudor period but little is known
about its origins. The masonry shows blocked
openings to a semi-basement storey below the
present ground floor, whilst hood and drip moulds
at higher levels remain from earlier windows.
Much affected by modern alterations the building
is worthy of sympathetic restoration to become
the focal point of the village square. Attached
to the side of Stone House, facing The Hollow,
is a row of cottages also of early date, although
much historic detail has either been masked by
render or replaced by alterations, such as the loss
of traditional windows. The form and siting of the
buildings contribute positively to the character and
appearance of the area, although the piecemeal loss
of front gardens to create car hardstandings has
diminished their setting.

4.7

In the centre of the Square is a small raised stone
island with a lone tree and stocks beneath. This
used to form a focal point for gatherings. The
impact of this distinctive feature is diminished by
the lack of definition around the island and clutter
of street furniture. Because of tight enclosure the
building frontages are prominent and changes to
historic detailing are conspicuous.

Roads leaving The Square
4.8

The siting of the roads at the corners of The Square
limits outward views and increases the enclosure.
To the west the road leaving The Square past the
Red House crosses the shallow valley of the River
Blythe on an embankment (Fig. 13). This is
bordered on the south side by the high red brick
garden wall and mature trees defining the northern
perimeter of the former grounds of Caverswall
Castle. The name of this road ‘The Dams’ suggests
that it was used to contain water diverted from the
river towards the Castle moat and fishponds. The
medieval fishponds are thought to have extended
to the north side of the road with a further ancient
dam embankment still visible along the perimeter
of the playing fields. A distinctive feature of the
road is the abrupt finish to the settlement,
reinforcing its rural setting despite its proximity to
the suburban fringes of Stoke on Trent. This green
break, which has been diluted by the construction
of the village hall, is vital to the setting of the
Conservation Area.

Fig.13: View towards The Dams

Fig. 14: View towards The Hollow

Fig. 15: Towards High Street

Page
11 247

4.9

The Dams contrasts sharply with the road from
the opposite corner of The Square ‘The Hollow’
which is a narrow sunken lane lined with mature
trees and rock outcrops (Fig. 14). It climbs steeply
away from The Square towards Dilhorne.

Fig. 16: View towards Church Terrace
4.10

Contrasts also occur in the lanes leading from the
north and south sides of The Square where the
pleasant informality of cottages and small terraces
on High Street compares with the larger, more
dignified buildings on Blythe Bridge Road (Fig 15
& 16).

High Street
4.11

High Street is characterised by small cottages and
short terraced rows dating from the 17th to 19th
centuries with red brick, render or colourwashed
walls, and Staffordshire blue clay tiles throughout
(Fig 17 & 18). Many buildings are set gable end to
the street or front the street directly with
prominent and widespread boundaries of drystone
walling and hedging enclosing small gardens. The
street is narrow without pavements, and the rising
land to the east results in high roadside banks and
walls with buildings set above the road. The
narrowness, coupled with gentle curves and subtle
changes in building alignment is typical of a
medieval street pattern.

Fig.17 & 18: The informal arrangement of buildings
flanking the roadside
4.12

Page12248

The pleasant informal character of this street can
be appreciated at the northern entrance to the
village. Alongside stands Bank House, a tall red
brick farmhouse of early 19th century date
standing back from the road at high level with a
tree-crowned ridge behind (Fig.20). Beyond to the
south is a range of attractive cottages also set back
from the road on raised ground behind front
gardens (Fig.19). Because of their elevated position
the creation of vehicular hardstandings, with
associated retaining walls and large gaps in the
front boundaries, has affected the character and
appearance of the area. These buildings are also
vulnerable to front extensions which disrupt the
building line and uniformity of proportion and
detailing.

4.15

Fig.19 Away from the village centre buildings stand back
from the road on higher ground.

Whilst Bank House is the most distinctive and
prominent building along High Street the main
attraction of the area is the collective value of the
buildings with their strong uniformity in materials,
form, massing and random siting. The buildings
are small in scale and articulated into separate
building forms with variety in ridge height. The
gentle slope of the road results in a staggering of
the building heights, and curves in the road give
variety to alignment. Whilst most of the buildings
are 18th or 19th century, several are likely to be
of earlier date but historic detailing has been
masked by render and later alterations. Distinctive
lintels and brick detailing can be seen on several
buildings.

Church Terrace & Blythe Bridge Road
4.16

The buildings running to the south of The Square
command a greater presence and dignity owing to
the grouping of larger public buildings, the
proximity of Caverswall Castle, and an extensive
use of fine stone walling (Fig.21).

Fig.20: Bank House
4.13

The open fields alongside and behind the houses
on High Street emphasize the rural, dispersed
nature of the settlement, and allow views into
the surrounding landscape. This is particularly
apparent to the eastern side where the land is
elevated.

4.14

The distinctive character of this area is at risk from
the loss of front boundaries and the creation of
hardstandings. The replacement of boundaries in
unsuitable modern material including blockwork
and modern brick, larch lap fencing and railings
is also incrementally affecting the historic interest
of the area. In places boundaries are now too low
or removed, allowing views of domestic clutter in
gardens. Most properties have been affected by
replacement windows and doors in modern styles
and materials, which harms the historic identity
and sense of place.

Fig.21: Grouping of St Filumena’s Church, East Lodge
and the boundary wall to St Peter’s Church

Page
13 249

4.17

Leading from The Square the road gently slopes
away with stone and brick walling to both sides
limiting outward views. The raised stone pavement
running to St Filumena’s and St Peter’s Church is
a distinctive feature, together with numerous
mature trees. St Filumena’s Church (1863-64) with
its rusticated ashlar masonry, buttressed walls and
tapering bell turret stands above the raised
pavement beyond its meeting hall. The view along
this stretch of road is closed by the stepping out of
the boundary to St Peter’s Churchyard and its
ancient yew trees (Fig.22). The east entrance to
Caverswall Castle from Church Terrace also leads
from this point through a narrow gateway flanked
by stone gate piers past the Tudor-style lodge, and
beneath the towering beech trees, to the Castle
barbican.

Fig. 23: St Peter’s Church with Caverswall Castle in the
background
4.19

Alongside St Peter’s Church the extensive range
of brick and tiled buildings at Dove House Farm
form an abrupt delineation to the churchyard.
Dove House Farmhouse is a fine late Georgian
building of red brick and tile, with sash windows
and a classical doorway. The building faces southeast with an interesting low range of brick and
stone outbuildings along the roadside which
enclose a yard. The outbuildings are of great
interest with pre-18th century origins and show
many phases of alteration.

4.20

Dove House Farm is conspicuous on the approach
to the village from Blythe Bridge and clearly
defines its entrance (Fig.24 & 25).

Fig.22: Church Terrace showing the stepping out of the
churchyard
4.18

The outline of the parish church is low and squat
with little elaborate detail. The Church dates from
the 12th and 13th century but substantially altered
in the 17th century and restored in 1880. The
churchyard is filled with interesting slab and tomb
memorials and complimented in the street view by
the somber form and colour of the yew trees and
its heavy ashlar walling. From the churchyard one
is aware of the heavy tree cover encircling the
Castle immediately alongside, but in winter
enticing views of the Castle frontage and its corner
towers are revealed (Fig.23).

Page14250

Their character is further at risk from alterations
such as the removal of front gardens and walling
to create car hardstandings, and the addition of
porches.

Fig. 24: Entering the village alongside Dove House Farm

Fig. 26: 17th Century properties on Church Terrace (Old
Dove House Farm and Nos. 1 & 2 Church Terrace)

Fig. 25: Dove House Farm
4.21

On the eastern side of Church Terrace the
buildings are an interesting mixture of smaller
terraced cottages and detached houses facing the
street. The buildings vary in date from the 17th
century through to the 19th century and all are set
back from the road behind small front gardens,
retained by heavy stone walls. Nos.1 & 2 Church
Terrace, Church House and Old Dove House
Farm are of 17th century origin, and beneath hard
cement render fine ashlar stone and the outlines of
blocked mullioned windows can be seen (Fig.26).
No.1 Church Terrace has a date stone of 1633.
The narrow gables and steeply pitched roofs and
part-masked historic detailing demonstrate that
these buildings are of great age and status. These
buildings make a valuable contribution to the
character and appearance of the area but have lost
most original windows and doors and several have
been extensively rendered.

Fig.27: Rear of Old Dove House Farm

Page
15 251

Caverswall Castle
4.24

Fig.28: Track leading up to cemetery
4.22

4.23

Interesting views of the rear of these 17th century
properties can be gained from the track leading
to the cemetery, flanked with high quality stone
walling (Fig. 27 & 28). From this elevated position
one can view the long narrow plots running
behind these properties, together with historic
farm buildings and fields. These fields together
with those running right up to the road frontage
are an important reminder of the mediaeval strip
farming system around the village. From this
vantage point more distant views of the wooded
skyline surrounding the Churches and Castle are
also significant.
Alongside the cemetery is St Filumena’s RC
School, constructed in 1862 but now much
altered and extended. It is accessed via a separate
track running from alongside the Presbytery,
a prominent Victorian building with elegant
chimneys and finials. The first village school
was built by subscription in 1824 on land given
by Thomas Hawe Parker, Lord of the Manor.
Documentary records suggest that this building
now forms part of the outbuildings at Old Dove
House Farm.

The Caverswall Castle estate occupies a large part
of the western Conservation Area but due to a
cloak of mature trees is not readily viewed from
within the village. Only in winter can more
extensive views of the Castle be gained. More
distant views are afforded from Blythe Bridge
Road, where the Castle’s dramatic silhouette is
framed by mature trees with the farm buildings at
Dove House Farm in the foreground. The estate
can also be viewed from the western approaches to
the village, and glimpses afforded through thick
vegetation alongside The Dams and from Church
Terrace (Fig.30).

Fig. 30: View of Castle across St Peter’s Churchyard

Fig. 31: Entrance via West Lodge

Page16252

4.25

The entrance to the Castle from Blythe Bridge
Road leads through impressive gates flanked by
Tudor-style East lodge (1890) and St Philomena’s
Catholic Church, and beneath towering beech
trees to the Castle barbican (Fig.31). West Lodge
marks the entrance to the Castle estate from
School Lane and is a similarly designed Tudor
lodge of the same date with fine gate piers. This
western approach leads along a tree-lined raised
drive past ponds and water courses, disappearing
out of public view towards the Castle. The raised
setting of the Castle with its corner towers and
moated garden landscape give it a dramatic
presence, but the mature trees now afford the
Castle greater privacy than was originally intended.

4.26

The former stables, coach house and kitchen
gardens are sited to the north of the Castle beyond
the moat and are now in separate residential use.
The lodges, the gatehouse and the tall red brick
kitchen garden walls along The Dams have more
presence in the streetscene.

4.27

Works were undertaken to the Castle in the 1970’s
and the building was subsequently divided, with
the wing built in the 1890’s occupied as a separate
house. The extensions and alterations undertaken
at the rear of the Castle in the 1970’s fit poorly
with the architecture and materials of the building
and it would be desirable in the future to look at
ways of mitigating the impact of these works.

Local Building Materials
Timber
4.28

Many of the early buildings in the village will have
been of timber frame construction. However, with
a substantial amount of refronting and rebuilding
in the 18th and 19th centuries, the majority
will have been replaced with buildings of more
substantial construction and no visible timber
framing survives. Some buildings may well contain
remnant timber framing especially to interior
walling which was still built in this way well into
the 18th century.

Stone
4.29

Rocky outcrops of Hollington Stone can be seen
at the outer limits of the village at The Hollow
and the far end of High Street, where sunken
lanes cut through into the bedrock. Locally
quarried Hollington stone provides a range of
good building stones and has been used widely
throughout the village. Hollington stone varies
in colour from creamy white through to pink and
brown, and all colours are present in the village.
The stone tends to have an even texture and is
easily worked.

4.30

Although Caverswall’s buildings today are
predominantly of brick construction, finely dressed
Hollington stone (ashlar) has been widely used for
higher status buildings such as Caverswall Castle,
its lodges and estate walling, St Peter’s and St
Filumena’s Churches and Stone House. Several
buildings fronting Church Terrace are also of
stone but now regrettably covered in hard cement
render. On the highest status buildings the ashlar
is finely cut with tight joints and herringbone
tooling. Other buildings, especially outbuildings,
are constructed from coursed rubble stone, whilst
on later brick buildings cut stone is used sparingly
for cills and lintels and other detailing.

Page
17 253

4.31

Stone is widely used throughout the village for
boundary walls of which ashlar is used for higher
status walls and drystone walling elsewhere.

4.32

Hollington stone is still available locally and the
colour, texture, and detailing needs to be carefully
specified. Satisfactory results are only achieved
with natural materials which weather well and
display the subtle variations in colour. This is
difficult to match in artificial materials.

4.35

Early bricks were locally made and historic maps
show marl pits to the south-east with a brick
works along Blythe Bridge Road just beyond the
village.

4.36

Some of the brickwork has been rendered during
the 20th century which often adversely affects the
historic character and appearance of the buildings.

Roofing
4.37

Brick
4.33

By the mid-18th century brick was in regular use
in urban areas, and became widely used in the
19th century. Caverswall is no exception. During
this period many early buildings particularly those
of lower status will have been replaced/refronted
in brick and a number of these have since been
rendered or colourwashed. Cottages, particularly
along High Street, are simple brick forms with
stone lintels and cills. Elsewhere a number of
more elaborate Victorian buildings have been
constructed such as The Presbytery, Dove House
Farm, The Red House and Bank House.

4.34

Most brick buildings in the village are constructed
of handmade stock bricks varying in colour
from orange through to deep red. The texture is
also variable but generally smooth with slight
imperfections and coarse aggregate. Most walling
is laid in stretcher bond with some Flemish
bond, and all of one colour. Only the Presbytery
introduces some patterned brickwork. Modern
mass-produced, machine made bricks have an
even colour and texture that may have a harsh
appearance. New bricks can be readily sourced
for alterations and new build, but care is needed
to ensure that the colour, texture, brick size and
bonding are matched

Until the 19th century many roofs in both town
and country were of thatch. This was thick and on
stone and early brick houses contained within
copings on each gable. When a roof was altered or
extended the copings would generally be reinstated
on the new gable. Although several buildings in
Caverswall date back to the 17th and 18th century
later alterations often conceal their age and most
copings have long since been removed. They
survive at The Stone House and rear wings at Old
Dove House Farm but have been removed on the
main house (Fig.32).

Fig.32: Stone copings rear of
Old Dove House Farm

Page18254

4.38

The characteristic roof pitch of 17th and 18th
century buildings was around 40 degrees and when
thatch was replaced with tiles side walls might be
raised by three or four courses to give greater
headroom and a shallower roof pitch, but the
narrow gables often remained unaltered. Evidence
of this is seen on the gable of Green Man Cottage
fronting The Square where the original stone gable
has been raised in height with brick, and the
copings repositioned (Fig.33). Stone slates were
used on better quality housing but none survive in
Caverswall.

4.40

Dormers are not a regular feature of local
vernacular buildings in the Moorlands. Exceptions
are several Victorian buildings with dormers
which rise from the eaves, typical of pattern book
housing of the period.

4.41

Most vernacular buildings in the area tend to have
plain flush verges with little decorative brickwork
around the eaves, verges and chimneys. Fig.34
gives examples of local eaves and verge details.
Only the elaborate Victorian villas have more
extravagant decoration with overhanging eaves and
verges, often with bargeboards.

Fig.33: Raised gable on Green Man Cottage
4.39

The 19th century witnessed the mass production
and distribution of the Staffordshire Blue clay
roofing tiles from the Potteries, now regarded as
the typical local roofing material. Early tiles were
handmade with a distinctive camber and rougher
texture whilst later machine made tiles have a
more even profile and smooth sheen. Welsh slate
also became available in the late 19th century but
because of the availability of clay tiles was not
widely used in the area. Most roofs in Caverswall
are laid using plain Staffordshire Blue clay tiles.
Only St Filumena’s Church uses more decorative
acorn tiles laid in alternate bands with plain tiles,
typical of more exuberant Victorian buildings. A
roof pitch of about 35 degrees is required to fix
clay tiles which gives the characteristic narrow
gable and steeply pitched roof.
Fig. 34: Local eaves and verge details

Page
19 255

4.44

Local Details
Windows
4.42

The village has an interesting mix of traditional
window designs, predominantly vertically sliding
sash windows and several designs of side hung
casements. Unfortunately, it is largely only the
Listed Buildings which have retained period
windows with the rest having modern joinery of
variable quality, diminishing the historic interest of
the individual building and villagescape as a whole.

4.43

Caverswall Castle and The Stone House are
both essentially 17th century and have stone
mullioned windows. Historically these will have
had leaded lights applied directly into the surround
or set within a metal frame to allow an opening
casement. The Castle retains the majority of the
original mullioned and transomed windows with
some leaded lights (of various dates). Several
windows to the small towers retain early diamond
pane leaded lights with original glass, a rare find.
Some stained glass is also found in the Castle. The
Stone House has suffered from alterations to its
windows with the enlargement of some openings
and the replacement of leaded lights with stained
timber and mock leading. No.1 Church Terrace
and Old Dove House Farm also show the remains
of stone mullion windows in the gable and rear
demonstrating the age of the property (Fig.35f).
The reinstatement of these features would be
welcomed.

By the 18th century glass was cheaper and
windows became larger, more vertically
proportioned, and the openings framed by plain or
decorative lintels and cills. These were designed to
take wooden frames with side-hung casements or
vertical sliding sashes. No.4 The Square has
attractive 3 over 3 pane sash windows with side
hung casements alongside (Fig.35b & 36).

Fig.35: Local window details

Fig.35b

Page20256

4.45

Many historic buildings in the Conservation Area
have suffered damaging alterations from
replacement windows. Top-hung opening
windows, storm-proof casements and double
glazing are a creation of the 20th century and
cannot replicate the fine joinery details of
traditional windows. This damage is exacerbated by
failing to match the subdivision of original
windows, constructing frames in inappropriate
materials such as upvc, and staining rather than
painting (the traditional finish). This is particularly
harmful for the terraces of cottages where the
unified elegance is ruined by piecemeal alteration.

Fig.35c
Dove House Farm also retains fine smaller pane
sash windows (Fig.35c).
Bank House has distinctive cruciform windows
with clear-glazed side-hung casements below
smaller panes subdivided with fine glazing bars
(Fig.35d).
In Caverswall most window openings are framed
with simple stone cills and lintels, a few properties
such as the rear of Dove House Farm have brick
segmental arched heads.

Fig.35e

Fig.35d

Fig.35f

Page
21 257

Dove House Farm has a modern front door but
retains its painted stone Tuscan doorcase and a
simpler plank door at the rear. Bank House Farm
has a pedimented Tuscan porch. Within the
village there has been widespread replacement of
doors and few replicate traditional detailing. The
insertion of upvc doors and modern off-the-peg
designs are particularly harmful. Poorly selected
replacement doors are eroding the character of the
area and particularly harmful when inserted into
the rows of cottages. Surviving historic doors have
a patina and charm that is not easily replicated.

Doors
4.46

Surviving traditional doors in the village are a
mixture of panelled doors and vertically boarded
doors. Historically, the simpler historic buildings
generally have vertically boarded (plank) doors.
The width of the boarding and moulding is often
a guide to their age. Panelled exterior doors are
common for higher status houses, and are often
used for the front door in contrast to plank doors
at the rear. Today this distinction is less clear with
many replacement doors and a tendency to favour
panelled doors for residential properties.

4.47

Few historic doors survive in the Conservation
Area and it is more common to find only a
surviving door surround or doorcase. No.4 The
Square has an elegant period door with an
attractive low pitched pediment supported on
console brackets (Fig.36).

Chimneys and porches
4.48

The number and position of the chimneys is an
essential feature in historic buildings, reflecting the
date, interior design, and the relative wealth of the
owner. Caverswall Castle has prominent chimneys
serving stacks set inside building and a series of
hearths on each floor. More humble buildings were
likely to have one hearth with a central stack. By
the mid-18th century smaller houses began to
have more than one heated room, each with a
chimney breast for a coal fire, and served by gable
end chimneys.

Fig.36: Door to No.4 The Square and canopy to adjoining
property

Fig.37: Chimneys at The Presbytery

Page22258

4.49

Chimney stacks are a distinctive element in the
roofscape of the village with the majority being
brick simple stacks set on the ridge without
decoration. The Presbytery has dramatic twisted
stacks and Bank Farmhouse has decorative
oversailing courses. Many stacks have been
disfigured by poor rebuilding and truncating.
Others have been removed altogether.

4.50

Porches are not generally a feature of vernacular
buildings in the District and historically were
limited to wealthy 17th and 18th century houses.
Farmhouses and cottages generally had internal
lobbies instead. In Caverswall the only examples of
traditional porches are on later Victorian buildings
such as The Presbytery and The Red House pub.

Boundaries
4.52

The status of a house and its owner were mirrored
in the garden walls. Mortared or ashlar walling
with well-tooled coping stones and decorative
gateposts were provided for gentry houses, and dry
stone and brick walls with simple coping stones or
hedges are typical of farmhouses and cottages.

4.53

Boundaries within the village are a significant and
defining feature and the material, design and finish
still closely relates to the status of the property.
Significant boundary features are identified on
Map 2. Along High Street dry stone walling is the
predominant material and in places the wall acts as
a retaining wall with a hedge above.

4.54

The higher status buildings along Blythe Bridge
Road are reflected in the predominance of ashlar
walling with elegant copings, piers and gates.
Boundaries around both churches, including the
raised walkway, the Castle and most properties
fronting the road are all ashlar walls. Of particular
significance is the stone walling running up to the
cemetery with its fine white Hollington stone,
herringbone tooling and lozenge shaped coping.
Even the stile is formed in stone.

4.55

Also of note is the high, buttressed brick wall
fronting The Dams which adds dramatically to
the enclosure along The Dams and restricts views
of the Castle Estate. Opposite, the hedge-topped
stone walls add to the enclosure and funnels
views along the road. The outbuildings to The
Red House also form a strong boundary along the
lower end of High Street and help turn the corner
into The Square.

Street Surfaces
4.51

Little evidence of traditional surfacing survives.
Using evidence from old photographs small areas
of smooth blue paviours and stone kerbs are seen
in the village with carriageways of compacted
stone. There were no pavements. It is likely that
some surviving materials will be present around
the Castle and churches.

Page
23 259

Fig.38: Walling details

Page24260

4.56

Within the Castle Estate wrought iron railings
and gates with cast iron posts have been widely
used and are a distinctive and unifying feature of
the Castle grounds.

4.57

Map 2 also highlights places throughout the
Conservation Area where enclosure is poor
primarily as a result of boundary removal or
where wide openings have been inserted to create
vehicular hardstandings. In some areas traditional
boundaries have been replaced with modern
brick walls, concrete block (walling around Dove
House Farm) and fencing. In some places drystone
walls have been mortared rather than repaired
and rebuilt, whilst other walls have been lowered.
The local walling materials and details help unite
the area and add greatly to its charm but are
increasingly vulnerable to removal or poor repair.

4.60

On the east side of Church Terrace and Blythe
Bridge Road the linear fields behind the farms and
cottages, remnants of the medieval farming system,
lie within the boundary as they help preserve the
relationship of the buildings to the surrounding
landscape.

4.61

Within The Square the most identifiable feature
is the lone tree on the Island. Also of note is the
green verge alongside The Stone House with the
stone retaining wall, hedge and mature garden
behind.

4.62

To the west side of High Street the playing
fields lie outside the Conservation Area but are
important in maintaining the rural character of
the historic settlement and are believed to have
included further fishponds associated with the
medieval castle complex. Consideration should be
given to their inclusion within the boundary.

Green spaces and trees
4.58

4.59

Green open spaces and mature trees are an
important feature of the Conservation Area,
particularly within the Castle Estate. The shroud
of mature trees around the Castle can be seen a
considerable distance away adding to its dramatic
silhouette. The thick swathe of trees and shrubs is
a product of 19th century planting which is now
fully mature and gives the estate much greater
privacy than earlier phases of its history. Within
the Conservation Area the thick vegetation frames
close views of the Castle such as the East Lodge
entrance and views across St Peter’s Church.
Open fields to the rear of properties on the High
Street and The Hollow lie within the Conservation
Area and help define the open rural setting and
form of the village. To the east side of High Street
the rising ground allows views out to the fields
between properties and in places the open fields
run through to the road. The area around Bank
House is a significant open area where the high
banks enclosing the lane and mature trees frame
the entrance to the settlement. The mature trees
lining Hollow Lane are dramatic and demarcate
the edge of the settlement. The churchyards and
cemeteries are all prominent open spaces with
plentiful trees and add to the openness of the
village.

Negative factors
4.63

Several elements of modern living severely
detract from the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area:
Visual impact caused by parked cars on High
Street

4.64

Parking is difficult in historic settlements and
often cannot be resolved. In many locations
hardstandings have been created in front gardens
which can have a harmful visual effect. This results
in the loss of large stretches of boundary walling
and hedges, and removal or substantial alteration
to front gardens. This is most pronounced on
High Street where the houses and front gardens
are on elevated land and hardstandings have been
excavated into the bankside. In places along High
Street and Church Terrace whole front gardens
have been lost to concrete block paving and parked
cars.
Loss of stone walls, alteration, pointing drystone
walling and replacement in modern materials.

4.65

Boundary walls and hedges are a defining feature
of the Conservation Area and in addition to
their piecemeal removal many are altered beyond

Page
25 261

recognition, including pointing of drystone walls.
It is important to value the local diversity of
boundary materials and resist replacement with
modern concrete block walling, modern metal
railings and timber fencing.

Other alterations to buildings
4.68

Installation of satellite dishes
4.66

There are planning controls on the siting of
satellite dishes to prevent a clutter of visually
intrusive equipment. The placing of satellite
dishes on a wall, roof or chimney which is visible
from the highway requires planning permission
and will be resisted. Alternatives such as ground
mounting, mounting on an outbuilding or on less
visible elevations should be investigated. Whilst
unauthorized satellite dishes are not at present a
particular problem within the Conservation Area
it could in the future become an issue and advice
needs to be given on careful siting.
Replacement windows and doors

4.67

Throughout the Conservation Area the unique
qualities of the area are being eroded by the
incremental removal of historic detailing.
Caverswall is fortunate in having its central area
largely untouched by new building and major
alterations, and the majority of its buildings are
of historic interest. However, few buildings retain
windows and doors of their original design which
takes away from the overall distinctiveness of its
buildings and is particularly harmful on terraces.
Due to the pressure to individualise property
and the availability of off-the-peg standardized
windows and doors the rate of change is rapid.
Part L of the Building Regulations specifically
allows exemption for buildings in Conservation
Areas from complying with the Regulations
where historic detailing is threatened by building
alterations; this can include retaining or reinstating
single glazing. Alternatively, modern thermally
efficient windows can be bought which retain
the appearance of their traditional counterparts.
Unfortunately, the use of top opening lights,
staining, upvc and poorly designed double glazing
are found throughout Caverswall which damage its
character and appearance.

The application of pebbledash and hard cement
render over brick or stone is a feature of
20th century urban areas and harmful to the
appearance of historic buildings. Many buildings
in Caverswall have been rendered which conceals
traditional detailing and can harm their long-term
preservation. Where buildings are rendered the
application of a smooth breathable lime render
gives a more traditional finish and minimizes
damp problems. Proposals to newly render brick
or stone buildings require planning permission
and will generally be discouraged. The erection of
front porches will also be discouraged as these do
not form part of local traditional building design
and on terraces can destroy the overall unity of the
range. The truncation or removal of chimneystacks
and loss of chimney pots is also seen throughout
the area and is damaging to the roofscape.
Buildings/areas in need of improvement

4.69

Areas in need of improvement include the land
and farm buildings to the south-eastern side of
Blythe Bridge Road and the condition of farm
buildings at Dove House Farm. The latter have
permission for conversion to dwellings but have
stood empty and derelict at the entrance to the
village for many years. Several of the buildings
fronting Blythe Bridge Road are of great age
with evidence of blocked mullion windows and
other detailing behind hard cement render. At
the rear the fine stone ashlar walling can be seen.
The removal of the render and restoration of
exterior of the buildings would transform this
range of historic cottages. Similar works could
be undertaken to the window openings at Stone
House
The Square

4.70

Page26262

Opportunities exist to enhance this central area
which currently is affected by poor quality street
surfaces and street clutter. Reducing the visual
width of the road and introducing a defined
pavement could lead to opportunities for street
furniture, quality surfacing and planting.

Other negative factors

Proposed Article 4 Direction’

4.71

Electricity and telephone facilities are essential
but within the village the poles and criss-crossing
wires are visually intrusive. Consideration should
be given to placing them underground where
opportunities arise.

4.72

The rural character of the village is one of
its essential qualities and the surrounding
agricultural fields provide this green backdrop
and form an essential break between the village
and conurbation of Stoke-on-Trent. It is vital to
maintain this open break to preserve the setting of
the village.

4.73

Some of the issues are difficult to address but
others can be influenced by taking positive
action through long-term planning, grant aid,
information and publicity. Additional planning
powers do exist to control external alterations to
houses by requiring permission to replace windows
and doors, erect of front extensions and construct
hardstandings. However, the restriction of
individual’s rights to carry out alterations requires
a public commitment to want to preserve the
unique character of the area and to reverse some of
the damaging alterations.

General Condition of Area and
Built Fabric
4.74

The overall condition of the area is tidy and
its buildings overall appear in good condition.
The farm buildings at Dove House Farm are in
need of repair as are sections of the moat wall at
Caverswall Castle.

The character appraisal has highlighted the harm
that is being caused to the historic appearance
of Cheddleton from the incremental erosion
of historic detailing to residential property. It is
therefore proposed that an Article 4 Direction is
served to withdraw permitted development rights
for specific types of development.
Many external household alterations are classified
as ‘Permitted Development’, under the provisions
of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (The
GPDO). This means that they can be carried out
without the need for planning permission, even
in Conservation Areas. Permitted Development
rights currently exist for a large number of
alterations that can have a significant impact on
the character of the area. This can include the
loss of traditional style windows and doors (and
changes to the size of openings), loss of local
roofing materials or designs of chimney stacks and
local wall finishes. Loss of traditional boundaries
to frontages and the creation of hardstandings also
harm the setting of these buildings. In particular,
where the character of an area is dominated by
repeated architectural details, locally-distinctive
features and a rhythm of detailing to buildings
and their frontages loss of those features places the
character of the conservation area under threat.
An Article 4 Direction enables the Council to
require owners and/or occupiers to apply for
planning permission for certain alterations where
the character of a conservation area is under threat.
Article 4 Directions have recently been introduced
in Leek, Rudyard and Oakamoor Conservation
Areas and have been successful in protecting the
distinctive character of these areas.
The Article 4 Direction would cover the elevations
of residential properties fronting a highway,
waterway or open space.
An Article 4 Direction does not prevent the
development, but instead requires planning
permission to be first obtained from the Council.
This will enable the Council to preserve locally
distinctive features and to encourage improved

Page
27 263

detailing and materials. Historic England advises
that Article 4 Directions can increase the public
protection both of designated and non-designated
heritage assets, and help the protection of the
setting of all heritage assets. The NPPF states that
‘the use of Article 4 Directions to remove national
permitted development rights should be limited to
situations where this is necessary to protect local
amenity or the wellbeing of the area...’

5 Community
Involvement
5.1

The Council is producing Design Guidance to
encourage appropriate types of development and
suggest ways of retaining and reintroducing local
details and materials.

Page28264

The Conservation Area Appraisal will be the
subject of public consultation prior to its formal
adoption by the Council. A management plan
will be prepared to establish a plan of action
for securing the preservation and enhancement
of the area and this will be the subject of local
consultation.

APPENDIX ONE
LIST OF BUILDINGS OF SPECIAL ARCHITECTURAL OR HISTORIC INTEREST
IN THE CONSERVATION AREA
SJ 94 SW CAVERSWALL AND CAVERSWALL LANE
WERRINGTON, C.P. (south side)
4/2 West Lodge to Caverswall Castle
3.1.67
II
Lodge. Circa 1890. Red sandstone ashlar; flat roof concealed behind crenellated parapet of a sympathetic
style to the castle (q.v.). Two-storey entrance front with raised strings at ceiling level. Single range of threelight chamfered mullioned and transomed windows to left end and similar to right, set in a diagonally-facing
rectangular bay set on the angle of the building, small central window set over a recessed panel bearing low relief
coat of arms; labelled round-arched entrance below with part-glazed door.
Listing NGR: SJ9484842768

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL AND CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
WERRINGTON C. P.
12/3 Church of St. Filomena (R.C.)
II
Catholic Church. 1863-4 by Gilbert Blount. Rock-faced, coursed stonework; banded tiled roof; verge parapets
with buttressed bellcote at west end; nave (south porch) and chancel. Nave: buttressed at angles and to east of
centre; four lancet windows widely spaced 1:3 flanking gabled porch with moulded pointed arch. West end has
slight central break with
two light pointed west window over west door and figure in pointed niche set under bellcote. Lower chancel,
angle buttressed of one window, pointed of two lights and plate tracery. The church occupies a prominent
position in the village centre flanking the approach to the Church of St. Peter (qv).B.O.E. p.95.
Listing NGR: SJ9512842853

Page
29 265

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL AND CAVERSWALL ROAD (West WERRINGTON C.P. side)
12/4 Caverswall Castle, Screen walls, Gatehouse 2.5.53 and Bridge
(formerly listed as Caverswall - Castle)
I
Castle, later country house. C13 foundation to superstructure of circa 1615, enlarged, altered and refitted circa
1890. The work of 1615 has been attributed to Robert and John Smythson. Red sandstone ashlar; flat roofs
largely invisible behind crenellated parapets with multishafted C19 side stacks; the gatehouse and angle towers
have tiled roofs and balustraded parapets. Built in a castellar, supra-vernacular style with
a foretaste of Bolsover and echoes of Longleat (and strangely reminiscent of Castle Drogo by Lutyens). House:
the single-fronted house is a truncated rendition of the Slingsby plan and facade with symmetry upset by the
lack of an eastern stair tower, the vacuum part filled by the additions of 1890 leading on to the gatehouse.
Facade: of 3 storeys on a raised plinth over cellars (which are only part below ground level), banded at ceiling
levels up to crenellated parapets, fenestrated on all 3 levels by five 3-light chamfer mullion and transom
windows, the outer inset slightly from the extremities and formed into full height 3-sided bays with similar
2-light windows to angled sides; the central entrance has a small, 3-sided underplayed single storey porch
with balustered parapet and part-glazed C19 doors. The square stair tower is well set back on the west side of
the front rising a further storey, banded only under the parapet and fenestrated at that level by a three-light
mullioned window with further two-light windows rising with the stairs; the C19 wing of two storeys slightly set
back on the east side, of similar style including the two windows, the left hand a bay; the right hand first-floor
window has a panel under inscribed “MDCCCXCI”. Retaining structure: the house is set to the north side of a
square retaining enclosure surrounded by an excavated moat which opens out to lower ground level on the west,
forming a prospect which was never used. The lower parts of the walls (approx. 9m high) appear to be the only
remnant of the medieval castle (the stonework above garden level certainly seems homogenous with the house)
rising to plain parapets (set at garden level) and with octagonal towers on all but the northern-most angle. These
rise to two storeys above the inner garden level (and thus approximately four storeys from the floor of the moat);
they are pyramidally roofed with balustraded parapets and fenestrated by two-light mullioned windows on most
facets but only to the final two storeys. The Gatehouse: of similar style; set on the east side and attached to the
angle of the C19 wing of the house; fronted with two 3-sided bay turrets flanking an entranceway with rounded
2 centred arches; the inner face is flush. The gatehouse leads onto the bridge of two round arches with C19
balustrade set on a corbelled band. Interior of main house: entered via a screens passage with the hall opening
out to the left via a round arch with carved figures; all the walls are panelled; two round arch (again in imitation
of the medieval layout) doorways at far end and fireplace to north (inner) side; the overmantel has C17 elements
but heavily remodelled and enriched in the C19 restoration; ovolo moulded beams and joists. Stairway: entered
through one of the doors (the other is a blind dummy) at the rear of the hall rising in straight flights, a C19
restoration; lions and unicorns on newels, vase balusters. Dining Room: has 3 C17 low relief panels of hunting
scenes reset in C19 over- mantel and late C17 or early C18 panelling. Library: early C18 panelling, C19 strap
work, plaster ceiling, C17 overmantel with low relief carvings of fruit. First floor billiard room: set over hall with
elaborate C19 plasterwork. The cellar does not bear the promise of Slingsby’s garden room, being a collection of
plain and unadorned service rooms. Refs: B.O.E. p. 95. M. Girouard. “Robert Smythson and the [Elizabethan
Country House” p.181-2.
Listing NGR: SJ9507742769

Page30266

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/5 Steps and balustrading running approximately 2m. south of the south
front of Caverswall Castle
II
Steps and balustrading. Circa 1890. Stone. The balustrade set on a plinth approximately 1000mm above ground
level runs the length of the 1615 facade of Caverswall Castle (q.v.). Rusticated pillars with ball finials; four bays
with fretted strapwork set either side of central flight of 6 steps leading to entrance. Included for group value.
Listing NGR: SJ9508942798

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/6 Sundial approximately 20m. south of entrance front to Caverswall
Castle
II
Sundial. Probably of circa 1890. Red sandstone. Approximately 1200mm. high of baluster style and with banded
capital; top and dial replaced. Included for group value.
Listing NGR: SJ9507742780

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/7 East Lodge to Caverswall Castle and balustraded screen 3.1.67 wall
(formerly listed as East Lodge of Caverswall Castle)
II
Lodge. Dated 1890. Red sandstone ashlar; flat roof concealed behind crenellated parapet. Of a sympathetic style
to the castle (q.v.). Two-storey, three-window front, banded at ceiling levels; 3-sided bay to left side with 1:3:1
light mullioned and transomed windows, further similar windows to right end of centre, set over inset labelled
panel inscribed WE labelled round arch entrance, the stops inscribed “A.D.” and &A “1891”; part glazed door.
The lodge occupies a promiment position in the village centre between the Church of St. Peter (q.v.) and the
Church of St. Filomena (q.v.).
Listing NGR: SJ9515142821

Page
31 267

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/8 Church of St. Peter 3.1.67
GV II*
Parish Church. C12 and C13. Core remodelled C15 and substantially altered C17 and restored 1880 by Lynam.
Coursed, squared and dressed red sandstone; tiled roofs; verge parapets. West tower, nave, north and south aisles
and chancel. Tower: squat and square of approximately 3 stages with diagonal buttresses of four stages; raised
string under
crenellated parapet, small pinnacles at angles; two-light, almost round-arched bell chamber openings, 3-light
west window with panel tracery. Nave: clerestory of three C17 four-light chamfer mullion windows. North aisle:
C13, flat roofed behind parapet,buttressed at angles;2, 2, 3,light windows, the former pair curvilinear the latter
geometric, all with labelled, virtually round arches; round arch door to west bay. South aisle: similar,but all three
3-light windows appear to date from the C19 work, small gabled porch over door on west bay. Chancel: C12 of
similar ridge but lower eaves height, two wide bays divided by thin buttresses with lancets to either side of east
bay; east window of two round-arched lancets with tall round relieving arch. Small C19 flat-roofed vestry to
south side. Interior: nave of 5 bays on round columns and with (C17) round arches, the west bay is shorter and
therefore pointed to achieve a similar height. Arch braced collar roof with brattished purlins and exposed rafters,
pointed C19 chancel arch by Lynam; chancel roof of trussed rafters, aisles beamed. Pulpit C17 oak, octagonal
and with miniature blind panel arcading of typical style. Font: stone, octagonal on octagonal plinth. Glass:
Kempe, Holiday and Selwyn Image. Monuments: (chancel, north side from west to east) Parker C17, painted;
broken segmental pediment over 3 panels flanked by Corinthian pilasters, apron below. Sir Thomas Parker
1784 marble plaque with obelisk finial, figured urn in low relief, fluted side bands. Countess of St. Vincent
1816 by Chantrey; marble, kneeling figure (C17 plaque directly behind). South side: George Graddock 1643;
stone, exhuberantly powerful baroque high relief pedestal and urn, gadrooned above cornice and with flanking
festooning. Matthew Craddock; C17 painted plaque. The Craddock family were responsible for the work at
Caverswall Castle (q.v.). B.0.E. p. 95.
Listing NGR: SJ9516842788

SJ 9542 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/9 Church wall, piers to north and east of Church of St. Peter
II
Churchyard wall, piers and gates. Probably late C18. Rusticated ashlar gate piers to north with corniced cappings
and ball finials. Wall has moulded coping ramped down from piers to east side. C17 lintel on north west section.
Listing NGR: SJ9517342817

Page32268

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/10 Group of 8 chest tombs in area defined by paths in north-west corner
of churchyard of St. Peter
II
8 chest tombs. Stone. 4 to north-west corner of similar style: Josiah Saunders d. 1847, Rev. Josiah Saunders
d. 1791, William Hill d. 1776 and George Swift d. 1811, all of same size with inset banded angle pilasters,
alternating fleuron and fluted bands to frieze and moulded top. Closer to the church tower lie Mary Shaw d.
1787 and the Hulme Memorial (from 1717 but more close to the 1787 date referring to Elizabeth Hulme). The
former has moulded pilasters at angles, the latter with reeded pilasters to the angles with unusual Neoclassical
surbase crest and Thomas Bentley d. 1822 with reeded pilasters to centre and angles.
Listing NGR: SJ9514542804

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/11 Group of 2 chest tombs and one pedestal tomb to west and south of
tower of Church of St. Peter
II
Group of 2 chest tombs (to south) and pedestal tomb (to west). All of stone. The latter to Ralph and Joseph
Boulton d. 1807 with battered sides, pediments over inscription panel and heavy moulded surbase. Ralph Lees d.
1811 with moulded plinth and pilasters on angles all on repaired brick base. Hannah Wallace d. 1771 similar to
above.
Listing NGR: SJ9515442783

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL C.P. CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
12/12 Wilshaw memorial and railed enclosure approximately 20m. north of
Church of St. Peter
II
Pedestal tomb and railed enclosure. Elizabeth Wilshaw died 1817. Stone. Inscribed die with shield-shaped
surround, moulded surbase and urn finial all on repaired stone plinth with cast iron railings, capped by urns at
angles.
Listing NGR: SJ9516442805

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL AND CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
WERRINGTON C.P.
12/13 Wood memorial approximately 5m south of chancel of Church of St.
Peter
II
Chest tomb. Mary Wood, died 1794. Stone. Inscribed sides, inset pilasters at angles with moulded bands; top
slab with moulded edge.
Listing NGR: SJ9517342777

Page
33 269

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL AND CAVERSWALL ROAD (West side)
WERRINGTON C.P.
12/14 Dovehouse Farmhouse
II
Farmhouse. Early C19. Red brick; tiled roof; end stacks. L-shaped plan. Two-storey, three-window front; glazing
bar sashes with painted wedged leads; central entrance with painted stone Tuscan doorcase; diagonal glazing bars
to overlight; C20 part-glazed door.
Listing NGR: SJ9518842720

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL AND THE HOLLOW (North side)
WERRINGTON C.P.
12/17 Stone House
3.1.67
II
House. Late C17 with C18 refacing and C20 alterations. C17 cross wing in coursed dressed and squared stone,
refacing in painted brickwork; tiled roofs; cross wing has verge parapets with pitched copings and corbelled
kneelers. T-shaped plan with brick ridge stack rising behind entrance at intersection of ranges. Frontage in two
parts: projecting gabled parlour wing to left (lying at lower end of gradient) of two storeys, cellar and gable-lit
attic; raised string at first floor level; single range of windows formerly of 3,4,4 and 2 light chamfered mullion
lights, labelled to attic and first floors; now only attic remains; ground and first floors have C20 casements
of reduced width and increased depth and cellar window has been blocked up. Set back brick cross-wing to
rear. Well set out range of 3-light casements to far right, segmental head to ground floor; entrance set against
return angle with boarded door. Side elevation to far left retains three out of four 3-light chamfered mullioned
windows.
Listing NGR: SJ9512842933

SJ 94 SE CAVERSWALL AND ROUGHCOTE LANE (East side)
WERRINGTON C.P.
5/21 Bank House Farmhouse
II
Farmhouse. Early C19. Red brick; tiled roof on dentilled eaves; brick end stacks. 3-storey, 3-window front of
C20 3-, 2-, 3-light casements of diminishing proportions, all with painted wedged heads ramped up to moulded
keystones; ground-floor windows are brought
out to shallow bays with corniced heads under lintel; outer first-floor windows have non-fitting C20 shutters;
central entrance with small pedimented Tuscan porch; C20 ‘Tudor’ door has rectangular overlight.
Listing NGR: SJ9510543198

Page34270

SJ 95 42 CAVERSWALL AND THE SQUARE
WERRINGTON C.P.
12/22 No. 4
II
House. Early C19. Painted, rendered brickwork; tiled roof; end and centre ridge stacks. Two-storey, twowindow front; square, six-pane sashes with painted wedged heads, inscribed imitating voussoir blocks and raised
keystones; central entrance with low-pitched
pediment over on console brackets; C20 part-glazed door has rectangular overlight. The building faces The
Stonehouse (q.v.) across the square.
Listing NGR: SJ9509242917

Page
35 271

NA
T

SE

CL
O

HA
M

78

1

99

89

3
11

Pond

93

E
DRIV
8

13

17

O

2

L

L

44

61

E
AN

39

75

Page 272
West

ai
Dr

n

k

Pond

5

Moat

GP

GP
(Defib)
2

Pond

c
Tra

Farm

Roseville

illas
The V

Cotta
g

Gd

East

RC Church

e

Gree
n

House

Old

e

Copper
Hous

The
Man

191.1m

e

Farm

c
ra
e

58

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

Pond

1

Crockett

Tennis Court

The Beeches

s
ou

Ch

Castle

FB

The

The
(PH)

Ho

S
THE DAM

Track

Arbour
Cottage

Cottage
The

House
6

hH
ac
Co

2
r
Te

92

Scale 1:2500

33

in
Dra

20

Pond

THE DAMS

Hall

Sinks

Hill Crest

Fairways

House
Windley

Bank House

tage
Cot

1
ch
ur

Proposed Article 4 area

Primary School

185.0m

T
8 2
ow
Holl

um )

Catholic

Caverswall

k
ac
Tr

Farm

5

202.7m

Gable

Dove Farm Barns

1

HC

HO
SC

FB

1

10

Pond

22

Chanticleer

9

k

C
UR
CH

Boundary (Designated 25/7/70)

Pond

2

VOR
TRE

9

Map 1 Caverswall Conservation Area

11
21

6

FT
RO

Legend

1

4

LL

FB

View
The
Farm

Cookshill

Bank View

House

O
HO
SC
Path
(

70

E
AN

5

25

C
W

The
House

214.6m

th
Pa

Hillsdown

Church View

Graveyard

TH
E

C
VI

E
AG
LL
O

72

32

AR

EN
SC
E
R
HO

74
c
Tra

11
1

21

35

55

(u m

)

Finger Post Farm

GP

SD

Fair View

214.3m

Tunstall Stych

FB

7
12

97

1

OL

2

E

99

Pond

4

9

E
DRIV
VOR
TRE
8

93

89

Pond

13

17

75

in
Dra

OS
E

Dr

ain

3
11

Page 273

58

NA
T

Boundary 27/2/93

L

k

Pond

GP

Cotta
ge

Gree
n

Gd

East

RC Church

House

Old

e

Copper

Hous

The

Man

191.1m

s

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

Pond

c
Tra

illa
The V

Farm

Catholic

Caverswall

202.7m

Gable

Dove Farm Barns

1

k

(um)

c
Tra

Farm

1

11

Scale 1:2500

(um)
Path
Amended

L

Moat

5

Areas with potential for improvement

O

Farm

Roseville

ce
ra

r
Te

Significant views

HO

1
Crockett

GP
(Defib)
2

Walls

SC

Pond

Castle

FB

The

The
(PH)

Ho

THE DAMS

Track

Arbour
Cottage

Cottage
The

House

6

ch

Hedges

in
Dra

West

THE DAMS

Hall

Sinks

Hill Crest

Fairways

House
Windley

Tennis Court

The Beeches

se
ou

ur
Ch



61

E
AN

39
Pond

33

hH
ac
Co

2

T
OF

Trees (approx location)

185.0m

Primary School

20

5
CR

Significant groups of trees

44

tage
Cot

1

CH

Buildings of historic interest

2

T
8 2

ow
C

R
HU

Listed Buildings (excludes curtilage listed buildings)

FB

1

10

Pond

22

Chanticleer

Bank House

Map 2 Villagescape Analysis Map

Bank View

CL

HA
M

78

1

ck
Tra

Villagescape Analysis

FB

View
The
Farm

HO

Path

SC

N
LA

5

25

E

W

fin
Grif

Lod

ge

The
House

214.6m

th
Pa

Hillsdown

Church View

Graveyard

TH
E

70

AR

R

LL
O

72

C
VI

C

EN

HO

74

32

E
AG

SC
9
6

E

11

21

Holl

11
6

35
21

55

ck
Tra

(um

)

Finger Post Farm

GP

SD

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
email: planning@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Tel: 0345 605 3013
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House,
Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands ST13 6HQ

Page
This document is available
in 274
alternative formats on request

Consultation Edition

Page 275

Contents
1

Introduction .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1

2

Location and Setting .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

3

Historic Development and Archaeology .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6

4

Character Analysis .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8

5

Proposed Article 4 Direction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 26

6

Suggested Boundary Changes .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 27

7

Community involvement  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 27

APPENDICES
Appendix 1
List of buildings of special architectural or historic interest
MAPS
Map 1 Cheddleton Conservation Area
Map 2 Villagescape analysis
Map 3 Yates’ Map of 1795
Map 4 1st Edition OS Map 1890-91
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Yates’ Map of Staffordshire reproduced by kind permission of Staffordshire County
Record Society.

Page 276

Cheddleton

Conservation Area

1 Introduction
Summary of Interest

The Conservation Area Boundary

1.1

The Conservation Area was designated on 25th
July 1970. It seeks to preserve and enhance this
small but distinctive historic settlement sitting on
a rocky spur overlooking a river crossing in the
Churnet Valley.

1.3

1.2

Due to the bypassing of the hilltop settlement by
the turnpike road, which followed the shallower
gradient to the east, the old village has remained
largely unaffected by later development. It has
a cohesive identity in terms of its buildings and
materials.

The Conservation Area focuses on the buildings
lining the old Leek to Stafford road which climbs
upwards from the river crossing through the
narrow and sunken ‘Hollow Lane’ passing the
cluster of buildings around the Church of St
Edward and continues along Ostler’s Lane, which
is equally narrow and winding. The Conservation
Area also extends down into the river valley to
include a section of the Caldon Canal and related
industrial buildings, dominated by the Flint Mill
complex. The Conservation Boundary is shown on
Map 1. The boundary overlaps with the Caldon
Canal Conservation Area which follows the length
of the canal from Stockton Brook to Froghall.

Purpose of the Document
1.4

Fig 1 The Hollow

This document is an analysis of the characteristics
that make the Cheddleton Conservation Area
worthy of preserving. It aims to:
•

Evaluate and record the historical significance
of the area.

•

Identify features of villagescape and landscape
importance.

•

Communicate what requires to be protected,
and to

•

Serve as a basis for schemes of preservation and
enhancement.

Page
1 277

1.5

1.6

The document will enable those living and working
in the area to appreciate and value its special
qualities and to prepare development proposals,
which complement the surrounding built heritage.
It will also be used by the Local Authority to
assess planning applications and to prepare a
management plan for the area, which may include
proposals for enhancement schemes. Other local
authority departments and statutory undertakers
are required to have regard to the need to preserve
and enhance Conservation Areas and this
document should assist in formulating proposals
for Cheddleton.

The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020)
contains policies relating to Conservation Areas
and other heritage assets as well as policies
on design and landscape character. Allowing
only suitable development which would secure
the future conservation of a heritage asset in
accordance with Policy DC2.
The Local Plan adopted by the Council
September 2020 identifies two Local Green Space
designations to the south the Conservation Area;
Ox Pasture (east) and Ox Pasture (west). These
designations are identified on Maps 1 and 2 in this
document.

The document will be the subject of public
consultation prior to adoption.The appraisal
documents will be periodically reviewed and
updated.

Whilst the Local Green Space designations are not
made specifically for their historic value and they
serve a different purpose than the Conservation
Area, they do reflect local character and are
considered to be demonstrably special to the local
community.

Planning Background
1.7

Conservation Areas are protected under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. This primary legislation requires
proposals that need planning permission to
preserve or enhance the special architectural or
historic interest of the area.
National planning policy for the historic
environment is all contained within one overarching document, the National Planning Policy
Framework (2018). This embodies a holistic view
of the historic environment and is designed to
ensure that decisions are not made in isolation
without first considering the significance of the
particular aspects of the historic environment
and then addressing economic, social and
environmental sustainability issues. The NPPF
should be read alongside the Planning Practice
Guide ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic
Environment’ which gives more detailed advice on
Conservation Area designation and management.
Historic England also provides further detailed
guidance.

1.8

The Staffordshire Moorlands currently has 17
Conservation Areas excluding the area covered
by the Peak District National Park. Government
guidance now requires each Conservation Area to
have a character appraisal and management plan to
provide a basis for making sustainable decisions.

Implications of Designation
1.9

Page 2278

Designation seeks to preserve and enhance the
character and appearance of Conservation Areas by
imposing additional controls over:
•

The location and design of new development

•

The size of extensions for which Planning
Permission is needed

•

Certain minor works (e.g. roof alterations,
cladding, satellite dishes)

•

Demolition of buildings, gates, walls, fences
and railings

•

Work to trees

•

Advertisements

1.10

Planning Permission will only be granted for
development which preserves or enhances the
character or appearance of the Conservation
Area in accordance with planning policies. The
Council offers a pre-application advice service
for guidance on development proposals to ensure
that the special character of the area is considered
at an early stage in the planning process and to
assist in achieving the best outcome for applicants
and the heritage. More detailed design guidance
and technical publications are also available on
the council’s website to assist in specifying work
affecting historic buildings.

1.11

Where the Council considers that the appearance
of an area is being harmed by unsympathetic
alterations to houses in Conservation Areas it may
serve an Article 4 Direction on selected properties.
This requires that certain external alterations to a
building will need Planning Permission, such as
new doors, windows, painting or rendering of the
exterior, and the demolitions of boundaries.

1.12

Conservation Area status also means that the
Council can offer grant aid for the repair and
enhancement of buildings or areas. If funds
become available it will prepare enhancement
schemes for those areas where this is considered
necessary.

1.13

Public consultation will be undertaken for any
proposals to enhance an area or to introduce
additional controls.

Page
3 279

2 Location and Setting
2.1

Cheddleton lies in the centre of the Staffordshire
Moorlands District, about 3 miles south of Leek.
The Conservation Area mainly lies to the west
of the A520 and straddles the valley of the River
Churnet.

General Character and Plan Form
2.2

2.3

Cheddleton’s character and plan form are
influenced by the local topography and, in
particular, the River Churnet. The village lies high
on a rocky promontory within a gently rolling
landscape overlooking the river valley of the
Churnet, which runs in a south-easterly direction
just to the north of the village.The underlying
bedrock at Cheddleton is Sherwood Sandstone,
although parts of the Conservation Area are
covered by Boulder Clay, with Alluvium in the
valley bottom. As a building stone Sherwood
Sandstone is of variable quality and tends to
weather badly. The quality of this stone may
account for the early use of brick for building,
unlike nearby settlements such as Alton and
Ipstones where stone is more widely used.
Although the majority of buildings are of red
brick, with some colourwashing, the Church of St
Edward and several other historic buildings are
of sandstone or have stone dressings, and stone
is extensively used in boundary and retaining
walls. Dark plain tiles are used universally for roof
coverings.
Key elements of the medieval settlement lie on
high ground above the River Churnet, following
the old road, and here the Church and the Hall
House occupy flat ground overlooking the flint
mill, separated from Cheddleton Grange to the
south east, by a dry valley.

Fig. 2: Canal towpath with view of Flint Mill and hilltop
settlement
2.4

The buildings cluster on the highest ground around
the Church and are tightly packed along Hollow
Lane and the small paths and lanes running from
it. Most buildings are inward looking and distant
views of the settlement are limited. The steep
valley sides overlooking the Churnet Valley create
a sharp break to the settlement form. Down in
the valley bottom a second cluster of buildings
relate to former industrial processes associated
with the river and canal. The Flint Mill complex
has the appearance of being confined to an island,
sandwiched between the road bridge, canal and
meandering river. Several former industrial
buildings also lie to the eastern side of the bridge
on higher ground.

2.5

The Turnpike road (now A520) removed the
through-traffic from the old village and has been
the focus of later ribbon development along
Cheadle Road, and larger estates beyond

Landscape Setting
2.6

Page 4280

The elevated situation of the village around the
Church allows splendid views down into the
pasture land of the Churnet Valley, where the
tree-lined meandering river contrasts with the
engineered canal. To the north-west the valley
sides become wooded before disappearing from
view, whilst beyond the Churnet Valley looking
north is gently rolling pasture land, interspersed
with hedgerows and small copses of trees. The
top of the water tower at the former St Edwards
Hospital is a landmark feature, projecting out of
its woodland setting, with a backdrop of the rising

moorland of Morridge Edge and the Roaches. To
the west the landscape is more gently undulating
with dispersed farm groupings around the village
linked via a network of hedgerows and sunken
narrow lanes.

Fig.4a: Hilltop settlement from river

Fig. 3a: Landscape around Flint Mill

Fig.4b: View along canal looking west
Fig. 3b: Setting of the Church of St Edward from the west

Key Views
2.7

Key views are identified on the Villagescape
Analysis Map (Map 2). A notable view is from
the northern approach to the village on the A520,
where the view expands to reveal the river valley
with glimpses of the tightly clustered historic
buildings on the high rocky promontory. Views to
along the Churnet Valley following the line of the
river and canal and its former industrial buildings
are also significant.

Fig.4c: Hollow Lane towards Red Lion Inn
2.8

Within the Conservation Area views back across
the Churnet Valley with distant views of Morridge
Edge are of note, together with confined views
along the length of Hollow Lane, enclosed by
buildings and trees, and the fine view of the Red
Lion Inn at the junction with Cheadle Road.

Page
5 281

3 Historic Development and Archaeology
3.4

Settlement History
3.1

The Domesday survey in 1086 records the village
as one of the holdings of the Earls of Chester, who
had considerable interests in North Staffordshire.
It is recorded that it had a population of 9
households, with no households recorded in
neighbouring Rownall or Consall. Cheddleton
was typical of other pastoral areas in the
Moorlands where settlement was scattered across
the landscape in farms and tiny hamlets, and for
centuries the population remained small.

Manor of Cheddleton
3.5

Parish, Church and Grange
3.2

The medieval parish of Leek was divided into 19
townships, of which Cheddleton was one. In 1220
a royal charter put the Church of Cheddleton
under the control of Dieulacres Abbey near Leek.
The ownership of the Church by the Abbey caused
endless trouble and rivalry with the Lords of the
Manor of Cheddleton for many centuries.

3.3

From 1220 onwards to the dissolution of the
monasteries in the 16th century the Church of St.
Edward at Cheddleton functioned as one of four
chapels in the Parish of Leek. Each chapelry in
this vast 53,000 acre parish provided a place for
Sunday worship for a group of townships, with
Cheddleton serving the townships of Consall and
Rownall.

The Grange at Cheddleton belonged to Dieulacres
Abbey and administered the collection of the local
tithes (a church tax based on local produce). Roof
timbers in the farmhouse have been dated to 1499,
making it one of the few surviving buildings dating
back to the Abbey ownership.

In the medieval period the inhabitants of the
village worked the land within the Manor of
Cheddleton on the open field system (three large
fields, divided into strips, which were worked in
rotation). The Manor served the secular needs
of the population. In medieval times the house
responsible for the administration of the Manor
of Cheddleton was known as the ‘Hall House’.
In North Staffordshire these rarely survive in
anything but name, making Cheddleton’s latemedieval Hall House a rarity.

Fig.6: Hall House
3.6

Fig.5: Church of St Edward

Page 6282

Cheddleton’s open fields were enclosed by
agreement at quite an early date with the
remainder enclosed under the Cheddleton
Enclosure Act of 1735. This Act allowed anyone
who had taken common land before 1733 to keep
what they had, and the remaining 2,300 acres in
Cheddleton Parish were then to be enclosed and
reclaimed, and improved. Nearly all the farms in
the Parish were tenanted and owned by 5 major
landowners.

The mill

Turnpike Road

3.7

3.9

The by-passing of Cheddleton Village by the
Turnpike Road in 1763 was an early improvement
to the road infrastructure by the Turnpike Trust.
The old road ran from near to the Flint Mill up
to the Church (Hollow Lane) and along Ostler’s
Lane, meeting the present road at Heathhouse
Corner. One of the cast iron mileposts erected
along the road is still in place. The new road
followed the gentler gradient south following an
existing lane to The Grange and this became the
focus for later development relieving the old village
of through-traffic and development pressure.

3.10

Yates Map of Staffordshire in 1775 clearly shows
the topography of the landscape with the steep
valley sides clearly marked. The Church with its
tight cluster of buildings along Hollow Lane
can be seen, together with a mill alongside the
river and The Grange. The canal had not yet been
constructed, unlike the new Turnpike Road which
is also shown, but at this time no buildings lined its
route. The 1896 O.S. Map demonstrates that little
had changed in terms of the overall form of the
village centre around the Church, but in the valley
bottom the Cauldon Canal is now shown, along
with locks, a larger mill complex, brewery, smithy
and other structures. A further marked change is
the development which has spread along the new
Turnpike Road confirming that the historic core of
the village largely avoided development pressures
from an early date.

A Church, Manor House (or Hall House) and
corn mill are regularly found in the larger medieval
villages, but the presence of all three in close
proximity is unusual in the Moorlands. Here the
siting of the village on a hilltop above the River
Churnet meant water was plentiful. It is possible
that the Abbey had a hand in setting up the mill
for here, as at Dieulacres, the course of the river has
been changed to make it run along the valley side,
and the river itself is used as the holding pond for
the mill.

Fig.7: Cheddleton Flint Mill
3.8

The history of Cheddleton Mill is one of change
and development, and the corn mill infrastructure
was readily adaptable for a variety of uses. The
earliest reference dates to 1253 (History of
Staffordshire vol.1911). By 1580 there were
two mills under one roof - one for fulling and
one for corn (Burnley, William Salt Library).
In 1772 the construction of the Caldon Canal
had an immediate effect on the village with the
establishment of industries along its banks. A
brewery, lime kilns, boat building yard, paper mill,
wharves and quarries were opened, the nearby
corn mill was enlarged and a tan-yard established.
In 1782 the Cheddleton mills were leased for the
grinding of flint or stones, except for the part used
for grinding corn which was not altered. By 1815
both north and south mills were in existence and
both were grinding flint for the nearby pottery
industry.

Archaeological Significance and Potential
of the Area
3.11

The Churchyard Cross is a Scheduled Ancient
Monument and dates to the 15th century, restored
by G.G. Scott (junior) in 1876. It has a square
decorated shaft with circular stone stepped base of
4 tiers.

3.12

Up to date information on Archaeology can be
found by consulting the Historic Environment
Record maintained by Staffordshire County
Council.

Page
7 283

4 Character Analysis
4.1

4.2

Cheddleton combines the picturesque and
dramatic qualities of its siting with a rich historical
past documenting the early foundation of its
church through to the eras of the turnpike road
and early industrial development alongside the
canal. The Conservation Area divides into two
areas of distinct character:
•

The Mediaeval Hill-Top Village

•

The River Valley

The detailing on No.19 Hollow Lane is particularly
fine with unusual 3-light casement windows,
boarded door and lovely front garden bounded by
a heavy stone wall (Fig.31). Both this and No.25
(Fig.11) are Listed Buildings but several others
are of equal visual interest, including No.11 with
its interesting form and detailing (Fig.28), and
No.9 & 7 tucked almost out of site to the rear.
The boundary walls and small front gardens to
properties near to the churchyard are particularly
distinctive. The character of the area would be
harmed by loss of front boundaries and gardens,
the insertion of modern styled windows and doors,
loss of chimneys and alterations to the roofline.

The description of each area should be read in
conjunction with the Villagescape Analysis Map
(Map 2). This identifies key historic buildings and
features that help define the special interest of
the area. Listed buildings are underlined in the
text and statutory descriptions are included in the
appendix.

The Medieval Village
4.3

Along Hollow Lane, deeply set and heavily shaded
by trees in its lower length, the closely built
cottages of red brick or stone are small in size and
scale, and huddle against the roadside. Although
individually unpretentious, by their compactness
and scale these cottages contrast with The Church
of St Edward standing in its raised graveyard of
old tombs overhung by yews. Notable features
along the lane include the high drystone retaining
walls and banks, which in places sit on exposed
bedrock, and the overhanging trees, which all add
to the sense of enclosure (Fig.8). Lower down the
lane several properties facing the road are built into
the bankside, whilst towards the top of the rise
the buildings are more clustered with variations
in height and alignment. The buildings exhibit
a range of traditional materials and detailing to
windows, roofs and boundary walls.

Fig. 8: Sunken banksides of Hollow Lane

Fig.9: Cottages viewed from within the churchyard

Page 8284

Fig.12: Black Lion Inn
Fig.10: Informal grouping of cottages

4.5

Fig.11: No. 25 Hollow Lane
4.4

The Black Lion Inn (Fig.12) commands a fine
setting overlooking the Church and forms part of
a long, narrow range with residential properties
at the far end. The inn has timber sash windows
incorporating margin lights, and the colourwashed
building gives way to exposed, coursed stone
walling, incorporating quoins to the dwellings at
the far end. To the rear is a flat table of land which
juts out with precipitous drops on three sides. In
this secluded area are several small stone cottages
of simple form and detail set amidst mature,
spacious gardens and trees. The absence of bound
roads, pavements and street lighting reinforce the
character of the area (Fig.13).

Hall House was formerly owned by the Lord of
the Manor (Fig.6). Its architectural style links it
with major houses such as Little Moreton Hall,
Cheshire, and Mosslee Hall nearby at Basford.
Despite its small size its floor plan is typical of its
period, with a two-bay open hall, formerly open to
the roof. In North Staffordshire it is rare to have
such a complete medieval ground-plan surviving
in such a visible form. Externally of stone, its
timber-framed walls were replaced piecemeal over
a long period, leaving clear traces of the wall-posts
as rendered ‘ghosts’ or straight joints. In the 19th
century the surviving roof truss was truncated, the
side walls raised, and a fine fish-scale tiled roof
added.

Fig.13: Cluster of stone cottages to the rear of the Black
Lion Inn

Page
9 285

4.6

Whilst this cluster of buildings is largely inwardlooking, in places views out of the settlement
towards the north-west are quite spectacular. More
panoramic views are obtained near to and within
the Churchyard, where the steep valley sides,
trackways and earthworks in the fields below add
to the interest. The churchyard walls clinging to the
precipitous bankside dramatically emphasise the
sharp transition on this side between village and
countryside.

4.8

A former parish school ‘Whitehall School’ stood
in front of the Black Lion Inn close against the
churchyard wall and near to where the village
stocks still stand. With the building of the
National School in 1855 (now the old school tea
rooms) the Whitehall School was closed and the
stone used for the building of the Choir House
within the churchyard. The fine stone window
frames were kept intact and built into the new
building.

4.7

The square tower of the Church is prominent on
the hilltop and best viewed from the north and
west. The large mature trees within the graveyard
add to the charm of the space and help frame
the views. The Church is a pleasant structure still
substantially mediaeval in spite of the 19th century
restoration by George Gilbert Scott, a notable
Victorian architect also responsible for the design
of the lych-gate alongside Hollow Lane and the
Choir School (Fig.14) to the west. Scott also
supervised the restoration of the 14th century cross
on the south side of the churchyard in 1870.

4.9

The stone houses (No’s 16 & 18) alongside the
Church with slate hipped roof are of high quality,
and the later brick buildings alongside continue
the frontage, although all have been subject to
modern alteration and some disproportionate
extensions. Some poor boundary materials are also
being introduced. These alterations impact greatly
on views of the Church.

4.10

At the junction with Ostler’s Lane more modern
boundaries have been introduced, and the historic
character of the area is diluted by the flat-roofed
buildings of the community centre with its
institutional railings. The former St Edward’s
Infant School, now part of the community centre,
is a pleasing building, as is the former Methodist
Chapel with its unusual slate mansard roof. To the
west end of the Conservation Area St Edward’s
First School is well screened from the road behind
a high bank and hedge, whilst the 20th century
houses opposite continue the built frontage as far
as Park Lane, a sunken lane which drops sharply
away, flanked with high banks and drystone walls.
Beyond the boundary lies the former National
School, now tea rooms, currently excluded from
the Conservation Area but a fine Victorian stone
building, arguably part of the character of the
historic settlement. The edge of the settlement
is well defined with open views of the rolling
landscape beyond.

Fig.14: View towards Choir School and Church

Page 10
286

4.11

Ostlers Lane leaves Hollow Lane by the village
pound, opposite the former19th century Methodist
Chapel, and runs south to join the main road at
Heathhouse Corner. The lane has great charm
with its deep set, gently curving roadway exposing
weathered sandstone sides, stone walls and hedges
emphasizing the enclosure, and stately beech trees
towering above (Fig.15). The provision of a service
road to the inter-war houses on the east side of
Ostlers Lane has ensured the retention of the lane’s
intimate character.

Fig.16: Fold Lane. Intrusion of timber fencing
4.13

The land west of Ostlers Lane and the school
contributes to the setting of the Church and the
rural outlook of the settlement.

River Valley
4.14
Fig.15: Ostler’s Lane flanked by high banks, walls and
beech trees
4.12

To the rear of the junction of Hollow Lane and
Ostler’s Lane is an area previously of paddocks
and orchards, served by Fold Lane (Fig.16), which
formed an attractive open break at the rear of the
built frontages. Recently this area has been subject
to development pressure and has begun to be
divided up and incorporated into domestic gardens.
The introduction of timber panel fencing, large
garages, modern building materials and untidy
land are severely harming the character of the area,
including views back towards the Church. Future
efforts should secure the enhancement of the area
by replacing timber panel fencing with traditional
boundaries such as native hedges and stone walls
and preserving the area’s open, green character.

The impact of the canal on the economy and
appearance of the village has been dramatic, and
although most of the original industries have
now ceased the legacy is still very apparent. The
Cheddleton Flint Mill (Fig.17 & 18) complex
is a fascinating survival which now operates as a
working museum exhibiting renovated internal
machinery as well as clacining kilns, wharf and
plateway, small cottages and outbuildings. The
complex is Listed Grade II*.

Fig.17: Flint Mill Complex

Page
11 287

4.17

To the east side of the bridge (Fig.21) the views of
the canal and lock complex are important, but the
open undefined car parks and unscreened views of
industrial and other modern buildings also offer
potential for improvement. These impact not only
on the setting of the canal and wider river valley
but also mark the entrance of the Conservation
Area.

Fig.18: Courtyard within mill complex
4.15

4.16

The largest building alongside the canal does
not form part of the museum but visually is a
significant part of the building group. It has
witnessed many alterations, becoming in turn a
brewery, silk mill, community hall and eventually a
warehouse. The original stone building now acts as
a plinth to the brick storeys above, and by its size
and simple mass dwarfs the cottages behind.
The houses in the roadside group are now much
below the road, which was raised considerably
during successive rebuilding of the bridges. These
building are an attractive grouping in red brick
with distinctive lintels and sills, and have retained
their original window proportions (Fig.19). The
historic railings are also a distinctive feature but
modern replacements are appearing which do
not respect their historic context. Alongside the
canal bridge the straddle warehouse (Fig.20) over
the canal is an unassuming but increasingly rare
structure used for the storage and loading of goods
and materials. The structure, together with the
linked colour-washed house, has great potential for
enhancement.

Fig.19: Attractive red brick buildings fronting Cheadle
Road

Fig.20: Straddle Warehouse

Page 12
288

4.19

Fig.21: East along canal from Cheadle Road
4.18

The only reminder of previous industry to the
north of the bridge, towards Leek, is the name ‘The
Tanyard’ (Fig.22) given to the small informallyscattered group of cottages on Station Road, set
within mature gardens on the hillside overlooking
the river crossing. Quite unpretentious, their group
value to the scene far outweighs their individual
merit as they round off and define the older village
settlement.

Looking back from the bridge to the south-west
is a striking view of almost sheer grassy slopes
surmounted by cottages beneath large trees,
and with a glimpse of the church tower beyond.
Continuing southwards, the colour-washed, 18th
century Red Lion Inn (Fig.23) draws the eye. This
building marked a convenient stopping place on
the turnpike road and has a fine set of historic
windows including a round bottle-glass window.
The Inn with its sunken forecourt and adjoining
outbuildings makes a valuable contribution to this
frontage, although the adjoining buildings are
now in separate residential use and much affected
by modern replacement windows and doors. An
unaltered outbuilding remains at the northern
end and its appearance should be preserved. The
appearance of these buildings could be greatly
harmed by front extensions and porches. The
Victorian red brick Post Office (Fig.24) with its tall
elegant chimneys and its prominent gables adds
to the quality of the streetscene, although marred
by the insertion of upvc windows and shopfronts
within original openings. Key features are the
railings which enclose the buildings from the wide
expanse of road and the remnant setts which are
increasingly overlain with tarmac. A small footpath
leads down to the Canal past a vulnerable stone
outbuilding ‘the old dock house’ (Fig.25). In 1807
this served as a Sunday School and previously
used as a place of worship by the Methodists. The
building is in good order but the area is in need of
improvement.

Fig.22: The Tanyard

Page
13 289

4.20

Cheadle Road provides views up towards Hollow
Lane and glimpses of the buildings above. The
drystone retaining walls and trees on the bankside
are key elements.

Local Materials, Details and the
Public Realm
Timber
4.21
Fig.23: Red Lion Inn complex

Fig.24: Post Office looking towards Flint Mill entrance

Fig.25: The Old Dock House

Page 14
290

Many of the early buildings in the village will
have been of timber frame construction. However,
with a substantial amount of refronting and
rebuilding in the 18th and 19th centuries the
majority will have been replaced with buildings
of more substantial construction and no visible
timber framing survives. The best example of this is
Hall House (Fig.6) where its timber-framed walls
have been replaced with stone over a long period,
leaving clear traces of the wall-posts and elements
of an early roof structure. Other buildings may
well contain remnant timber framing especially to
interior walling which was still built in this way
well into the 18th century.

Stone
4.22

Rocky outcrops of Hollington Stone (Sherwood
Sandstone) are visible throughout the village, most
significantly forming the high stone escarpment
visible from the river valley on which the oldest
part of the village sits, and visible where the sunken
lanes cut through into the bedrock.

4.23

As a building stone Sherwood Sandstone is of
variable quality and is generally poorly cemented
and tends to weather badly. Stone construction
came into general use by around 1600 and
generally remained the main building material into
the 18th century. However, the quality of the local
stone may account for the early use of brick for
building in the village. Stone is predominantly used
for boundary walling, building detailing and oldest
properties around the church (Fig.26), the church
itself and funerary monuments.

4.24

The local stone varies in colour from pink to dark
brown and is gritty in texture. It tends to be laid in
random courses with larger quoin stones and raised
stone parapets, of which many are now missing.
On higher status buildings such as the Church and
Choir School finely dressed red sandstone (ashlar)
is used with tight joints, often with herringbone
tooling. On later brick buildings stone is used
sparingly for detailing but many buildings often
have stone gables or plinths indicating a refronting or partial rebuilding in brick, as at No.25
(Fig.27) and No.29 Hollow Lane.

Fig.27: No.25 Hollow Lane demonstrating partial rebuilding in brick
4.25

Fig.26: Stone cottages adjoining the churchyard

Hollington stone is still available locally and the
colour, texture and detailing needs to be carefully
specified. Satisfactory results are only achieved
with natural materials because they weather well
and display the subtle variations in colour, which
are difficult to match in artificial materials.

Page
15 291

4.28

Brick
4.26

By the mid-18th century brick was starting to
be used in the village for building and refronting
many older properties, particularly those of lower
status. A number of these have subsequently been
rendered or colour-washed. In Cheddleton brick
is now the dominant building material with stone
or brick detailing. In a few areas more elaborate
Victorian buildings have been constructed such as
the Post Office (Fig.24).

Roofing
4.29

Until the 19th century many roofs in both
town and country were of thatch. Thatch was
thick and on stone and early brick houses was
contained within stone copings on each gable.
If a roof was altered or extended the copings
would generally be reinstated on the new gable.
Although several buildings in Cheddleton are of
early stone construction, later alterations conceal
their age, and many copings have long since been
removed. Copings survive on several properties
on Hollow Lane, The Red Lion Inn and several
of the properties at the Flint Mill. Their profile
is an important datable feature and should be
replicated where replacement is necessary. On
several later Victorian properties stone parapets
were reintroduced as part of the fashion for
Gothic architecture. The Choir School and school
buildings retain these features as part of their
design.

4.30

The characteristic roof pitch of 17th and 18th
century buildings was around 40 degrees and
a mixture of straw and rushes was used. When
thatch was abandoned side walls might be raised
by three or four courses (as at Hall House) to give
greater headroom and a shallower roof pitch, but
the narrow gables often remained unaltered. Stone
slates were used on better quality housing but none
survive in Cheddleton.

Fig.28: No.11 Hollow Lane
4.27

Most brick buildings in the Conservation Area
are constructed of handmade stock bricks varying
in colour from orange through to deep red. The
texture is also variable but generally smooth
with slight imperfections and coarser aggregate.
Bricks will have been locally made thus giving
a consistency to their colour and appearance.
Most walling is laid in stretcher bond and all of
one colour. No.11 (Fig.28) Hollow Lane is an
exception where one part of the building is laid in
Flemish Bond (alternating headers and stretchers
of red and over-burnt darker bricks to give a
chequerboard effect). Other parts of the building
are brick with stone quoins and areas of stone
walling which have been altered in brick. All these
materials and details add to the building’s interest.

Modern mass-produced, machine made bricks
have an even colour and texture that may have
a harsh appearance. New bricks can be readily
sourced for alterations and new build, but care is
needed to ensure that the colour, texture, brick
size and bonding are matched. Some alterations to
buildings within the Conservation Area have been
carried out in poorly matching modern bricks.

Page 16
292

Fig.29: No.62 Hollow Lane: Raising height of stone
building in brick

Fig.30: Clay tiled roofs and raised copings
4.31

The 19th century witnessed the mass production
and distribution of the Staffordshire Blue clay
roofing tiles from the Potteries, now regarded as
the typical local roofing material. Early tiles were
handmade with a distinctive camber and rougher
texture, whilst later machine made tiles have a
more even profile and smooth sheen. Welsh slate
also became available in the late 19th century but
was not widely used because of the availability of
clay tiles. Most roofs in Cheddleton are laid using
plain Staffordshire Blue clay tiles with clay ridge
tiles. Their roof pitch of about 35 degrees gives the
characteristic narrow gable and steeply pitched
roof.

4.32

Slates are used on later buildings including the
former Methodist Church, with its unusual
mansard roof, the row of buildings alongside the
Church and two buildings fronting the road to the
side of the canal. These slate roofs are shallower
in pitch, occasionally hipped, and have lead roll
detailing rather than copings.

4.33

Reproduction materials such as concrete tiles and
artificial slate fail to replicate the appearance and
finish of traditional materials and often weather
differently over time.

4.34

Dormers are not a common feature of local
vernacular buildings in the Moorlands. Use of
dormers should be avoided to retain the simple
proportions and roof detail of village buildings.
Rooflights, introduced in the Victorian period,
are not a common detail of vernacular buildings
and more often typical of small outbuildings.
They should be used sparingly, avoiding front and
prominent elevations, be low lying in the roof and
small in size. Several large rooflights have been
installed in prominent areas which disrupt the
roofscape.

4.35

Most vernacular buildings have plain, flush verges
and avoid decorative brickwork around the eaves,
verges and chimneys. Opposite the Church several
brick buildings have well-detailed decorative eaves
bands which are an attractive feature. Elaborate
brickwork to eaves and verges, often with
bargeboards, is more typical of later Victorian villas
which are not present in the Conservation Area.

Page
17 293

Local Details
Windows
4.36

The village has an interesting mix of traditional
window designs, (Fig.31) predominantly several
styles of side hung casements and a lesser amount
of vertically sliding sash windows. Many buildings
have a mix of window styles which shows how a
building has adapted over time. Well preserved
windows are a good means of dating a building
and it is therefore important to retain and repair
original windows and accurately reproduce
replacements. Unfortunately it is largely only
the Listed Buildings which retain a good set of
period windows, with most other buildings having
modern joinery of variable quality, diminishing
the historic interest of the individual building and
villagescape as a whole.

4.37

The earliest stone buildings in the village will have
had stone mullioned windows with leaded lights
applied directly into the surround or set within
a metal frame to allow an opening casement.
Although some evidence of stone surrounds
exists at Hall House the main survivals are the
former National School and Choir School which
reintroduced the mediaeval style.

4.38

By the 18th century glass was cheaper and
windows became larger, more vertically
proportioned, and the openings framed by plain
or decorative lintels and sills. These were designed
to take wooden frames with side-hung casements
or vertical sliding sashes. No.11 Hollow Lane has
an example of an early small pane sash window
to the top floor and the Black Lion Inn has a

Fig.31: Historic window details

Page 18
294

good set of Victorian sash windows with margin
lights. The most common traditional windows
are side-hung casements which range from single
casements up to three lights together, as at the Red
Lion Inn. No.19 Hollow Lane has particularly fine
three-light casements with small panes to their
upper sections. No.25 Hollow Lane is an example
where side hung casements have been replaced
over time with those of a modern design and only
the original windows to the upper floors survive.
Most of these windows have brick segmental
arches above and often no sill below. There may be
a desire to insert sills, especially timber projecting
sills, where previously there were none but this is
an inappropriate detail. Stone sills and lintels are
also a common detail. The cottages on the bridge
have fine sills and lintels, although the original
fenestration has gone.
4.39

The mill buildings have a variety of window
styles reflecting functional rather than decorative
requirements. Several of the mills have fixed, small
pane, cast iron frames, often with only one or
two individual panes opening. Others are small
casements or crude, non-opening frames. Often it
is evident that windows have been re-used from
elsewhere.

4.40

Many historic buildings in the Conservation
Area have suffered damaging alterations from
replacement windows. Top-hung opening
windows, storm-proof casements and wide double
glazing units are a creation of the 20th century
and cannot replicate the fine joinery details of
traditional windows. This damage is exacerbated
by failing to match the subdivision of original
windows, constructing frames in inappropriate
materials such as upvc, and staining rather than
painting (the traditional finish). Altering the
proportions of openings, including the insertion of
modern bay windows is particularly damaging. All
these alterations are most harmful for the terraces
of cottages where the unified elegance is ruined by
piecemeal alteration.

Doors
4.41

Traditional doors in the village (Fig.32) are
a mixture of panelled and vertically boarded
doors. Historically, the simpler historic buildings
generally have vertically boarded (plank) doors and
the width of the boarding and moulding is often
a guide to their age. Panelled exterior doors are
common for higher status houses, and are often
used for the front door in contrast to plank doors
at the rear.

Fig.32: Historic doors

Page
19 295

Today this distinction is less clear with many
replacement doors, and a tendency to favour
panelled doors for residential properties.
4.42

Few historic doors survive in the Conservation
Area and it is more likely to find only a surviving
door surround or doorcase, such as the elegant
hood canopy at the Post Office. There has been
widespread replacement of doors and few replicate
traditional detailing. The insertion of upvc doors
and modern off-the-peg designs are particularly
harmful. Poorly selected replacement doors are
eroding the character of the area and particularly
harmful when inserted into the unified rows of
terraced cottages. Surviving historic doors have a
patina and charm that is not easily replicated.

Chimneys and porches
4.43

4.44

Chimney stacks are a distinctive element in the
village roofscape and the majority tend to be
simple stacks set on the ridge without decoration,
apart from a simple oversailing course. Most
chimneys tend to be of brick, even on stone
buildings, which is perhaps symptomatic of the
quality of the stone. The Post Office has tall
ornate stacks typical of a late Victorian style of
the building. Many stacks have been disfigured by
poor rebuilding and truncating, others have been
removed altogether.

4.45

The two flint mill chimneys are distinctive
elements of the complex, although not particularly
visible in distant views.

4.46

Porches are not generally a feature of vernacular
buildings in the District and historically were
limited to wealthy 17th and 18th century houses.
Farmhouses and cottages generally had internal
lobbies instead. In Cheddleton porches are not a
feature of the historic village and the introduction
of modern canopies and porches can look out of
place on prominent elevations.

The number and position of chimneys is an
essential feature in understanding historic
buildings, reflecting the interior design, and the
relative wealth of the owner. By the mid-18th
century smaller houses began to have more than
one heated room, each with a chimney breast
for a coal fire, and served by gable end chimneys.
Chimney breasts are internal and not visible on the
gable.

Page 20
296

Street Surfaces
4.47

Boundaries

Remnant historic surfaces can be seen in places
throughout the Conservation Area (Fig.33). Stone
flags and steps survive at the entrances to many
houses, and stone setts can be seen around the
Flint Mills, in front of the Red Lion Inn and the
alleyway linking The Hollow to Fold Lane. Early
20th century photographs show that the roads
were compacted stone, without pavements and the
use of stone setts, blue paviours and stone flags
were widespread. Where surviving surfaces exist
these should be protected and reinstatement is
encouraged. Standard tarmac surfaces should be
discouraged for new developments in favour of
higher quality materials

4.48

Boundaries within the village are a defining feature
and the material, design and finish closely relates
to the status of the property and its purpose. As a
general rule mortared or ashlar walling with welltooled capping stones and decorative gateposts
were provided for high status houses, and dry
stone and brick walls with simple capping stones
and hedges typical of farmhouses and cottages.
Distinctive boundaries are identified on Map 2 but
there are many other smaller sections of walling,
hedges and other boundaries which contribute to
the area’s overall character.

4.49

Along Hollow Lane the stone and brick boundary
walls opposite the Church are prominent features
in front of the cottages, with a mix of traditional
copings. Lower down the lane towards Cheadle
Road drystone walling serves to retain the high
earth banks and extends round onto Cheadle Road.

Fig.33: Historic surfacing

Page
21 297

Stone walling is also prominent along its Tanyard
and most spectacularly along Park Lane where the
drystone walling is several metres high. The former
National School has a fine stone boundary around
it perimeter, incorporating stone piers and capping
stones. The Churchyard has the most impressive
arrangement of walls with finely tooled ashlar
stone with dressed copings to the most important
elevations and coursed drystone walls elsewhere,
including the staggered retaining walls on the
valley sides (Fig.34).

Fig.34: Boundaries

Page 22
298

4.50

In places boundaries have been removed or
had wide openings inserted to create vehicular
hardstandings. In other areas traditional
boundaries have been replaced with modern brick
walls or fencing. Drystone walls are vulnerable to
disfiguring mortar repairs and pointing rather than
being repaired and rebuilt, other walls have been
lowered. The local walling materials and details
help unite the area and add greatly to its charm.

Green spaces and trees
4.51

Green open spaces and mature trees (identified
on Map 2) are an important feature of the village.
The most striking feature is the steep hillside
of rough grassland and trees separating the mill
complex from the old village perched high above.
This open area creates an abrupt edge to the village
and allows unrestricted outward views. Also of
note is the river valley which is mainly pasture
and undeveloped, but for the former industrial
complexes and canal infrastructure. This greenery
runs from here up the dry valley past the old stone
dock house to the rear of the Red Lion Inn, which
provides a crucial open space to protect the rural
setting and form of the village. The fields to the
western edge of the Conservation Area, including
those running alongside Ostler’s Lane, also help
define the village’s rural character. The open land
to the east of Fold Lane is an important green
open space but is fast being eroded by domestic
alterations.

4.52

The churchyard is a splendid green space with
plentiful fine specimen trees. Also significant are
the mature gardens to the rear of the Black Lion
Inn and the small front gardens facing Hollow
Lane. Mature trees along the lower end of Hollow
Lane and around Fold Lane are significant within
the village. Most prominent are the majestic beech
trees flanking Ostler’s Lane which add to the
feeling of enclosure and frame outward views.

Negative factors
4.53

Several elements of modern living detract from
the character and appearance of the Conservation
Area:

Bland repetitive nature of modern
replacement windows and doors,
including UPVC and staining.
4.54

Throughout the Conservation Area the unique
qualities of the area are being eroded by the
incremental destruction of historic detailing.
Cheddleton is fortunate in having its central area
largely untouched by new building and major
alterations, and the majority of its buildings are
of a great age. However, few buildings retain
windows and doors of their original design which
takes away from the overall charm of the village.
Due to the pressure to individualise property
and the availability of cheap off-the-peg inferior
products, such as standardised windows and doors,
the rate of change is rapid. Part L of the Building
Regulations specifically allows exemption for
buildings in Conservation Areas from complying
with the Regulations where historic detailing is
threatened by building alterations; this includes
retaining or reinstating single glazing. Alternatively
modern thermally efficient windows can be bought
which retain the appearance of their traditional
counterparts. Unfortunately, the use of top opening
lights, staining and poorly designed double glazing
is causing damage to the local character of the
village.

Page
23 299

4.59

Domestic alterations
4.55

4.56

The tight clustering of buildings within the
Conservation Area means that small alterations of
poor quality can cumulatively be quite damaging
to the area as a whole. This is especially apparent
when alterations are made to the roof, the
enlargement of window openings and insertion of
modern windows/doors, and erection of porches.
Other minor additions such as prominent meter
boxes, unsightly boiler and ventilation cowls,
and small extensions can be harmful. Buildings
alongside The Red Lion and terraced cottages
along Hollow Lane are particularly vulnerable.
In places poorly designed domestic extensions have
impacted on views of the church and churchyard,
and on views from Fold Terrace towards the
church. The loss/truncation of chimney stacks and
chimney pots can also be harmful to the character
of the area.

Fold Lane
4.60

Parking is always difficult in historic settlements,
such as along Hollow Lane, and often cannot be
resolved. In many cases hardstandings are created
in front gardens, which have a harmful visual
effect, and often requires the loss of boundary walls
and hedges.

4.58

Boundary walls and hedges are a strong feature of
the area. In addition to their piecemeal removal,
many are altered beyond recognition by works such
as pointing drystone walls, rebuilding or replacing
copings. Some are replaced with modern materials,
such as timber fencing along Fold Lane.

The character and appearance of the Fold
Lane area has been eroded through piecemeal
alterations, subdivision of land, and erection of
modern fencing which has detracted from the
open rural character of the area. Pockets of land are
untidy and unused.

Electricity sub-station and its
environs near to the church.
4.61

Parking and boundary walls
4.57

It is important to value the variety of local
boundary materials and seek their careful retention
and repair and resist modern walling materials,
metal railings and timber fencing. New boundaries
should seek to follow the local materials and
details. Widening of roadways should also be
avoided.

This is a prominent but scruffy area of land
between the church and Black Lion Inn. It requires
improved screening and landscaping.

Red Lion Inn car park
4.62

The perimeter fencing to this area is in need of
replacement and is affected by litter. To the front
of the Inn historic setts have been overlain with
tarmac which detracts from the setting of the
building. Consideration should be given to their
reinstatement.

Car park to industrial land near the
canal.
4.63

Page 24
300

Views of the car park servicing the industrial
buildings are very open and would benefit from
further screening and landscaping.

Other Issues
4.64

Overhead electricity wires and poles are visually
intrusive within the Conservation Area and in the
long-term consideration could be given to placing
them underground. Whilst the placing of satellite
dishes is not at present a particular problem within
the Conservation Area in the future inappropriate
siting could become visually damaging and advice
needs to be given on careful siting which will not
require planning permission.

4.65

The bus shelter on Cheadle Road is in need of
decoration.

4.66

Most parts of the village have suffered in the
past from small ill-considered alterations and
extensions or unsympathetic maintenance. It would
require a small effort, however, to correct this and
restore many features. Further unsympathetic
alterations could seriously affect the character of
the old village.

General Condition of Area and Built
Fabric
4.67

The overall condition of the area is tidy and its
buildings overall appear in good condition. Several
buildings fronting Cheadle road near to the Flint
Mill are in need of sensitive repair. Parts of Fold
Lane and several private and public car parks are in
need of improved screening and enhancement.

4.68

A management plan for the village would establish
the framework for monitoring the condition
of buildings in the Conservation Area and also
to note surviving original architectural features
and fenestration - distinctive local detailing,
doors, window and roof coverings. This could
be updated to monitor changes to the condition
of its building stock and highlight any loss of
significant architectural features. This could assist
in the management of the area and be used to
attract grant aid and consider appropriate levels of
planning control.

Page
25 301

5 Proposed Article 4 Direction
The character appraisal has highlighted the harm that is
being caused to the historic appearance of Cheddleton
from the incremental erosion of historic detailing to
residential property. It is therefore proposed that an
Article 4 Direction is served to withdraw permitted
development rights for specific types of development.
Many external household alterations are classified
as ‘Permitted Development’, under the provisions of
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (The GPDO). This means that
they can be carried out without the need for planning
permission, even in Conservation Areas. Permitted
Development rights currently exist for a large number
of alterations that can have a significant impact on
the character of the area. This can include the loss of
traditional style windows and doors (and changes to
the size of openings), loss of local roofing materials or
designs of chimney stacks and local wall finishes. Loss of
traditional boundaries to frontages and the creation of
hardstandings also harm the setting of these buildings.
In particular, where the character of an area is dominated
by repeated architectural details, locally-distinctive
features and a rhythm of detailing to buildings and their
frontages loss of those features places the character of the
conservation area under threat.

An Article 4 Direction does not prevent the development,
but instead requires planning permission to be first
obtained from the Council. This will enable the Council
to preserve locally distinctive features and to encourage
improved detailing and materials. Historic England
advises that Article 4 Directions can increase the public
protection both of designated and non-designated
heritage assets, and help the protection of the setting of all
heritage assets. The NPPF states that ‘the use of Article
4 Directions to remove national permitted development
rights should be limited to situations where this is
necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the
area...’
The Council is producing Design Guidance to encourage
appropriate types of development and suggest ways of
retaining and reintroducing local

An Article 4 Direction enables the Council to
require owners and/or occupiers to apply for planning
permission for certain alterations where the character of
a conservation area is under threat. Article 4 Directions
have recently been introduced in Leek, Rudyard and
Oakamoor Conservation Areas and have been successful
in protecting the distinctive character of these areas.
The Article 4 Direction would cover the elevations of
residential properties fronting a highway, waterway or
open space.

Page 26
302

6 Suggested Boundary Changes
6.1

The current boundary was designated in 1970. The
boundary has been re-evaluated in drawing up the
appraisal and it is recommended that consideration
be given to including the former National School
at the end of the village (Fig.35), and Hanfield
Farm. The former school is an important part of
the social history of the village, is a building of
historic quality and interest and closely relates
the historic core of the village. Hanfield farm is a
fine 19th century farmstead which has survived as
an outlying farm and not been encroached upon
by village expansion. The grouping of buildings,
boundaries and open fields contribute greatly
to the rural setting of the village. The suggested
revised boundary is shown on Map 1&2. Reviews
will be undertaken to ensure that the boundary
continues to reflect the historic character and
appearance of the area.

Fig.35: Area suggested for including within the boundary

7 Community
Involvement
5.1

The Conservation Area Appraisal will be the
subject of public consultation prior to its formal
adoption by the Council. A management plan
will be prepared to establish a plan of action for
securing the preservation and enhancement of the
area and the local community will also be involved
in the preparation of enhancement schemes that
are proposed.

Page
27 303

APPENDIX ONE
LIST OF BUILDINGS OF SPECIAL ARCHITECTURAL OR HISTORIC INTEREST IN THE
CHEDDLETON CONSERVATION AREA
The entire building is Listed, including all internal and external features and includes curtilage buildings
that formed part of the property up to 1948. The list description has no legal significance and is intended for
identification purposes and should not be treated as a comprehensive or exclusive list of all the features which are
considered to make a building worthy of Listing.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/85 Uninscribed memorial - 10m north of north aisle of Church of St Edward
Grade II
Chest tomb. Late C18. Stone. Pilasters at angles with fleurons to heads. Fluted frieze under moulded top slab.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (south side)
13/87 No.19
Grade II (group value)
Cottage. Early Cl9, possibly retaining earlier work. Painted brick-work with stone quoins (to left only); tiled roof
on dentilled eaves, end stacks. 2-storey, single-window front with 3-light segmental-head casements; segmentalheaded boarded door to right. Faces the churchyard to the north. Included for group value.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (south side)
13/88 - No.25
Grade II (group value)
House. C18 with mid-C19 alterations and additions. Coursed dressed stone with top floor built up in brickwork;
tiled roof; verge parapets to east side; end stacks. 3-storey, 2-window front; casements; 3 lights to left, 2 to
right (except ground floor) first floor with segmental heads and keystones, the ground floor windows possibly
enlarged in C20 with painted plain lintels; central entrance with boarded door. Faces the churchyard to the north.
Included for group value.

Page 28
304

CHEDDLETON C.P. LEEK ROAD
SJ 9652-9752
13/94 Bridge over River Churnet
Grade II
Road bridge. Late C18 or early C19. Ashlar, rusticated to abutments; single elliptical arch with substantial
voussoir blocks; roll-moulded string to carriageway level and square coping to parapet, the abutments are splayed
at the extremities.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CALDON CANAL
SJ 9652-9752
SJ 973 525
13/39 Bridge at SJ 973 525 Grade II
Accommodation bridge. Early C19. Brick with stone cappings; slightly concave faces; single elliptical arch with
stone hawser block at impost level; parapet and carriageway cambered (in 2 diagonal and one horizontal run)
over span. This section of the Caldon Canal was opened circa 1779 to take limestone from Caldon Low, John
Rennie engineer.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CALDON CANAL
SJ 95 SE
SJ 950 537
5/43 Lock at SJ 950 537
Grade II (group value)
Lock. Circa 1779 with mid-C19 alterations and circa 1981 lock gates. Stone retaining walls patched within
channel in blue brick and concrete. Lower face has sandstone steps winding up from canal level (and cutting
into retaining wall) on left and climbing embankment to right, wrought iron spandrels under catwalk span lower
entrance to lock. Forms part of a group with the nearby bridge (q.v.).

CHEDDLETON C.P. CALDON CANAL
SJ 95 SE
SJ 950 536
(Leek Branch)
5/44 Bridge at SJ 950 536
Grade II
Accommodation bridge. Early C19. Coursed squared and dressed stone with rounded copings; elliptical arch
(including towpath) string at carriageway level; parapets and carriageway cambered over span and terminated
by piers. This section of the Caldon Canal was opened circa 1801 to take cheaper coal to Leek, John Rennie
engineer.

Page
29 305

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (west side)
13/65 Mill Cottage - adjacent to Cheddleton Mill (south)
Grade II*
Cottage. Early C19 with C20 alterations. Coursed dressed and squared stone; tiled roof; verge parapets; brick
end stack to left. Small, 2-storey, 2-window front; small-pane casements, 2-light to left and single-light to right;
entrance slightly to right of centre with boarded door. Forms part of Cheddleton flint mill complex including
grinding mills (q.v.), furnaces and kilns (q.v.), all set in a close and attractive group. Flint was fired, ground in the
mills and bake-dried to form ‘slop’, an admixture to produce more durable and finely-textured tile and pottery
used by the nearby 5 towns in the C19.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9152 (west side)
13/67 North mill to Cheddleton Flint Mill
Grade II*
Water mill for grinding flint. 1756-65, possibly by Brindley. Red brick with sandstone quoins; tiled roof. 2-storey,
single-window west front with segmental-headed cast-iron casement to first floor set over wide segmentalheaded boarded door; lean-to to left; timber and cast-iron undershot wheel to right-hand gable set in a mill race
taken off the River Churnet and shared with the South Mill (q.v.). The mill forms part of a complex including
furnaces and drying kilns (q.v.), all set in a close and attractive group. Flint was fired, ground in the mills and
bake-dried to form ‘slop’, an admixture to produce more durable and finely-textured tile and pottery used by the
nearby 5 towns in the C19.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/77 Churchyard cross approx. 15m south of 3.1.67 south aisle of Church of St Edward
Grade II
Cross. Possibly C15, restored by G.G. Scott Junior, 1876. Stone. Circular, stepped base of 4 tiers; square shaft
(approximately 2m high), with column applied to each face; floral-banded capital and head, all the work of Scott
in collaboration with William Morris depicting the instruments of the Passion in gabletted niches; short cusped
cross over. Forms the centrepiece of a quintessential English churchyard.

Page 30
306

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/80 Sundial approx. 40m south of Church of St Edward
Grade II
Sundial, possibly re-using parts of a C17 cross. Stone. Octagonal base, jointed and in 2 parts. Square shaft
approximately 1.2m high, chamfered and run-out to base and under head with cyma recta stops; scrolled
inscription under rim and inscribed on north-east and north-west faces “H.O.”, “C.W.” respectively.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/84 - Smith memorial approx. 10m north-east of north aisle of Church of St Edward
Grade II
Chest tomb. Edward Smith, died 1838. Stone. Moulded plinth, pilasters at angles, both the plinth and top slab
break around pilasters; double-incised inscribed panels to sides, moulded edge to slab. Plinth remains to former
railed enclosure.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (east side)
13/49 Red Lion Inn
Grade II
Inn. Early C19. Painted-brick frontage with stone side and rear elevations and stone quoins to right side of front;
tiled roof; verge parapets; brick end stacks. 3-storey, 3-window front; segmental-headed casements 3 lights with
keystone to outer ground and first floor, circular window to centre of first floor and smaller segmental-headed
square window over to second floor flanked by small 2-light windows; central entrance with quoined surround
and boarded door.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (west side)
13/64 Furnaces approx. 30m south of Cheddleton Mill
Grade II*
Flint furnaces. Late C18. Coursed squared and dressed sandstone blocks with some brick dressings. The furnaces
are set in a bank with a retaining wall on 2-faces approximately 2m high facing north and east, this has 2
buttresses in the larger north face and 2 small elliptically-arched furnace openings (brick dressed to left) set
between. Further opening to east. The remainder of the mill complex is set across the yard to the north, including
kiln (q.v.), grinding mills (q.v.) and manager’s house (not included). Flint was fired, ground in the mills and bakedried to form ‘slop’, an admixture to produce more durable and finely-textured tile and pottery used by the nearby
5 towns in the C19.

Page
31 307

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (west side)
13/68 - Slip drying kiln and sheds to Cheddleton flint mill
Grade II*
Slip drying kiln and sheds. Early C19 with late C19 and C20 additions. Coursed stone and red brick (to later
parts); tiled roof; verge parapets to west; large chimney (approximately 10m high) set to rear. Single-storey and
attic front in 2 parts, of stone to left and brick to right; the former, earlier part has a boarded door to left of
centre and blocked small opening to left. The right-hand part in 2 periods of brickwork has a double door set
against the butt joint dividing the 2 parts and a further boarded door to the right. The raised drying floor for the
kilns is set within a lean-to at the rear running the centre length of the building and part open to the north. The
kiln shed forms part of the Cheddleton flint mill complex including grinding mills (q.v.) and furnaces (q.v.), set
in a close and attractive group. Flint was fired, ground in the mills and bake-dried to form ‘slop’, an admixture to
produce more durable and finely-textured tile and pottery used by the nearby 5 towns in the C19.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/76 Church of St Edward 3.1.67 the Confessor (formerly listed as Church of St Edwards)
GV II*
Parish church. C13, C14 and C15 with additions and alterations of 1863-4 by George Gilbert Scott Junior.
Red sandstone of ashlar quality; red tiled roof to all but tower and south aisle which are flat with lead invisible
behind parapets. West tower, nave, north and south aisles (with porch) and chancel. Tower: of approximately
3 stages, diagonal buttresses to west, cavetto string above and below bell chamber; crenellated parapet with
crocketed pinnacles at angles; 2-light, labelled almost-round arch bell chamber openings, small lancets to upper
stage and C19 two-light west window with panel tracery over Tudor-arch labelled west door. C15 south aisle
and projecting gabled porch; 3 bays, buttressed at ends and parapetted with porch set to west; 2- and 3-light
pointed C19 windows; porch has a solid stone roof [perhaps the inspiration for the lychgate (q.v.)] and roundarch doorway with heavily carved C19 door. North aisle: by Scott, of 3 bays divided by 2-stage buttresses of
2-light pointed windows; lower parallel range to west of one bay. Chancel: C14, low moulded plinth, taller than
nave, of 3 bays divided by 2-stage buttresses, labelled 2-light pointed windows; 4-light curvi-linear-tracery
east window by Scott; ogee-headed priest door to south, adjacent to centre window. Interior: nave of 3 bays;
C13 arcade to north with circular columns, octagonal abaci and double-chamfered pointed arches, C15 south
arcade on octagonal columns; no chancel arch, the space is filled by C19 oak screen with pointed arch and panel
tracery; nave roof C19 with tie and collar trusses bearing double purlins and exposed rafters; painted boarded
vault to chancel; arch brace collared trusses to north aisle. The tower has a painted boarded canopy under the
organ (situated in the tower). Piscina and sedilia: C14, ogee-headed of bays and with ball-flower decoration to
intrados band and poppyhead finials. Reredos: Flemish relief of the deposition to back made into a triptych by
additions of Morris & Co depicting the annunciation. Pulpit: C19, octagonal oak on a stone base. Font: C19
alabaster, octagonal, with blind tracery to sides and short, open-work ogee-shaped oak spire cover. Brass Flemish
eagle lectern. Monuments: all resited on south wall of tower at high level. Fynney family: Gothic; crocketed
gabled niche flanked by clustered columns on corbelled bases with carved faces. Powys: 2 monuments at-the
instigation of Edward Powys, one to a friend, and to his son. Late C18 slate and marble plaques with urns over.
Glass: mostly by William Morris and his group executed between 1864-69, including work by Madox Brown and
Burne-Jones. The incumbent during the mid-C19 was Edward Wardle, a friend of William Morris, explaining
the high but sensitive tone of the restoration work.

Page 32
308

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/81 Bagnall memorial - adjacent to east end of chancel of Church of St Edward
Grade II (group value)
Chest tomb. John Bagnall, died 1816. Moulded plinth; reeded pilasters at angles, capitals have fleuron heads;
elliptical inscribed panels to sides.

CHEDDLETON HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752
NO 2
1798-0/13/10001 The Hall House
Grade II
House. c1500, altered c1600 and C19. Timber-framed origin rebuilt and extended in sandstone rubble and
ashlar; decorative blue tile roof. 2 storeys, 3 windows to 1st floor: originally of 3 bays with central open hall and
cross passage behind inserted stack. Front: large quoins; door to left of centre has plain lintel; C20 casement to
left and two 3-light casements with glazing bars to right. Between the 3-light casements is a small casement
within altered 2-light mullioned window. Straight joint to left of door and rendered patch to far right indicate
position of former wall posts. Raised eaves with three 2-light casements in gabled half-dormers. Brick ridge stack
to right of door; end stacks. Rear: stonework of various periods; two 16-pane sash window flank small casements
to the stair area; infilled mullioned window near centre; door and casement in rendered panel on right. Right
return: intact 3-light chamfered, mullioned window to 1st floor. Interior: central room has twin, stop-chamfered
spine beams resting on an arched fireplace bressumer; stone reredos wall. Oak door at foot of enclosed stair. 1st
floor: oak boards in south end room; C17 oak doors of various designs. Fragments of wall posts exposed. Central
roof truss of heavy scantling with arch braces, collar with mount boss, rafter sections with mortices for wind
braces. Early brick chimney breasts above main fireplace and within north gable. Roof structure of later date.

Page
33 309

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/79 Churchyard retaining wall around Church of St Edward
Grade II (group value)
Churchyard wall. Possibly C18, part rebuilt circa 1876 to complement work of George Gilbert Scott Junior.
Coursed dressed and squared stone, approximately 30m portion to east and west of lychgate (q.v.) on south
side is of ashlar quality 1.2-2m high with roll-crested pitched coping serving as parapet as well as retaining; the
remainder of coarser construction with plain coping.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9152 (north side)
13/83 - Leek memorial adjacent to south side of chancel of Church of St Edward
Grade II
Obelisk memorial. Ralph Leek, died 1795. Signed at base G. Hunt, Hanley. Stone. Heavy plinth, inscribed die,
tapered into chamfer at upper edges and finished by obelisk with blind trefoil-headed lucarnes to faces. Hunt was
responsible for many memorials in this area.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (west side)
13/66 Mill cottage approx. 20m south-east of Cheddleton Flint Mill
Grade II*
Cottage. Late C18 with early C19 alterations. Coursed dressed and squared stone; tiled roof; ridge stack (above
straight joint) to right of centre. 2-storey, 2-window front, chamfered angle to right end; casements, offset to
right (possibly formerly block mullioned to first floor); door in C20 glazed porch to left; straight joint between
window ranges. The cottage forms part of the Cheddleton Flint Mill complex, including grinding mills (q.v.) and
furnaces (q.v.) set in a close and attractive group. Included for group value.

CHEDDLETON C.P. CHEADLE ROAD
SJ 9652-9752 (west side)
13/69 South mill to Cheddleton flint mill
Grade II*
Water mill; built as a corn mill and subsequently used for grinding flint. Earlier core to early and mid-C19
superstructure. Sandstone ashlar to lower parts (core); red brick above; tiled roof. 2-storey and attic gabled front
to south side. Circular opening to apex over C19 casement window (left) and boarded door (right) on first floor
served by an open flight of steps, wide mill door set to left of ground floor with brick relieving arch over. The
undershot timber and cast iron wheel is set on the north-facing gable in a mill race taken off the River Churnet,
and shared with the North Mill (q.v.).
The grinding of flint to produce ‘slop’ was an important admixture to Tile-making in The Potteries during the
C19. The mill forms part of a complex including furnaces and drying kilns (q.v.), all set in a close and attractive
group.

Page 34
310

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/78 Lychgate to Church of St Edward
3.1.67
Grade II (group value)
Lychgate. Circa 1876, by George Gilbert Scott Junior. Ashlar jointed blocks, including roof. Gabled single-storey
front, pointed entry arch inset in recessed panel, corbelled out at head by floral motifs; 3 stepped lancet-openings
over in ribbed panels, also with coats-of- arms over; clasping buttress sides stepped-in in 2 stages with quatrefoil
frieze at impost level. The interior has a stone-ribbed vault.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/82 Godwin memorial - approx. 2m south of Church of St Edward
Grade II (group value)
Chest tomb. Richard Godwin, died 1795. Stone. Set on moulded plinth, waisted pilasters at angles and elliptical
inscribed side panels with fan motifs to spandrels.

CHEDDLETON C.P. HOLLOW LANE
SJ 9652-9752 (north side)
13/86 School and library 20m west of Church of St Edward
3.1.67
Grade II (group value)
School and library. Circa 1876 by George Gilbert Scott Junior. Coursed squared and dressed stone; tiled roof,
verge parapets. 2-storey; side elevations have three 2-light mullioned windows above string course at first-floor
level and ogee-headed (with moulded surround and label) boarded door to right end, possibly a re-used element.
The south gable at first-floor level has a 2-light labelled window with curvilinear tracery; square-headed door to
right.

Page
35 311

SCHEDULED ANCIENT MONUMENTS
CHURCHYARD CROSS, ST EDWARD’S CHURCHYARD
Date of Scheduling 12/111962
A standing cross is a free standing upright structure, usually of stone, mostly erected during the medieval period
(mid 10th to mid 16th centuries AD). Standing crosses served a variety of functions. In churchyards they served
as stations for outdoor processions, particularly in the observance of Palm Sunday. Elsewhere, standing crosses
were used within settlements as places for preaching, public proclamation and penance, as well as defining rights
of sanctuary. Standing crosses were also employed to mark boundaries between parishes, property, or settlements.
A few crosses were erected to commemorate battles. Some crosses were linked to particular saints, whose
support and protection their presence would have helped to invoke. Crosses in market places may have helped
to validate transactions. After the Reformation, some crosses continued in use as foci for municipal or borough
ceremonies, for example as places for official proclamations and announcements; some were the scenes of games
or recreational activity.
Standing crosses were distributed throughout England and are thought to have numbered in excess of 12,000.
However, their survival since the Reformation has been variable, being much affected by local conditions,
attitudes and religious sentiment. In particular, many cross-heads were destroyed by iconoclasts during the 16th
and 17th centuries. Less than 2,000 medieval standing crosses, with or without cross-heads, are now thought
to exist. The oldest and most basic form of standing cross is the monolith, a stone shaft often set directly in the
ground without a base. The most common form is the stepped cross, in which the shaft is set in a socket stone
and raised upon a flight of steps; this type of cross remained current from the 11th to 12th centuries until after
the Reformation. Where the cross-head survives it may take a variety of forms, from a lantern-like structure to
a crucifix; the more elaborate examples date from the 15th century. Much less common than stepped crosses are
spire-shaped crosses, often composed of three or four receding stages with elaborate architectural decoration and/
or sculptured figures; the most famous of these include the Eleanor crosses, erected by Edward I at the stopping
places of the funeral cortege of his wife, who died in 1290. Also uncommon are the preaching crosses which were
built in public places from the 13th century, typically in the cemeteries of religious communities and cathedrals,
market places and wide thoroughfares; they include a stepped base, buttresses supporting a vaulted canopy,
in turn carrying either a shaft and head or a pinnacled spire. Standing crosses contribute significantly to our
understanding of medieval customs, both secular and religious, and to our knowledge of medieval parishes and
settlement patterns. All crosses which survive as standing monuments, especially those which stand in or near
their original location, are considered worthy of protection.
The churchyard cross at Cheddleton is a good example of a medieval standing cross with a circular socket-stone
and unusual fluted shaft, and it forms the centrepiece of a quintessential English churchyard. Limited activity
in the area immediately surrounding the cross indicates that archaeological deposits relating to the monument’s
construction in this location are likely to survive intact. While the socket-stone and the lower part of the shaft
have survived from medieval times, the subsequent restoration of the steps and head illustrates the continued use
of the cross as a public monument and amenity.

Page 36
312

History
The monument includes a standing stone cross located in the churchyard of St Edward’s Church, Cheddleton,
approximately 15m north east of the south porch. The cross, which is Listed Grade II, is of stepped form and is
partly medieval and partly late 19th century in date. The monument includes a base of three steps, a medieval
socket-stone, a shaft and an ornamental head of late 19th century date.
The steps are circular in plan and constructed of stone blocks. The socket-stone stands on the third step and is
also circular in section. Set into the centre of the socket-stone is a stone shaft of square section with a column
applied to each face. The lowest 1.2m of the shaft represents the remains of the original medieval shaft; whilst
the upper part is thought to date from the late 19th century restoration. The shaft rises from a simple moulded
base to a floral-banded ornamental knop, above which are sculptures depicting the instruments of the Passion, set
within gabled niches, and the cross-head. This takes the form of a cusped stone cross. The head also dates from
the late 19th century restoration of the cross and was designed by George Gilbert Scott Junior in collaboration
with William Morris. The stone paving on the northern side of the cross and the gravestone to the south are
excluded from the scheduling although the ground beneath the paving is included.

Page
37 313

L EE

K

Cheddleton Conservation Area Map 1

Collects
Collects

Sunny View

Spring

th

Pa

Braeside
Tanners

FB

(Museum)

Second

15

141.1m
GP

Weir

First

House

17

21 t

o 23

Shelter

Chy
FB
8m

Churnet

Pipeline

0.

Works

14

2

Tr
a

Track

Roamersley

Pa
th

(u

m

)

View

10

ck

11

8

Hillsdene

Shelter
TCB

Pond

Lock

LB
El

k

4

c
Tra

29

38

37

57

Cheddleton

42
69

1

3

43
Bank

1

Vicarage
56

25

OS

h

Pat

89

TLE

C of E (C)

6
Terrace

RS

175.8m

52

LAN

E

Pipeline

85

12
15 11
9

4

5

32 174.2m

2

8a
03

LB
House
1

m

2.9

17

1

9a

44

170.8m

15

21

25

7
9

61

r
Wa

26

The

3

11

16

166.7m

151.8m

m

158.8

6

47

Cross

Issues

Hanfield

8

38

170.5m

Potential extension to
the Conservation Area

2a

(PH)

14

Church

Pond Lock

Red

2

175.3m

Pipeline
31

Longfields

FB

Grange Farm Barns

60

3

The Grange
99

64
62

37

103

80

Greenways

89

22

15

ROAD
25

18
E

3

13

10

4
2

HOL

LY A
V

ENU

18

NU

12

CH
AVE

12

9
2

11

24

RO

36

2

12

Kildona
24
© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

AD

13

48

OAK A
VENU
E

2 1
19

LAND

12

153

82
92

Local Green Space (as defined in the adopted Local Plan)

19

MOOR

1

110

31

1

9

8

BEE

3

2

21

Page 38
314
15

JENN
YS WA
Y

25

23
21

133
145

147

LB TCB

24

Caldon Canal Conservation area

2

14

5

98

OSE
SNEYD CL
1
9

19

77

3

1

1

65

5

MP

11

10

20

Tel Ex

OX

2

3

2

137

15 13

17

11

1

70

33

123
0
A52

OX PASTURE

31

10

4

58

30

Greenways

9

33

20

28

6

127

52

The

63

Boundary (25/7/70)

Tennis

119

57
57A

NE

House

E

49

Foxholes

El

Cheddleton

Play Area

8

59

St Andrew's

Pond

Tree Tops

LA

48

Childrens Nursery

1

162.8m

8

6

K

Cheddleton Villagescape Analysis Map 2

L EE

Collects

Collects
Sunny View

Spring

th

Pa

Braeside
Tanners

FB

(Museum)

Second

15

141.1m
GP

Weir

First

House

17

21 t

o 23

Shelter

Chy
FB
8m

Churnet

Pipeline

0.

Works

14

2

Tr
a

Track

Roamersley

Pa
th

(u

m

)

View

10

ck

11

8

Hillsdene

Shelter
TCB

Pond

Lock

LB
El

k

4

c
Tra

29

37

57

Cheddleton

42
69

5

32 174.2m

38

1

3

43
Bank

1

Vicarage
56

25

OS

h

Pat

89

TLE

C of E (C)

6
Terrace

RS

175.8m

52

LAN

E

Pipeline

85

12
15 11
9

4

LB
House

2

8a
03

1

9a

1

m

2.9

17

15

21

25

3
7
9

44

170.8m

16

166.7m

The

61

r
Wa

26

11

151.8m

m

158.8

6

47

Cross

Issues

Hanfield

8

38

170.5m

Potential extension to
the Conservation Area

2a

(PH)

14

Church

Pond Lock

Red

2

175.3m

Pipeline
31

Longfields

FB

Grange Farm Barns

60

3

The Grange
99

64
62

37

103

80

Greenways

15

1

19

LAND
12

ROAD
25

15
3

18

13

10

2

HOL

LY A
V

ENU

12

4

BEE

1

CH
AVE

NU

22

E

18

8

9
2

12

11

24

RO

36

2

12

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

AD

13

48

Kildona

Cauldon Canal Conservation Area

19

MOOR

24

OAK A
VENU
E

2 1

23
21

133
137
145

147

3

2

153

82

Page
39 315

9

1

110

2

14

5

98

LB TCB

31

89

1

21

92

JENN
YS WA
Y

25

33

123
0

65

77

OSE
SNEYD CL
1
9

24

Significant views

Conservation area boundary

MP

3

Local Plan)

Important green open space

Listed Buildings (excluding curtilage)

5

10

Tel Ex

OX

19

Areas with potential for improvement

2

3

2

11

Local Green Space (as defined in the

11
9

1

El
20
adopted

10
A52

15 13

17

Other Significant Buildings

Greenways

4

OX PASTURE

31

6

127

52

30

58

20

28

Significant trees groups + hedges

70

Tennis

119

57
57A

NE

House

E

49

Foxholes

The

63

St Andrew's

Walls & Traditional railings 33

#

Play Area

8

59

Legend

Pond

Tree Tops

LA

48

Childrens Nursery

1

162.8m

8

6

Map 3 Cheddleton as mapped by Yates in 1775. Moorland is shown stippled

Page 40
316

Cheddleton 1st edition OS

Page
41 317

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

email: conservation@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk Tel: 0345 605 3013

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands ST13 6HQ

Page 318

Upper Tean

Conservation Area

Consultation Edition

Appraisal

Page 319

Contents
1
2
3
4
5

Introduction. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Location and Setting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Historic Development and Archaeology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
Character Analysis. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Community Involvement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

APPENDICES
Appendix 1
List of buildings of special architectural or historic interest
MAPS

Map 1 Upper Tean Conservation Area
Map 2 Yates Map of 1775
Map 3 1st Edition OS Map 1890-91
Map 4 Villagescape analysis

PRINTED SOURCES

Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England (1992) Tean Hall Mills, Upper Tean
Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England (1992) Tean Hall, Upper Tean
Pitt W. (1817) A Topographical History of Staffordshire
The Victoria History of the County of Stafford vols. II.
Staffordshire County Record Office
Note: This character appraisal is not intended to be comprehensive and omission of any particular building,
feature or space should not be taken to imply that it is of no special interest.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Yates Map of Staffordshire reproduced by permission of Staffordshire Record Society.

Page 320

Upper Tean

Conservation Area

1 Introduction
1.0
1.1

1.2

Summary of Interest

The District Council designated the Conservation
Area in September 1998. It is unique settlement
where the development of the tape industry
has shaped the form and appearance of a small
agricultural community. The domestic origins
of the industry and the stages that led to largescale industrialisation are recorded in the village
through its buildings and its wider context.
The Conservation Area centres on Tean Hall Mill
and its complex of associated industrial, domestic
and institutional buildings. Imposing mill
buildings in the heart of Upper Tean make this a
dramatic and unexpected settlement set alongside
the River Tean within a rolling agricultural
landscape.

Purpose of the Document
1.6

The boundary focuses on the historic core of the
village (Map 1). The High Street runs east to west
through the centre of the Conservation Area. To
the south, the boundary takes in the extensive
Tean Hall Mill complex and extends across the
flood plain to the banks of the River Tean. The
mill worker’s cottages of Hall Yard, Hall Meadow
and Adams Valley are included together with 19th
century residential development along both sides
of Uttoxeter Road. The boundary incorporates
the cluster of early buildings at the junction with
Hollington Road and extends to include Christ
Church.

1.4

The River Tean serves as the western boundary,
which continues north to include properties and
gardens on Old Road, together with properties at
the lower end of Gorsty Hill Road, and the mill
worker’s cottages of Kiln Croft and Holborne Row.
The boundary includes properties on St Thomas’
Road but excludes later development on the north
side beyond St Thomas’ School Nursery as far as
Hollington Road.

1.5

To the west of the High Street, on the far banks of
the River Tean, the boundary includes the outlying
grouping of mill worker’s cottages at ‘The Island’.

•

Evaluate and record the historical significance
of the area.

•

Identify features of villagescape and landscape
importance.

•

Communicate what requires to be protected,
and to

•

Serve as a basis for schemes of preservation
and enhancement.

1.7

It is intended that the document will enable those
living and working in the area to value its special
qualities and to prepare development proposals,
which complement the surrounding built heritage.
It will also be used by the Local Authority to
assess planning applications and to prepare a
management plan for the area, which may include
proposals for enhancement schemes. Other local
authority departments and statutory undertakers
are required to have regard to the need to preserve
and enhance conservation areas and this document
will assist in formulating proposals for Upper Tean.

1.8

The document will be the subject of public
consultation prior to adoptionThe document will
be periodically reviewed and updated.

The Conservation Area Boundary
1.3

This document is an analysis of the characteristics
that make the Upper Tean Conservation Area
worthy of preserving. It aims to:

Page
1 321

Upper Tean
Planning Background
1.9

Conservation Area

Conservation Areas are protected under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. This primary legislation requires
proposals that need planning permission to
preserve or enhance the special architectural or
historic interest of the area.

National planning policy for the historic
environment is all contained within one overarching document, the National Planning Policy
Framework (2018). This embodies a holistic view
of the historic environment and is designed to
ensure that decisions are not made in isolation
without first considering the significance of the
particular aspects of the historic environment
and then addressing economic, social and
environmental sustainability issues. The NPPF
should be read alongside the Planning Practice
Guide ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic
Environment’ which gives more detailed advice on
Conservation Area designation and management.
Historic England also provides further detailed
guidance.
The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020)
contains policies relating to Conservation Areas
and other heritage assets as well as policies
on design and landscape character. Allowing
only suitable development which would secure
the future conservation of a heritage asset in
accordance with Policy DC2.
1.10

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
currently has 17 Conservation Areas, excluding
the area covered by the Peak District National
Park. Government guidance requires each
Conservation Area to have a character appraisal
and management plan to provide a basis for
making decisions.

The location and design of new development

•

The size of extensions for which Planning
Permission is needed

•

 emolition of buildings, gates, walls, fences
D
and railings

•

Work to trees

•

Advertisements

Planning Permission will only be granted for
development which preserves or enhances the
character or appearance of the Conservation Area
in accordance with planning policies. The Council
offers a pre-application advice service for guidance
on development proposals to ensure that the
special character of the area is considered at an
early stage in the planning process and to assist in
achieving the best outcome for applicants and the
heritage. More detailed design guidance on the
council’s website and technical publications are
also available to assist in specifying work affecting
historic buildings.

1.13

Where the Council considers that the appearance
of an area is being harmed by unsympathetic
alterations to houses in Conservation Areas it may
serve an Article 4 Direction on selected properties.
This requires that certain external alterations to a
building will need Planning Permission, such as
new doors, windows, painting or rendering of the
exterior and the demolition of boundaries.

1.14

Conservation Area status also means that the
Council can offer grant aid for the repair and
enhancement of buildings or areas. If funds
become available it will prepare enhancement
schemes for those areas where this is considered
necessary.

1.15

Public consultation will be undertaken for any
proposals to enhance an area or to introduce
additional controls.

Designation seeks to preserve and enhance the
character and appearance of Conservation Areas
by imposing additional controls over:
•

Certain minor works (e.g. roof alterations,
cladding, satellite dishes)

1.12

Implications of Designation
1.11

•

Page 2322

2 Location and Setting
2.1

Upper Tean lies in the south of the Staffordshire
Moorlands District, about 8 miles east of the
Potteries conurbation and 16 miles south of Leek.
It is situated on the A522 between Cheadle and
Uttoxeter. The village is set in the valley of the
River Tean, close to the confluence with the River
Dove.

2.3

With the development of the tape industry in the
18th and 19th centuries the village increased in
prosperity and there was rapid expansion of the
built up area. Many central properties were rebuilt/
re-fronted during this period and the height and
design of buildings in the central area, combined
with the width of the street, now give it a distinctly
urban feel. The settlement became compact and
nucleated with buildings tightly flanking the High
Street. In contrast evidence of the older dispersed
agricultural settlement can still seen along Old
Road and Gorsty Hill, although small terraces
of mill-worker’s cottages interrupt this general
pattern.

2.4

A significant change in plan form came during the
19th century with the construction of New Road,
which released further land for housing mill
employees and coincided with residential
development spreading out along routes out of the
village. This is typified by more orderly
development and plot sizes.

General Character and Plan Form
2.2

Upper Tean’s character is influenced by the local
topography. The centre of the village follows the
eastern bank of the River Tean on slightly higher,
level ground, avoiding the floodplain and near to
a river crossing. The settlement form is influenced
by rising ground to the north, which rises most
steeply at Gorsty Hill. The character and plan
form have also been heavily influenced by the
development of the tape industry, which was
overlain on a small farming community (Fig. 1).

Fig. 1: Mid 20th century aerial view of the settlement.

Page
3 323

2.5

Upper Tean lies on alluvial clay and most early
buildings will have been of timber frame and to a
lesser extent of stone. Millstone grit was available
locally from Hollington but few buildings in the
village are of stone although it is widely used
for decorative details, boundary walls and small
outbuildings. The widespread rebuilding in the
late Georgian and early Victorian period meant
that brick with blue clay tile roofs became the
dominant building materials, and the prosperity of
the time resulted in many buildings of quality.

2.8

Within and beyond the village the mill buildings
dominate the vista. Key views are from New
Road where the mill range effectively marks the
end of the road, from Tean Bridge, and from all
points along the River where the mill maintains a
dramatic presence rising out of the flood plain. The
views from the Went Lowe Hills provide the finest
mill views as well as of the wider settlement (Fig.
2). From this vantage point the former bleaching
and dyeworks at Teanford can be seen to the east
with its three-storey red brick mill and chimney.

The village lies in the Tean river valley surrounded
by an undulating pastoral landscape characterised
by fields subdivided by hedgerows, interspersed
with mature trees and small woodland copses, and
dispersed farm groupings.

2.9

Despite the eye-catching splendor of Tean Hall
it commands little setting as it is set back from
the road and tightly enclosed by surrounding
buildings. The recent refurbishment has returned
the building’s splendor.

The village remains strongly linked to its rural
surroundings, with open land cutting into the
centre at Old Road, Gorsty Hill and the floodplain
to the south side of the High Street. The river
provides an attractive green corridor through the
settlement lined by mature trees. The open spaces
and gaps between buildings allow frequent views
out to the countryside and hills beyond. The
location of the village on the valley side adds to its
character with the gradient creating a varied
roofscape and views over the rooftops.

2.10

Within the village the width and gentle curve of
the High Street allows views along its length and
of buildings to either side. At Tean Bridge views of
the High Street are combined with spectacular
views of the mills, river and hillsides beyond (Fig.
3). Good views of the rear of properties on High
Street can be seen from the recreation ground and
riverside to the south and from Old Road and St
Thomas’s Road to the north.

Landscape Setting
2.6

Key Views

Fig. 3 View west along High Street
Fig. 2

View from Went Lowe Hills

2.11

Page 4324

The tight enclosure of buildings lining High
Street, New Road and Uttoxeter Road restrict
outward views, whilst the more dispersed buildings
within mature gardens along Old Road, St
Thomas’s Road and Gorsty Hill allow more open
views.

3 Historic Development and Archaeology
Settlement History
3.1

The settlement developed at a river crossing within
the Manor of Tean. It also marked the junction of
two main roads, where historically the Roman road
from Rocester to Chester (A52), linked with the
highway from Uttoxeter to Newcastle under Lyme
(A552).

3.2

At Domesday the Manor of Tean was part of the
Parish of Checkley. The lords of the Manor were
absentee landlords, which was quite typical for
the area; hence there was no manor house and
little direct involvement in the daily running of
the area. As Upper Tean was part of the parish of
Checkley there was no church in the village and
the inhabitants traveled to the Church of St Mary
in Checkley. One of the main properties in the
village was a major yeoman farmhouse lived in by
the Ashley family in the early 18th century (Tean
Hall).

3.3

In 1607 the lord of the Manor sold his land and
rights to his tenants. Following several transfers
of land and rights over the years in 1744 John
Philips of Heath House was acknowledged by
the freeholders as the sole lord of the Manors of
Tean and Checkley. The Philips family had been
yeoman farmers since the 15th century and over
the years had risen in wealth and status to become
substantial land and property owners. At the end
of the 17th century the family was involved in
developing the textile industry both locally and in
Manchester.

3.4

Until the development of the tape industry Upper
Tean was no more than a cluster of farmsteads.
William Yates 1775 map of the County of Stafford
(Map 2) shows a small settlement located along
High Street, Old Road and Gorsty Hill. Old Road
was the main route from Cheadle, joining the
High Street near to the river crossing. Gorsty Hill
Road was a field road up to the common pastures
and open fields of the village. Back lane, later St
Thomas’s Road, was a minor track giving access to
the plots at the rear of High Street.

Map 2 William Yates Map 1775
3.5

The road infrastructure of the village improved in
the late 18th century which, alongside the rapid
development of the tape industry, led to more
orderly development and infilling within the
centre. The Uttoxeter to Newcastle road was
turnpiked in 1759, and Cheadle Road turnpiked in
1762 following the line of Old Road. New Road
was constructed in 1819 incorporating an orchard
and Bucknell Lane. It became a main arterial route
through the town and was quickly lined with a mix
of terraced houses, shops and a chapel. During this
period coaching inns and alehouses flourished,
with 9 recorded in the village in 19th century
directories. The High Street was widened to
provide better access and many properties were
rebuilt or re-fronted to reflect the growing
prosperity of the period. The stone bridge was
constructed on the Uttoxeter Turnpike in 1823,
replacing the ford and footbridge. The road
network and changes to the settlement form are

Page
5 325

illustrated on the Ordnance Survey map of 1881
(Map 3).

Tape Industry
3.7

The last 250 years of the village are well
documented through accounts of the textile
industry which had the most dramatic and lasting
impression on the size and appearance of the
village.

3.8

Towards the middle of the 18th century a cottage
industry had developed in the nearby villages
for the weaving of linen tape, with men working
on handlooms in their houses. The weavers were
probably tenants in property owned by the Philips
family and formed the foundations of the later
industry.

3.9

John and Nathaniel Philips established the
industry producing fine linen tape at Tean Hall in
1747. Their business was based on a study of the
tape industry and loom construction in the
Netherlands. In 1770 a warehouse of three storeys
was built in the Hall grounds adjoining the main
street to act as a collecting and distribution point
for the cottage industry (Fig. 4). The firm also
added loom sheds to the houses of individual
weavers and built purpose designed terraces of
weavers’ cottages. The Hall, which served as the
family home and later mill manager’s house, was
the focus of the industry.

Map 3 (1st Edition OS)
3.6

Pastoral farming with subsistence arable formed
the basis for the early economy, with an increasing
emphasis on animal husbandry in the later
centuries when grain began to be imported. Little
evidence of this farming community can now be
traced in Upper Tean as the overlaying of the mill
community has all but eradicated the farms within
the settlement. Surviving farmhouses include
Brookhouses, Old Road, and The Villa, Uttoxeter
Road, but no farm outbuildings remain. The more
open settlement along Old Road and Gorsty Hill
and cluster of buildings at the key road junctions
give an idea of the pre-mill settlement form.

Fig. 4 – Early view of Tean Hall Mill

Page 6326

3.10

Brown yarn was imported from Russia, Germany
and Ireland, and later cotton from America. This
was bleached at the large mill at Teanford nearby,
on the banks of the River Tean. The large mill and
chimney are still standing and prominent in the
landscape.

3.11

By the end of the 18th century the industry
was well established at Upper Tean and nearby
settlements, and was prosperous. In 1817 the
business had become the most extensive in Europe
with 300 looms at Tean, 120 in Cheadle and 50
in Kingsley. Between them 2,000-3,000 people
were employed. The tape was superior to early
production and quickly gained recognition for its
quality. In time the product range expanded and
diversified including the making of ribbons and
glass fibre yarn for electrical installations.

3.12

In 1824 the extensive outworking system was
replaced and the business centralised at mills
in Tean and Cheadle, to which large additions
were made. In Tean the large four-storey steam
powered fireproof mill running at right angles to
the High Street was built accommodating over
250 power looms. The imposing red brick building,
designed by James Trubshaw of Great Haywood,
dominates the skyline of Tean and is of truly grand
proportions with an unusually elaborately detailed
architectural treatment on the main elevations.
It is one of the earliest surviving examples of
a completely fireproof mill building. The older
warehouse became storerooms and schoolrooms
for mill employees.

3.13

Tape manufacturing was to dominate employment
and land use within the village from the mid
18th century through to the mid 20th century.
The firm constructed many terraces of brick and
tile weavers’ cottages within the village, which
have a distinctive, unified ‘architect designed’
character, sharing common detailing. The firm had
a philanthropic attitude towards its workers and
did not employ child labour and provided works
for sanitation and ventilation. The company also
provided community buildings within the village
including two chapels (1822 & 1843), a church
(1843) a school (1855-6) Sunday school, and a
sewing school. (RCHME). The firm also owned
the Post Office, most of the inns and much of the
property and land in the village.

3.14

Upper Tean and the mill complex have become
nationally acknowledged for its industry that
can be traced though buildings from domestic
beginnings to centralised mass production and
technological innovation. The industry is well
documented and the Philips family retains the
family home at Heath House overlooking the
village.

Page
7 327

3.15

Later Development

Archaeological significance

The mid 19th century saw the continued expansion
of the village with terraces of houses built on
New Road and ribbon residential development
along Uttoxeter Road and Cheadle Road. Further
development to the south of the High Street and
west of the village was restricted due to the risk
of flooding, and rising ground to the north also
limited growth.

3.18

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments in
the Conservation Area.

3.19

The County Sites and Monuments Record
documents numerous sites relating to the
industrial history of the village. Alongside, the
Philips’ family records comprehensively trace
the development of the industry in the village.
Detailed recording has also been undertaken on
Tean Hall and mills by English Heritage.

3.16

More recently residential development has infilled
areas between Gorsty Hill Road, Hollington Road
and Uttoxeter Road, and linear development has
followed the main routes out of the settlement.
This development has occurred on the periphery
and had little impact on the historic core or its
setting.

3.17

In 1955 Tean Mill ceased to be part of J. N. Philips
& Co and was taken over by Marling Industries
who moved production Derby as the mill complex
failed to meet modern industrial practices. The
site became derelict for a number of years but is
currently being converted to residential use.

Page 8328

4 Character Analysis
4.1

4.2

Upper Tean Conservation Area includes several
areas with a distinctive character:
•

High Street and Tean Hall Mill Complex

•

Mill workers’ Cottages

•

Old Road and Gorsty Hill

•

Hollington Road and St Thomas’s Road

•

Uttoxeter Road and New Road

The description of each area should be read in
conjunction with the villagescape analysis (Map 4).
This identifies key historic buildings and features
to help define the special interest of the area.
Listed Buildings are underlined in the text and
their statutory descriptions are included in the
appendix.

Fig. 5: Eastern end of the High Street

High Street and Tean Hall Mill Complex
4.3

For a small rural village the High Street is
characteristic of a larger urban area owing to the
scale and grandeur of some of the buildings, the
width and straightness of the road and the tight
enclosure to either side. Traffic, including heavy
goods vehicles, impacts heavily on the village
centre, whilst the mix of shops and offices side by
side with terraced housing contributes to a lively
atmosphere. The former mill complex on the south
side dominates the area (Fig. 5 and 6).

Fig. 6: Western end of High Street
4.4

The central buildings have a polite 19th century
feel, which often disguises earlier buildings behind
later red brick and render facades. Many of the
grander buildings have symmetrical facades and
are of two or three storeys. The former Post Office
(Fig. 8) is a good example, which has been refronted and raised in height. Early photographs
show that many properties had low front walls
topped with railings but these have been removed
and the pavement widened.

4.5

Most buildings front directly onto the street and
many shopfronts were inserted during the 19th
century. A number of these attractive period
surrounds have survived. The High Street also
included coaching inns and public houses, linked
to the turnpike roads and several remain in use.

Page
9 329

One of the few buildings to be set back from
the busy road frontage is Tean Hall (Fig. 7) and
its mix of timber frame and grand baroque is a
surprise find.
4.6

4.8

Tean Hall Mill dates from the 18th century
with later additions and alterations. The whole
complex is Grade II* Listed. The imposing red
brick building, which dominates the skyline of
Tean, is one of truly grand proportions with
an unusually elaborate detailed architectural
treatment on the main elevations. The 1770
warehouse adjoining the Hall and fronting High
Street has a decorative eaves course with clock set
above in the front pediment, and a bellcote cupola.
An elaborate weathervane previously surmounted
the cupola. The regimented rows of tall cruciform
windows with finely detailed window dressings
are distinctive features. The large four-storey range
added to the rear in 1820 (Cross Mill) is for Upper
Tean of monumental proportions. This was first
mill of mass production and was steam powered,
accommodating over 250 power looms and built to
an early fireproof design. Its design is similar to the
front, but of four storeys and with a hipped slate
roof of lower pitch. The windows are large cast iron
frames subdivided into small panes.

4.9

The 1884 mill, adjacent to the 1770 warehouse,
fronting the High Street rises to four storeys
and is the most imposing façade. Although not
to the same elaborate architectural detail of the
earlier buildings the scale of the building with
bold brick pilasters and grand pediment dominates
the High Street façade and can be viewed from
many vantage points. The square dust flue with
pyramidal cap at the rear is a prominent feature.

On the outer margins of the High Street the
scale of the buildings reduces to two storeys and
is characterised by a more domestic, vernacular
character with a random arrangement of windows,
and gaps between these buildings allow views out
of the settlement.

Distinctive Buildings

Fig. 7: Tean Hall Mills
4.7

Tean Hall dates from the mid 16th century and
has witnessed many alterations and extensions.
The oldest part is the timber-framed cross-wing
nearest to the mill. To this was added a timber
framed central section and probably replaced a
pre-existing hall range on the same site. The last
phase is the brick-built east end of the house,
of early 18th century date, in the Baroque style
replacing a continuation of the hall. The plan of
the resulting building is unusual and there is no
clear entrance position consistent with its status.
Built first as a yeoman farmhouse, the house
became the centre of the mill complex when the
Philips family occupied the building in the late
18th century. The building is a Grade II* Listed
Building.

Page10330

4.10

After years of neglect and dereliction the buildings
are undergoing conversion to residential use and
new housing is being constructed around the site.
Many ancillary buildings such as the boiler house
and chimney were demolished some years ago.

4.11

No. 37 High Street is a small, detached cottage set
back from the street behind a low modern brick
wall. Dating from the mid 18th century, the small
rendered brick and tile house has end stacks and
verge parapets. Nos. 14, 14a & 16 are also 18th
century and similarly scaled modest dwellings on
the High Street, although part is three storeys and
unusually the main elevation is a gable frontage.
The mix of segmental headed windows and gauged
brick heads with molded raised keystones are
attractive details, although part defaced by later
alterations and the loss of raised copings to the
gable. Continuing west towards the river is an
attractive row of cottages with an interesting mix
of window details with splendid brick detailing
and projecting eaves. One of these buildings was
previously the Swan Inn. The properties have
substantial gardens backing on to the recreation
ground, enclosed by stone walls. Facing these
properties on the High Street is a range of small
cottages of unified design. Alongside, adjoining the
stone bridge, stood the village pinfold and lock up,
both demolished in 1894. The remains of a pump
nearby have been refurbished.

Fig. 8: Mix of shops and houses facing Tean Hall Mill
4.12

Within the centre of the High Street many of
the larger town houses have had shops inserted
into the ground floor, some with good Victorian
shopfronts. No. 31A & 33 High Street (Fig. 8) are
a pair of late 18th century houses, red brick and
tiled, rising to three stories. Early photographs
show that the houses had a front boundary wall
and railings, while the house to the left had a
shopfront on the ground floor. The building was
extensively renovated around 1990 and much early
detailing lost. Opposite and similar in scale and
appearance is Hall Yard Buildings which faces
Hall Yard. Formerly a mill building it is now a
showroom and flat above. No. 35 High Street (now
small supermarket) (Fig. 8) is a typical early 19th
century three storey classical town house, of red
brick on a stone plinth, with a hipped, plain tiled
roof on a moulded cornice. An early photograph
shows a low boundary wall with railings to the
frontage and a central doorway flanked by sash
windows on the ground floor. The building now
has a modern shop surround but the upper floors
retain sash windows, although the rooms are
vacant and in need of re-use.

Page
11 331

4.13

The former Post Office (Fig. 8) is one of several
rendered brick buildings on the High Street.
Dating from the mid 19th century the two storey,
two window front building has elaborate detailing
including moulded stone surrounds to the sash
windows, classically designed stone shopfront
and stone dentillated eaves. The red brick cottages
alongside share the same distinctive stone
detailing.

4.14

At the east end of High Street standing
prominently on a bend in the road are a row
of three cottages of Gothic design with gabled
dormers and over-sized storm porches (Fig.
22). The buildings have decorative clay roof tiles
and shaped stone copings. Only one cottage has
escaped disfiguring alterations retaining fine red
brickwork with blue brick detailing, moulded
cruciform windows and boundary railings.

4.15

The White Hart Public House is a coaching inn
dating from the 18th century with late 19th
century alterations (Fig. 9). It is of red brick on a
sandstone plinth, with large sash and casement
windows. It is prominently located on the corner
of High Street and Old Road, and retains many of
its original features, as well as vestiges of later
alterations and additions. In 1850 the building was
purchased by the Philips family and became a
commercial inn and posting house. The car park at
the rear is poorly defined.

Fig. 9: White Hart Public House
4.16

Nearby the Black’s Head is unlisted but
contributes to the streetscape. Its appearance has
been marred by the application of hard cement
render with modern detailing and concrete tiles.
Buildings at the side and the yard at the rear are in
need of improvement.

Mill Workers’ Cottages
4.17

Page12332

The rows and clusters of red brick cottages
associated with the mill are key features of the
village (Fig. 10 & 11). The houses vary from row to
row, with different heights, layouts and materials,
as the mill estate experimented with designs. There
is, however, uniformity in the building line and
character of each row, which gives a strong
cohesive identity. Mill workers terraces can be seen
behind Hall Yard at Hall Meadow and Adam’s
Valley, and at Kiln Croft and Holbourne Row on
Gorsty Hill. Beyond the river facing the mill is
‘The Island’, a discrete area of terrace cottages.
Despite the significance of the terraces to the
industrial and social history of the mill complex
none of the terraces are listed. Replacement
windows and doors, and small extensions have
affected all rows.

Fig. 11: No.1-5 Old Road
4.19

Directly facing Cross Mill is Hall Yard, with Hall
Meadow and Adam’s Valley to the rear. Each has
a distinctive character. Adam’s Valley has a large
dominant roof structure with short chimneystacks
and simple solid detailing. The heavy, low stone
boundary walls to the front and cruciform
windows (of which few are retained) are key
features. Hall Meadow, sited nearest to the mill is
more decorative with dormer windows overlooking
the river with distinctive rounded brickwork to the
window openings and cruciform chimneystacks.
The rear has plainer detailing although the stone
boundary walls and small brick outhouses add
to the interest. The rows are linked by narrow
pathways that form the boundary to the mill
complex and characteristic stonewalling. Many of
these properties have no vehicular access.

Fig. 10: Hall Meadow and Adam’s Valley
4.18

The earliest terrace of weavers’ terraces built by the
Philips family was Double Row in the18th century
on the north side of Cheadle Road. The buildings
had living accommodation on the ground floor and
the top storey was one room running the length of
the terrace to form a loom house. The upper floors
were incorporated into the cottages when weaving
moved to the mill. The buildings were demolished
in 1966.

Page
13 333

4.20

The Island is an unusual extension to the
settlement that until the 20th century was
practically the only part of the village located to
the west of the River Tean (Fig. 12). The area has a
very distinct character, feeling intimate and
enclosed. The houses are predominantly terraces of
red brick and blue tile weavers’ cottages lining a
small winding lane on raised ground. The small
mature gardens fronting the cottages and heavy
stone boundary walls are prominent features.
Although the layout appears to be fairly random
and informal, the terraces display carefully
considered forms and features. No. 15 is one of the
oldest buildings in Tean and has a cruck frame
(unlisted).

Old Road and Gorsty Hill Road
4.22

The two roads retain their rural character with
gaps between buildings and mature gardens adding
greenness to the area. With the construction of
New Road, Old Road has become a quiet rural
lane with a mix of terraced cottages near to the
High Street, giving way to larger buildings set
back within gardens behind an impressive array of
stone and brick boundary walls (Fig. 13). Several
specimen trees add to the character of the area.

Fig. 13: Old Road
4.23

Fig. 12: The Island
4.21

Early photographs show the cottages at ‘The
Island’ to be red brick with plain tile roofs and
a mix of sash or cruciform casement windows.
Unfortunately several have now been painted or
rendered, and virtually all have had original doors
and windows replaced. Nonetheless, the intended
form and character is still clear.

Page14334

Buildings of note are Nos. 1-5 Old Road (Fig. 11)
and Brooklands (Fig. 14) alongside, both on the
western side of the road and share a close
architectural resemblance despite differences in
size and status. The brick terrace sited gable to the
road is of considerable charm with distinctive
cruciform windows and decorative dormers, raised
keystones in lintels above windows and elaborate
chimneystacks. The row of cottages was built in the
mid 19th century by the Philips family on the site
of a farmhouse and was clearly designed for
tenants of higher status. The cottage nearest the
road was let as a police house. The properties have
prominent front gardens behind a brick boundary
wall, with stone upper coursing, and small yards to
the rear. Rendering and window alterations have
harmed the overall composition. Alongside is
Brooklands (Fig. 13 & 14) dating from the mid
18th century with extensive and similarly styled
late 19th century additions. The 18th century
house is set into a 19th century L-shaped block,
set back to the right of the front.

Fig. 15: Gorsty Hill

Fig. 14: Brooklands
4.24

4.25

The quality of the streetscene diminishes at the
northern end of Old Road with poor fencing
and awkwardly defined garden areas and
hardstandings. A Wesleyan Chapel on this site
(dated 1843) was demolished in 1985.
Buildings lining Gorsty Hill Road form a cluster
near to the junction with St Thomas’s Road giving
way to a more dispersed arrangement of small
buildings leading out of the village (Fig.15). The
ground rises more sharply here than elsewhere,
with the terraces of Kiln Croft and Holburn Row
at right angles to the road to make the most use of
the natural gradient of the land. Several cottages
also face directly on to the road, providing a strong
sense of enclosure and interest. Substantial stone
boundary walls with distinctive coursing add to the
enclosure, together with tall hedges and several
mature trees. The former Gardener’s Arms (now
meeting rooms for the Gorsty Hill United
Church) is a characterful building and forms an
attractive grouping with the United Church and
modern hall. The roofscape and detailing of these
clustered buildings are particularly distinctive and
the steep, sunken, winding lane with flanking stone
walls and hedges adds to the charm of the area.

Hollington Road and St Thomas’s Road
4.26

The junction of High Street and Hollington Road
is characterised by a cluster of randomly spaced
dwellings, former shops and outbuildings. No. 2
Hollington Road (Fig. 16) is one of only two other
building in Upper Tean known to date from the
17th century. The timber-framed building was
refronted in the mid-19th century but the remains
of the cruck frame are still evident in the gable.

4.27

Improvements to the junction with St Thomas’s
Road led to the demolition of a number of
buildings fronting the road, including an old
alehouse and smithy, and as a result the enclosure
has been lost to the western side. The road and
modern walling now dominate. In contrast most
buildings on the eastern side have been retained
but some such as No. 10 have been much altered,
losing a fine shopfront and fenestration. At the
junction with High Street the former Quiet
Woman pub is a distinctive three storey building
fronting the road which although now painted
retains many of its original openings. Further
along Hollington Road the settlement is more
dispersed with wide grassed verges and houses to
the north of the road are largely concealed by large
front gardens and rising ground.

Page
15 335

4.30

Fig. 16: Buildings at the junction of Hollington Road and
High Street
4.28

On the south side Great Wood Primary School
is a landmark building framed by sizeable yew
trees. Christ Church is also a distinguished
building with yew trees in the churchyard. Both
were constructed by the Philips family. The school
was built as a mixed school to replace a smaller
one in Back Lane, whilst Christ Church was
built as a chapel of ease to the Parish Church of
Checkley, dated 1842 by Thomas Johnson (Thomas
Trubshaw’s son-in-law).

4.29

St Thomas’s Road, previously referred to as Back
Lane, served the rear of properties on High Street
and an early stone boundary wall is retained along
some of the south side. Until recently much of
this area was gardens and orchards. Currently
the area is witnessing major changes with new
residential development on both sides. The lorry
yard has potential for enhancement. The special
interest of the area is vulnerable due to the design
and materials of new development within and
outside the Conservation Area and the loss off/
inappropriate replacement of boundary walls and
hedges.

Red brick cottages attractively cluster at the top
end near Gorsty Hill giving way to a more open
road frontage with boundary walls and hedges on
the south side giving strong enclosure. Buildings of
note include the Independent Chapel opened in
1808, which served temporarily as a school prior to
the building of Great Wood School, and more
recently converted into dwellings. The building is
very similar in appearance to the chapel on New
Road but has been marred by hard cement render,
concealment of detailing and blocking up of
windows (Fig. 17). Nearby is the Primitive
Methodist Chapel dated 1836 which stands back
from the road alongside mature trees. The building
became a Catholic day school and is currently a
nursery.

Fig. 17: West end of St Thomas’s Road

Page16336

New Road and Uttoxeter Road
4.31

4.32

Both Roads are lined with largely 19th century
development. Buildings fronting New Road date
from the construction of the road in 1822 and are
mostly terraced houses. A key aspect is the view
of the 1884 mill range, which terminates views
at the end of the street (Fig. 18). One of the first
buildings to be constructed was the Providence
Chapel, now turned into flats, with small burial
ground across the road. The chapel retains its
original door surround and window openings but
the windows and boundary wall are all modern
replacements. The burial ground is a pleasant treelined green space within the tightly enclosed street.
Features of interest along the road are the small
front gardens to properties on the east side
enclosed by low stone boundary walls, particularly
those fronting Nos. 34-40, which incorporate a
distinctive carriage arch centrally in the terrace.
Areas in need of improvement include the stretch
between the fish and chip shop and High Street
where poor enclosure, areas of undefined space,
modern shopfronts and advertisements, and car
parks detract from the appearance of the area.

Fig. 19: Uttoxeter Road
4.33

Uttoxeter Road is an interesting mix of mainly
19th century residential properties. To the south
side terraces of two storey houses directly front
the street with an interesting mix of eaves heights
following the gently rising ground, curving
towards High Street. Nos. 51-55 are exuberantly
detailed although stone cladding, replacement
windows and boundary walls have diluted their
impact. In contrast, the north side is typified
by larger semi-detached and detached houses
and cottages set within mature gardens with
several significant trees. No. 14 has fine chimney
stacks (but missing its pots) and contrasting blue
brickwork patterns but its setting is compromised
by flat-roofed buildings alongside. Nos. 18 &
No. 20 are well proportioned and exhibit quality
detailing. Also of note are Nos. 28 and 30 (Fig.
20) which are set back from the road and have
fine Flemish bond brickwork, finials and dormer
windows.

Fig. 18: View of the Finishing Mill, New Road

Page
17 337

4.34

None of these buildings are Listed Buildings and
many have had their appearance marred by
modern-style replacement windows, loss of front
gardens to car parking and front extensions. On
the edge of the Conservation Area ‘The Villa’ is an
unlisted farmhouse of some note, dating back to
1750 (Fig. 20). The Villa is set back within a brick
walled garden lined with roadside trees and forms
an attractive entrance to the Conservation Area.

Local Building Materials
Timber
4.35

Many of the early buildings in the village were
of timber frame construction. However, with a
substantial amount of refronting and rebuilding in
the 18th and 19th centuries little timber framing
survives. Tean Hall is the notable exception where
the oldest part is box framed with a mixture
of wattle and daub infill and more recent brick
infilling. Survivals of the cruck framing of humbler
buildings can be seen No. 2 Hollington Road
and No. 15 The Island. Other buildings may well
contain remnant timber framing especially to
interior walling which was still built in this way
well into the 18th century.

Stone
4.36

Upper Tean lies on alluvial clay and stone would
not therefore have been widely used in the locality
as the main building material. The Millstone Grit
Series nearby at Hollington provided a range
of building stones but this appears to have been
restricted to building detailing, boundary walls and
small outbuildings. Because of rebuilding within
Upper Tean in the late 18th and 19th centuries
is hard to assess how widespread the use of stone
was before this period but today there are no
significant buildings solely of stone construction.

4.37

Ashlar (finely cut stone) was the preserve of the
gentry. In Upper Tean ashlar can only be found
in the dressings to the 18th century Baroque
extension to Tean Hall. Softer sandstone was used
for its plinth and detailing. Several buildings in
Upper Tean, predominantly on the High Street,
were rendered and scored to give the impression
of fine stone - an example can be seen at the Post
Office (Fig. 21).

Fig. 20: Distinctive buildings on Uttoxeter Road.

Page18338

Fig. 22: Decorative brickwork at No. 24 High Street

Fig. 21: Former Post Office - Scored render and stone
detailing

4.39

Brick
4.38

By the mid-18th century brick was no longer just
fashionable for the gentry but was in regular use in
urban areas, and became widely used in the 19th
century. Tean is no exception. With the partial
rebuilding and expansion of the village during the
late 18th and early 19th centuries all buildings are
predominantly of brick construction and many
are elaborately detailed. Ornate chimney stacks,
dormer windows, and decorative eaves details are
common, often incorporating rubbed bricks or
segmental arches above windows, and patterned
brickwork, even on mill cottages. Brookhouses
and the adjacent No. 1-6 Old Road, No. 24 High
Street (Fig. 22) and The Villa on Uttoxeter Road
are good examples.

Bricks vary in both shape and texture from hand
made bricks of variable colour and texture, to
bland machine made bricks of even texture and
colour that may have a harsh appearance. Bricks in
Upper Tean tend to be a deep orange-red colour,
often with blackened flecks caused by overburning and most are handmade. Stretcher bond
is the most common method of laying, although
Flemish Bond is seen in places, where bricks
are laid in alternating stretcher, header to give a
chequer-board appearance.

Page
19 339

Roofing
4.40

4.41

4.42

Until the 19th century many roofs in both town
and country were of thatch. This was thick and
on stone and early brick houses contained within
copings on each gable. If a roof was altered or
extended the copings would generally be reinstated
on the new gable. Although many buildings
in Upper Tean date back to the 17th and 18th
centuries later alterations have meant that copings
have long since been removed. Copings survive at
No. 37 High Street but have simply been removed
at Nos. 14, 16 & 18 High Street. Some 19th
century Gothic Revival buildings reintroduced
copings, such as at 24-28 High Street.
The characteristic roof pitch of 17th and 18th
century buildings was around 40 degrees and
a mixture of straw and rushes was used. When
thatch was abandoned sidewalls might be raised by
three or four courses to give greater headroom and
a shallower roof pitch but the narrow gables often
remained unaltered. Stone slates were used on
better quality housing but none survive in Upper
Tean.
The 19th century witnessed the mass production
and distribution of the Staffordshire blue clay
roofing tiles from the Potteries, now regarded as
the typical local roofing material. Early tiles were
handmade with a distinctive camber and rougher
texture whilst later machine made tiles have a
more even profile and smooth sheen. Most roofs
in Upper Tean are laid using plain Staffordshire
Blue clay tiles but some properties have alternate
bands of plain and fish-scale or acorn tiles such
as at 19-21 High Street. A roof pitch of about 35
degrees is required to fix the tiles, which gives the
characteristic narrow gable and steeply pitched
roof.

4.43

Welsh slate also became available in the late 19th
century but because of the availability of clay tiles
was not widely used in the village. Cross Mill at
the rear of the High Street is the only building
in the Upper Tean with a slate roof due to the
shallow hipped roof.

4.44

Dormers are not a regular feature of vernacular
buildings in the Moorlands but some buildings
in Upper Tean are an exception to the rule. The
dormers on Tean Hall are characteristic of high
status houses dating back to the 1700s and are
set well inside the wall line to light the centre of
the attic. Many of the estate cottages are architect
designed or built to designs from pattern books
of the period and here dormers are often an
important component of the original design and
can be seen on the mill cottages of Hall Meadow
and Nos.1-5 Old Road.

4.45

Typical of the mill cottages and other brick
buildings of status in the village are decorative
eaves details including dentilled cornice and
corbelled eaves, and verges with stone kneelers.
These can be seen at Tean Mill, Post Office and
cottages alongside, and the White Hart. They often
form part of a more extensive decorative scheme
of brick detailing including chimneys and window
surrounds.

4.46

Most vernacular buildings in the area tend to have
plain flush verges. A number of the Victorian
buildings in the village have overhanging eaves
and verges, often with timber bargeboards. These
can be seen on some of the mill cottages and the
building opposite the White Hart, High Street.

Page20340

Local details
Windows
4.47

4.48

These usually incorporate horns to strengthen the
exposed joints of the sashes.

The detailing throughout the village is of the late
Georgian and Victorian period. Windows are
predominantly timber vertically sliding sashes and
several designs of side hung casements (Fig. 23).
A distinctive local detail particularly prevalent in
the mill cottages are windows with a pronounced
cruciform frame with small fixed lights in the
top two panes and side hung casements below.
Some more simple side hung casement windows
incorporate fine metal glazing bars into a timber or
metal frame.
A mix of sash windows can be seen throughout
the area, particularly on High Street. Smaller pane
sizes such as 8 over 8 incorporate fine glazing bars
and date from the 18th century. Most windows are
set behind the outer face of the brickwork behind
a rebate but earlier sash boxes were set on the
outer edge of the wall with their sash boxes visible.
The only example of exposed boxes is at Tean Hall.
Examples of 19th century sash windows of 2 over
2 panes, and 1 over 1 can be found throughout the
area.

4.49

All forms of traditional windows are generally
framed by stone, brick or tile cills and decorative
lintels. Lintels vary from stone or rubbed brick
lintels with projecting keystones, or shallow brick
relieving arches.

4.50

Many of the village’s industrial buildings have
distinctive fenestration, which generally would be
expected to reflect functional rather than
decorative requirements. On Tean Hall Mill the
windows and surrounds are more elaborate and
vary from building to building. Windows include
fixed small pane cast iron frames, often with only
one or two individual panes opening (Fig. 24).
High Street windows are simple timber cruciform
windows with rubbed brick arches and keystones.

Fig. 23: Common window detailing

Page
21 341

Doors

Fig. 24: Refurbishing metal windows at Tean Hall Mill
4.51

Many historic buildings in the Conservation
Area have suffered damaging alterations from
replacement windows. Top-hung opening
windows, storm-proof casements and doubleglazing are a creation of the 20th century
and cannot replicate the fine joinery details
of traditional windows. Failing to match the
subdivision of original windows, constructing
frames in inappropriate materials such as upvc,
and staining rather than painting (the traditional
finish) exacerbates this damage. This is particularly
harmful to the terraces of cottages where the
unified elegance is ruined by piecemeal alteration.

4.52

Traditional doors in the village are a mixture of
panelled doors and vertically boarded (plank)
doors. Historically, the simpler buildings generally
have vertically boarded doors. The width of the
boarding and moulding is often a guide to their
age. Panelled exterior doors are common for higher
status houses, and are often used for the front door
in contrast to plank doors at the rear. Today this
distinction is less clear with many replacement
doors and a tendency to favour panelled doors to
residential properties.

4.53

Few historic doors survive in the Conservation
Area and there has been widespread replacement
with upvc doors and modern off the peg designs.
These are eroding the character of the area and
particularly harmful when inserted into the
unified rows of estate cottages. Surviving historic
doors have a patina and charm that is not easily
replicated. Early ironmongery is also a valuable
indicator as to the age and status of a property but
is all too easily lost.

Chimneys and porches
4.54

Page22342

The number and position of chimneys are an
essential feature in historic buildings, reflecting the
age, interior design, and the relative wealth of the
owner. Tean Hall has prominent chimneys serving
stacks set inside building and serving a series of
hearths on each floor. By the mid-18th century
smaller houses began to have more than one
heated room, each with a chimneybreast for a coal
fire, and served by gable end chimneys.

4.55

Chimneystacks are a distinctive element in the
roofscape of the village and some of the mill
cottages and other estate-designed buildings have
elaborate details including coloured brick banding,
and decorative oversailing courses. The cruciform
stacks of Adam’s Valley and elaborate stacks
of Nos.1-5 Old Road are good examples. Poor
rebuilding, truncating or removal has disfigured
many stacks.

4.56

Porches are not generally a feature of vernacular
buildings in the District and historically were
limited to wealthy 17th and 18th century houses.
Farmhouses and cottages generally had internal
lobbies instead. In Upper Tean the only examples
of period porches are on the Gothic Revival
terrace at 24-28 High Street, The Villa, Uttoxeter
Road and No. 2 Hollington Road.

Public Realm
4.57

Using evidence from old photographs and isolated
survivals of traditional surfacing pavements appear
predominantly to have been smooth blue clay
paviours with stone kerbs and a compacted earth/
stone carriageway. Tarmac and concrete kerbs are
the modern surfaces.

4.58

There has been a programme of enhancement
work within the High Street to reinstate blue
paviours and conservation grade kerbstones.
This needs to be extended elsewhere in the
Conservation Area.

Green spaces, Trees and Boundaries
4.59

The main green open spaces are identified on
Map 4. Most significant is the tree-lined river
corridor through the village, part of which forms
the recreation ground (Fig. 25). Whilst the High
Street and New Road are largely devoid of open
green areas the more dispersed arrangement of
buildings along Old Road and Gorsty Hill, set
within mature gardens, provides a more open rural
character. The wide grass verges at the junction
of High Street and Uttoxeter Road and corner
of Hollington Road and St Thomas’s Road help
to soften the built form but have potential for
improvement. The graveyard in New Road is also a
potentially attractive green space.

4.60

Significant trees and hedges are also identified on
Map 4. Whilst this is indicative only it does show
the trees and hedges which are visually important
in the area. Key areas are the plentiful trees and
hedges along the River Tean and Adam’s Valley.
Mature trees are dotted throughout Old Road, at
the lower end of Uttoxeter Road and significant
yew trees around the school and church on
Hollington Road, and churchyard on New Road.

Fig. 25: Riverside recreation ground

Page
23 343

Boundaries
4.61

4.62

Dry stone walling using heavy rectangular greenybrown gritstone blocks is an essential part of
the character of Upper Tean and can be seen
throughout the village, particularly around Tean
Mill, the mill cottages, Old Road and Gorsty Hill.
Much of the coursing is very distinctive with the
stone laid diagonally in courses, often with no
coping, or upright narrow blocks. Around many of
the mill cottages the walling is only of two or three
courses high, using massive rectangular blocks,
without visible mortaring and often without a
shaped coping. The most significant walls are
around the brick mill cottages where they enclose
small yards and garden areas, and line passageways
and boundaries around the mill complex. In places
low walling is topped with hedging, as at Old
Road and Gorsty Hill.

4.63

The walling around the mill cottages, walling
along St Thomas’s Road, Old Road and Gorsty
Hill is prominent in the area. However, smaller
areas of walling such as the walls enclosing small
front gardens on New Road, and walling of plot
boundaries are no less significant.

4.64

Map 4 identifies significant areas of walling
and highlights poor boundaries. The boundaries
to pub car parks on Old and New Road, and
parts of Uttoxeter Road where boundaries have
been removed to create vehicular access and
hardstandings, need improvement.

4.65

Some recent replacement walls and fences have
done little to enhance the area. Attempts to mimic
the stonewalling with rusticated concrete blocks
are unattractive, as are walls of modern engineering
brick. The appearance of larch lap fencing, such as
that seen at the junction of Old Road and Gorsty
Hill is also inappropriate in the area

The presence of the stone walling is a distinctive
feature given that most buildings in the village are
red brick with only limited stone used for framing
openings. Of the red brick walls in the area The
Villa on Uttoxeter Road is particularly decorative.
In places walls are a combination of brick and
stone.

Fig. 26: Boundaries

Page24344

Negative factors
4.66

Several elements of modern living severely
detract from the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area:

Verges and paving materials
4.69

Some of the road junctions are in need of
improvement as traffic management measures to
restrict the width of the carriageway have resulted
in large unattractive paved verges, such as the
junction of Hollington Road and High Street (Fig.
27) and lower end of Gorsty Hill Road. Verges
elsewhere have the potential for enhancement such
as tree planting and seating.

4.70

The scheme of repaving in traditional materials
needs to be completed to create a consistent high
quality streetscape. This needs to be maintained to
a high standard and reinstated following work by
statutory undertakers.

Traffic and dominance of the road along
High Street
4.67

4.68

The most difficult issue to address is the impact
of the heavy traffic along High Street and New
Road, particularly lorries accessing the A50. The
carriageway is wide to accommodate these vehicles
but the large painted lettering on the road, lack of
different surface materials to laybys and height of
street lighting all emphasise the visual impact of
the road.
Street lighting is essential, but could be achieved
by placing well-designed light fittings on buildings
thus removing the clutter of modern posts.
Alternatively columns of lower height may help to
reduce the wide emptiness of the High Street.
Crisp white lighting is preferable to yellow sodium
lights which create blurred images. Long term
liaison with the necessary authorities should be a
priority.

Modern replacement windows and doors,
including UPVC and mock leading
4.71

Throughout the Conservation Area the unique
qualities of the area are being eroded by the
piecemeal removal of historic detailing. The Philips
family invested in high quality new buildings
throughout the late 18th and 19th centuries and
here the detailing of modest cottages, chapels and
schools has been more exuberant than the norm.
Finely detailed chimney stacks, dormer windows,
timber and metal casement windows, traditional
doors and brick detailing are seen throughout
the Conservation Area. These are now extremely
vulnerable to removal due to the pressure to
individualise property and the availability of cheap
off the peg, inferior products such as standardised
windows and doors. Failure to replicate the
appearance of historic windows and doors, the use
of top opening lights, staining and ill-considered
double glazing all damage the local character of
the village. Part L of the Building Regulations
specifically allows for retaining/reinstating historic
windows where they are an essential feature of
the building. The addition of secondary glazing is
often a superior alternative.

Fig 27: Wide pavements with opportunities for
enhancement

Page
25 345

Piecemeal alterations to mill workers cottages
4.72

The unified design of the estate buildings is one of
the distinctive features of the village. Piecemeal
alteration of windows and doors, the erection of
front extensions, replacement roof materials,
removal of chimneys and rendering are just some
of the threats which devalue the appearance of the
building and row as a whole.

Overhead electricity and telephone wires and
poles
4.74

The criss-crossing of electricity and telephone
wires is particularly noticeable on High Street
and detracts from the appearance of the area.
Consideration should be given to placing them
underground.

Satellite dishes on front elevations, chimney
stacks and ridges
4.75

Action is necessary to secure the relocation of
unauthorised household satellite dishes away from
prominent elevations, especially on the south side
of Uttoxeter Road.

Areas for improvement
4.76

Fig. 28: Poor boundaries

Loss of stone walls and replacement in
modern materials, and vehicle hardstandings
in front gardens
4.73

Key features of the area are the boundary walls
and hedges along roadsides and dividing the
gardens of many mill cottages. The heavy stone
walls are a particular feature. These boundaries
are vulnerable to removal or replacement with
modern alternatives of which rusticated concrete,
engineering brick and larch lap fencing is
particularly undesirable. Loss of front gardens to
hard standing for cars is a feature of the north side
of Uttoxeter Road and some areas on Old Road.

The pub car parks at the White Hart and Black’s
Head have poor or non-existent boundaries, poor
surfacing and an absence of planting (Fig. 28). The
former garage site at the top end of New Road and
lorry depot off St Thomas’s Road are also in need
of improvement. The bridge over the River Tean
is potentially an attractive entrance to the village
with the backdrop of the mill but at present lacks
any distinction.

Other negative factors:

Page26346

•

 ongestion and visual impact caused by
C
parked cars

•

 he loss/truncation of chimney stacks and
T
chimney pots

•

Concrete roof tiles and stone cladding

4.77

Many of these factors can only be reversed by
taking positive action through long-term planning,
grant aid, information and publicity. The removal
of domestic permitted development rights to
control key external changes would ensure the
survival of historic features and the gradual
reinstatement of those that have been lost.

General Condition of Area and Built Fabric
4.78

4.79

Within the last few years the overall condition
of buildings within Upper Tean has dramatically
improved. Between 1999-2005 a Heritage
Economic Regeneration Scheme was operated by
the District Council in association with English
Heritage to promote the repair and enhancement
of historic buildings in the village centre. The
aim was to create renewed aspirations for the
village, restore local pride and improve the High
Street environment. The scheme was successful in
securing the reinstatement of period shopfronts
and sash windows, removing stone cladding
and traditional building repairs. It also funded a
feasibility study for the mill complex, repairs to
the Hall and the reinstatement of traditional street
paving.
There is still much to be achieved and several
properties lack routine maintenance. Unsightly
features include the derelict shop adjoining the
Black’s Head and the Tean Cafe with its concrete
tiles, cracked render, modern windows and steel
rollershutter door alongside (Fig. 29).

Fig. 29: Properties in need of improvement
4.80

The transformation of Tean Hall and mill complex
will hopefully be a major catalyst to the area’s
transformation and raise property prices in the
area and stimulate continued investment in
surrounding buildings.

4.81

A management plan for the village will establish
the framework for monitoring the condition of
buildings in the Conservation Area and also record
surviving architectural features and fenestration,
including distinctive local detailing, doors,
window and roof coverings. This will be regularly
updated to monitor changes and highlight any
loss of significant features. This will assist in the
management of the area and be used to attract
grant aid and consider appropriate levels of
planning control.

Page
27 347

Problems, Pressures and Capacity for Change
4.82

An Article 4 Direction does not prevent the
development, but instead requires planning
permission to be first obtained from the Council.
This will enable the Council to preserve locally
distinctive features and to encourage improved
detailing and materials. Historic England advises
that Article 4 Directions can increase the public
protection both of designated and non-designated
heritage assets, and help the protection of the
setting of all heritage assets. The NPPF states that
‘the use of Article 4 Directions to remove national
permitted development rights should be limited to
situations where this is necessary to protect local
amenity or the wellbeing of the area...’

Proposed Article 4 Direction’

The character appraisal has highlighted the harm
that is being caused to the historic appearance of
Stanley from the incremental erosion of historic
detailing to residential property. It is therefore
proposed that an Article 4 Direction is served
to withdraw permitted development rights for
specific types of development.
Many external household alterations are classified
as ‘Permitted Development’, under the provisions
of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (The
GPDO). This means that they can be carried out
without the need for planning permission, even
in Conservation Areas. Permitted Development
rights currently exist for a large number of
alterations that can have a significant impact on
the character of the area. This can include the
loss of traditional style windows and (and changes
to the size of openings), loss of local roofing
materials or designs of chimney stacks and local
wall finishes. Loss of traditional boundaries to
frontages and the creation of hardstandings also
harm the setting of these buildings. In particular,
where the character of an area is dominated by
repeated architectural details, locally-distinctive
features and a rhythm of detailing to buildings
and their frontages loss of those features places the
character of the conservation area under threat.
An Article 4 Direction enables the Council to
require owners and/or occupiers to apply for
planning permission for certain alterations where
the character of a conservation area is under threat.
Article 4 Directions have recently been introduced
in Leek, Rudyard and Oakamoor Conservation
Areas and have been successful in protecting the
distinctive character of these areas.

The Council is producing Design Guidance to
encourage appropriate types of development and
suggest ways of retaining and reintroducing local
4.83

Within the Conservation Area there are a number
of threats to the character of the area. These
include a general lack of maintenance of some
historic buildings, the use of modern replacement
windows and doors and the loss of traditional
roofing materials and boundary walls. Although
the condition of many of the village’s buildings is
improving there is still generally a low economic
base resulting in underuse and disrepair.

4.84

Traffic claming and improving the street paving,
lighting and signage could assist in reducing the
impact of road vehicles.

5 Community
Involvement
5.2

The Article 4 Direction would cover the elevations
of residential properties fronting a highway,
waterway or open space.

Page28348

The Conservation Area Appraisal will be the
subject of public consultation prior to its formal
adoption by the Council. A management plan
will be prepared to establish a plan of action for
securing the preservation and enhancement of the
area.

APPENDIX ONE
UPPER TEAN CONSERVATION AREA

LIST OF BUILDINGS OF SPECIAL ARCHITECTURAL OR HISTORIC INTEREST
The entire building is Listed, including all internal and external features and includes curtilage buildings that
formed part of the property up to 1948. The List Description has no legal significance and is intended for
identification purposes and should not be treated as a comprehensive or exclusive list of all the features which are
considered to make a building worthy of Listing.

The White Hart, High Street
Grade II
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/111
Inn, possibly built as such. C18 with late C19 alterations. Red brick on sandstone plinth. Tiled roofs on
corbelled eaves and verges with painted stone kneelers; end stack to left and ridge stacks. Two storeys and gable
lit attic, four-window front in two parts divided centrally by a projecting, steeply pitched gable with a tier of
three windows; attic casement, first floor glazing bar sash and ground floor tripartite sash all with wedged heads
and raised keystones to upper floors; set back wing to left has two windows; glazing bar sashes as first floor
described above; entrance under inner window tucked against return angle with painted surround; right hand
side of building has set back, large,late C19 gable over ealier stonework to lower parts of ground floor; similar
casement to first floor over raised string and three casement windows to ground floor all with wedged heads and
raised keystones.

No. 31 High Street formerly listed as ‘Post Office’
Grade II GV
Date of Listing 3.01.67
Ref.13/112
House and shop. Now post office. Early to mid-C19 with minor alterations. Painted, rendered brick; raised
band at first-floor cill level; tiled roof on dentilled cornice; end stacks; two-storey, two-window front; glazing bar
sashes in moulded surround on brackets; ground floor right hand window now plate glass and left half an early
C19 shop front of two large (16-pane) pane windows under a frieze and cornice with pilasters at extremities and
recessed entrance between windows with C20 glazed door and overlight.

Page
29 349

Nos. 31A and 33 High Street
Grade II GV
(formerly listed as No 31 and 33 High Street)
Date of Listing 3.01.67
Ref.13/113
Pair of houses. Late C18 with minor ear1y C19 a1terations. Red brick; tiled roof; verge parapet to left end; ridge
stacks inset from ends (larger to right). Three-storey, four-window front, widely spaced to right of centre; ground
and first floor with segmental gauged brick heads (boarded up at time of resurvey: June 1985) and top floor with
shallow, small-pane casements set directly over heads of windows below; early C19 two-window shop front to
left set under cornice and with entrance between; further entrance to centre of right side both with moulded
surrounds; all ground-floor openings boarded up as above.

No.35 High Street
Grade II GV
(Formerly listed as House opposite East part of Hall)
Date of Listing 3/01/67
Ref.13/114
Town house, now shop. Early C19 with C20 shop front. Red brick on stone plinth; hipped tiled roof on cornice;
end stacks. Three-storey, four-window front; glazing bar sashes with stone wedged heads; full-width plate glass
front with recessed entrance.

No. 37 High Street
Grade II GV
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/115
House. Mid C18 with mid C19 alterations. Painted rendered brickwork, raised band at first floor level; tiled roof;
verge parapets; end stacks; two-storey, two-window front; segmental-headed casements, widely spaced to first
floor and replaced to ground floor right by enlarged casement; the space between outer windows on ground floor
is filled by former similar casement and entrance to right with C20 glazed door.

14, 14A and 16 High Street
Grade II GV
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/117
Pair of houses. C18 with mid C19 alterations. Red brick with a small part rendered; tiled roofs; ridge stacks. No.
14 and 14A to right, lower and now of two storeys and in 3 sections: gable to left with a range of segmentalheaded 3-light casements; segmental-headed entrances to extremities of gable; central section of building has
similar range of windows; right hand end is rendered with a large plate glass shop window and recessed entrance.
No. 16: gable frontage of two storeys and attic; attic window over two ranges of windows below, all casements
with gauged brick heads and moulded raised keystones; ground floor has been altered with only upper part of
right-hand window remaining; small shop front to left with combined entrance and former entrance to centre.

Page30350

New Tean Hall Mill, High Street
Grade II*
Date of Listing 3.01.67
Ref.13/118
Tape weaving factory and warehouse, built by the firm J and N Philips of Checkley. Principal elements late C18,
early C19, 1822, 1876, 1884, 1930. C19 and C20 additions and alterations.
Buildings fronting the south side of High Street comprise late C18, early C19 and 1884 ranges running E - W,
with an off-centre cart entrance. This gives access to a quadrilateral courtyard with a similar cart entrance on its S
side. Attached to the S side of the front range, approximately central, a factory range dated 1822, running NE SW, and forming a T-plan. To west, parallel factory ranges, mainly with north-light roofs, 1876 and c1930.
Street frontage has to left and centre 3-storey ranges, 11 bays, red brick with Welsh slate roofs and dentillated
eaves. Pediment, 2 bays, set in 2 bays from the left, with clock. Octagonal bellcote cupola on the main ridge
behind it. Windows are mainly reglazed casements, those to the lower floors mainly with brick flat arches and
corniced keystones. Angled entrance bay to right has elliptical arched double doors to cart entrance. At the rear,
2-storey additions, c1820 and c1840, 4 bays, with large wooden cross-casements.
To right, 1884 range, similar materials, by William Stephens & Son of Leek. 2 storeys, 8 bays, with centre and
end bays defined by pilasters. Plinth, sill band, eaves cornice, central pediment with datestone. Symmetrical
fenestration with wooden cross-casements. 2 ground floor windows in the centre have round arches, as do the
window and doorway in the left and right end bays. At the rear, square dust flue with pyramidal cap. Attached
to the rear, addition c1876, 2 storeys, 4 bays, with gabled roofs. Attached to its S side, additions early C20 and
c1930, 6 and 10 bays, with north-light roofs.
Main factory building, 1822, similar materials, 4 storeys, 5 x 27 bays, has 3 shallow projections with pediments
on each long side, and WC tower, 1860, on E side. Windows are mainly original cast iron glazing bar casements.
Integral boiler and engine house at N end, 3 storeys, 4 bays, has similar fenestration and large segment arched
ground floor opening, now blocked. Attached to its W side, stove building, 1829, 2 storeys, 3 bays, with throughpassage and similar fenestration.
INTERIORS:
C18 and early C19 front ranges, remodelled later C20, have queen post and kingpost roofs. C19 slate fireplace
on first floor at east end. Early C19 rear range has similar roofs and wooden floors on thin cast iron columns.
Main 1822 factory building and boiler/engine house have fireproof construction with cast iron beams and
columns and brick jack arches. Office has window with cast iron Gothic tracery. 1876 range has wooden floors
on round cast iron columns with square bases. Part of this range has slender columns with bearing boxes. 1884
range has wooden floors and central cast iron columns, and queen post roofs. C20 north-light ranges have steel
framework with brick cladding.
This building was researched and written up by the RCHM in 1992. This followed the original listing, and
strengthens the case for upgrading.

Page
31 351

Tean Hall, High Street
Grade II* GV
Date of Listing 3.01.67
Ref.13/119
Large house. Dated 1613 with substantial early C18 addition and mid C19 alterations. Timber frame of closely
spaced uprights to earlier part and red brick with stone dressings to later parts. Hipped and gabled tiled roofs;
massive central stack between two parts; High Street Frontage: in two parts; to right C17 part of two storeys and
dormer lit attic; lower, projecting gable to extreme right, canted floors with quatrefoil pattern in apex and blind
attic window over herringbone pattern; first floor with glazing bar sash to right of centre, ground floor obscured
by C20 additions; centre recess has tall, full storey gabled dormer set to left, inscribed “1613 A,D.” with casement
window and canted gable with trefoil pattern over; glazing bar sash set to right below on first floor; three-light
casement to centre of ground floor; to left projecting taller two-storey and attic. Baroque addition of two bays,
the left-hand bay projects beyond the right, both are framed by giant pilaster strips on moulded plinth running
up to an implied frieze and moulded cornice with hipped roofs; each has a single range of windows; gabled
dormer over glazing bar sashes with gauged brick heads and raised keystone, the first floor with raised aprons.
Elevation to hall yard; A continuation of the Baroque wing with similar details but an unusual composition of
four windows (two dormers) closely set to left of centre and widely spaced from angles; three of the windows
are blocked and to left of centre converted to an entrance with overlight and panelled door. Interior: mostly
remodelled and subdivided. Staircase behind left hand side of gabled timber frame wing; dog-leg and of 3 flights
to attic, heavy handrail, ramped at angles, closed string and turned balusters (one per tread). Further staircase
to rear corner of Baroque wing; wide dog-leg, handrail swan necked at angles, 2 turned balusters per tread,
no curtail but two fluted column balusters on last tread. Dining room on first floor with dado panelling and
one canvas faced wall (continued in connecting corridor). Early C18 plaster and bolection moulded fireplace
surround in adjacent room. Timber framed wing has some C18 panelling. Board room on ground floor a C19
reconstruction retaining heavy cornice.

Hall Yard Buildings:
Grade II GV
The Young Generation and Beautiful Homes
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/120
Mill, now shops. Late C18 with mid C19 and C20 alterations. Red brick; tiled roof on dentilled eaves course.
End stack to right-hand end and ridge stacks. On corner site with three-storey gable end front to High Street.
Segmental-headed casements, two on ground and second floor and a large four-light window to left of centre on
first floor. Side elevation of five windows (similar to front). C20 shop front to left and two entrances to centre
with C20 doors.

Page32352

Milepost in front of Hall Yard Buildings, High Street
Grade II GV
Date Listed 8.08.86
Ref.13/121
Milepost. Early C19. Painted cast iron. Triangular plan, inclined head set approx. 500mm above ground
inscribed “CHECKLEY/PARISH” with segmental headed headboard behind inscribed in arch “LONDON”
and below “146/LIVERPOOL/65” lower side inscribed to left “NEWCASTLE/11/MILES” “ and on right
“UTTOXETER/7/MILES”.

No. 2 Hollington Road
Grade II
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/129
House. C17 core with mid C19 refronting. Roughcast over timber frame on plinth, tiled roof; end stacks.
Two-storey, two-window front; small pane casements, the first floor windows have gablets over with wavy
barge boards; central entrance set in delicate and ornate gabled porch with trefoil-headed screen to front. Side
elevation to west has exposed small-panel timber frame.

Brooklands, Old Road
Grade II GV
Date of Listing 8.08.86
Ref.13/145
Shown on O.S. map as Brooklands and Schaanwald.
House. Mid C18 with extensive and similarly styled late C19 additions. Red brick; tiled roof on brick eaves
cornice, possibly formerly with verge parapets. Two-storeys and gable lit attic; two-window front; tall casements
with gauged brick heads and raised painted keystones; C19 entrance set in right-hand window position with
small lightweight gabled porch. The C18 house is set into a C19 L-shaped block, set back to right of front with
four windows.

Page
33 353

15
2

1

11

10

1

18

7

13

5

24
20

The Poplars

11

28

7

1

18
14

Tean

Upper

1

132.6m

Court

3

Farm

1

ME
AD

20

OW
WA
Y

12

26

129.2m

2

34

FB

PCs

2

Prov
iden
ce

1

GP

2

9

9
3G
G

8

Row

20

Hall

Meadow

1

4

Church

33

Cartref

35

45

27

SAPL

We
st

10

Tel Ex

134.4m
14

1

ISE

7

Holmlea

8

32
Ca
th
oli
c

Greymare

Orchard

ING R

ESS

39 4
5
1a 1 2

The

Depot

21

8

20

37

20

18
61

14

am
Ad
s

PA
R

7

5

42

KL
AN

39

60

DS

Great Wood

26

House

4

AD

15

RO

Vicarage

Christ Church

The Villa

28

67

77

y
lle
Va

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

Pipeline

Court

18 1

ESS

33
35 37
Shelter LB
Wa
20
rM
28
em
l
Mills

21 2
3

12

Yard

7

5

14

Cattle Grid

PW

13
9.6
m 17 13

Rose

The
1 to

Weir

7

14 16

11

Recreation Ground

12

Hart

PH

133.8m

1

22

1

14

a
20

22

irv
Fa

7

17

19

rch

34

w
ie

6

20

ll
Ha

141.1m

47

50

u
Ch

60

2

Scale 1:2500

6

Area

2

1 3 7

Car Park

13

13
9.
9m

30

Hollyview

1

ASHL
EIGH
RO A
13
D

4

14

1

23

72

55
a

28

16

33

33

38

7

8

94

18

35

26

2

25 24

1

21

1

El Sub Sta

School

29 31

31

82

61

44
20

53
43

26

75

29

36

43
150.9m

CRESCENT

7

13

24

28

1

Proposed Article 4 area

15

2

31

7

19

12

24

34

12

Boundary (Designated 19/09/98)

1

Garage

FBs
Pond

Cross

El Sub Sta

9

1
20 6

S

138.7m

23

19

22

St
a
ub

Upper Tean Conservation Area Map 1

161.8m

GE

24

Upper Tean Conservation Area Map 1

14

El

2

12

44 42

30

30

22

5
4

Ponds

illa

4

46

40

15 11 9

21

ge
V

Br
id

er T
ean
Riv

1
16
4

7

21
17
12

7

4

14

48

1
3
27
4 8

1

2a

44

2

14

A522

14

1
1

2
17

13

as
tT
ho
m
2

25

3
35

17 21
26 30

2
TCB
5
15

9

28

11

2
56

El
S

7
25

1a
17

4

36 40

8
1t
o

1

14
16

CLOSE
16
6

k
Trac
1

Page 354
10
5

4 8

15

35
2 1

25

Old
4

16

1
62

UE

68

N
AVE

59

LOW

50

2

A

RA
AD

1

59

30

11

15
27

9

12 12b 16

20

COP
1

AD

CA
VI

RO
Th
e

)

RO

13
Ol
d

57
OM
TH
S
S'
1

19

Vi
ca
ra
ge

12
e

ST

24

m

BARNFIELD ROAD
33
31

(u

ysid
Sunn

11

th
Pa

2f
52

1

52
12

1

18

69

40
4

18

26

38

1

2

13

3
23
29

2
a 30 3
28 28
10

18

8

39

26

33

1

18

7

13

Significant views

ME
A

20

DO
WA
Y

2

34

FB

PH

Cattle Grid

Weir

7

14 16

Recreation Ground

12

1

GP

33

20

Hall

1

Pipeline

Court

18

ESS

Meadow

1

4

Church

33

27

SAPL

We
st

21

8

10

Tel Ex

134.4m
14

1

ISE

7

Holmlea

8

32
Ca
th
oli
c

Greymare

Orchard

ING R

ESS

39 4
5
1a 1 2

The

Depot

Cartref

35 37
Shelter LB
Wa
20
rM
28
em
l
Mills

21 2
3

12

Yard

3G
G

61

14
am
Ad
s

26

y
lle
Va

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

W

12

26

129.2m

2

ce

7

8

Row

7

PA
R

42

KL
AN

39

60

DS

Great Wood

House

4

RO

Vicarage

Christ Church

The Villa

28

Scale 1:2500

6

Area

1 3 7

1

2

iden

!
!
!
PCs!
!
!

The
1 to

Prov

Rose

9

5

5

AD

15

17

irv
Fa

7

19

34

w
ie

6

20

ll
Ha

141.1m

47

50

ch
ur
Ch

60

2

Other Significant Buildings

15

2

!!! !
!
Car Park !
! Hart
!
!
!
!
! 1

13
9.6
m 17 13

2

20

37

22

12

Listed Buildings

1

1

Garage

PW

20

Principle gateways

3

Farm

133.8m

1

22

14

45

18

Significant hedges, groups of trees

132.6m

Court

13

30

13
9.
9m

9

24
a
20

35

Significant Wall

7

1

18
14

Tean

FBs
Pond

31

1

Hollyview

14

Poor Enclosure

Areas with potential for improvement

Important green open space

Significant trees (approx location)

5

24
20

The Poplars

11

28

Upper

Cross

7

1

ASHL
EIGH
RO A
13
D

4

14

1

23

72

55
a

28

33

16

33

38

31

82

61

7

18

35

8

26

20

44

School

29 31

24

(

10

44 42

30

Boundary (Designated 19/09/98)

15
2

CLOSE

14

El

ROAD

46

40

1

El Sub Sta

23

19

22

St
a
ub
El
S

7

138.7m

S

34

GE

!

A

27

OAKHIL
L

31 27

DRAYCOTT

Legend

36

39

54

2

12

LB

1

11

58

15 11 9

4

Pump

30

22

5
4

Ponds

illa

er T
ean
Riv

1

9
7

21
17
16

27
48

1

A522

4

14

1

Upper Tean Conservation Area
Map 4 Villagescape Analysis

ge
V
Br
id

7

1
3
2

17 21
26 30

2
TCB
15

5

2a

44
36 40

19

12
1a
17

4

30

1
20 6

1
1

52

Tra
ck

Page 355

21

CLOSE
12

1
9

k
Trac

o8

16

1t

10

14
16

4 8
6

35
1

Old
5

A

15

UE

AD
2 1

25

17

4

14

48

11

2
56

2
14

13

as
tT
ho
m
2

25

3
35

9
25

VEN
WA

62

2

50

LO
COP
1

RO

4

57
68

2f

59

)

ST
OM
TH

S
S'
1

RA
AD

1

59

19

16

20

15

12

27

m

yside
Sunn

52

CA
VI

RO
Th
e

(u

11

th
Pa

12

1
Ol
d

69

12 12b 16

52

40
4

25

19

Vi
ca
ra
ge

2

13
2
a 30 3
28 28
10

67

77

18

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
planning@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Tel: 0345 605 3013
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council,
Moorlands House,
Stockwell Street, Leek,
Staffordshire Moorlands ST13 6HQ

Page
This document is available
in 356
alternative formats on request

Stanley

Conservation Area

Consultation Edition

Appraisal

Page 357

Contents
1
2

3

4
5

Introduction. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Planning Framework . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
Planning Policy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
Implications of Designation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
Assessment of special interest. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Location and Setting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Character and Plan Form. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Landscape Setting. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Historic Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
Key Views and Vistas. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Archaeology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Key unlisted buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Local Materials, Details and the Public Realm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
Green spaces, trees and boundaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
Negative factors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
General Condition of Area and Built Fabric. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
Community Involvement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
Boundary Changes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12

Appendix
Stanley Conservation Area Management Plan
Maps
Map 1
Map 2
Map 3
Map 4

The Stanley Conservation Area
The Yates Map of 1775 (embed in Text)
The 1880 Ordnance Survey
Villagescape Analysis

Sources of Information and Contact Details

Cleverdon, M. F., (2002) Landscape with Buildings (unpublished PhD Thesis)
Ekwall, E (1960) The Concise Oxford Dictionary of English Placenames
Peter Lead, The Caldon Canal and Tramroads (1979)
Victorian History of the County of Stafford Volume II p220
Staffordshire County Record Office
Kelly’s Directory of Staffordshire 1884
White’s Directory of Staffordshire 1834
Conservation Section, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire ST13
6HQ. Tel 0345 6053013
E-mail conservation@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 358

Stanley

Conservation Area

1 Introduction
Summary of Interest
1.1

The Conservation Area was designated in
November 1972 and the boundary amended in
February 1993. At its heart is a group of modest
stone buildings, farmhouses, terraces of houses and
converted barns, with dry stone boundary walls,
set on a high land with extensive views to the west
and south (Map 1)

1.2

The Conservation Area Boundary

1.3

The Conservation Area centres on Tompkin Road,
Stanley Bank, Stanley Road, Puddy Lane the
small valley west of the settlement. The boundary
includes closes to the north of Stanley and extends
along Tompkin Road for 400m before passing
south of the road and returning east to the rear of
properties fronting Puddy Lane. The boundary
then extends on the south side of the stream valley
to Hercules Mill and includes closes to the west of
Stanley.

1.4

It is intended that the document will enable
those living and working in the area to appreciate
and value its special qualities and to prepare
development proposals, which complement
the surrounding built heritage. It will also be
used by the Local Authority to assess planning
applications and to prepare a management plan
for the area, which may include proposals for
enhancement schemes. Other local authority
departments and statutory undertakers are
required to have regard to the need to preserve
and enhance conservation areas and this document
should assist in formulating proposals for Stanley.

1.5

The document will be the subject of public
consultation prior to adoption. The appraisal
documents will be periodically reviewed and
updated

Purpose of the Document

This document is an analysis of the characteristics
that make the Stanley Conservation Area worthy
of preserving. It aims to:
•

Evaluate and record the historical significance
of the area.

•

Identify features of villagescape and landscape
importance.

•

Communicate what requires to be protected,
and to

•

Serve as a basis for schemes of preservation
and enhancement.

Page
1 359

Stanley

Conservation Area

2 Planning Framework
Planning Policy
2.1

Conservation Areas are protected under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. This primary legislation requires
proposals that need planning permission to
preserve or enhance the special architectural or
historic interest of the area.
National planning policy for the historic
environment is all contained within one overarching document, the National Planning Policy
Framework (2018). This embodies a holistic view
of the historic environment and is designed to
ensure that decisions are not made in isolation
without first considering the significance of the
particular aspects of the historic environment
and then addressing economic, social and
environmental sustainability issues. The NPPF
should be read alongside the Planning Practice
Guide ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic
Environment’ which gives more detailed advice on
Conservation Area designation and management.
Historic England also provides further detailed
guidance.

Implications of Designation
2.3

2.4

The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020)
contains policies relating to Conservation Areas
and other heritage assets as well as policies
on design and landscape character. Allowing
only suitable development which would secure
the future conservation of a heritage asset in
accordance with Policy DC2.
2.2

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
currently has 17 Conservation Areas. excluding
the area covered by the Peak District National
Park. Government guidance now requires each
Conservation Area to have a character appraisal
and management plan to provide a basis for
making sustainable decisions.

Page 2360

Designation seeks to preserve and enhance the
character and appearance of Conservation Areas
by imposing additional controls over:
•

The location and design of new development

•

The size of extensions for which Planning
Permission is needed

•

Certain minor works (e.g. roof alterations,
cladding, satellite dishes)

•

Demolition of buildings, gates, walls, fences
and railings

•

Work to trees

•

Advertisements

Planning Permission will only be granted for
development, which preserves or enhances the
character or appearance of the Conservation
Area in accordance with planning policies. The
Council offers a pre-application advice service for
guidance on development proposals to ensure that
the special character of the area is considered at
an early stage in the planning process and to assist
in achieving the best outcome for applicants and
the heritage. More detailed design guidance on
the council’s websit and technical publications are
also available to assist in specifying work affecting
historic buildings.

2.5

Where the Council considers that the appearance
of an area is being harmed by unsympathetic
alterations to houses in Conservation Areas it
may serve an Article 4(2) Direction on selected
properties. This requires that certain external
alterations to a building will need Planning
Permission, such as new doors, windows, painting
or rendering of the exterior and the demolitions of
boundaries.

2.6

Conservation Area status also means that the
Council can offer grant aid for the repair and
enhancement of buildings or areas. As funds
become available it will prepare enhancement
schemes for those areas where this is considered
necessary.

2.7

Public consultation will be undertaken for any
proposals to enhance an area or to introduce
additional controls.

Page
3 361

3 Assessment of special interest
3.1
3.2

Location and Setting

The village of Stanley lies in the south of the
Staffordshire Moorlands District, about 7 miles
east of the Potteries conurbation and 5 miles south
of Leek (Map 1). The village is set on a bluff of
high land with extensive views to the west and
south

Landscape Setting
3.4

Character and Plan Form
3.3

The hamlet comprises a group of modest, 18th and
18th century, stone buildings, farmhouses, terraced
houses and former agricultural buildings, flanking
the main street, Tompkin Lane, more recent
development on Puddy Lane and former mill
buildings in the stream valley to the southwest
(Fig. 1).

Fig. 2

Fig. 1

Tompkin Road

Page 4362

Stanley lies on a bluff or projecting tongue of land
between 152m and 182m (500-600 ft.) which
extends to the west and overlooks the valley of the
Stockton Brook. From the edge of the settlement
to the west land falls steeply away down Stanley
Bank to the valley bottom. To the east high land
extends towards the Churnet Valley. South west of
the settlement is the narrow valley of a west ward
flowing stream, which has been dammed to form
Stanley Pool, a canal feeder reservoir (Fig. 2).

Views south to Stanley Pool

3.5

The underlying rock is sandstone of the Millstone
grit series, overlain by boulder clay and alluvium.
The area is designated a Special Landscape Area by
Staffordshire County Council in view of its visual
quality. Surrounding the village, the landscape is
characterised by fields subdivided by hedgerows
interspersed with mature trees and small woodland
copses, with dispersed farm groupings.

Historic Development
3.7

Stanley is an Anglo Saxon name meaning a stony
clearing. The settlement developed along the road
side at a point where Tompkin Road coming from
the east joined routes rising up from the valley
of the Stockton Brook; Stanley Bank leading to
Endon and Stanley Road leading across Stanley
Moss.

3.6

The settlement remains strongly linked to its
rural surroundings, with open land cutting into
the centre. The open spaces and gaps between
buildings allow constant views out to the
countryside and hills beyond. The location of the
village on the valley side adds to its character
with the gradient creating a varied roofscape and
potential for views over the village.

3.8

Stanley was formerly a township of 178 hectares
(441 acres), part of the medieval parish of Leek.
It is now part of the civil parish called Endon and
Stanley.

3.9

There is no Church at Stanley, which lay within
the medieval parish of Leek, served by the Church
of St Edward. Subsequently it fell within the
Chapelry of Endon and later became part of the
Parish of Endon.

3.10

The Stanley Family held an extensive estate at
Stanley from the late 12th century through the
medieval period. It was later known as a manor
and the Stanley family were later styled Lords of
the Manor. However their estate was held from
the Audley Family and was part of the Manor of
Horton and subject to its manorial court until the
late 18th century.

3.11

The estate was sold to a Thomas Fernihaugh
in 1660 and then to John Shaw, Rector of
Swettenham. His son Richard, another anglican
clergyman, succeeded Shaw in 1715. Following
Richard’s death, Lower House Farm and the estate
of 70 acres were settled on Trustees to endow a
charity for the poor of the Township.

Page
5 363

3.12

3.13

As Stanley was not a discrete administrative
unit, its population cannot be estimated with
any certainly. It is likely to have been a small
poor hamlet. Other hamlets in the township
including Clough House and the Acres have not
survived. In 1666 seven heads of households were
assessed for hearth tax, four of them with only
a single hearth. The largest house in the hamlet,
presumably the Stanleys’, had only four hearths, a
modest gentry house.

3.14

Pastoral farming with subsistence arable formed
the basis for the early economy, with an increasing
emphasis on animal husbandry in the later
centuries when grain began to be imported.
Evidence of this farming community can now
be traced in names of farms and converted barns
along Tompkin Road.

3.15

Isolation of Stanley ended in the later 18th century
with improvements to turnpike roads and
construction of the Caldon Canal. Stanley Pool, a
canal feeder reservoir, was built in the small valley,
to the south, which also housed stone quarries and
three mills. It is uncertain when the quarries fell
out of use (Map 3)

The earliest depiction of the settlement, the Yates
Map of 1775, shows a few houses spaced out along
the roadside (Map 2). A stretch of uncultivated
moorlands extends towards Bagnall. Two Mills are
shown on the stream to the south.

Map 2: Stanley as mapped by Yates in 1775. Moorland is shown stippled

Page 6364

3.16

Fig. 3

A mill is recorded at Stanley in the 16th century
although the site may be older. Recorded as a corn
mill in 1816, in 1865 it was grinding corn and also
flint for the ceramic industry. Rebuilt and
renamed Hercules Mills in 1887, it was operated
by Harrison & Son, grinding materials for the
pottery industry until its closure in 1970. The site
and buildings are now occupied by commercial
enterprises (Fig. 3).

The village developed in the 19th century in
connection with the mills. Rows of workers
cottages were built in the 1860s. One row
contained a beer house, the Traveler’s Rest (Fig. 4).
A post office was opened in the 1880s. In the
early 19th century there was a short lived
methodist community in the village. In 1851 an
anglican evening service or lecture was held in the
village. A mission room, later known as St Agnes
Mission, opened in 1868. Services were held there
until 1991.

Hercules Mills

3.17 A second Mill, known as the Old Mill, stood

higher up the stream to the south east. In 1835 it
was working as a flint glaze and colour mill. It was
still a working flint mill in the late 1870’s. From
the 1890s to the 1920s it was a gelatine works. It is
now a private house.

3.18 A third mill was probably built in the 1770s

to grind flint. It stood further north and was
destroyed by the extension of Stanley Pool in 1840.
Outside of the conservation area, Victoria Mill,
close to the Caldon Canal, also served the pottery
industry.

3.19

3.20

The population was broadly stable in the first
half of the 19th century, 113 in 1822, 122 in 1841
and 108 in 1851. The Trade Directories record a
mixed population of farmers, flint grinders, colour
manufacturers, a quarry master and a timber
merchant. In 2001 the population of Bagnall and
Stanley ward, together was 1,685.

Fig. 4

The Traveller’s Rest, Tompkin Road

3.21

The village had a school in the 19th century, now
called Stanley House it occupies a large plot at the
junction of Tompkin Road and Puddy Lane.

3.22

In the 20th century the hamlet has had significant
development and the number of houses doubled.
Tompkin Road, particularly the north side has
witnessed infill, backland development and
replacement dwellings. Beginning in the 1920’s
and 30’s the agricultural closes either side of Puddy
Lane have been developed, extending the hamlet
to the south.

Page
7 365

Key Views and Vistas
3.23

There are distant views into the Stanley
Conservation Area from the low-lying ground to
the north and north west, from Post Lane and
Stanley Moss Lane. Early photographers have
also captured the important views from the higher
land to the south of Stanley Pool, back towards the
Conservation Area (Fig. 5).

3.25

Tompkin Road provides a constantly changing
series of views. The slope of the ground and the
curve of the street provide a series of evolving
views of buildings and across their roofscape to the
countryside beyond (Fig. 1).

Archaeology
3.26

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments in
the Conservation Area Up to date information
on the archaeology of Stanley can be found at
the Historic Environment Record (formerly the
Sites and Monuments Record or SMR), which is
maintained by Staffordshire County Council

Key unlisted buildings
3.27

There are no listed buildings in the Stanley
Conservation Area. In the central core of the
conservation area, along Tompkin Road, there are a
series of 19th century and earlier properties largely
constructed of stone. Outside of this area, with
few exceptions, the properties are of 20th century
date (Map 4).

3.28

Lower House Farm is a two storey L-shaped stone
built farmhouse of c.1700, with an out building
dated 1776. The original pattern of windows is lost.
This may be the site of the medieval residence of
Stanley Family (Fig. 7).

Fig. 5 View across Stanley Pool to
Stanley. Early 20th century William Blake
(Staffordshire Past Track)
3.24

Fig. 6

Within the Conservation Area there are important
views from Harracles Mill up Stanley Road to its
junction with Tompkin Road and also across the
open land by the stream valley to Puddy Lane and
Tompkin Road (Fig. 6).

View from Harracles Mill to Puddy Lane
Fig. 7
3.29

Page 8366

The Traveller’s Rest, Tompkin Road
Stanley House is a large three-storey 18th century
house, probably a former farmhouse. The original
pattern of windows is lost and the building has
been rendered (Fig. 8).

Fig. 8
3.30

Fig. 9
3.31

Fig. 10 The Mission Church, Tompkin Road

Stanley House

Spilsbury House is a large victorian villa with out
buildings, constructed of stone (Fig. 9).

Spilsbury House

3.32

Elsewhere on Tompkin Road low two-storey
ranges beside the road were formerly barns (Fig.
11). There are a few remaining features to show
their former agricultural use (Fig. 12).

Fig. 11

Former agricultural buildings, Tompkin Road

Fig. 12

Barn, Tompkin Road

There are four mid 19th century terraces of low,
two-storey workers cottages on Tompkin Road.
The terraces are largely constructed of stone, with
small areas of dark red-brown brick. On the
north side one terrace includes The Traveler’s Rest,
Public House. On the South side the gable end of
the terrace, includes a circular window, which
reflects its former use as the Mission Church.
(Fig. 10).

Page
9 367

3.33

Tudor House contains timber framing, but the
exterior has been extensively altered.

3.34

In 20th century there has been extensive
development of infill plots and backland. Houses
have been built down Puddy Lane and at the
eastern end of the village on Tompkin Road.

3.35

Their construction and design is broadly
conservative and traditional and many are set in
large grounds. This development is typical of
twentieth century suburban development. The
buildings do not reflect the vernacular of the
Staffordshire Moorlands.

Local Materials, Details and the Public Realm
3.36

3.37

Fig. 13 Stone boundary wall and gate, Stanley Road
3.38

Timber

It is probable that many of the early buildings
in the village will have been of timber frame
construction. However, with a substantial amount
of rebuilding in the 18th and 19th centuries little
survives. Tudor House retains a cruck frame with
close studded panels.

3.39

Stone

Stone construction for structures and boundary
walls predominates in the centre of the
Conservation Area (Fig.13). Two former quarries
lie in the stream valley to the southwest. These
and other small local quarries probably supplied
stone for walling. Dressed stone for detailing
might come from further afield, so that mullions,
quoins, eaves and copings may provide a contrast
with the body of the house. There is no high
quality dressed or ashlar stonework in Stanley.
Buildings are generally constructed of roughly
squared rubble blocks, brought to course.

3.40

Page10368

Brick

Brick became widely used in the District in the
19th century. However, perhaps reflecting the
proximity of local quarries, Stanley is an exception.
Some dark red brown hand made brick of variable
colour and texture has been incorporated in to the
19th century terrace.
20th Century buildings are commonly of machine
made clay or concrete brick of even texture. A
variety of colours has been used, which does
not reflect the traditions of the Staffordshire
Morlands.

Street Surfaces

Little historic surfacing has been retained in the
hamlet.

3.41

Roof materials

Until the 19th century many roofs were of thatch,
but none survive in Stanley. The 19th century
witnessed the mass production and distribution
of the Staffordshire Blue clay roofing tiles from
the Potteries, now regarded as the typical local
roofing material. Early tiles were handmade with a
distinctive camber and rougher texture whilst later
machine made tiles have a more even profile and
smooth sheen. Most roofs in Stanley are laid using
plain Staffordshire Blue clay tiles A roof pitch of
about 35 degrees is required to fix the tiles which
gives the characteristic narrow gable and steeply
pitched roof.

3.45

Few historic doors survive in the Conservation
Area and there has been widespread replacement
with upvc doors and doors of modern off the peg
designs. These are eroding the character of the area.

3.46

Porches are not generally a feature of vernacular
buildings in the District and historically were
limited to wealthy 17th and 18th century houses.
Farmhouses and cottages generally had internal
lobbies instead.

Green spaces, trees and boundaries
3.47

century but because of the availability of clay tiles
was not widely used in the village.

Dry stone walling using heavy irregular rubble
with half round copings is an essential part of the
character of Stanley and can be seen throughout
the village.

3.48

Chimney stacks are a distinctive element in the
roofscape. Dormers are not a regular feature of
local vernacular buildings in the Moorlands and
their use in Stanley is a feature of late 20th century
design and should be avoided where they are
prominent in the streetscape.

The most significant green space within the
Conservation Area is the close sloping down to
the tree-lined stream valley. Small gardens front
traditional 19th century terraced properties on
Tompkin Lane. 20th century properties are set
back from the road in large gardens.

3.49

Significant trees and hedges have been indicated
on Map 4. Whilst this is not exhaustive it does
show the prevalence of trees and hedges which
are visually important in the area. Mature trees
are prominent on the approaches to the hamlet
on Stanley Road, through out Tompkin Road and
along the stream valley (Fig 14).

3.42 Welsh slate also became available in the late 19th

3.43

3.44

Windows and doors

Unfortunately, the village retains few traditional
patterns of window and door designs. Many
historic buildings in the Conservation Area have
suffered damaging alterations from replacement
windows. Top-hung opening windows, stormproof casements and double-glazing are a creation
of the 20th century and cannot replicate the fine
joinery details of traditional windows. This damage
is exacerbated by failing to match the subdivision
of original windows, constructing frames in
inappropriate materials such as upvc, and staining
rather than the traditional paint finish.

Page
11 369

4 Community
Involvement
4.01

Fig. 14 Stanley Road

Negative factors
3.50

3.51

Several elements of modern living severely
detract from the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area: The bland nature of modern
replacement windows and doors, including UPVC
and mock leading and the use of non-traditional
materials for 20th century building. Electricity
and telephone facilities are also essential but if the
opportunity arises, consideration should be given
to placing them underground as the posts and criscrossing of wires is visually damaging.

5 Boundary Changes

Key features of the area are the heavy stone
boundary walls along roadsides. These are
vulnerable to removal or replacement

General Condition of Area and Built Fabric
3.52

The Conservation Area Appraisal will be the
subject of public consultation prior to its formal
adoption by the Council. A management plan
will be prepared to establish a plan of action for
securing the preservation and enhancement of the
area and the local community will also be involved
in the preparation of enhancement schemes that
are proposed.

The built fabric of the village is in good condition,
with no cases of neglect and dereliction. The
management plan for the village will establish
the framework for monitoring the condition of
buildings in the conservation area and consider
appropriate levels of planning control.

Page12370

The boundary has been re-evaluated in drawing up
the appraisal and left unchanged.

Appendix

Stanley Conservation Area Management Plan (Consultation Draft)
It is important to recognise that successful management
of the Conservation Area depends upon the support
of all parties, including property owners, developers,
County, District, Town and Parish Councils, local
amenity groups and utility companies. The Council
is eager to work with all stakeholders to preserve and
enhance the Conservation Area.
The Stanley Conservation Area Management Plan
describes how the area can be managed to ensure that
its special character and interest is preserved. The plan
sets out the difficulties facing the Conservation Area and
identifies resources, policies and proposals to address
these issues.

The Conservation Area Appraisal
The Stanley Conservation Area Appraisal was published
in 2010 and subject to a two month consultation period.
It is available on the District Council’s web-site.
The Stanley Conservation Area Appraisal describes
the special interest of the Conservation Area. It draws
attention to all those features, including unlisted
buildings, the green spaces and the views that contribute
to the character of the Conservation Area.

Change to the Boundary of the Conservation
Area
No changes are proposed to the boundary.

Grant Aid for Conservation Area Enhancement
and Listed and Unlisted Buildings
The Moorlands Partnership, which is supported by
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, provides grant
aid for environmental enhancement projects, particularly
where there is significant community benefit.
Consultees are invited to nominate sites or projects for
consideration
Where opportunities arise the Moorlands Partnership
will work with other organisations, including English
Heritage and the Heritage Lottery Fund, to secure grant
aid for work in the Conservation Area.
The District Council operates a Historic Building
Grant, which provides funding for the repair of historic
buildings. The funding is limited but is available for all
historic buildings, and priority is given to listed buildings.

The Conservation Area Appraisal also draws attention
to the damage that the area is suffering from the loss
of historic features. Traditional timber windows and
doors which reflect local vernacular styles have largely
been replaced with modern window and door patterns of
standard design. Drystone boundary walls are also under
threat.

Page
13 371

Technical and Design Advice
The Conservation Area Appraisal provides information
on aspects of local design and materials that contribute to
the special character of the Conservation Area. Property
owners considering repair or other works to their property
should consult the Conservation Area Appraisal for
guidance including information on building styles and
materials and boundaries.
The Council also provides relevant design and technical
advice, through its publications and web-site. Particular
attention is drawn to the pamphlet Windows and Doors
which provides information on correct joinery details.
Conservation Officers are also available to advise
householders considering repair or other works to their
property.

will establish a local list of buildings of historic or
architectural interest. This will place no additional legal
controls on the buildings, but will draw attention to their
local historic or architectural importance.

Highways and street furniture
Staffordshire County Council has published Conservation
within the Highway: Structures of Historic Importance
which provides guidance on the preservation of historic
street furniture such as mile post and mile stone and the
retention of historic surfaces such as cobbles. The District
Council will work with the Parish Council, Staffordshire
County Council and other interested parties to safeguard
historic highway features.

Additional planning controls
Proposed Article 4 Direction’

Achieving High Quality Development
If new development, extension and alterations are
proposed the Council will require a fully detailed
application with an emphasis on high quality design and
the use of high quality materials to preserve and enhance
the conservation area and its setting. Before submitting
proposals applicants should consult the Conservation
Area Appraisal. The Design Statement, which forms part
of the planning application, must show how the proposal
will preserve and enhance the conservation area.
Planning Applications will be considered in the light of
current, national, regional and local policy and advice.
In particular planning applications will be considered in
the light of local polices and guidance contained in the
Development Plan and the emerging Local Development
Framework and also the information contained in the
Conservation Area Appraisal.
The Council has an established Conservation Area
Liaison Panel, made up of local heritage and design
experts. Wherever possible the Panel will be invited to
comment upon applications in Conservation Areas.

Unlisted buildings
The Conservation Area Appraisal also draws attention
to the important contribution of unlisted buildings to
the character of the Conservation Area. Through the
Local Development Framework (LDF) the Council

The character appraisal has highlighted the harm that is
being caused to the historic appearance of Stanley from
the incremental erosion of historic detailing to residential
property. It is therefore proposed that an Article 4
Direction is served to withdraw permitted development
rights for specific types of development.
Many external household alterations are classified
as ‘Permitted Development’, under the provisions of
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (The GPDO). This means that
they can be carried out without the need for planning
permission, even in Conservation Areas. Permitted
Development rights currently exist for a large number
of alterations that can have a significant impact on
the character of the area. This can include the loss of
traditional style windows and (and changes to the size
of openings), loss of local roofing materials or designs of
chimney stacks and local wall finishes. Loss of traditional
boundaries to frontages and the creation of hardstandings
also harm the setting of these buildings. In particular,
where the character of an area is dominated by repeated
architectural details, locally-distinctive features and a
rhythm of detailing to buildings and their frontages loss
of those features places the character of the conservation
area under threat.
An Article 4 Direction enables the Council to
require owners and/or occupiers to apply for planning

Page14372

permission for certain alterations where the character of
a conservation area is under threat. Article 4 Directions
have recently been introduced in Leek, Rudyard and
Oakamoor Conservation Areas and have been successful
in protecting the distinctive character of these areas.
The Article 4 Direction would cover the elevations of
residential properties fronting a highway, waterway or
open space.
An Article 4 Direction does not prevent the development,
but instead requires planning permission to be first
obtained from the Council. This will enable the Council
to preserve locally distinctive features and to encourage
improved detailing and materials. Historic England
advises that Article 4 Directions can increase the public
protection both of designated and non-designated
heritage assets, and help the protection of the setting
of all heritage assets. The NPPF states that ‘the use
of Article 4 Directions to remove national permitted
development rights should be limited to situations where
this is necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing
of the area.
The Council is producing Design Guidance to encourage
appropriate types of development and suggest ways of
retaining and reintroducing local

Enforcement
The Council has a published Enforcement Policy setting
out its approach to breaches of planning control.

Monitoring
The Council will complete a review of the Conservation
Area by 2015. The review will include a revision of the
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan.
A photographic survey will be also be undertaken to
monitor change in the Conservation Area. In the review
the Council will liase with stakeholders and consult on
any revision to the Conservation Area Appraisal and
Management Plan

Background Information
The Conservation Area Management Plan has been
prepared following English Heritage Guidance, based on
an up to date Conservation Area Appraisal.

Page
15 373

Cana
l

Tr
ac

k

Villa

Struo

El Ps

Hilltop

El Ps

Rose
Moor

Wayside

Wing
The

STA
NLE
Y

Victoria Mill

CS

FB

Foxhollow

The Tudors

FB

)

FB

(PH
)

View

End

The

Proposed Article 4 area

Amended Boundary (27/2/93)

1

2

Villas

2

GP

Pond

11

th
Pa

L
ET
Edge

)

Well

Weir

Sloping
FB

Sluice

Pond

Villa

Farm

The

NK
BA

El

The

House

Tree

Stanley

Crossways

Hillside

Spilsbury

Y

Treetops

LE
AN
ST

152.6m

de

n
L
ET

Thaxted

Quendon

Walden

Stanley House

Farm

Iron

The

Four Winds

Stanley

Farm

Lin

k

f
De

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

m
(u

(dis)

161.8m

House

D
ef

Sluice Mill

Mill

Manor

4

Stanley Moor

Tra
ck

160.9m

Works

Pav

Cricket Ground

151.4m

Stanley Conservation Area
Map 1

Heatherstones

Kilaguni

Orchardlea

Pond

Rose

Field House

The Cottage

1
NUE
AVE
THE

DRIVE

Moorcroft

House

se
Hou
g
id e
Kerr

The

ck
Tra

165.1m
The Homestead

166.3m

Ashgrove

165.1m

GP

)

LA N
E

(u
m

Original Boundary (25/11/72)

Stanley Moor

Saddins

LB

h

MO
SS

Pa
t

1

El Ps

FB

Archways
Pa
th (
um

Deva

House

Brook

Cottage

Mill

Pinefall
The Dene

Millbrook

Path (um) FB

(um
)

Path

View
e
en
hd ae
As Hilr
e
Th
d
oo
n
w
r
n
ry
Fe
vo d
er
Ch atha lfor n
o
r
e
t
d
n
S
M bl e
ve
m
ha
Ha
ne
o
St

Legend

3

Lady

FB

FB

Dr
ai
n

)
(um

c
Tra

ETL

The

POST LANE

L'H
er
m
ita
ge
Barncro
ft
C
ob

Un
d

Page 374

Path

ETL

CS

Pipeline
CS
Def

s
ne

st
o

bl
e

The Uplands
Trac
k

Pond

Sandstones

ttage
Kala Co

Greenacre

The Cliffs

(PH
)
r

Tud
o

House

Pa
th

(um

)

Dogcroft Farm

Issues

Moorlands

Stonewold
Heatherdown
Hillcrest

Stone

Issues

Toben

Tank

e
k

Drain

ag
Cott
Tr
ac

Drain

t End
Wes

n
Gree

Pond

ROAD

ETL

Page 375

FB

FB

El Ps

Wayside

House

The

End

View

Significant views

1
2

1

11

th
Pa

)

House

!
(

!
(

FB

Weir
Pond
Sluice

Well

!
(

!
( !
(

!
(

Treetops

!
(Villa

(
!
(!

The

(
! !
!
( (

!
(

!
(

Farm

Stanley

!
(
!
(

Iron

The

L
ET

!
(

!
(

!
(

Quendon

!
( Walden
!
(

!
(

!
(
!
(

Pond

Sandstones

Kala

Greenacre

The Cliffs

!
(

House !
(Stanley House

Stanley
Tree

Farm

Hillside

The

Crossways

Spilsbury

!
(

!
(

!
( AN

!
( ST

El

(
!
( !
( K!
N
!
( BA !
! (
(
! EY !
(
L (

!
( !
(

152.6m

Farm

ck
Tra

f
De

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

Kilaguni

m
(u

Stanley Moor

Orchardlea

Pond

DRIVE

(dis)

The Cottage

!
(
!
(

Moorcroft Rose

The
se
Hou
e
g
ri d
Ker

!
(
!
(

!
(

!
(

Pond

Manor

!
(
!
(
!
(

(
!!
(

!
(

(
!
(!

!
(

!
(
Mill
(
!
( !
D
ef
!
(

!
(

!
(

Pav

!
( (
! (
! (
! !
(

!
(
!
(
!
(161.8m

!
(

!
( !
(

(
(!
!
(!

!
(!
(

Mill

!
(

4

!
(
160.9m

!
(
!
(
!
(

House Field House

Ashgrove

Significant groups of trees

Stanley Moor

Water features

Hilltop

20th century buildings

Moor

18-19th century buildings

Conservation area boundary

GP

The Homestead

ck
Tra

166.3m Villas
2

)

) GP
165.1m
LB

(P
H

e
lra
Hi e
h
T
wo
rn
ry
r
e
e
rd F
o
f
Ch
el
en
M
av
h
e
on
St

!
(

od

View

Wing

CS

FB

1

El Ps

FB

Foxhollow

FB

The TudorsP
at
Deva
h
Victoria Mill
Cottage
(u
m
Brook

Mill

)

(um

Path

Archways

FB

m)

Legend

Villa

1

Millbrook

FB

The Dene

Struo

Un
d

ai
n

Barncr
oft

Dr

The

Moorfield
Stanley Conservation
Area
151.4m
Townscape
Cricket Ground Analysis en
d
Lin
Map 4

Def

(u
Path

ET
L

FB FB

Trac
k

Page 376
CS
CS

)
(PH

n

Tud
or

Drai
House

Stonewold

Stone

Toben

Tank

Pa
th

(um

)

Dogcroft Farm

Issues

Moorlands

Issues

Tr
ac
k

Drain

The Uplands

Pond

ROAD

ETL

Page 377

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
email: planning@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Tel: 0345 605 3013
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House,
Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands ST13 6HQ

Page
This document is available
in 378
alternative formats on request

APPENDIX E
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS
A1.1 Certain works that would normally require planning permission are permitted
by the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO). This is primarily
because the works are of a scale or type that is generally not likely to have an
unacceptable impact. The GPDO 1995 is the principal order although it has
been subject to a number of subsequent amendments. The Order sets out
classes of development for which a grant of planning permission is
automatically given.
A1.2 A local planning authority (LPA) can restrict the permitted development rights
of property owners to carry out certain categories of development through the
making of an Article 4 Direction. These directions can be made to cover one
or more properties and they can restrict one or more classes of permitted
development. The effect of an Article 4 Direction is not that development
within the particular category of permitted development cannot be carried out,
but simply that it is no longer automatically permitted by Article 3 of the GDO
and must instead be subject to a specific planning application. This does not
necessarily mean that the local planning authority will refuse permission but it
does enable the authority to retain some control over the design and detailing
of the proposed development and to grant permission subject to appropriate
conditions.
A1.3 Many of the small scale permitted development works such as the
replacement of traditional timber or metal windows with plastic in modern
styles or natural roofing materials such as slates and clay tiles with concrete
can significantly harm the character and appearance of a conservation area.
Therefore, Article 4 Directions are most commonly used to control these sorts
of works. Until 2010, the legislation allowed for a limited range of categories
to be controlled by an Article 4 (2) Direction under a simplified process which
avoided the need to seek approval by the Secretary of State. The range of
categories of permitted development was specifically chosen to address the
issue of minor works adversely affecting the character of dwelling houses in
conservation areas. The GPDO has been subsequently amended again and
now virtually all Article 4 Directions can be introduced without reference to the
Secretary of State so that the Article 4(2) category no longer applies.
However, Officers are proposing that the Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley
and Upper Tean Article 4 Direction should cover the same categories of
permitted development that the previous Article 4 (2) procedure covered (see
below).
Procedures to make an Article 4 Direction
A1.4 In procedural terms there are now two main types of Article 4 Direction:


Non-immediate directions (permitted development rights are only
withdrawn upon confirmation of the direction by the local planning authority
following local consultation); and

Page 379



Immediate directions (where permitted development rights are withdrawn
with immediate effect, but must be confirmed by the local planning
authority following local consultation within six months, or else the
direction will lapse).

A1.5 In the case of the proposed Article 4 Directions, it is proposed that a nonimmediate direction is used. Under normal circumstances in a conservation
area, an immediate direction would be used to avoid inappropriate alterations
taking place during the consultation period. However, the extent of the
Direction cannot be confirmed until the consultation on the appraisals and
boundaries are approved.
It is considered that the risk of inappropriate
alterations will be low. The general process for making an Article 4 Direction
is set out in Annex A of Appendix D of Circular 9/95 and is summarised below.
Consultation / Notification
A1.6 When intending to make an Article 4 Direction, a Council as LPA, must give
notice locally and nationally.
Local notification requires the following
measures:






Local advertisement (e.g. in a local newspaper);
Site notice at no fewer than 2 locations within the area to which the
Direction relates for not less than 6 weeks.
Individually on every owner and occupier of every part of the land within
the area to which the Direction relates. Annex A of Appendix D of Circular
9/95 does however advise that this requirement would not apply if it is
impracticable because it is difficult to identify / locate them or the number
of owners or occupiers would make individual service impracticable. This
would certainly be the case with the number of properties involved in the
proposed Direction in Conservation Areas. However, it is proposed to
circulate consultation information to all properties about the various
measures that the Council is undertaking to improve the protection of the
historic environment and positive reasons why the Council is doing this. In
this way, all occupiers of properties will be notified and consulted.
Notification to Staffordshire County Council.

A1.7 National notification is to the Secretary of State and must take place on the
same day the notice of an Article 4 Direction is first published / displayed
locally.
.
Confirmation of the Direction
A1.8 All representations received during consultation must be taken into account
before the direction is confirmed. This would need a separate Cabinet report.
Also, any material changes to the Direction resulting from the consultation
require re-consultation. A non-immediate Direction comes into force on the
date specified in the original notice by the LPA. Taking into account the
representations received during the consultation may require that the
Direction comes into force later than originally specified. Once confirmed,
Directions are permanent unless cancelled by the LPA.

Page 380

Compensation
A1.9 Local planning authorities may be liable to pay compensation to those whose
permitted development rights have been withdrawn if they:



Reuse planning permission for development which would have been
permitted development if it were note for the Article 4 Direction; or
Grant planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the
GPDO would normally allow, as a result of an Article 4 Direction being in
place

A1.10 Compensation may be claimed for abortive expenditure or other loss or
damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development
rights. By having a non-immediate direction, existing orders placed with
contractors will be given time to be honoured. The research referred to in the
report found that no compensation claims had been made to local authorities
as a result of the Article 4 Direction and none have been made in relation to
the Leek Article 4 Direction.
A1.11 Where 12 months’ notice is given in advance of a direction taking effect there
will be no liability to pay compensation. Where Directions are made with
immediate effect or less than 12 months’ notice, compensation will only be
payable in relation to planning applications which are submitted within 12
months of the effective date of the direction and which are subsequently
refused or where permission is granted subject to conditions.
Proposed categories of development to be affected by the Article 4
Direction
A1.12 it is proposed that the Article 4 Direction should be introduced throughout
Caverswall, Cheddleton, Stanley and Upper Tean Conservation Areas with
the effect of requiring a planning application for the following classes of
development. The effect of this will be to require a planning application to be
submitted for the following classes of development:
Part 1- Development within the curtilage of a dwelling house
Class A

The enlargement, improvement and other alteration of a dwelling
houses*

Class C

Any addition or alteration to its roof*

Class D

The construction of a porch*

Class E

The provision within its curtilage of a building, enclosure or swimming
pool*

Class G

Installation, alteration or replacement of a chimney on a dwelling house

Page 381

Class F

The provision of a hard surface*

Class H

The installation of a microwave antennae*

Part 2 – Minor operations

Class A

The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a
gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure within the curtilage of a
dwelling house*

Class C

The painting of the exterior of any part of a dwelling house or of a
building or enclosure within the curtilage of a dwelling house*

Part 31 - Demolition
Class B

The demolition of all or part of a gate, fence, wall or other means of
enclosure within the curtilage of a dwelling house

*On elevations that front onto highways, public foorpaths, waterways or open
spaces only

Page 382

Agenda Item 14.1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 383

This page is intentionally left blank

